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ENAP WAS BORN AND
DEVELOPED IN MAGALLANES.
FOR MORE THAN HALF A
CENTURY, IT HAS BEEN
CHILE’S MAIN SUPPLIER OF
FUELS, CONTRIBUTING MORE
THAN 40% OF THE NATIONAL
ENERGY MATRIX.
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Mining Minister, Alfonso Dulanto Rencoret, Head of ENAP’s Board.
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LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD

In accordance with its Business Strategic Plan, Empresa

phase of explorations in the Magallanes area, in order

Nacional del Petróleo produced good financial results

to re-study the vast geological information on this basin

in 2004 and consolidated its leadership role in Chile’s

in the extreme south of the country, by applying a new

energy market. At the same time, it continued to project

analytical focus and using the rich experience acquired

its presence in the international markets, this time with

by our professionals in both Chile and abroad.

its entry into the fuel retail distribution market in Perú
and the discovery of an important oil deposit in Egypt.

There is no doubt that some of the main assets for ENAP

“THERE IS NO DOUBT THAT THE PRINCIPAL CAPITAL OF ENAP IS ITS
EXECUTIVES, PROFESSIONALS, TECHNICIANS AND WORKERS”

The Company also worked in the improvement of the quality

are its executives, professionals, technicians and workers

of its fuels directly influencing the air decontamination

who have brought together their knowledge and energy

plans for our cities, especially the Metropolitan Region.

under the umbrella of the Joint Business Project in

During 2004, ENAP launched its “Diesel Ciudad Plus”

order to face the new challenges in the market, increase

on the market, the best quality diesel of its kind in Latin

competitiveness and seek new business opportunities.

America, with just 50 parts per million of sulfur, and

This is what has led the Company to maintain its

started to operate new plants at its Aconcagua and Bío

leadership in Chile and to successfully expand its

Bío refineries to produce high-quality gasoline with low

businesses outside the country. It was to ensure a stable

benzene, sulfur and aromatic substances’ contents.

export market for its refined products that the company
decided to acquire the distribution assets of Shell in

Concerning exploration and production, the international

Peru, merging these with the local company Romero

subsidiary Sipetrol S.A. reinforced its production

Trading (part of the Romero Group) and making it the

activities in its target areas of Latin America, Middle

largest distributor in that market.

East and North Africa, consolidating its presence in
several countries such as Argentina, Ecuador, Egypt

Taking into account the advantageous experience and

and Iran, among others. In Chile, ENAP began a new

position of ENAP as a dynamic, responsible and visionary
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Company, the government of President Ricardo Lagos

The international scenario in 2004 has been characterized

asked ENAP to lead one of the most important projects

by the high prices of crude oil and refined products.

being undertaken in Chile in recent years, in order to

ENAP managed to slightly increase its share in the

ensure the country’s energy independence: the Liquefied

Chilean fuel market to 85.8%, almost one percentage

Natural Gas (LNG) Project. In response to serious natural

point above its historical average. It also continued to

gas supply difficulties from Argentina, ENAP immediately

progress toward its great objective of adding value to the

“THE GREAT INTEREST SHOWN BY LARGE CHILEAN AND FOREIGN
COMPANIES IN PARTICIPATING IN THE LNG PROJECT REAFFIRMS
THE PRESTIGE ACHIEVED BY OUR COMPANY AT A DOMESTIC AND
INTERNATIONAL LEVEL”

undertook this mission and achieved considerable

Company and providing surplus to the state, to reach a

progress by the end of the year.

figure of over US$ 700 million by 2006. The excellent
results obtained in 2004, which even exceed the initial

The great interest shown by large Chilean and foreign

projections, bring it closer to that target and make it one

companies in participating in the LNG Project reaffirms

of the most profitable companies in both the public and

the prestige achieved by our company at a domestic and

private sectors.

international level. At the same time, it demonstrates the
seriousness and strength with which our company has

In the area of personnel management, the management of

taken up this challenge whose object is to provide the

ENAP and its trade unions continued in 2004 to deepen

country with the necessary infrastructure for importing

the principles and objectives of the Joint Business Project,

liquefied natural gas, thus guaranteeing long-term

signing various protocols to ensure the full participation

supplies.

of workers in meeting the strategic targets. Apart from its
importance for achieving these targets, these protocols

8
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LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD

have also contributed to creating a harmonious and

flexibility for making the necessary changes in our work

constructive working climate. This will enable ENAP and

teams, our technological designs and our commercial

its subsidiaries to be prepared to undertake even more

activities.

ambitious projects in the future.
These results and this vision of the future demonstrate
We are convinced that we are moving in the right direction

the excellence of public-sector companies when they

with the confidence provided by experience and the

have the country’s integral development in their sights.

ALFONSO DULANTO RENCORET
Chairman of the Board
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Enrique Dávila Alveal, Chief Executive Officer of ENAP.
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LETTER FROM THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The year 2004 was one of great achievements for

America, with a production capacity of 220 thousand

Empresa Nacional del Petróleo, in both our Chilean

barrels per day and sales of approximately US$ 4,300

and

million in 2004.

foreign

businesses,

continuing

to

deepen

the objectives of our Business Strategic Plan and
improving management policies and procedures.

Another important event in 2004 was the discovery
of two new oil-producing wells in Egypt, in March and

We are also continuing to integrate our productive

July, specifically in the North Bahariya Block, located

activities and focusing our efforts on those areas

in the Western Desert basin in the Sahara desert. The

“ENAP REFINERÍAS S.A. THUS BECAME THE LARGEST REFINING COMPANY
ON THE PACIFIC COAST OF CENTRAL AND SOUTH AMERICA”

directly related to the business. This has implied the

concession for this block is held by a consortium

sale of some assets which have provided additional

comprising our subsidiary Sipetrol S.A., with 50%

funds for the investment plan.

and which is also the operator; the American company
IPR Transoil Corporation, with 30% and the Croatian

With respect to efficiency, several actions were taken

company INA Naftaplin, with 20%.

to bring together our subsidiaries in the refining and
logistics area in order to improve our competitiveness

These discoveries in the North Bahariya Block are in

and face the demanding oil market on better conditions.

addition to the wells NB-1X discovered in 2000 and

A significant event was the start of the legal operation

Ganna-1 in August 2003.

of Enap Refinerías S.A. on January 1, 2004 following
the merger of the subsidiaries Petrox S.A. and RPC

We also obtained presidential recognition in 2004

S.A. This process was completed in December with

for the role played by ENAP in the area of the

the absorption by this new company of the subsidiary

country’s energy security. In the middle of the

Empresa Almacenadora de Combustibles S.A.

difficult circumstances faced with the reduction in
natural gas imports from Argentina, the President of

Enap Refinerías S.A. thus became the largest refining

the Republic, Ricardo Lagos Escobar, asked ENAP to

company on the Pacific Coast of Central and South

be responsible for developing the Liquefied Natural
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Gas (LNG) Project in order to provide for diversified

change in the internal culture and a new incentive

sources of supply and achieve greater independence

for meeting efficiency and cost reduction targets as

for the energy sector in the country. We assumed

it includes the application of just one information

this mission with the enthusiasm, discipline and

system for the whole Empresas ENAP Group and makes

commitment that has been characteristic of ENAP

productive management processes more flexible. In

for more than half a century and shows once again

addition, there are the large cost savings that its full

that we are prepared to assume new and important

application will produce, starting in 2005.

challenges to the benefit of consumers and the
country in general.

“WE ALSO OBTAINED PRESIDENTIAL RECOGNITION IN 2004 FOR THE ROLE
PLAYED BY ENAP IN THE AREA OF THE COUNTRY’S ENERGY SECURITY”

Another important event of the year was the purchase

Our commitment with the standard of living and

of the chain of 165 service stations from Shell in Peru

sustainable development was again seen strongly in

and their merger with the wholesale distribution assets

2004 with the launching in the Metropolitan Region

of the company Romero Trading, belonging to the

of “Diesel Ciudad Plus”, a diesel fuel that contains

Romero Group, one of the most important companies

just 50 parts per million of sulfur and permits the

in Peru. For ENAP, this transaction represented its

use of advanced-technology vehicles, with the latest-

first incursion in the retail fuel distribution business,

generation particle reduction systems contemplated

deepened its productive and commercial integration

in the Transantiago Plan. This high-quality fuel

and ensured an important market for the export of

represents a landmark for ENAP as it is the best of

our refined products.

its kind in Latin America and is of the same quality
as that produced in developed countries.

Internally, we proceeded throughout 2004 with
the Synthesis Project for the establishment of a

The product improvement process was supported by

new information platform, a task that included the

the modernization of our refineries which was included

redesign of administrative, commercial and productive

in our US$304 million investment plan that was

procedures. This project in itself represents a large

executed in 2004. During the year, we inaugurated

12
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LETTER FROM THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

new plants in the Bío Bío and Aconcagua refineries

Supported by a cohesive and highly-motivated

for producing better-quality gasoline and diesel.

human team, we are meeting the targets we set

These included the Benzenes Reduction in Gasolines

ourselves, one by one. If we add our rich experience

Plant at the Bío Bío Refinery and the Diesel Hydro-

as a public-sector company and the pioneering role

Desulfurization plant at the Aconcagua Refinery.

that has fallen upon us to perform over five decades,
we can confidently say that we are in a position to

We also signed contracts for the development of

successfully meet the new challenges that face us

new projects with important groups of Chilean and

and serve the requirements of the market and our

international companies for building other modern

owner, the state of Chile, promptly, efficiently and

plants at both refineries to optimize capacity of their

with quality.

units and respond to future fuel demand in both
volume and quality.

We continued to deepen the productive re-conversion
process in Magallanes, this time with the new natural
gas prospecting focus in the Lake Mercedes area, on
Tierra del Fuego, whose first drillings we expect to
start in the second half of 2005. This brings new
hopes for strengthening ENAP’s productive activities
in this southern region and shows how, with creativity
and innovative spirit, we can find new ways to
overcome the decline in oil reserves and stimulate
the projection of our business.

In the area of human resources, we took important
steps toward the consolidation of the strategic
alliance with the workers with the signing of various
complementary protocols to the Joint Business
Project and the opening of channels for direct, frank
ENRIQUE DÁVILA ALVEAL
and fluent dialogue with the unions.

Chief Executive Officer

ANNUAL REPORT 2004

GRUPO DE EMPRESAS ENAP

13

THE C OMPANY

THE COMPANY

Name

Empresa Nacional del Petróleo

Address

Avenida Vitacura 2736, 10th floor
Santiago de Chile

Tax Number

92.604.000-6

Ownership

The State of Chile

Telephone

(56-2) 2803000

Fax

(56-2) 2803199 / 2803179

P.O.Box

3556, Santiago de Chile

Postal code

6763260

Website

www.enap.cl

External auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers
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DESCRIPTION OF THE ORGANIZATION

Empresa Nacional del Petróleo is involved in the exploration, production and commercialization of hydrocarbons and their derivatives. Its subsidiary companies are Enap Refinerías S.A., Sociedad
Internacional Petrolera S.A. (Sipetrol) and Empresa Almacenadora
de Combustibles S.A. The group is completed with the production
complex located in Magallanes and its head office in Santiago.
ENAP covers upstream (exploration and production of crude oil and
natural gas), downstream (refining, logistics and sales of fuels and
other oil derivatives), oil industry related services and logistics for
the transportation and storage of fuels. It therefore constitutes a
network of businesses with a presence in the domestic and international markets and with technological support, modern infrastructure, competitive products and services for customers at all stages of
the business.
In Chile, ENAP and its subsidiaries work in an open economic environment where any investor can explore and exploit oil (subject to
signing a special contact with the State or to obtaining an administrative concession), and freely refine, import and distribute hydrocarbon products and byproducts.
ENAP has two business Divisions: Exploration and Production, involving Sipetrol S.A. and the upstream activities of Magallanes, and
Refining, Logistics and Commercialization (downstream) which until
2004 comprised the subsidiaries Enap Refinerías S.A. and Empresa
Almacenadora de Combustibles S.A. (the latter was merged with
Enap Refinerías S.A. in December 2004), and the refining and logistical assets in Magallanes.

Legal constitution, ownership and control of the company
Empresa Nacional del Petróleo is a company owned by the State
of Chile, constituted by Law 9.618 of June 19th., 1950. Its bylaws
were approved by Decree 1.208 of the Ministry of the Economy on
October 10th., 1950.
It is directed by a board of directors of eight members headed by
the Minister of Mining, who acts as chairman. The vice-chairman
is the Executive Vice-President of Corporación de Fomento de la
Producción (Corfo) (the state development corporation) entity which
also appoints another six directors including three that represent the
Institute of Chilean Mining Engineers, Sociedad Nacional de Minería
(National Mining Companies Association) and Sociedad de Fomento
Fabril (Chilean´s Manufacturers Association).
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF EMPRESAS ENAP
Standing, from left to right:
Fernando Ramírez Pendibene,
Jorge Matute Matute,
Ramón Jara Araya,
Aldo Signorelli Guerra,
Vicente Sánchez Cuesta,
Sitting, left to right:
Oscar Landerretche Gacitúa,
Alfonso Dulanto Rencoret,
Radován Razmilic Tomicic.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF EMPRESAS ENAP

Chairman

Directors

ALFONSO DULANTO RENCORET
Civil Industrial Engineer
Minister of Mining
RUT: 4.464.861-K

VICENTE SÁNCHEZ CUESTA
Lawyer
Corporación de Fomento de la Producción (Corfo)
RUT: 5.954.012-2

Vice Chairman

ALDO SIGNORELLI GUERRA (1)
Lawyer
Corporación de Fomento de la Producción (Corfo)
RUT: 5.068.583-7

OSCAR LANDERRETCHE GACITÚA
Comercial Engineer
Executive Vice-president of the Corporación
de Fomento de la Producción (Corfo)
RUT: 5.622.345-2

FERNANDO RAMÍREZ PENDIBENE
Civil Engineer
Instituto de Ingenieros de Minas de Chile
RUT: 7.876.527-5
JORGE MATUTE MATUTE
Chairman, Chilean National Federation of Oil Workers
Corporación de Fomento de la Producción (Corfo)
RUT: 5.334.581-6
RAMÓN JARA ARAYA (2)
Lawyer
Sociedad Nacional de Minería (Sonami)
RUT: 5.899.198-8
RADOVÁN RAZMILIC TOMICIC
Civil Engineer
Sociedad de Fomento Fabril (Sofofa)
RUT: 6.283.668-7

NOTES
(1) At its meeting held on June 24, 2004, the board appointed Mr.
Aldo Signorelli Guerra as Director in replacement of the resigned
Director, Mr. Eduardo Jara Miranda.
(2) At its meeting held on October 28, 2004, the board appointed Mr.
Ramón Jara Araya as a Director in replacement of the resigned
Director, Mr. Alfredo Ovalle Rodríguez.
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GROUP ORGANIZATION CHART OF EMPRESAS ENAP

Board
of Directors

Corporate Auditor
Francisco Oyarzún Parada
Commercial Engineer
Tax No.: 4.621.519-2

Chief Executive Officer
Enrique Dávila Alveal
Economist
Tax No.: 5.032.869-4

Business Divisions

Chief Executive Officer,
Refining, Logistics and
Commercialization Division
Julio Friedmann Encina
Civil Industrial Engineer
Tax No.: 7.988.418-9

Corporate Center

Chief Executive Officer,
Exploration and
Production Division
Manuel Sánchez Ceballos
Civil Industrial Engineer
Tax No.: 7.215.432-0

Manager, Exploration and
Production in Magallanes
Danilo Martic Kovacic
Mechanical Execution
Engineer
Tax No.: 4.384.978-6

Manager, Planning and
Corporate Performance
Guillermo del Valle
de la Cruz
Social Communicator
Tax No.: 7.379-488-9

Enap Refinerías S.A.
Chief Executive Officer
Carlos Cabeza Faúndez
Civil Chemical Engineer
Tax No.: 5.761.918-K

Manager, Corporate
Finance
David Jana Bitrán
Economist
Tax No.:7.296.858-1

ENAP
Refining

Aconcagua Refinery
Chief Executive Officer
Sergio Arévalo Espinoza
Civil Chemical &
Metallurgical Engineer
Tax No.: 4.212.294-7

* Company existed until november 30, 2004

Manager, Corporate
Human Resources
Aldo Siri Frites
Psychologist
Tax No.: 7.201.065-5

Bío Bío Refinery
Chief Executive Officer
Alfonso Yáñez Macías
Civil Chemical Engineer
Tax No.: 5.927.658-1

Manager, Services
Cecilia Llanos Reyes
Commercial Engineer
Tax No.: 6.706.073-3

Corporate Counsel
Alvaro Araya Ibáñez
Lawyer
Tax No.: 9.619.372-6

ENAP
Logistics

ENAP
International

Empresa Almacenadora de
Combustibles S.A.*
Chief Executive Officer
Mario Arze Contreras
Civil Chemical Engineer
Tax No.: 7.754.560-3

Sociedad Internacional
Petrolera S.A.
Chief Executive Officer
Nicolás Caussade Coudeu
Civil Industrial Engineer
Tax No.: 13.039.349-7

THE C OMPANY

ENAP DIRECTORS REMUNERATION

Name
Alfonso Dulanto Rencoret
Patricio Morales Aguirre
Mario Cabezas Thomas
Oscar Landerretche Gacitúa
Bernardo Espinosa Bancalari
Aldo Signorelli Guerra
Ramón Jara Araya
Alfredo Ovalle Rodríguez
Eduardo Jara Miranda
Fernando Ramírez Pendibene
Jaime Tohá González
Jorge Matute Matute
Radován Razmilic Tomicic
Vicente Sánchez Cuesta
Total

Tax No.
4.464.861-K
9.056.930-9
4.553.415-4
5.622.345-2
7.396.732-5
5.068.583-7
5.899.198-8
3.189.009-8
3.087.577-K
7.876.527-5
4.093.207-0
5.334.581-6
6.283.668-7
5.954.012-2

Period
Replaced Alfonso Dulanto at one meeting
Replaced Alfonso Dulanto at one meeting
Year 2004
Replaced Oscar Landerretche at 5 meetings
Since July 2004
Since October 28, 2004
From 2002 to September 2004
From 2003 to May 2004
Years 2003 and 2004
January to April 2003
Years 2003 and 2004
Years 2003 and 2004
From July 2003 to December 2004

2003
ThCh$
5,133
6,754
4,978
1,878
4,621
6,754
2,498
32,616

Note: As an employee of the subsidiary Enap Refinerías S.A., the director Jorge Matute Matute also received a remuneration of Ch$ 35,174,040 during 2004.

Management remuneration
Remunerations paid in 2004 to senior executives of ENAP
and subsidiaries amounted to Ch$ 3,093.7 million, 2.8 %
lower in nominal terms compared to those paid in 2003
(Ch$ 3,182.7 million).
The positions considered in this amount correspond to 32
senior executives including: chief executive officer, divisional
chief executive officers, managers of ENAP parent company,
managers of ENAP in Magallanes and chief executive officers
of the subsidiaries Enap Refinerías S.A. and Sipetrol S.A.

Severance Indemnities
The company paid its senior executives severance indemnities
of Ch$ 22.9 million in 2004, lower than the amount paid the
previous year (Ch$ 60.4 million).

20

ANNUAL REPORT 2004

GRUPO DE EMPRESAS ENAP

2004
ThCh$
2,951
1,558
4,386
2,687
4,674
6,235
6,667
6,902
36,059

Historical summary
Empresa Nacional del Petróleo was formed on June 19, 1950,
five years after the first oil well was discovered in Chile, in
the Springhill district of Magallanes on December 29, 1945.
Following this event, the team of explorers headed by the
engineer Eduardo Simián made further drillings and perfected
the economic feasibility studies. This, a recommendation
was made for Corfo to create ENAP in order to commercially
exploit the Magallanes deposits.
One of the first targets of the new company was to build an
oil refinery in Chile. This was completed in 1954 with the
commissioning of the Concón oil refinery (today the Aconcagua
refinery). Then, in 1959, the first logistical installations were
built to store and distribute the refined fuels at Maipú and,
the following year, the Gregorio sea terminal was built in
Magallanes.

In 1962, the Cullen gasoline plant (Magallanes) came into
operation, followed, in 1966, by the inauguration of the second
refinery in Chile, in Talcahuano (now the Bío Bío Refinery), and
the construction of the Talcahuano to San Fernando multi-use
pipeline.
ENAP then developed its oil logistics division with the creation
in 1981 of Empresa Almacenadora de Combustibles S.A.
(Emalco) with liquid and gas fuel storage plants in Maipú,
San Fernando and Linares. This subsidiary operated until
November 30, 2004 when its assets were transferred to Enap
Refinerías S.A.
In 1990, Sociedad Internacional Petrolera S.A (Sipetrol) was
formed to explore and exploit hydrocarbon deposits abroad.
In the Magallanes area, ENAP exploits the only hydrocarbon
deposits in the country and provides logistical and port services
to important customers operating in the energy sector.
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HIGHLIGHTS OF 2004

Enap Refinerías S.A.

LNG Project

January 1: Enap Refinerías S.A. starts to operate as a legal
entity, a company resulting from the merger of the subsidiaries
Refinería de Petróleo Concón S.A. and Petrox S.A. Refinería de
Petróleo. The shareholders of Enap Refinerías S.A. are ENAP,
with 99.96%, and Corporación de Fomento de la Produción
(Corfo), with 0.04%.

May 6: The government gave ENAP the mission of heading
the development of the Liquefied Natural Gas (LNG) Project,
in order to ensure the country’s energy supplies, following
the crisis caused by cuts in the supplies of natural gas from
Argentina.

ENAP’s experience in participative management
This merger allows ENAP to improve its competitiveness,
reduce costs and improve its industrial and commercial
performance. Enap Refinerías S.A. thus becomes the largest
refining company on the Pacific Coast of Central and South
America, with a production of 220,000 barrels per day, annual
sales of US$2,800 million and assets of US$ 1,100 million,
at December 31, 2003.

May 10: The management of ENAP and the National Federation
of Chilean Oil and Related Products Workers (Fenatrapech)
participate as guests of the Spanish Economic and Social
Council, in order to learn of the experience of ENAP’s strategic
alliance, participative management and Joint Business
Project.

Emissions Control Laboratory

Sale of holding in Petroquim S.A.

January 20: The Emissions Control Laboratory for Heavy
Vehicles was opened at the Vehicle Control and Certification
Center (3CV) in the Santiago district of Maipú.

May 10: ENAP and its subsidiary Enap Refinerías S.A. sold
to Santo Domingo de Inversiones S.A. and Petroquímica San
Julio S.A. all their shareholdings in Petroquim S.A., amounting
to 15% of that company’s share capital (7.5% by ENAP and
7.5% by Enap Refinerías S.A.). This decision falls within
ENAP’s strategy to dispose of some of its assets that are
unrelated to its core business.

The installation of this laboratory is the result of the agreement
signed between the Transport Authority and ENAP, by which
the 3CV was loaned equipment for the functioning of the
laboratory.

Advisory service for the LNG Project
New well in Egypt
March 9: Sipetrol announces a second oil discovery in Egypt in the
North Bahariya concession located in the Sahara desert. This, is
in addition to the Ganna discovery announced the year before. The
new exploratory well, called Ferdaus 1, was satisfactorily drilled,
registered and proven at two intervals of the Abu Roash superior
cretaceous formation, which proved oil of 43 to 45 API grades.

Corporate bond
March 12: ENAP places a bond for US$ 150 million. The yield
was 4.92%, which corresponds to approximately 123 basis
points over the yield on 10 year US Treasury bonds. The bond
coupon was 4.875%, which is the lowest obtained by a Chilean
company in this market for 10-year bonds. The transaction was
led by Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., and Citigroup acted as
Co-Manager.

Reestructuring in Magallanes
April 29: The board of ENAP approved the proposal to reorganize
the company’s structure in Magallanes in order to stimulate the
performance of its Divisions. The new organizational structure
places emphasis on management of the businesses under
matrix structures which recognize asset management units
and financial support units, simulating the present structures
of the Divisions.

June 14: ENAP contracts Citigroup Global Markets to advise it
on the LNG Project.

Agreements for expanding the Bío Bío Refinery
June 14: ENAP and Enap Refinerías S.A. signed various
agreements with Técnicas Reunidas S.A., Spain, and DSD
Construcciones y Montajes S.A., Chile (a member of the
German Ferrostaal Group) for the financing, construction and
operation of a refining complex at the Bío Bío Refinery. The
complex will include a mild hydro-cracker unit (known as a
MHC Unit); an acid waters plant, an amine regeneration plant;
a water de-mineralization plant; and mechanical, electrical
and instrumental interconnections between each unit and with
the existing installations at the Bío Bío Refinery. The project
represents a total investment of US$ 110.9 million.

Registration of Enap Refinerías S.A. in the Securities
Register
June 25: The Superintendency of Securities and Insurance
(SVS) approved the request for the inscription of Enap
Refinerías S.A. in the Securities Register of that regulatory
entity, with No 833.
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Agreement with Abastible
June 30: ENAP and Abastible sign an agreement for the use
of the LPG (liquefied petroleum gas) terminal that the latter is
building in San Vicente.

Diesel Ciudad Plus
July 2: ENAP launches “Diesel Ciudad Plus” on the Metropolitan
Region market; this product contains just 50 ppm of sulfur.

Protocol for Personnel Development
July 2: The management and Fenatrapech sign, in Aconcagua,
the protocol “Personnel Development and Excellence in
Performance”.

Change of Chief Executive Officer
July 14: Enrique Dávila Alveal takes over as Chief Executive
Officer of ENAP in replacement of Daniel Fernández Koprich.

and re-examination of the Magallanes basin begun in 2003
and, using a new hypothesis, has permitted the identification
of a potential exploratory zone in the basin.

ENAP buys assets from Shell in Perú
August 16: Enap Refinerías S.A., a subsidiary of ENAP acquired
the shares of Shell Perú S.A. and merged the company with
the assets of the company Romero Trading. The acquired
assets consist of a chain of 165 service stations in Lima and
Peru’s coastal region; the wholesale distribution business for
supplying mining, fishing and manufacturing industries; and
the distribution of Shell lubricants through the acquired service
stations.

New Plant at Bío Bío Refinery
August 16: President Ricardo Lagos inaugurated the Benzene
Reduction Plant at the Bío Bío Refinery for producing highquality gasolines.

Prize for Bío Bío Refinery
New well in Egypt
July 19: Sipetrol announces the discovery of a new
producing well, Marmaz 1, in the North Bahariya block
in Egypt.

Award for the Aconcagua Refinery
July 23: ENAP Refinerías’s Aconcagua plant was recognized by
the Construction Training Corporation, of the Chilean Chamber
of Construction, at its Annual Assembly 2004 held in Santiago,
as one the five companies in Chile with the highest rates of
increased productivity through personnel development.

ENAP among the best companies

August 26: The Chilean Association of Chemical Industries
(Asiquim) granted ENAP’s Bío Bío Refinery its “Responsible
conduct 2004” and “Sustainable development” prizes for the
achievements of this ENAP production unit in the areas of its
production, product distribution, safety, health, environmental
protection and community relationships.

Special Oil Operation Contract
August 28: The Ministry of Mining authorized the continuance,
updating and modification of the Special Oil Operation Contract
(CEOP) between ENAP and Geopark in order to strengthen the
strategic consortium between the companies for optimizing the
exploitation and exploration of the Fell block in Magallanes.

August 5: ENAP was distinguished by the magazine América
Economía as being one of 48 Chilean companies forming
part of the latest ranking of the 500 best companies in Latin
America. This international ranking is prepared based on 2003
data, and ENAP was ranked 12th in the public-sector company
category.

Sale of holding in Petrodow S.A.

3-D seismic studies on Lago Mercedes

August 31: ENAP concluded a refinancing transaction
amounting to US$ 250 million with a group of 15 international
banks jointly led by Calyon New York Branch, HSBC Securities
(USA) Inc. and JP Morgan Securities Inc.

August 6: ENAP contracted the company Veritas Geophysical
Chile S.A. to make three-dimensional seismic studies in the
area of Lago Mercedes, on Tierra del Fuego. The 3-D seismic
study will allow for a more precise identification of underground
conditions and thus determine the characteristics of the
potential deposit. This study is part of the geological analysis
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August 29: ENAP sold to Dow Chemical International Ltd. (Dow)
its 20.47% shareholding in Petroquímica Dow S.A. (Petrodow).

Refinancing

ENAP signed an amended and restated term loan agreement
covering a loan agreement signed on August 29, 2003,
modifying the conditions of that loan for an amount of US$

HIGHLIGHTS OF 2004

150 million (tranche 1) with a reduction in the interest rate,
and granting an additional loan of up to US$ 100 million
(tranche 2) with a bullet term of 5 years.

next April on the basis of the complete interpretation of the
3-D seismic study.

Merger of Emalco and Enap Refinerías S.A.
Hydrogen Plant for the Aconcagua Refinery
September 14: Enap Refinerías S.A. signed a contract with
AGA, a subsidiary of the Linde AG Group, Germany, for the
construction of a hydrogen plant for the Aconcagua refinery,
involving a total investment of US$ 70 million.

December 1: Continuing with its policy of operative integration
and optimization in the use of its productive assets, ENAP merged
the subsidiary Emalco (Empresa Almacenadora de Combustibles
S.A.) with Enap Refinerías S.A.

Advantages of Diesel Ciudad Plus
Diesel Hydro-Treatment Plant at Bío Bío
October 1: Enap Refinerías S.A. signed a contract with a
group of companies (Technip, Italy, Tipiel, Colombia and Sigdo
Koppers, Chile) for the construction of a diesel hydro-treatment
at the Bío Bío Refinery.

December 13: The Chief Executive Officer of ENAP, Enrique
Dávila, confirms, in a seminar organized by the Transport
Authority, that “Diesel Ciudad Plus” is the fuel suitable for
use in particle control devices in public transport vehicles as
required by the TranSantiago Plan.

Contracts with Initec
October 7: Enap Refinerías S.A. signed contracts with Initec
(Técnicas Reunidas, Spain) for a total of US$ 66 million for
the construction of a new diesel hydro-treatment plant at
the Aconcagua Refinery and to increase the capacity of the
present hydro-cracking units at both Aconcagua and Bío Bío
refineries.

Quality of ENAP fuels
October 27: The Chief Executive Officer of ENAP, Enrique
Dávila, announced that the company is in condition to meet the
new fuel quality demands that come into force in January 2005
throughout the country.

Gasoline Hydro-Desulfurization Plant
November 15: The gasoline hydro-desulfurization plant at
the Aconcagua Refinery started operating; this required an
investment from own resources of US$ 36 million.

Sale of holding in Sonacol
November 17: ENAP concluded the sale to Abastible S.A. (a
subsidiary of Copec) of its 12% shareholding in Sonacol for
US$ 18 million, ENAP retaining a shareholding of 10.1%.

Exploration in Lago Mercedes
November 23: The board of ENAP, based on a proposal made
by the project team based on new information, approved
the modification of the time period for exploration in Lago
Mercedes. The drilling of the LM-2 well was therefore planned
for the second half of 2005 at a location to be defined early
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ENAP REFINERÍAS S.A.
SIGNED A CONTRACT WITH

AGA ,

A SUBSIDIARY OF THE LINDE
AG GROUP, GERMANY,
BUILDING A

FOR

HYDROGEN PLANT

AT THE ACONCAGUA REFINERY,
INVOLVING A TOTAL INVESTMENT OF
US$ 70 MILLION.

26

ANNUAL REPORT 2004

GRUPO DE EMPRESAS ENAP

ANNUAL REPORT 2004

GRUPO DE EMPRESAS ENAP

27

HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT

Human Resources Management and Organization
ENAP was intensely active in human resources management
in 2004, principally to orient the organization’s actions to
compliance with the targets set out in the Business Strategic
Plan and to meeting the commitments assumed in the Joint
Business Project (PCE) signed by the federations of Workers
and of Professionals and Supervisors.
Management undertook and carried out a combination of
tasks which included:
• The strategic planning of human resources.
• Coordination of the Corporate Human Resources Committee.
• Introduction and development of a new human resources
management model of corporate scope focusing on the
strategic, which will be decentralized by Divisions and where
the responsibility lies with the administrative level.
• Management of labor relations and the organizational climate
at a corporate level.
• Management of the PCE, its protocols and work agendas
with the Unions.
• Design and implementation of the model of management
by skills, development, strategic training and performance
measurement and improvement.
• Design and management of internal communications systems

for the strategic alignment of the workers as a function of the
PEN and the PCE.

Sintesis Project
The company worked hard in 2004 in redesigning processes
that implied transversal and vertical movement throughout the
organization, including the formation of a specialized team of
145 executives and professionals representing the different
levels, subsidiaries and productive units, in order to implement
the Sintesis Project. For this Project a target of complete
renewal and integration of the management technological
platform was set, moving from version 4.7 of the SAP system
to its SAP R/3 version.
The Sintesis Project would have its trial run on January 1,
2005, implementing for the first time a sole technological
management platform for the whole of ENAP, including the
subsidiaries Enap Refinerías S.A. and Sipetrol S.A., as well as
the production areas operating in Magallanes and Santiago.
The accompanying diagram summarizes the Company’s
targets covered by the redesign of processes through the
Sintesis Project.

REDESIGN OF PROCESSES IN THE VALUE CHAIN THROUGH THE SINTESIS PROJECT

PRODUCTION

CRUDE
LOGISTICS

EXPLORATION
CRUDE PURCHASE

REFINING

PRODUCTS
LOGISTICS

Product logistical and sales support
Finance / Accounting
Human Resources
Procurement of materials and services
Maintenance of production plants and assets
Follow-up of Investment Projects
Performance and Budget
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Regarding human resources management, the development
of the Sintesis Project implied a deep change within the
organization, preceded by a complete program of employee
studying, analysis and training, in order to achieve the socialtechnical redesign targets, both for the procedures and the
conduct of the teams and people involved.
The Sintesis Project also included the development of a vast
process of training summarized as follows:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

People trained: 1,108
Hours of training: 27,700
Average training hours per person: 25
Total courses given: 341
Average courses per person: 2
Training centers: 4, with 24 rooms
Network points (computers): 264
Total instructors: 56

Joint Business Project
The deepening of the Joint Business Project was one of the
greatest challenges of 2004. The following protocols were
signed with the National Federation of Chilean Oil Workers
(Fenatrapech) and the Federation of ENAP Professionals and
Supervisors (Fenap):
• Employability and Labor Stability with Competitiveness.
Its principal aim is to create the conditions for ENAP to be
a highly-competitive company, at the same time generating
conditions of stability and employability for its employees.
• Strategic Management of Human Resources Protocol. This,
to learn to be more competitive, in order to reduce the gaps
that separate ENAP from companies with the best practices
and to be more productive, maximizing the capacities and
skills of the company’s employees.
The following protocols were also signed:
• Structural Transformation of ENAP in Magallanes. This
protocol was signed on April 29, 2004 by Management and
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Fenatrapech. Its objective is to avoid eventual repercussions
that could arise from the company’s structural transformation
processes in Magallanes and their impact on the workers.
• Of similar characteristics to the above, this protocol was
signed on May 19, 2004 by Management and Fenap. Its
objective is to avoid eventual repercussions that could arise
from the company’s structural transformation processes in
Magallanes and their impact on the members of this federation.
A highly-collaborative policy of labor relations was also agreed
in the spirit and framework of the PCE.
• Integration of Emalco S.A. into Enap Refinerías S.A. This
protocol was signed on June 24, 2004 by Management and
Fenatrapech.
• Persons and Excellence in Performance. This protocol was
signed on July 2, 2004 by Management and Fenatrapech
and is to focus career development, constant training and
management of performance within the company on the basis
of skills.
• Labor Management of Contractor Companies. ENAP signed
this protocol on December 15, 2004 with Fenatrapech and
Fenap federations. Its objective is to see that labor rights and
the standard of living of external workers collaborating with
the production activities of ENAP and its subsidiaries are
respected. It includes a training plan for supervisors working
directly with the personnel of external companies.
On December 29, 2004, Management and both federations
signed an “Agreement for the reduction of the working day”,
designed to complement the provisions of paragraph 1 of
clause 22 of the Labor Code, which reduces the working week
from 48 to 45 hours as of January 1, 2005.

Collective bargaining and labor relations
Six collective bargaining processes were carried out during
2004 in ENAP and subsidiaries, with the following unions:
Aconcagua Refinery Workers, Aconcagua Refinery Professionals
and Supervisors, ENAP Santiago Employees, Professionals
and Supervisors of the Bío Bío Refinery, Workers of the Bío
Bío Refinery and Emalco Employees.

These were all carried out in an atmosphere of confidence
and collaboration with the company’s new challenges deriving
from the Business Strategic Plan, consolidating a cooperative
style of labor relations without conflicts, as is stated in the
Joint Business Project in force for all the ENAP holding.
As a practice begun the previous year, incentives are preferably
paid through variable remuneration concepts, associated with
factors related to the company’s results.

PERSONNEL BY SUBSIDIARY 1999-2004 (1)
1999

2000

2001

2002

2003

2004

1,547

1,521

1,337

1,269

1,228

1,214

Refinería Bío Bío (*)

624

629

633

626

633

649

Refinería Aconcagua (**)

581

566

562

559

553

555

Magallanes

Corporate Center

169

171

171

172

176

178

Emalco

128

129

124

124

118

107

Sipetrol(2)

176

185

234

286

382

364

3,225

3,201

3,061

3,036

3,090

3,067

TOTAL

Notes:
(1) Includes personnel with indefinite contracts
(2) The personnel of Sipetrol S.A. includes its activities in Chile and abroad, i.e. 115 in Chile, 125 in Argentina, 41 in Colombia, 38 in Ecuador, 29 in Egypt and 16 in the United Kingdom, in 2004.
(*) Formerly Petrox S.A. Refinería de Petróleo. (**) Formerly Refinería de Petróleo Concón S.A.

COMPOSITION OF PERSONNEL IN 2004
UNITS
Emalco
Magallanes
Bío Bío
Aconcagua
Sipetrol in Chile
Sipetrol abroad*
Corporate Center
TOTAL

MANAGERS

DEPARTMENT HEADS

2
4
4
3
8
7
11
39

3
16
17
19
5
16
18
94

SPECIALIZED
PROFESSIONALS
5
12
4
9
7
0
16
53

UNINIZED
PROFESSIONALS
7
206
124
102

UNIONIZED
PERSONNEL
90
976
500
422

142

179

364

37
618

96
2,263

178
3,067

TOTAL
107
1,214
649
555

* Sipetrol abroad corresponds to subsidiaries and branches in Argentina, Colombia, Ecuador, United Kingdom and Egypt.
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CRUDE OIL PRICE IN 2004,
WAS US $41,5 PER BARREL, 33%
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Situation in the international market in 2004
It is evident that 2004 was the year of the “surreptitious oil
shock”. In contrast to the price shocks of 1973-74, 197980, 1990-91 and 2002-03, which were preceded by various
political-military crises, in 2004 the oil price rose sharply
without any associated crisis to successive record levels (in
current terms, i.e. in currency not adjusted for inflation) that
were quickly overcome.
The average international crude oil reference price West Texas
Intermediate (WTI) was US$ 41.4 per barrel in 2004, 33%
higher than the US$ 31.1 recorded in 2003.

Demand for crude oil grew by 2.6 million barrels per day (bpd)
in 2004, the highest annual increase in the last 30 years, to
a record 82.4 million bpd.
While supplies rose by 3.7 million bpd, and there was a certain
recovery in world stocks, this was at the cost of occupying
gradually throughout the year practically the whole unused
capacity of crude oil production of the OPEC (and the world),
this falling to a little more than 1 million bpd, excluding Iraq.
The continuous sabotaging of oil facilities in that country
resulted, in practice, in not considering its production capacity
as a back-up for the supply system.
The reduction in the safety margins of the supply system by
the gradual drying up of the unused oil production capacity
and insufficient stocks, supported the price increase almost
permanently until October. Thus the WTI price, which opened
the year at US$ 34.2 per barrel touched a maximum monthly
level of US$ 53.2 per barrel in October (the peak daily price
reaching US$ 56.4 on October 22), a month in which the
upward pressure was intensified when American oil production
in the Mexican Gulf fell by 480,000 bpd due to the damage
inflicted on oil installations by Hurrican Ivan.

AVERAGE ANNUAL WTI PRICE (US$ per Barrel)

WTI CRUDE PRICES IN 2004 (US$ per Barrel)

YEARS

Strong global economic growth, particularly the expansion in
the United States and China, was the main factor explaining
the rise in oil prices in 2004 as the great increase in demand
that followed stretched to a maximum the installed capacity
for oil production, refining and transportation which reached
their limits, a situation not seen since 1973.
MONTHS

GLOBAL OIL MARKET 2003-2004
(millions of barrels per day)
TOTAL DEMAND
OPEC
Non-OPEC

2003
79,8
48,8
31,0

2004
82,4
49,4
33,0

SUPPLY
Former Soviet Union
Rest non-OPEC
LNG* & OPEC condensed
OPEC crude

79,4
10,4
38,5
3,4
27,1

83,1
11,3
38,9
3,7
29,2

CHANGE IN STOCKS

-0,4

0,7

Source: US Department of Energy “Short Term Energy Outlook January 2005”
* Liquid Natural Gas
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% Change
2,6
0,6
2,0
3,7
0,9
0,4
0,3
2,1

In November, the price fell by almost US$ 5 per barrel on news
of the increase in interest rates in China, thus anticipating a
deceleration in the global economy, while oil production in
the Mexican Gulf recovered to its normal levels. In December,
the price fell to US$43.2 per barrel because a winter of very
moderate temperatures in the northern hemisphere produced
lower-than-expected fuel consumption in heating (and in
crude oil refining).

WTI INTERNATIONAL PRICES AND PRODUCTS 2004
(US$ per Barrel)

A notable aspect of the year was the large price premium for
light oils compared to heavy crudes. The premium on API
grade per barrel gradually increased during the year as demand
increased, led by gasoline and diesel, while the marginal supply
of crude became increasingly heavy, with lower gasoline and
diesel yields, as this came from the until-then unused capacity
of the principal exporters from the Persian Gulf.

MONTHS

API GRADE PREMIUM in US$ per Barrel
(Isthmus Light Crude – Maya Heavy Crude)

MONTHS

From an average of US$ 0.48 per barrel for API grade in the
first half year (a historically high premium), this reached an
average of US$ 0.73 per barrel in the second half, with a top
price of US$ 0.91 in November.
The prices of refined products in the international market of
the American coast of the Mexican Gulf generally continued the
powerful upward movement in crude oil prices, but with some
special features like the large increase in the gasoline price in
April and May, and in diesel oil in October.

In the case of gasoline, the price rose much more than that of
crude in the two-month period mentioned, on the rejection by
the United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) of a
petition by the industry to postpone the entry into operation of
the new (more restrictive) limits on sulfur content, at the same
time that the states of California, New York and Connecticut
were facing the first gasoline season with the coming into force
of the prohibition on MTBE additives. The price difference
between gasoline and WTI crude was US$ 16.2 per barrel in
May, while the average difference for the year was US$ 8,0
per barrel.
In the case of diesel, the price took off in October, exceeding
even the record rise in crude prices, following the reduction
in exports of Russian diesel. This simultaneously produced a
large increase in its price in Europe and the United States.
The price beach between diesel and WTI crude was US$ 8.3
per barrel in October, while the average difference for the year
was US$ 4.2 per barrel.
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Domestic market in 2004
The consumption of refined oil products in Chile reached
13.6 million cubic meters (234.2 thousand bpd) in 2004,
an increase of 5.7% over the previous year. This figure marks
a clear recovery in consumption to the levels we had before
2000.

followed an increasing but dissimilar trend: while the
consumption of gasoline, kerosene and liquefied gas (fuels
used mainly by individuals) showed a combined growth of
1.2%, that of diesel oil and petroleum fuel (mainly used by
industry) grew by 9.1% and industrial non-fuel products by
7.9%.
In the case of gasoline, consumption was 2.94 million cubic
meters (50,700 bpd), an increase of just 0.2% over 2003.
This modest increase in gasoline consumption is explained
by the 4% rise in the international price, using the United
States Mexican Gulf Coast market as reference, which
implied a 9% rise in the consumer price in real terms, i.e.
including taxes and deducting the general inflation rate.

TOTAL CHILEAN FUEL CONSUMPTION

Total kerosene consumption increased by 2.1% to 0.86
million cubic meters (14,800 bpd). This is explained by
greater demand for aviation kerosene, in turn due to an
increase in cargo and passenger air traffic reflecting greater
economic activity.
Domestic consumption

Variation

This growth in the consumption of refined products in Chile
is mainly explained by the dynamism of the Chilean economy,
measured as GDP, which, according to figures of the Central
Bank, grew by 6.1% in 2004. This was strongly due to
the increase in the prices for the country’s main exports,
principally copper; the recovery in domestic demand; and the
coming into operation of free-trade agreements, especially
with the European Union, United States and South Korea.
The increased economic activity triggered an increase
in demand for fuels used in electricity generation and
industrial processes. But another unexpected factor also
made an impact. This was the Argentine natural gas supply
crisis which led to the replacement of this energy source by
traditional fuels like diesel oil, butane and propane and, to
a lesser degree, petroleum fuels. In fact, in some industrial
processes, the use of liquefied petroleum gas increased as a
substitute for natural gas.
By product groups, consumption behavior during 2004
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Liquefied petroleum gas consumption increased by 2.6% to
1.74 million cubic meters (30,000 bpd). The natural gas
deficit forced the industrial sector to take safeguard actions
for ensuring the continuity of their production processes,
implying an increase in demand for this fuel.
Total diesel consumption in 2004 reached 5.6 million cubic
meters (96,400 bpd), maintaining its position as the most
highly-consumed individual product in Chile. The increase in
diesel consumption (7.5%) was partly due to its use as an
electricity generation fuel in replacement of natural gas.
Petroleum fuel consumption was 1.78 million cubic meters
(30,700 bpd), an increase of 14.3%. This growth is
explained by the sharp increase in shipping reflecting in turn
the increase in Chile’s foreign trade.
The consumption of industrial non-fuel products (solvents,
olefins, asphalt products, etc.) was 0.68 million cubic
meters (11,700 bpd), a 7.9% increase over 2003. This is
mainly linked to the increase in investment in transport
infrastructure which requires asphalt products.
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ENAP PLANTS AND
PRODUCTS

MEET THE MOST

STRICT ENVIRONMENTAL AND
QUALITY STANDARDS,
APPLIED IN

CHILE

AND IN THE

INTERNATIONAL MARKETS.
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Investments
ENAP invested a total of US$ 304.3 million in projects in
2004 of which US$ 149.5 million were in the Exploration
and Production (E&P) Division and US$ 154.8 million in the
Refining, Logistics and Commercialization (RL&C) Division.

RL&C Division
The subsidiary Enap Refinerías S.A., in particular the refineries
of Aconcagua and Bío Bío, concentrated the largest part of the
investments in RL&C, with amounts of US$ 67.9 million and
US$ 32.6 million respectively.
The remaining investments in this Division were made through
capital contributions in companies with third parties, activities
at the Gregorio refinery in Magallanes and the subsidiary Emalco
S.A.
The Aconcagua refinery completed a series of projects including
the expansion of the catalytic cracking facility that consisted in
remodeling the catalytic cracker unit, in order to increase its
capacity and the operating severity conditions, and the adaptation
of the primary fractioning unit for processing heavy crudes (first
phase). The latter consisted of a modification of the fractioning
plant installations, in order to refine heavier crude mixes while
maintaining the processing capacity. The Aconcagua Refinery is
now therefore in condition to use cheaper crudes for processing,
thus reducing operating costs.
The Bío Bío Refinery completed its benzene saturation plant. This
contemplated the building of a plant for reducing the benzene
content in gasoline, in order to meet the maximum content
specifications in force since April 2004 for the Metropolitan
Region, and from January 2005 for the rest of the country.

E&P Division
The international activities of the Exploration and Production
Division accounted for investments amounting to US$
113.6 million, principally in Ecuador, Argentina and Egypt.
There were 49 wells drilled in all, related to exploration and
development.
Among the most important highlights of the E&P Division abroad
was the discovery of oil in Egypt. This occurred in the North

Bahariya block where several successful wells were drilled.
A first well was also drilled in Iran, in the Mehr block which
covers an area of 2,500 km2 in the province of Khuzestán; this
is being explored by an international consortium consisting of
the Austrian company OMV, the operator with a share of 34%,
the Spanish company Repsol-YPF, with 33% and Sipetrol,
with 33%. Its commercial feasibility will be analyzed during
2005.
In Chile, investments made by the E&P Division in Magallanes
amounted to US$ 35.9 million. The main object of these were
the optimization of the use of natural gas and the building of
logistical adaptations needed to meet new gas demands in
the zone.

Market risk factors
ENAP is involved in the exploration and production of hydrocarbons and the following stages of the production chain: refining, transport, storage and sales of oil-based products. A
substantial part of these operations relate to the refining and
sales of its products in Chile, leading the supply of the Chilean
market with a market share of around 86%. In recent years, it
began to export these products, principally to Latin American
countries.
ENAP regularly approaches the international market for the
supplies of crude oil and products. This permits it to adequately ensure supplies and meet its commercial commitments.
Supply of crude oil is therefore obtained mainly from countries in South America and Africa, principally Argentina and
Brazil. Although the company has the facilities to supply itself
by sea, part of the supply from Argentina comes through the
bi-national Estenssoro-Pedrals oil pipeline which connects
the Neuquén basin in Argentina with the Bío Bío Refinery.
However, deliveries through the pipeline have been reducing
constantly over time, being partly replaced by crude oil brought
mainly from West Africa.
The relevant risk for the business is essentially the refining
margin which is affected by price fluctuations on the international markets for crude and refined products. The refineries have therefore continued to favorably adjust their cost
structures to the competitiveness of this industry and have
focused their investments on increasing both their operating
flexibility and their product quality to partially mitigate the
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exposure of its revenues to import duty reductions with the
coming into effect of the free trade agreement between Chile
and the United States.
As ENAP has investments in oil exploration and production in
countries with higher country risk ratings than Chile, which could
individually affect some foreign subsidiary, actions are being
taken to increase the diversification of investments abroad to
reduce the global risk for the Company.
The Company’s exposure to exchange rate fluctuations, as a
result of having a large part of its revenues in Chilean pesos and
its liabilities in US dollars, has been significantly reduced by a
pricing policy based on import parity indexed to the US dollar.
This is analyzed periodically, in order to maintain competitive in
view of the freedom in Chile to set prices and to import.
With respect to interest rate risks, the Company maintains
a combination of its financial debt at fixed rates (principally
long-term bonds) and at floating rates (principally bilateral and
syndicated loans) which, at December 31, 2004, amounted to
approximately 79%/21% fixed/floating rates.
ENAP also holds a position in derivative products for hedging
its risks. It has a currency swap to cover the whole of the
bond issue on the domestic market made in October 2002 by
converting its UF denomination to US dollars, and interest rate
swaps for fixing the rates on a significant part of the syndicated
US dollar loans at floating rates. ENAP also holds positions
in derivative instruments to hedge the commodities price risk,
specifically the crude oil price.

Results summary
ENAP produced a net income of Ch$ 65,115 million (US $116.8
million at the year-end exchange rate) during 2004, a figure
27.7% lower than that of 2003 where net income was Ch$
90,055 million. Although the operating income of Ch$ 139,283
million was 4.8% higher than 2003 (Ch$ 132,927 million), this
was largely offset by a negative impact of Ch$ 31,856 million in
the non-operating result, reflected in a reduction in income from
this source from Ch$ 68,643 million in 2003 to Ch$ 36,787
million in 2004.
This weaker non-operating result was mainly influenced by a
smaller revaluation of the peso than the previous year which
produced lower gains due to exchange differences.
ENAP’s earnings are subject to a special additional tax of 40%
(Decree Law 2,398). The net income measured after deducting
just the normal First Category income tax (of 17% in 2004
and 16.5% in 2003) was Ch$ 123,513 million (US$ 221.6
million), compared to Ch$ 165,819 million (US$ 272.4 million)
in 2003.

Operating income
Average refining margins in 2004 were quite wide which
enabled operating income to remain relatively stable for most
of the year, except for the last quarter when there was a fall.
The high crude prices during the year also contributed; in the
case of the WTI reference price, the year’s average was US$ 41.5
per barrel, 33% higher than the US$ 31.1 per barrel seen in
2003.
Operating income therefore increased from Ch$ 132,927
million in 2003 to Ch$ 139,283 million in 2004, an increase
of 4.8%. This is mainly explained by the greater operating
margin which improved by 3.3%, as cost of sales increased
by Ch$ 257,333 million while sales rose by Ch$ 263,527
million. Administrative and selling expenses reduced by 0.3%,
the equivalent of Ch$ 162 million.
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Non-operating result

Liabilities

The considerable reduction in non-operating income was the
main reason for the negative effect on the company’s result
for the year. Non-operating income in 2004 was Ch$ 36,787
million, 46.4% below the level of Ch$ 68,643 million recorded
in 2003.

Total liabilities at December 31, 2004 increased by 12.3%,
representing a total of Ch$ 135,026 million, passing from
Ch$ 1,096,427 million in December 2003 to Ch$ 1,231,453
million in 2004.

The variation is mainly due to exchange differences which, in
2003, showed a gain of Ch$ 116,971 million compared to
Ch$ 77,015 million in 2004. This reflects a lower appreciation
of the peso as the value of the US dollar against the peso fell
by almost Ch$ 125 per dollar on 2003, while the appreciation
in 2004 was just Ch$ 36 per dollar.
In addition, the price-level restatement loss increased from of
Ch$ 5,864 million in 2003 to Ch$ 17,729 million in 2004;
an increase in financial expenses of Ch$ 5,557 million; and
reduced income from investments in related companies of
Ch$ 3,801 million. These negative factors were partially offset
by a reduction in other non-operating expenses of Ch$ 20,741
million and higher other non-operating income of Ch$ 10,528
million.

The increase in liabilities is explained by an increase of Ch$ 63,686
million (13.9%) in current liabilities and the increase of Ch$
71,340 million (11.2%) in long-term liabilities. The largest
changes in current liabilities were in accounts and notes
payable. The former increased by Ch$ 90,245 million (50.9%)
while the latter reduced by Ch$ 67,919 million (43.6%). The
change in composition of these accounts was due to a strategy
of reducing financial debt (notes payable) by making greater
use of suppliers’ credit, and the effort to better match current
assets related to the business with their respective current
liabilities.
The principal increase among long-term liabilities was produced
by long-term bonds payable which increased by Ch$ 68,665
million (29.5%) following the bond issue made in March 2004
on the American market for US$ 150 million. The proceeds
were used mainly to refinance shorter-term liabilities.

STATEMENT OF INCOME
(Ch$ millions at December 2004)
Operating income
Non-operating income
Taxes & Others
Net Income for the Year

2004

2003

Difference

139,283

132,927

6,356

36,787

68,643

-31,856

-110,955

-111,515

560

65,115

90,055

-24,940

Equity
Equity ENAP at December 31, 2004 amounted to Ch$ 422,612
million, representing a 1.9% reduction compared to the Ch$ 430,870
million at December 2003.
This, mainly due to a reduction in net income for 2004.

Assets
ENAP had assets of Ch$1,654,232 million at December
31, 2004, representing an increase of Ch$ 126,795 million
(8.3%) over 2003. This is mainly seen in the following items
of current assets: inventories of Ch$ 124,747 million and
trade receivables of Ch$ 62,804 million. The 29.5% increase
in current assets was not offset by the reduction of Ch$ 33,266 million
(4.0%) in fixed assets, mainly due to higher depreciation; nor
the reduction of Ch$ 3,621 million (2.6%) in other assets.

Exchange rate
The tendency of the exchange rate, expressed as pesos per
US dollar, was rising in the first months of the year but the
situation reverted in the second half to reach lower levels
than at the end of 2003.

ENAP BALANCE SHEET
(Ch$ millions at December 2004)

2004

2003

Difference

Total Assets

1,654,232

1,527,437

126,795

Total Liabilities

1,231,453

1,096,427

135,026

167

140

27

422,612

430,870

-8,258

Minority Interest
Equity
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The closing exchange rate of Ch$ 557.4 per US dollar was
6.1% lower tan the rate at the end of 2003. The appreciation
of the peso however was less than that which occurred
during 2003 when the dollar moved from Ch$ 718.61
per dollar at the end of 2002 to Ch$ 593.8 at the end of
2003. The gain from exchange differences therefore, and
thus the non-operating income, was considerably higher in
2003 than in 2004. This lower non-operating income had a
negative effect on the company’s final net income.

US DOLLAR EXCHANGE RATE (2002 TO 2004)

CHANGES IN THE EXCHANGE RATE
(end of year)
Closing exchange rate

2004

2003

2002

557,40

593,80

718,61

Nominal % change

-6,1%

-17,4%

9,7%

Change in peso terms

-36,4

-124,8

63,8
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Supplier contracts

Properties and equipment

Crude oil requirements in 2004 for ENAP refineries were mainly
covered by supply contracts with international companies, the
most significant ones being Repsol YPF, Chevron San Jorge,
Petrobras, Vintage Oil, Glencore, TotalFinaELF and Sipetrol,
the international subsidiary of ENAP.

ENAP owns the following properties:

A small proportion was met by ENAP’s Chilean production¹
(3%) and by purchases on the crude spot market.

Santiago: The company’s head office and its corporate and
divisional management are located in a building at Avda.
Vitacura 2736, 7th to 14th floors, acquired under a leasing
agreement in 1999.
Santiago: Ahumada Street 341, 8th and 9th floors: These
offices are for sale.

Customer contracts
ENAP’s fuel production and the amounts imported occasionally
are sold to the distribution companies operating in the country
under contracts.

Land at Concón: ENAP owns several plots of land around the
Aconcagua refinery in order to provide security protection to
its operations.
It also has the following industrial installations:

ENAP thus supplied 85.8% of the Chile fuels market (13.6
million cubic meters, the equivalent of 234,200 bpd) in 2004
under contracts with the Chilean distributors Copec, Shell,
Esso, Repsol YPF, Punto Blanco, JLC S.A. and others.
In 2004, ENAP continued with its plan for positioning itself
in the regional markets of the South and Central American
Pacific coast, achieving export volumes of 2 million cubic
meters. Remarkable in this context, was the company’s entry
into the Peruvian retail distribution market where, from July
2004, it took over the chain of 165 service stations sold by
Shell Peru.

Magallanes
In Magallanes, ENAP has oil and natural gas deposits which
are distributed geographically in three areas: Tierra del Fuego
Island, the mainland and the Estrecho de Magallanes.
ENAP has an extensive network of oil, gas and multi-purpose
pipelines in the Magallanes region (approximately 3,000
kilometers) which carries fuel and natural gas from the
production areas to the gas processing plants, the refinery
and storage and distribution terminals and ports on Tierra del
Fuego and the mainland.

Insurance
ENAP and its subsidiaries have insurance policies covering
their physical assets, inventories, stoppage damages, the
shipping of crude oil and products, and civil liability.

It has camp-sites and service facilities at Cerro Sombrero
and Cullen, on Tierra del Fuego Island, and at Posesión and
Gregorio, on the mainland.
Its industrial installations also include gas processing plants
at Cullen and Posesión, a fractioning plant at Cabo Negro and
the Gregorio refinery and terminal; a port and shipbuilding
complex at Cabo Negro Industrial Park and Laredo; industrial
facilities at Tres Puentes and an office building in the city of
Punta Arenas.

1 (Includes oil and natural gas).
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Subsidiary Enap Refinerías S.A.
This company has industrial facilities for the reception and
refining of crude oil and the necessary logistics for distributing
its products both in Chile’s 5th Region (Aconcagua Refinery)
and its 8th Region (Bío Bío Refinery). It also has fuel storage
plants at Maipú, Linares and San Fernando.
The main installations of the Aconcagua Refinery are: Topping
and Vacuum I, Topping and Vacuum II, Visbreaking, Catalytic
Cracking, Continuous Reformation, Hydrocracking, Hydrodesulfurization, Isomerization, Alquilation, DIPE (partly owned
through Éteres y Alcoholes S.A.) and Sulfur Plant (partly owned
through Petrosul S.A.).
It also has treatment plants: a sulfuric acid, sulfur and other
plant; a closed-circuit refrigeration water system; oil pipeline
between the refinery and the Quintero Sea Terminal; internal
pipe installations among the tanks of the processing plants and
from these plants to tanks of intermediate and final products;
pumping area for sending products from the refinery; pumping
area and sea terminals, including a mono-buoy type in Quintero;
a chemical laboratory; facilities for the fire brigade personnel;
fire brigade house (for 24-hour shifts); fire trucks, equipment
and elements for fire-fighting; specialized workshops for the
maintenance and repairs of all the plants; emergency electrical
equipment based on diesel and gas fuel, and a natural gas
interconnection system for use as a fuel for the boilers and
steam generation.
Enap Refinerías S.A. has the following properties in Concón:
land at Avenida Borgoño 25777 for the industry, plot 9 sports
ground; plots S-Sonacol, industry; plot E7/B6, vacant site; Dos
Norte plot R-1, industry; road 2 to 5, plot E7/B1, vacant site;
Street 2 Norte, plot R-3, industry; corner of Tierra del Fuego
and Magallanes Streets, health; plot 16 PC14 A1, Mantagua
vacant site; road 2 to 5, plot R-5, vacant site; RPC private road
plot R-4, vacant site; Dos Norte 1015, plot H-4, vacant site;
Barros Borgoño 25175, Concón Roundabout, plot 1, offices;
smallholding 1 plot 1 interior road, Colmito Farm, smallholding
1 well 23, vacant site; smallholding 1 plot 1 interior road,
Colmito Farm, smallholding 1 well 25, vacant site.
It also has properties in Quintero at Quintero Road 5245;
Avda. Tres Marías Lote 117 (vacant site); Quintero Road 5245,
Avda. Tres Marías plot 172 (vacant site); and Road 56 Quintero
Tourist Coast Road (vacant site).

This company has industrial facilities for refining crude oil
and processing intermediate products at the Bío Bío Refinery,
located in the community of Hualpén. The principal facilities
are Topping and Vacuum I, Topping and Vacuum II, Visbreaking,
Catalytic Cracking, Reformation, Isomerization, Ethylene, HDS,
Hydrocracking, CHT (jointly owned with Foster Wheeler),
Coker–HDT (jointly owned through Petropower) and a sulfur
plant (jointly owned through Petrosul S.A.).
It also owns the following treatment plants: plants for producing
sodium sulfhydrate, sulfur, gas treatment, acid water treatment,
greasy water treatment, supplies (refrigeration water, steam and
electricity), tanks for storing crude oil and intermediate and
final products.
Some other industrial facilities of the Bío Bío Refinery are:
multi-purpose pipelines for carrying finished products between
the refinery and San Fernando and pumping stations at Chillán
and Molina; oil pipelines between the refinery and the San
Vicente Sea Terminal; internal pipes from where the tanks are
to the processing plants and from these to the intermediate
and final products tanks; gas pipeline for the reception and
delivery of liquid gas; pumps for sending products from the
refinery through oil pipelines to San Fernando and San Vicente;
pumps in San Vicente for loading products into tankers and
the reception of imported crude; gas fuel line from FCC; oil
pipeline No.2 to San Vicente; chemical laboratory; facilities and
housing for the fire brigade which operates with voluntary plant
personnel; specialized workshops for maintaining and repairing
all the plants, and emergency electrical equipment based on
diesel and natural gas and a natural gas interconnection system
for using this as a fuel in boilers and furnaces.
Enap Refinerías S.A. owns the following properties at its Bío Bío
installations: land Road to Lenga 2001, Hualpén, for industry;
plot A-1, Hualpén Peñuelas Farm (vacant site); plot C, Hualpén
Peñuelas Farm (vacant site); beach and public way concession
at San Vicente, for industry; warehouse at Avda. La Marina
655 plot A-1, Talcahuano; pumping terminal on Route 5 Km.
412, Chillán; pumping zone on Road to Los Mellizos, Río Claro
Terminal, Molina; Rucalhue land, San Pedro de la Paz (vacant
site); and Las Pulgas Hill, Hualpén, for tanks.
This subsidiary of ENAP also has industrial facilities at its plants
located in Maipú, San Fernando and Linares which contain tanks
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for the storage of liquid fuels (diesel, gasoline and kerosene)
and liquefied petroleum gas; interconnection lines with thirdparty tanks and/or oil pipelines; liquefied petroleum gas filling
plants; truck loading bays and, in general, all the necessary
equipment and systems in order to carry out its objectives in
optimum conditions.
The company has the following industrial properties: Maipú,
Road to Melipilla 15,500; San Fernando, Road to Puente Negro
S/N; and Linares, ex San Gabriel Farm, Longaví.

Profits distribution
Interim dividends (advances to the Treasury) were transferred
during 2004 for a total of ThCh$ 53,137,120, as required
by the authority under Ministry of Finance Decrees No.410
of May 6, 2004. An amount of ThCh$ 1,099,377 was also
transferred during the year against income for 2003.
In 2003, ThCh$ 88,945,974 were transferred as interim dividends (advances to the Treasury), plus a sum of ThCh$ 8,738,039
against 2002 income.

Subsidiary Sipetrol S.A.

Dividend policy
The international subsidiary of ENAP has the following assets
for carrying out its hydrocarbon business:
Argentina: Área Magallanes, in which it has a 50% holding;
Pampa del Castillo (100% holding); and Campamento Central
(50%). In the exploration business in Argentina it participates
in the CAM 1 (50%), CAM 2 A Sur (50%) and CAM 3 (50%)
blocks.
Colombia: Sipetrol S.A. participates in the development
of the deposits of Caguán Río Ceibas (27.27%), Dindal
(90.60%), Río Seco (90.60%); Colombia Oil Pipeline (1.0%)
and Alto Magdalena Oil Pipeline (1.2%). It is also carrying
out exploration business in the Huila Norte (54%), Altamizal
(54%), Acevedo (30%), Doima (50%), Colombia Central
(34%) and Tafura (50%) blocks.
Ecuador: ENAP, through Sipetrol S.A., has contracts with
Petroproducción, and specific services contracts for the
development and production of crude oil in the Mauro Dávalos
Cordero (MDC) and Paraíso, Biguno y Huachito (PBH) fields in
Ecuador’s Amazon zone, whose operation is the responsibility
of Sociedad Internacional Petrolera S.A., Ecuador Branch
(Sipec).
Egypt: Exploration and production business in the North
Bahariya (50%) and El Diyur (41%) blocks.
Iran: Sipetrol participates in the exploration of the Mehr block
(33%).
Yemen: Sipetrol participates in the exploration of Block 35
(30%).
For its hydrocarbon exploration and production activities
abroad, Sipetrol S.A. own equipment and machinery of
common use to that industry.
The company also has offices in Woking, United Kingdom.
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The Chilean Treasury, through the Ministry of Finance can
order the transfer to the nation’s income of advances and/
or net income generated by the company, as established in
clause 29 of Decree Law 1,263/75.
Under these provisions, ThCh$ 53,137,120 were transferred
to the Treasury during 2004, i.e. 82.88% of net income for
2004.

DIVIDENDS PAID TO THE TEASURY
Final net income
previous year Ch$ millions

Advances against net income
for the year Ch$ millions

Total
transfers

2004

1,099

53,137

54,236

2003

8,738

88,946

97,684

2002

1,737

52,089

53,826

2001

434

41,746

42,180

2000

11,529

39,300

50,829

1999

380

37,866

38,246

*In Ch$ as of December 31, 2004
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ENAP in Magallanes
Oil services for the divisions and third parties
The ENAP Exploration and Production, and Refining, Logistics
and Commercialization Divisions and the Oil Services Area
in Magallanes met their principal targets under the Annual
Management Plan in 2004.
In the first half of the year, there was an important change
in the organization structure which meant refocusing the two
business divisions and the services area in Magallanes, thus
consolidating the integration concept promoted by ENAP’s
head office, in the broad sense of the company’s presence in
the region.
In Exploration and Production, the organizational change
toward a matrix structure centered on teams for managing
the business assets and other teams working for developing
specific tasks, was noticeable. At the same time, Refining,
Logistics and Sales continued to integrate its processes and
businesses with those of the same Division in the rest of the
country.
An achievement shared by both divisions in Magallanes during
2004 was the more than 93% compliance obtained in the
physical progress of their investments and their positive
economic and financial results, both in the performance of
their own divisional businesses and in the sale to third parties
of crude oil related services. Net income produced in 2004
represents a 49% increase over the previous year, due to both
the increase in oil and gas prices and the good management
of the assets.

Exploration and Production
The E&P Division intensified its activities in 2004 for the
productive optimization of its deposits and pipeline network,
especially through an increase in transportation capacity in
order to meet demand due to the entry into service of the
fourth methanol production line of its customer Methanex;
the optimization of natural gas production at the Posesión
deposit; and progress in the construction of a gas pipeline for
the second crossing of the Estrecho de Magallanes.
Work also continued with a renovated exploration initiative and
new businesses in Magallanes, particularly the 3-D seismic
recording work in the Lago Mercedes area to the south of Tierra
del Fuego, and other exploratory studies in the FlamencoSan Martín block in the central sector of Tierra del Fuego; in
the Narrow-Pantano block on the Espora peninsula covering
both mainland and offshore sectors, in the north of Tierra del
Fuego; and in the Terciario block which covers practically the
whole Magallanes basin.
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ENAP in Magallanes offers crude oil related services to ENAP’s
two divisions and to other companies and customers operating
in the Austral basin.
Various efforts were carried out at the Gregorio Refinery for
the RL&C Division, particularly those for maximizing diesel
production and optimizing the crude circuit. For the E&P
Division, five well-mouth compressors were installed with their
respective well and gas pipeline interconnections.
ENAP in Magallanes offered its services to Total Austral for
normalizing mechanical, electrical and electronic operative
systems of process decks of platforms “Carina” and “Aries”,
and built the Cruz del Sur mono-buoy terminal for Pan
American Energy in San Sebastián Bay in the Argentine side
of Tierra del Fuego.

Refining, Logistics and Commercialization
Substantial progress was made during the year in one
of the strategic targets of the Refining, Logistics and
Commercialization Division in Magallanes, by doubling its fuel
exports to the south of Argentina compared to the previous
year. Two new contracts (with Petrobras and Total Austral),
together with previous contracts, enabled it to increase the
delivery of ENAP fuels to distributors in the south of the Santa
Cruz province and on Tierra del Fuego, in Argentina.
Projects were completed during the year related to safety
improvements in the Gregorio Refinery and the Cabo Negro
plant. Progress was also made in the optimization of productive
processes in Gregorio and in the expansion of the Cabo Negro
plant which allows for the processing of the increase in liquefied
petroleum gas that the greater demand for natural gas will
bring as a result of the start-up of the fourth Methanex train.
The engineering and other related matters for the project for
supplying marine fuel to the Patagonia, which contemplates
storage and port tank logistics in the Cabo Negro–Laredo
Industrial Park, were also developed.
As part of ENAP’s oil services in Magallanes, well drilling
and intervention was also carried out for oil companies in Río
Grande and Río Gallegos, Argentina; intervention on Sipetrol’s
Platform AM-6 in the Magallanes area; the conditioning of
wells on Tierra del Fuego for intervention of radial drilling
equipment; and the drilling of wells for the installation of
cathode protection, obtaining water and soil mechanics.

The environment
In 2004, the company continued to develop its environmental
activities related to the sustainability of water and soil resources,
the recovery of environmental liabilities, environmental audits
and quality management.
Two waste-water treatment plants started operating at the
Cabo Negro-Laredo Industrial Park as part of its activities for
compliance with the “Emission standards for the regulation of
pollution associated with liquid residue discharges in marine
waters and continental surfaces”.

At the same time, progress was made in preparing
an Environmental Liabilities Master Plan through the
characterization of waste pits on Tierra del Fuego, applying a
qualitative methodology of environmental attributes for their
evaluation. The emptying and cleaning of some waste pits was
also carried out using authorized heaping pools.
Progress also continued with the implementation of the
Quality Management System according to the IS0 9001-2000
standard for the processes defined in Magallanes, a task being
carried out with the consulting firm ABS Consulting.

Waste dumps were also closed at Cabo Negro, Posesión and
Gregorio, on the mainland, and Cullen and Cerro Sombrero,
on Tierra del Fuego, and heaping yards an industrial residue
transfers were introduced as part of the Solid Residues
Plan approved by the Regional Environmental Commission
(Corema).
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Corporate environmental management
The environmental management of ENAP and its business
divisions in 2004 was focused on increasing the sustainability
of its industrial operations, seeking to reduce the impact of its
exploration, production and crude-oil refining activities on the
environment, as well as the transport and storage of fuels. It
also continued to develop programs for improving the quality
of its products, particularly fuels.
The company thus continued to strengthen the active role of
its divisions in their relations with public and private entities
related to Chilean environmental affairs.
Implementation of the Corporate Environmental Management
System (SGA), conceived the previous year, continued in
coordination with the divisions and the management in
Magallanes. It also has to be fed by information provided for
the SGAs under development in the divisions.
The Corporate SGA is focused on the development of
environmental performance indicators, costs, audits and
training.

Fuel quality
The coming into effect in July of the Reformulation and Updating
of the Plan for Prevention and Atmospheric Decontamination
(PPDA) for the Metropolitan Region (RM) consolidated the
position of ENAP as the Latin American leader in fuel quality,
by providing the Metropolitan Region market with diesel oil
containing just 50 parts per million (ppm) of sulfur, which is
only comparable with that sold in Europe and in California,
United States, and a gasoline with a maximum of just 30
ppm of sulfur, 12% olefins, 1% benzene and 38% aromatics,
similar to European gasoline.

With the operation of plants opened during the year (Benzene
Reduction Plant in Bío Bío and Gasoline Hydro-desulfurization
in Aconcagua), the ENAP refineries in December began to
produce the first increase in scale in the quality of diesel and
gasoline for the rest of the country, as defined by Supreme
Decree No.133 of the Ministry of the Economy, which reduces
the sulfur content of diesel to 350 ppm by 2006 and sharply
reduces the benzene content (from 5% to 1%) and sulfur
content (from 1,000 ppm to 100 ppm) in gasolines, from
January 2005.
During October, within the joint project with Arpel (Regional
Association of Oil and Natural Gas Companies in Latin
America and the Caribbean) and the Clean Air Initiative entity
of the World Bank, emissions were measured in gasoline
fueled light vehicles manufactured between 1981 and 2004,
in the streets of Santiago. The results will enable the National
Environmental Commission (Conama) to have some emission
readings during normal street usage conditions. This was also
carried out in other cities in Latin America like Sao Paulo and
Buenos Aires.
During 2004, ENAP and the Secretariat Minister for
Transport continued to develop the implementation, using
leased equipment, of the laboratory for emissions measuring
heavy vehicles of the Vehicle Control and Certification Center
(3CV), an entity reporting to the Secretariat Minister, that
permitted the Swiss Cooperation Program (Cosude) to certify
a combination of emission post-treatment technologies for
buses (traps and DPF particle filters), which provide a strong
reduction in fine (PM10) and ultra-fine (PM2.5) particle
material emissions. The results obtained were presented in an
international seminar organized by the Secretariat Minister for
Transport in November 2004.
ENAP’s participation in the implementation of the 3CV
Laboratory is part of its commitment to the PPDA, in addition
to the company’s efforts in improving product quality,
especially of diesel and gasolines.
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ENAP

HIRED VERITAS GEOPHYSICAL CHILE

S.A. TO GATHER

3-D SEISMIC DATA IN

LAGO MERCEDES, TIERRA DEL FUEGO,
WHICH WILL PROVIDE A MORE PRECISE
IDENTIFICATION OF THE CONDITIONS OF THE
POTENTIAL DEPOSIT.
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Performance summary

Such initiatives, like the lowering of stage in gas compression,
the relocation of compressors in the Daniel deposit and

The Exploration and Production (E&P) Division is responsible

the optimization of compressor plants, will contribute to

for the company’s upstream activities and its main objective

increasing the recovery rate of natural gas in Magallanes in

is to add value incorporating hydrocarbon reserves through

order to better comply with third-party supply contracts in

the exploration and optimal exploitation of its oil deposits. In

2005.

addition, E&P is occupied with the company’s geo-thermal
Finally, in 2004 the E&P Division incorporated two gas

assets.

exploration projects in Magallanes (Dorado-Puerto Sara and
The E&P Division operates oil deposits in the southernmost

Riquelme-Manzano) which will help resolve the present

part of Chile and, through Sipetrol S.A., it performs exploration

shortage of natural gas in the Austral basin in order to meet

and production activities in the core areas defined in the

demand under contracts with Methanex and Gasco. A project

company’s Business Strategic Plan, i.e. Latin America and

was also added contemplating the re-incorporation of already-

the zone known as MENA (Middle East and North Africa).

drilled wells in the Flamenco San Martín block in order to
obtain a greater recovery of oil from those reservoirs.

The performance of ENAP’s exploration and production
division in 2004 was characterized for:

Production and reserves

• The drilling of three wells in the North Bahariya (Egypt)

Total E&P Division oil production in 2004 was 10.0 million

concession area that produced two oil discoveries. The

barrels, representing a marginal increase over the previous

subsidiary Sipetrol S.A., acting as the operator, obtained the

year based mainly on production increases of Sipetrol in

official commercial declaration for the block and an early

Ecuador and Argentina. Natural gas production was 2,660

production start-up (September 2004).

million cubic meters (15.7 million barrels equivalent), with a
0.7% increase over 2003.

• The drilling of an exploratory well in Iran with positive results
from a geological point of view; its commercial operation will

The increases in crude oil production of the E&P Division were

be analyzed in 2005.

due to increases in the ecuadoran fields (MDC and PBH);
Argentina (Pampa del Castillo and Campamento Central-

• The successful developments of the deposits in Ecuador,

Cañadón Perdido); and Magallanes, with greater production

with the production rate in that country increasing from

from its asset units on Tierra del Fuego and the mainland.

6,500 to 17,000 bpd.

On the other hand, deposits like Guaduas (Colombia), Área
Magallanes (Argentina) and Magallanes in its offshore assets

• The rationalization of the operations of Sipetrol in Colombia

units, suffered falls in their production levels due to operative

and focalization on the Guaduas field operation.

contingencies and anomalies in their reservoirs.

• Optimization of production in Magallanes (Chile) and the

The marginal increase in gas production was mainly the

development of a series of geological studies that will allow an

result of greater production in the Área Magallanes and

increase in gas reserves in the zone through new exploration

less production in Magallanes as a consequence of greater

in 2005.

declines in the offshore deposits and stoppages in Methanex’s
third production line.

The operating performance in Magallanes permitted greater
oil production and an important control of operating costs.

Domestic exploration and production

The changes in the E&P Division’s organizational structure
in Magallanes, and in its business model, are seen as the

Exploration activities

precursors of the unit’s operational flows, innovations and
Exploration in Magallanes continued with an important

optimizations.

and renewed activity during the year. Using the experience
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gained in its international operations and the large amount

Oil production. Oil production in Magallanes was 1.29 million

of information accumulated over more than 50 years, multi-

barrels (205,346 cubic meters). This figure, although 2%

disciplinary teams have continued to make synthesis studies

lower than the previous year, represented an excess of 8%

of the Magallanes basin oil systems.

over the target for the year, mainly due to the implementation
of intervention programs and the use of sporadic wells.

In the Lago Mercedes area in the south of Tierra del Fuego,
and following the above studies that indicated interesting

Gas production. The net natural gas production in Magallanes

prospects, exploration was begun with a successful campaign

was 2,106 million standard cubic meters (12.4 million barrels

for acquiring three-dimensional (3D) seismic data between

equivalent), which represents a decline of 3.5% compared

September and November 2004. The processing and

to the previous year. This was basically due to reductions

interpretation of the seismic data is expected to be made

in customer demand and to a reduced contribution from

in the first half of 2005, following which the location of an

mainland deposits which were offset by greater efficiency in

exploratory well will be defined for drilling later.

internal gas consumption.

Priority was given in 2004 to geological studies in the following

Projects carried out. In order to continue taking full advantage

areas as a result of the oil systems study:

of the area’s productive capacity, projects were undertaken in
2004 in order to adapt the reservoir exploitation infrastructure

Geological study of the Antepaís Basin. The result of this

in Magallanes to current demand and to the change in

study provided a series of exploration opportunities in the area

conditions relating to reservoir exploitation. The projects

and it is expected that during 2005 seismic data campaigns

included the improvement of the Posesión deposit, the

will begin in the mainland area, in Dorado–Puerto Sara and

optimization of compressor plants and the expansion of gas

Riquelme–Manzano.

transportation capacity for Methanex’s fourth production train,
all practically completed by the end of the year. Also notable

Geological study of the Flamenco–San Martín area. A

was the beginning of the second crossing of the Estrecho de

geological study was begun at the pre-cretaceous level in

Magallanes project. Plans for 2005, include continuing with

the Flamenco–San Martín area whose completion was set for

new stages of these productive improvement projects.

the first months of 2005 and, depending on the results, the
definition of the next stages will be decided.

New structure. An important organizational modification was
introduced in the Exploration and Production Division in

Geological study of the Narrow-Pantano area. A geological

Magallanes with the creation of a matrix structure centered on

study was begun at the lower cretaceous level in the Narrow-

team work under the conditions of the Aconcagua Project and

Pantano area whose completion should take place in 2005.

carried out in Magallanes by creating management teams of

Depending on the results, the definition of the next stages will

the Asset Management Units (UAA) and other teams created

be also decided.

to perform specific tasks.

Analysis of areas on Tierra del Fuego. At the same time, a

International exploration and production

new analysis of existing seismic data began in areas of Tierra
del Fuego island to investigate the possibility of detecting

ENAP has carried out upstream activities abroad since 1990

gas traps on the basis of “anomaly” responses of seismic

through its subsidiary Sociedad Internacional Petrolera S.A.

soundings that could be attributed to the presence of gas.

(Sipetrol), which has subsidiaries and branches in Argentina,
Colombia, Ecuador, United Kingdom and Egypt. ENAP

Fell block (CEOP). The Ministry of Mining approved in 2004

also participates in exploration in Yemen and Iran through

the modification of the Fell Block Special Oil Operating

consortiums with other international oil companies.

Contract (CEOP) for a new stage of exploration by ENAP and
its partner Geopark. The consortium advanced in defining the

Crude oil production abroad in 2004 amounted to 8.8 million

actions to be taken and the contractual aspects of obligations

barrels, which represented an increase of 3% over the previous

with the State.

year. The production of natural gas for sale was 555 million
cubic meters (3.2 million barrels of oil equivalent), higher
than the previous year.
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Social responsibility and the environment

The objective in the maintenance of community relations
in these localities was to reduce the impact of investment

The Division’s Corporate Social Responsibility area was

projects in their areas of influence and cooperation, generating

created in September 2004, confirming its willingness to face

a self-management consciousness in the communities and

the challenge of managing the business to simultaneously

facilitating the planning and execution of their own projects

achieve an adequate return on capital, care for its employees,

for improving their living standards. Action plans were

protection for the environment, access to markets and

defined with health, education, recreation and employment

acceptance by the community, all with a level of excellence

programs.

synonymous with competitiveness, impact on value and
commitment with sustainable development.

Through E&P’s national and international activities, the
company has managed to be perceived by the communities

E&P also assumed the functions and activities of occupational

as a committed and responsible partner participating in the

health, industrial safety, environment, quality and social

development of its areas of influence, projecting a good

responsibility, consolidating the HSEQ (Health, Safety,

neighborly image and respectful of the culture of each

Environment and Quality) management model as part of the

community.

new divisional business model and resulting in an integration
of the regional divisions with the head office, the formation

In Argentina, the necessary tasks were carried out in order to

of working teams and continuation of the standardization of

archieve the ISO 14001 certification for the environmental

procedures with the implementation of the HSEQ Management

management systems of Pampa del Castillo; this certification

Integrated System based on international standards like ISO

is expected to be obtained during the first four months of

and OHSAS in mind, and thus achieve the certification of its

2005. In Área Magallanes, the documentation and training

management systems, in the medium term.

for this system is expected to be completed during 2005.

Within this scenario, the Division’s social management
during 2004 as a demonstration of responsible company
management in the different regional business units was
notable particularly in Ecuador and Colombia.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF SIPETROL S.A.
Standing, from left to right:
Alejandro Pérez Rojas,
José Tomás Morel Lara,
Julio Friedmann Encina,
David Jana Bitrán,
Sitting, from left to right:
Manuel Sánchez Ceballos,
Enrique Dávila Alveal,
Guillermo del Valle de la Cruz.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF SIPETROL S.A.

Directors

Chairman

GUILLERMO DEL VALLE DE LA CRUZ
Social Communicator

ENRIQUE DÁVILA ALVEAL
Economist

JULIO FRIEDMANN ENCINA
Civil Industrial Engineer

Vice Chairman

DAVID JANA BITRÁN
Economist

MANUEL SÁNCHEZ CEBALLOS
Civil Industrial Engineer

JOSÉ TOMÁS MOREL LARA
Commercial Engineer
ALEJANDRO PÉREZ ROJAS
Geologist

Chief Executive Officer
NICOLÁS CAUSSADE COUDEU
Civil Industrial Engineer

NOTE
At its meeting held on June 21, 2004, the resignation of Daniel
Fernández Koprich as chairman of the board was accepted as from July
14, 2004. Enrique Dávila Alveal was appointed as his replacement.
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Performance summary
During the year, there was a 16% increase in Sipetrol’s
EBITDA, as result not only of the rise in oil and gas prices but
to the maintenance of a costs structure despite increasing
pressures in the market and within a scenario of historically
high prices.
Operating income was strongly influenced by the good results
obtained from the assets of Sipetrol S.A. in Ecuador (MDC and
PBH), Argentina (Pampa del Castillo and CCCP) and Colombia
(Caguán). These all had better than targeted production levels
for 2004, which resulted in sharp increases in revenues due
to the rise in oil prices.
Assets like Área Magallanes and CAM-2A in Argentina
produced weaker than forecasted results due to contingencies
in the operation and the closing of wells in the former, as
well as reductions in the oil and gas column in the latter.
The Guaduas asset in Colombia suffered strong changes to
its exploitation model due to an unexpected behavior of its
producing wells; this led to detaining the drilling campaign in
order to re-design the development program for this deposit.
Lastly, the North Bahariya deposit, in Egypt, was subject to
more aggressive investment as forecasted, in order to improve
the location of the development wells and reduce exploitation
risks.

The company’s revenues totaled Ch$ 159,998 million,
representing an 11% increase over the pervious year.

Financial analysis
Net income (income after taxes) of Sipetrol S.A. in 2004
was Ch$ -6,082 million (US$ -10.9 million), comprising
operating income of Ch$ 16,539 million, non-operating
income of Ch$ 3,021 million and income tax of Ch$ -25,534
million. The final result was negative mainly because of the
adjustments made with respect to the projects in Colombia
and the provision for income tax.
Compared to 2003, operating income increased by 33%,
mainly the result of the exploitation revenues already
explained, higher international crude prices and an increase
in oil production.

Assets
Fixed assets (property, plants and equipment) declined
during 2004 to Ch$ 34,591 million, mainly explained by the
recognition of the impairment (an adjustment applied when
future estimated flows are less than the investments made) in
Colombia, the write-offs of exploratory projects and a higher
exhaustion quota.

Sipetrol’s exploration results were very encouraging compared
to those of 2003, with exploratory success rising from 38%
to 50%. These successes were at the Ferdaus-1 and Rawda1 wells in Egypt and the Band e Karkeh well in Iran, which
produced 1,050 bpd during its long tests.

Sipetrol S.A. recorded a reduction of Ch$ 7,513 million
in other assets, equivalent to 39% compared to those of
December 2003, due to the reduction in long-term deferred
taxes caused by the recognition of the impairment and writeoffs of exploratory projects in Colombia, and lower investment
in related companies.

Results

Financing

This year was notable for the production start-up of the North
Bahariya block, the successful development of deposits in
Ecuador, with the production rate rising from 6,500 bpd to
17,000 bpd, the rationalization of Sipetrol’s operations in
Colombia and the focusing on the Guaduas field operation,
as well as the implementation of new businesses like East
Ras Qattara in Egypt and the CAM-3 and La Invernada blocks
in Argentina. Different initiatives were also implemented in
order to increase production, maintaining low operating costs
and increasing reserves.

Current liabilities decreased by Ch$ 43,605 million (46%)
compared to 2003 mainly due to its reduced debt with ENAP
deriving from a reclassification between short and long term
debt, and accounts payable. Long-term liabilities increased
by 17% (Ch$ 15,973 million), as a result of the debt between
related companies.
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Until April 2004, the “Agreement between Producers and

Liquidity

Refiners for Price Stability for Crude Oil, Gasoline and Gasoil”
Working capital at the end of 2004 was Ch$ -6,087 million

was in force which established, a maximum of US$ 28.50

compared to Ch$ -42,323 million in 2003, due to the reduction

per barrel, for crude oil, for certain volumes to be delivered to

in current liabilities of the debt with ENAP, accounts payable

refineries that had previously been agreed on.

and the current portion of long-term borrowings from banks.
Current assets fell due to a reduction in cash and banks and

As a result of the shortage of gas oil in Argentina, the

sundry debtors. The current ratio at December 2004 was 0.9x

Argentine government in December 2004 set restrictions on

compared to 0.5x the previous year.

exports of crude oil which affected the normal activities of the
company’s deposits.

Profitability
As a corollary of the declining investment in natural gas
Profitability ratios declined in 2004 mainly due to a higher

and crude oil exploration in Argentina since the late 1990s,

provision for income tax which produced a net loss for the

aggravated by the political and economic crisis of 2001, an

year.

energy supply crisis appeared in early 2004 in which the
production and transportation of natural gas was insufficient

EBITDA margin increased by 6% over that redistered for

in order to meet the increasing demand for such fuel. The

2003.

Argentine authorities therefore intervened in the gas market,
issuing a series of decrees and resolutions for limiting exports.
Sipetrol Argentina saw its exports reduced by up to 1,000,000

Debt

cubic meters per day between May and June which forced it
The level of bank debt fell compared to the previous year due

to declare a situation of force majeure due to its inability to

to repayments of the syndicated loan signed in 2003.

meet its natural gas export contractual commitments to Chile.
Resolution 659 was then published in July which reduced
the cuts in exports. While the measure reduced the net effect

Summary by country

for Sipetrol Argentina, it still had to maintain the situation of
force majeure.

In accordance with ENAP’s Business Strategic Plan, Sipetrol
S.A. concentrates its exploration and production activities in

The natural gas that was forceably redirected to the domestic

Latin America, Middle East and North Africa (Middle East and

market was sold to distributors and thermal generation plants.

North Africa, MENA).

Sales of natural gas in 2004 were 5.8% higher than in 2003,
but those for export were 15% lower due to the measures

Latin America

mentioned above.

Argentina

The process of obtaining knowledge about the Neuquén,
Golfo San Jorge and Austral basins continued in 2004

Sipetrol Argentina S.A. acts as the operator with a 50%

with the gathering of information on the formations and the

participation in the exploitation concessions of Área Magallanes

building of data bases for each of them in order to improve

and CAM-2A Sur, and in the exploration permits for the CAM-

performance in the search for exploration and exploitation

1 and CAM-3 areas in the Austral basin. In the Golfo San

business opportunities offered by independent companies

Jorge basin, Sipetrol Argentina S.A. is the owner and operator

and provincial governments.

of 100% of the exploitation concession of the Pampa del
Castillo area and participates as a non-operator partner, with

An agreement was made with the firm Wintershall Energía

a 50% share, in the Campamento Central-Cañadón Perdido

S.A. for the geological-oil evaluation of a sector facing the

exploitation area. In the Neuquén basin, Sipetrol Argentina

folded and outcrop zone on Tierra del Fuego which will be

S.A. participates as non-operator partner with a 50% share of

offered for tender very soon. This business is operated by

the La Invernada area exploration concession.

Sipetrol and is fully integrated with similar tasks that ENAP
is carrying out in Chile.
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Área Magallanes. The gas compression process was improved

In 2004, the management in Ecuador was focused on the

to increase production by 80.000 cubic meters per day.

constant search for adding value in the PBH and MDC fields for

The repair of the collector of the AM-1 platform to the AM-2

which the following activities were successfully carried out:

platform was carried out successfully, thus reducing a fall in
production.

• Reservoir studies focused on understanding the deposits.
These contributed to the drilling of eight directional development

CAM-2A Sur. Production commenced on December 22, 2003

wells and the identification of additional potential.

of the Poseidón platform, whose annual production of gas and

• Optimization of the fields’ operation.

oil from six wells is all exported to Chile. The deposit’s potential

• Progress in the construction of a production station.

was evaluated during 2004 and the repair of wells proposed

• Completion of camp-site construction works.

which would increase gas production; this is expected to be

• Maintenance of productive relations and respect for the

carried out during 2005.

communities in the area.
• Contribution to sustainability of the local environment.

CAM-1/CAM-3. The process of acquisition of 3D seismic data
was completed in 2004, and is currently being analyzed prior

The results were a net return of US$ 7.6 million, 158% above

to making proposals for exploration wells. Various alternatives

plan due to:

have been evaluated for exploratory drillings in the area to
have a jack-up platform. At the same time, the conceptual

• Production that was 18% above target, rising from 6,500

engineering was carried out for deposit development in the

bpd in early 2004 to 17,000 bpd in December 2004.

different probable scenarios in order to evaluate their potential

• Control of costs and expenses which translated into a lifting

economic impact.

cost and unit G&A costs below target, by 12.6% and 6.7%
respectively.

Pampa del Castillo. Production in the year remained over
budget, with crude production 1% in excess of the target. The

All the above was under the assertive leadership generated

replacement of reserves shows a ratio of 1.1 for the next year

by the pro-active work of the team, technical impeccability

based on the results of studies of the evolution of projects and

and integrity, always oriented to the constant search for added

the data provided by the field’s development activity.

value.

Campamento Central–Cañadón Perdido. Production in 2004

Colombia

was above budget, with crude 10% in excess of target due to
the results of its secondary recovery projects and the wells

Valle Medio del Magdalena Basin - Dindal and Río Seco

drilled during the year.

Blocks

La Invernada. The participation of Sipetrol in the La Invernada

The Dindal and Río Seco blocks are located to the extreme

area concession, located in the Neuquén basin, was completed

south of the Valle Medio del Río Magdalena basin on the

in April 2004. Seismic data for the area was re-processed

western flank of the eastern mountains. The Guadas field

during the year in order to propose a seismic acquisition

is located in these blocks and Sipetrol S.A. has a 90.6%

program in order to define the potential prospects.

participation.

Ecuador

Works were carried out in 2004 in order to maintain the
production curve and stop the decline. These include the

MDC and PBH deposits. The Ecuador branch of Sociedad

intervention in three wells, TP-6E, TP-1E and TP-5W, in order

Internacional Petrolera, SIPEC, took over the operation of

to change the worn-out underground equipment for operating

the Mauro Dávalos Cordero (MDC) and Paraíso, Biguno and

use and conditions, and to stabilize the operative conditions

Huachito (PBH) fields, in January 1, 2003, under the Specific

of the productive wells and the reduction in losses caused by

Services Contract for the Development and Confirmation of

corrective maintenance of the generating equipment.

Reserves signed in October 2002 with the Ecuadoran State
owned company Petroecuador.
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The results of the integrated study in the deposit were

An optimization study of the water-injection project was

not sufficiently conclusive for undertaking a development

carried out in 2004 by William M. Cobb & Associates, Inc.

campaign, so the drilling of a water-injection well and two

The results recommended changing the water-injection system

producing wells was cancelled. The purpose of the injector

from periphery to infill, preparing a new well development and

well was based on the re-pressurization of the deposit and the

injectors plan and converting producing wells to injectors.

two producing wells were intended to drain areas that had still
not been intervened with the present wells.

The main tasks carried out during the year were the drilling of
wells RC-54 and RC-55, both producers, and the beginning of

After making the respective follow-up and analysis of the

drilling activities of the RC-56 well as injector. Changes were

water injection project at the ES-3E well, a conclusion was

made to the gas-lift system to PCP (progressive cavity pump)

reached that the effect of the maintenance of pressure and

in nine wells. Seven wells were converted from producers to

movement of fluids was low, so the well is now used for the

injectors and work-overs and re-completion tasks were carried

disposal of production water that cannot be discharged at the

out on five wells and bombardment tasks on six others.

surface due to its chemical properties.
Valle Superior del Magdalena Basin – Altamizal Block
The gas injection process was analyzed, concluding that this
operation allows for energy in the deposit to be maintained,

This block is located in the Valle Superior del Río Magdalena

contributing with 41% of oil production. The other effect is

basin to the north of the Huila Norte block. It covers an area

to be able to suitably handle the gas produced in order to

of 56,502 hectares. Sipetrol S.A. is the operator with a 54%

comply with legislation concerning the handling and disposal

participation.

of production-associated gas.
The reprocessing of 3D-2002 seismic data was carried out in
Operating costs were controlled, restructuring personnel with

2004. The block evaluation showed that it had insufficient

the reassignment of jobs and responsibilities. The planning

exploration potential so the return of the block to Ecopetrol,

of routine activities was improved and operating equipment

was decided. Activities were also completed for preparing

that, in the past had often been leased for long periods of

the zone for delivering it to Ecopetrol with the environmental

time, was acquired.

settlement of the strati-graphical well by the “Corporación
Autónoma Regional”.

In order to increase production, camp tests are planned for
reducing counter-pressures and improving operative conditions

Valle Superior del Magdalena Basin – Acevedo Block

of underground equipment.
This block is located to the extreme south of the Valle Superior
In order to give greater use to the currently-installed facilities

del Río Magdalena basin with an area of 75,868 hectares.

and share oil-pipeline maintenance costs, contacts were made

Sipetrol S.A. is the operator as from January 2003 with a

with operating companies and Ecopetrol who were interested

30% participation.

in transporting their crudes through the Guaduas-La Dorada
pipeline.

The final evaluation of the block was made in 2004. It showed
that the hydrocarbons found in the Monserrate formation

Valle Superior del Magdalena Basin – Caguán Block

of superior cretaceous are not commercial so the return of
the block to Ecopetrol, was decided. The activities for the

The Río Ceibas deposit in the Caguán block is located in the

abandonment of the Candelo-1 well were carried out and the

northern part of Huila Department, Colombia. It is 200 km

environmental monitoring was begun in the intervened area

to the south-west of the city of Bogotá with a commercial

of the Candelo-1 well in accordance with the requirements of

area of 165 hectares and is currently operated by Braspetro.

Colombia’s environmental authorities.

This field produces sandstone hydrocarbons of the superior
tertiary of the Honda formation. Sipetrol S.A. has a 27.27%
participation in this field.
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Valle Superior del Magdalena Basin - Huila Norte Block

S.A. During 2004 and in line with the objective of increasing
reserves through exploration, the data of a series of prospects

This block is located in the Valle Superior del Río Magdalena

available in the area was analyzed, and negotiations continued

basin and covers an area of 47,900 hectares. Sipetrol S.A. is

for entering a group of blocks in Libya as part of a consortium

the operator with a 54% participation.

of oil companies.

The re-processing of the 3D-2002 seismic data was carried

Egypt

out in 2004, suggesting the exploratory drilling at El Encanto
3. Due to the results, the head office conditioned the drilling

In 2004, the Eqyptian subsidiary of Sipetrol S.A. continued

to the entry of a third party into the block. However, the pro-

to add to the successes of previous years and achieved an

posals received in the farm-out did not meet expectations so

important landmark with the start of production in the

the return of the block to Ecopetrol, was decided. The activi-

North Bahariya block. Three exploratory wells were drilled, a

ties for abandoning the area have begun in accordance with

development authorization was received and the first production

the requirements of the local environmental authorities.

of Sipetrol in the MENA region began on September 1.

Valle Superior del Magdalena Basin - Colombia Central Block

North Bahariya Block

This block is situated to the east of the Valle Superior del Río

Continuing with the success of the Ganna-1 well in 2003, the

Magdalena basin and covers an area of 162,274 hectares.

block drilling program continued during 2004. The first well,

Sipetrol S.A. is the operator with a 34% participation.

Ferdaus-1, discovered oil and gas in two separate reservoirs
which, once evaluated, produced flows of 930 bpd and 2,282

Field geology works were carried out during 2004 together with

bpd respectively. Based on this and the previous result of

environmental studies in order to obtain the environmental

the Ganna-1 well, a development concession was requested

license and the re-processing of seismic data. The results

to cover the area. The second well of the year was Marmar-

of the block evaluation showed that it was not worth while

1, drilled in the northern sector of the concession to prove

continuing with the following exploration phase, so the return

the deepest points. Despite mechanical problems preventing

of the block to Ecopetrol, was decided.

reaching the deepest reservoirs, good samples were obtained
at less deep intervals.

Valle Superior del Magdalena Basin – Doima Block
Finally, the Rawda well was begun in the eastern part of the
This block is located to the north-west of the Valle Superior

concession. Hydrocarbons were also discovered in this well

del Río Magdalena Basin with an area of 144,910 hectares.

and successfully proven, the concession being extended late

Sipetrol S.A. participates with 50%.

in 2004 for its post-discovery development. In accordance
with Egyptian legislation, a joint-venture company was

The Calarma-1 well was drilled in 2004 for the Caballos

created and the first flow of crude was placed in the system

formation, which showed no accumulation of hydrocarbons.

in September.

The drilling of the Don Pedro prospect was also proposed but
head office conditioned this to the entry of a third party. The

Around the last quarter of 2004, a three-dimensional

proposals received in the farm-out did not meet expectations

seismic study was made in order to facilitate the location of

and a decision was made to advise the operator, Hocol, of the

development wells and the identification of future exploration

decision to cede our interest in the block.

opportunities in the block.

Middle East and North Africa

El Diyur Block

Sipetrol S.A. has exploration and exploitation activities in this

In February 2003, the Egyptian government approved

target area through its foreign subsidiary Sipetrol Internacional

the transfer of the operation of the El Diyur concession to
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Sipetrol International S.A.. The company currently has a 41%

Yemen

participation together with Apache, which retains a 46.5%
interest in the block following the farm-out of the previous

Block 35 (Al Hood)

partner.
The entry of Sipetrol in Block 35 was ratified by the Yemeni
2

Its first action was to acquire an area of 615 km of 3D seismic

authorities in 2003. The license is operated by the Australian

studies in the northern part of the block which were processed

company Oil Search Ltd. and the block is located in the center-

and interpreted. These indicated a series of prospects which

east region of Yemen, on the edge of the Masilah basin, highly

will be drilled in early 2005 under a program of exploratory

productive for the south-west. The gathering of seismic data

drillings of multiple wells.

was completed during 2004, providing quality data based
on which the prospect and leads previously identified will

East Ras Qattara Block

be defined with precision. One of these was recognized as
a potential producer and recommended for drilling. The Al

The East Ras Qattara concession was signed in March 2004

Akhaf-1 well was begun in November 2004 for proving its

between EGPC and Sipetrol International S.A., the latter

structure, and drilling operations continued toward the end

being the block operator with a 50.5% participation, while Oil

of the year.

Search Ltd. has a 49.5% interest. This extensive area covers
more than 5,000 km2 and is located at the eastern limit of
the Abu Garadig basin in the Western Desert. A significant
program of 3D seismic data re-processing of close to 3,000
km2 was completed during 2004 and a new initiative of this
kind is expected to be started in the first quarter of 2005.

Iran
Mehr Block
Sipetrol has a 33% participation in the Mehr block jointly
with Repsol YPF and OMV, the latter being the operator.
The block is in one of the richest oil provinces in the world,
adjacent to the gigantic Arwaz field. Since winning the block
concession in 2001, the partners acquired a considerable
amount of seismic studies in order to drill the first well in
2004. This drilling began in May with the Band-E-Karkheh
well and continued throughout the year. Most of the reservoirs
were penetrated in September and October and the tests,
made toward the end of the period, indicated a potential
producing area.

ANNUAL REPORT 2004

GRUPO DE EMPRESAS ENAP

71

REFINING, LO GISTIC S AND COMMERCIALIZATION DIVISION

72

ANNUAL REPORT 2004

GRUPO DE EMPRESAS ENAP

RL&C DIVISION’S
PERFORMANCE IN 2004 WAS
FOCUSED ON

STRENGTHENING

THE INTEGRATION OF ITS
UNITS AND IN EMPLOYING SYNERGIES
IN ITS OPERATIONS FOLLOWING A

BETTER COORDINATION AND
UNIFICATION OF FUNCTIONS.
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Strategic objectives

In this scenario, in 2004 the RL&

management focused

on strengthening the integration of its units and using the
The Refining, Logistics and Commercialization (RL&C)

synergies in its operations deriving from better coordination

Division is the area of ENAP responsible for activities related

and

to the production of fuels (mainly gasoline, diesel, fuel oil,

response to market changes. The Division also deepened

kerosene and liquefied gas) and other oil-derivative products

its internationalization process and large investments were

(solvents, bases for asphalt production, ethylene, propylene

made for improving the quality of its products to meet to the

and other petrochemical products), plus the handling of the

environmental requirements of the market.

unification

of

functions

to

provide

an

efficient

logistical infrastructure for their transport and storage and
their later sale to distribution companies, both in the domestic

These actions produced good results, with a product-crude

and foreign markets.

margin even higher than that projected. The unit prime margin,
i.e. the sales price less the cost of crude oil incorporated in

The central points of the RL&C Division’s 2004 performance

the products sold, was 13% higher than the previous year

have been defined in ENAP’s Business Strategic Plan and

while total sales, including exports, reached 13.7 million cubic

were translated into the following actions during the year:

meters, a volume above that projected for the year.

• Development of the internationalization of the Division’s

This all translated into an operating income of Ch$69,177

businesses.

million which, added to a non-operating income of Ch$

• Strengthening of ENAP’s commercial position in the

14,927 million in which the decline in the exchange rate had

domestic market.

a positive effect because of the translation of dollar liabilities,

• Structural improvements in the refineries for increasing

meant a final profit for the Division (after income taxes) of

flexibility in the diet of crudes.

Ch$ 69,018 million (US$ 108 million). Although this figure

• Investments for improving the quality of its products and

was higher than that projected for the year, it was below that

its processes that permit a reduction in emissions to the

of 2003 in real terms.

environment.
• Reducing costs for achieving the highest standards in the

In addition to these results, important investments were made in

region, improving the company’s competitiveness.

2004 such as the inauguration of the benzene saturation plant
at the Bío Bío Refinery and the FCC naphtha desulfurization

Performance summary

unit at the Aconcagua Refinery, both designed to produce
better quality gasolines to meet the new specifications for the

The year 2004 saw international prices for oil and its

Metropolitan Region that have been in force since July 2004.

byproducts escalating and demand in Chile also rising. The

Low-sulfur diesel production projects were begun for the Bío

strong pressure on international demand for crude oil as a

Bío and Aconcagua refineries as well as the development of

result of faster global economic growth, principally in the

a project for the construction of an industrial complex for

United States and China, led to an increase in the average

processing heavy crudes at the Aconcagua Refinery which will

price for crude oil, using the West Texas Intermediate (WTI)

allow an increase in the refining of heavier, and thus cheaper,

reference price, which rose by 33% to US$ 41.5 per barrel

crudes produced by our neighboring countries.

as compared to the average price in 2003. Domestic demand
for oil products increased by 5.7% over the previous year,

A significant landmark in the company’s internationalization

pushed by greater economic growth and the substitution of

was the acquisition, in 2004, of the assets of Shell in Perú

natural gas by diesel for electricity generation and industrial

through an association with a strategic local partner for the

consumption.

retail distribution of fuels in that market. This ensures a more
stable and permanent outlet for our exports.
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The end of 2004 for ENAP’s RL&C Division was noted for

take advantage of changes in the relative prices of the different

a new step taken in the integration of the refining, logistics

qualities, thus benefiting from a higher refining margin.

and sales activities, with the absorption of ENAP’s subsidiary,
Empresa Almacenadora de Combustibles S.A. (Emalco S.A.)

Total refining in 2004, including complementary cargoes,

into Enap Refinerías S.A. thus consolidates its position as

amounted to 13.6 million cubic meters.

the main refining company on the Pacific Coast of Central
and South America, complying with the objectives set out in
ENAP’s Business Strategic Plan.
REFINING BY TYPES OF CRUDE
CRUDE

RL&C operations

TOTALES
3

The Bío Bío, Aconcagua and Gregorio refineries processed
12.0 million cubic meters of crude in 2004, mainly coming
from South America. This is similar to the volume for 2003.
The origin of the crude processed by ENAP was the following:

Light
Intermediate
Heavy
Complementary cargoes
TOTAL

Th m
7,408
727
3,902
1,563
13,600

%
55
5
29
11
100

70% from South America; 27% from Africa, and 3% produced
in Chile (see graph). Following the strategic guidelines for
improving the flexibility for processing different types of

The production of fuels and other derivatives amounted to

crudes, in 2004 the refining of heavy crudes amounted to

13.4 million cubic meters, the main products being gasolines
and diesel, higher value products, with 25% and 32% of the
total, respectively. Important programmed operative stoppages were made in 2004 to introduce improvements in the
processes and increase refining capacity. Despite this, the refinery usage rate was 88%.

3.9 million cubic meters, 407,000 cubic meters more than in
2003. This greater flexibility in the diet of crudes allows us to

THE ORIGIN OF THE CRUDE PROCESSED
BY ENAP REFINERIES
Africa 27%

South America 70%
Domestic 3%
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ENAP REFINERIES’ PRODUCTION IN 2004
PRODUCTS
TOTAL
Th m3
Liquefied petroleum gas
1,381
Gasolines
3,330
Kerosene
911
Diesel
4,294
Fuel oil
2,131
Industrial products & others
1,388
TOTAL
13,435

%
10
25
7
32
16
10
100
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Total commercialization
The Division’s total commercialization (in domestic and

(20,100 bpd) and a market share of 66.9%. The remaining sales
relate to products in which ENAP has a market share of over
90.0%, including kerosene, industrial products and olefins.

international markets) were 13.7 million cubic meters
(235,300 bpd), composed mainly of liquid fuels including
liquefied petroleum gas and smaller quantities of olefins and
other industrial products. Of this total, exports represented
15%, making ENAP Refinerías one of the country’s largest
exporting companies.

Of total sales, 12.6 million cubic meters (216,700 bpd) were
of RL&C’s own production, representing 92% of the total. The
remaining 8% was supplied by imports and amounted to 1.1
million cubic meters (18,500 bpd).

Exports

The products with the highest sales volumes are precisely

Notable were the high level of exports, of 2.0 million cubic

those of the highest value, i.e. gasoline and diesel, with

meters, within the internationalization process outlined in the
Business Strategic Plan.

physical shares of total sales of 25% and 37% respectively.

Domestic sales

The main exported products included gasoline, fuel oil and
liquefied petroleum gas.

Domestic market sales amounted to 11.7 million cubic meters
(200,000 bpd), representing a market share of 85.8%.
3

FIGURES IN Th m
Commercialization

DOMESTIC
CONSUMPTION

Liquefied petroleum gas

1,164

1,740

Vehicle Gasoline

2,411
879

Diesel
Fuel oil

Kerosene

Industrial products & others(*)
TOTAL

MARKET
SHARE IMPORTS EXPORTS
66.9%

48

283

2,940

82.0%

171

1,054

859

102.3%

34

0

4,943

5,592

88.4%

816

69

1,660

1,784

93.0%

0

511

603

678

89.0%

8

76

11,660

13,582

85.8%

1,076

1,993

Product

Thousands m3

Gasoline

1,054

Fuel Oil

511

Liquefied petroleum Gas

283

Investments
ENAP’s RL&C Division made investments of US$ 154 million
in its subsidiaries in 2004, as follows:

(*) Includes Propylene, Ethylene, Naphtha, Solvents & Asphalt.

Investments in RL&C in 2004
The most important product in RL&C’s domestic sales is diesel,
with 4.9 million cubic meters (85,200 bpd) and a market share

ThUS$
ENAP Refinerías S.A.

of 88.4%, followed by gasoline, with sales of 2.4 million cubic
meters (41,500 bpd) and a market share of 82.0%.

Aconcagua Refinery

67,882

Bío Bío Refinery

32,591

RL&C Magallanes

The following products are fuel oil, with sales of 1.7 million

Emalco S.A.*

cubic meters (28,600 bpd) and a market share of 93.0%, and

Capital contributions

liquefied petroleum gas with sales of 1.2 million cubic meters

TOTAL
* Until November 30, 2004
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100,473

3,808
1,532
49,030
154,843

Investments were mainly directed to improve product

Projects jointly with other parties

quality, increase production capacity, adapt the facilities to
environmental and safety standards and increase reliability in

By the end of the year, the Mild Hydrocracking of gas oil

supplies.

project was in its final stages of completion at the Bío Bío
Refinery, for which ENAP forms part of sociedad Productora

Projects carried out with own resources

de Diesel S.A. (Prodisa). This facility will come into service
in 2005 and seeks to produce low-sulfur content diesel using

Several projects were completed in 2004 including the naphtha

gas oil surpluses.

desulferization plant that introduces improvements in the
quality of gasolines by reducing the sulfur content, and the

The industrial complex of the Aconcagua Refinery continues

catalytic cracking unit for increasing liquefied petroleum gas

to be developed, for the processing of heavy crudes, which

production capacity, high-octane gasoline and diesel, both at

are abundant in the region. This project progressed with

the Aconcagua Refinery. At the Bío Bío Refinery, the benzene

its plans for meeting prior environmental standards, in the

saturation plant came into service for improving the quality of

complementary engineering and the beginning of the tender

gasolines by reducing the benzene content and thus meeting

process for the detailed engineering, supply, construction and

the specifications that came into force in the Metropolitan

commissioning of the project.

Region in July 2004.
Projects developed by third parties
New projects begun during 2004 include the production of
low-sulfur diesel at the Aconcagua and Bío Bío refineries which

A commercial agreement was reached in 2004 with Empresas

will become operative in 2006. The project for adapting the

Copec for the use of that company’s future terminal being built

refineries to heavy crudes was also initiated; this will enable the

in the San Vicente bay in Chile’s 8th Region. The Aconcagua

use of cheaper raw materials offering considerable economic

Refinery also invited tenders for the supply of hydrogen to

benefits to the company.

start operating in 2006; this will be provided by the AGALinde consortium.

The Aconcagua Refinery has projects for normalizing the
treatment of effluents in progress, adapting the facilities to

Important progress was also made in a project for increasing

safety regulations and other investments related to increasing

diesel and gasoline storage capacity at the Aconcagua and Bío

diesel storage capacity. The Bío Bío Refinery is making

Bío refineries and the construction of a tank at Cabo Negro,

investments for increasing the safety of its electricity supplies,

Magallanes. This project was structured in 2004 and progress

the modernization of installations to adapt them to environmental

was made in order to start the tender process in 2005.

standards, increasing the yield of the present processes and
replacing equipment to reduce failures.
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EXPORTS TO SOUTHERN ARGENTINA

RL&C in Magallanes
RL&C’s sales of finished fuels in 2004 in Magallanes (gasolines,
kerosene and diesel) amounted to a total of 307,200 cubic
meters, representing a 9.1% increase over the previous year.
This figure includes transfers to the country’s central zone,
exports and local sales, Chile’s 12th Region being supplied
entirely from ENAP’s local production.
Import contracts remain in force with four producers in
Argentina’s Austral basin for the supply of liquefied petroleum
gas (LPG), a raw material that is processed at the Cabo Negro
plant. Production of propane and butane reached 887,700
cubic meters (including 189,900 cubic meters of butane
processed for Total Austral), mainly destined for supplying the

RL&C investments in Magallanes

Metropolitan Region.
The distribution of sales by market shows the following:

RL&C Magallanes made investments of US$ 3.8 million

national domestic market 71% (other than 12 Region) 20%

in 2004, with several projects being completed and put

and exports 9%.

into service for increasing production capacity, optimizing

th

processes and improving safety conditions at the Cabo Negro
Reduction of operative gaps

and Gregorio facilities.

In accordance with the integration process of the RL&C

The following projects are under development in order to

Division in Magallanes, the Division reinforced the tasks of

continue the improvement of processing yields and reducing

the internal teams and the subsidiary Enap Refinerías S.A,

operative gaps, and the installation of advanced controls at

in order to capture and reduce operative gaps. This provided

the Gregorio Refinery, optimization of the Cabo Negro plant

highly-satisfactory results, capturing over US$ 3.5 million in

fractioning capacity, which are expected to be completed

the year.

during 2005.

Exports to the south of Argentina

There is also a project in progress relating to the opening of
marine fuel supplies from the Cabo Negro terminal to ships

In line with its strategic objectives, RL&C has continued to

navigating the Estrecho de Magallanes. Market studies

develop the necessary commercial relations for positioning

have been prepared, supply agreements explored and bases

ENAP as a natural supplier of fuels for the south of Argentina.

developed for modifying the installations. This project will

The efforts made to maintain this position have been fruitful,

come into operation in 2006.

with a substantial increase in exports of diesel and car
gasolines.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF ENAP REFINERIAS S.A.
Standing, from left to right:
Gabriel Aldoney Vargas,
Pedro Calvo Martínez,
Guillermo del Valle de la Cruz,
René Ormeño Palacios,
Alejandro Fernández Kokich,
David Jana Bitrán,
Sitting, from left to right:
Julio Friedmann Encina,
Enrique Dávila Alveal,
Manuel Sánchez Ceballos.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF ENAP REFINERÍAS S.A. (1)

Directors

Chairman
ENRIQUE DÁVILA ALVEAL (2)
Economist

GABRIEL ALDONEY VARGAS
Mechanical Engineer
PEDRO CALVO MARTÍNEZ
Civil Engineer

Vice-Chairman
JULIO FRIEDMANN ENCINA (3)
Civil Industrial Engineer

GUILLERMO DEL VALLE DE LA CRUZ
Social Communicator
ALEJANDRO FERNÁNDEZ KOKICH
Accountant
DAVID JANA BITRÁN
Economist
RENÉ ORMEÑO PALACIOS
Businessman
MANUEL SÁNCHEZ CEBALLOS
Civil Industrial Engineer

Chief Executive Officer
CARLOS CABEZA FAÚNDEZ
Civil Mechanical Engineer

NOTES
(1) On March 17, 2004, the ordinary shareholders’ meeting elected the
following directors for the statutory period of three years: Gabriel Aldoney
Vargas, Pedro Calvo Martínez, Enrique Dávila Alveal, Guillermo del Valle de
la Cruz, Daniel Fernández Koprich, Alejandro Fernández Kokich, David Jana
Bitrán, René Ormeño Palacios and Manuel Sánchez Ceballos. On March 30,
2004, the board appointed Daniel Fernández Koprich to be chairman and
Enrique Dávila Alveal to be vice chairman and executive director. On June 23,
2004, the board accepted the resignation of Daniel Fernández Koprich as a
director as from July 14, 2004.

(2) At is meeting nº 393 held on July 30, 2004, the board appointed Enrique
Dávila Alveal to be chairman in replacement of Daniel Fernández Koprich.
(3) At the same meeting on July 30, 2004, the board appointed Julio Friedmann
Encina to be vice chairman and executive director of Enap Refinerías S.A.
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Performance summary
Investment projects
In its first year of operations as a subsidiary of ENAP specialized
in the businesses of oil refining, logistics and sales, Enap

During 2004 Enap Refinerías S.A. continued to develop

Refinerías S.A. achieved positive results, both financially

important works for the improvement and expansion of its

and commercially, like the development of associations and

plants, maintaining a high level of investment over the last

investment projects.

four years. Investment disbursements totaled US$ 145 million
including projects financed with own resources and jointly with

The consolidation of the merger of the former subsidiaries of

other parties. This figure includes the projects of Emalco S.A.

ENAP, Petrox S.A. and RPC S.A., the later absorption of the

up to November 30.

subsidiary Emalco S.A., the inauguration of new plants for
improving the quality of our products and progress in the

Projects completed in 2004

internationalization of the company by association with third
parties to cover regional markets, particularly in Peru, were

Aconcagua Refinery

key factors in the performance in 2004 which positioned the
company as the largest oil refining company on the Pacific Coast

• Catalytic Cracking Expansion. Its purpose is to increase the

of Central and South America.

production capacity for liquefied petroleum gas, high-octane
gasoline and diesel. Investment of US$ 27.2 million.

Results
• FCC Naphtha Desulfurization Unit. Construction completed
The results of Enap Refinerías S.A. for the year were a final

of a gasoline and naphtha hydro-treatment unit of the catalytic

profit of Ch$ 69,018 million. Despite the high level of activity,

cracking unit in order to reduce the sulfur content of gasoline.

this profit was less than the previous year. The result is

Investment of US$ 36.4 million.

explained by operating income of Ch$ 69,177 million, and
non-operating income of Ch$ 14,927 million due basically

• Adaption of Heavy Crudes Primary Fractioning Unit (Phase

to the appreciation of the Chilean peso. Income before taxes

1). This will allow the processing of a mix of crudes including

was therefore Ch$ 84,104 million from which income taxes

heavier Latin American crudes, in the Topping and Vacuum I

of Ch$ 15,086 million were deducted. These figures are as of

and II units. Investment of US$ 6.4 million.

December 31, 2004 and include the results of Emalco S.A.
up to November 30 when the company was absorbed by Enap

Bío Bío Refinery

Refinerías S.A.
• Benzene Saturation Plant. For the reduction of benzene
The volume refined, including crudes and complementary

content in gasolines to meet the maximum specifications

cargoes amounted to 12.1 million cubic meters, notable

permitted in the Metropolitan Region as of July 2004.

being the proportion of intermediate and heavy crudes in the

Investment of US$ 8.7 million.

total, the latter at below-market prices. Production was 11.96
million cubic meters, the principal products being diesel and

•

Product

Movement

Automation.

This

included

the

gasolines with 34% and 27% of the total, respectively. The

modernization of the area installations in line with present

volumetric yield in 2004 was 98.7% and plant availability

technologies and regulations. Investment of US$ 3.2 million.

93.5%.
Other projects completed in 2004 were the improvement of
Total sales in the domestic market in 2004 were 10.9 million

refinery safety systems and improvement of electricity system

cubic meters, 5.7% more than in 2003 and consistent with

reliability, both at Aconcagua, and the implementation of the

the growth in the economy. This volume represents a market

[Refinería] of products at the Bío Bío Refinery.

share of 85.8%, slightly higher than the previous year. Exports
were 1.9 million cubic meters, 14.7% of the total products
sold by Enap Refinerías S.A.
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Projects under development

• Adaptation of Quintero terminal for VLCC ships. The purpose
is to adapt the port installations of the Quintero terminal to
receive and unload Very Large Crude Carrier (VLCC) ships.

Aconcagua Refinery

Investment of US$ 4.1 million.
• Normalization of Effluents Treatment System. Its purpose
is to adapt the present installations to meet the new liquid

Other important projects begun during the year were the

residue emissions standards. Investment of US$ 4.5 million.

extension of Aconcagua’s underwater discharge pipe, the
segregated preparation of gasoline, reduction in isomerization

• Increase in Diesel Storage Capacity. Installation of two new

operative costs and the elimination of visbreaker bottle-

diesel storage tanks of 10,000 cubic meters, one at the Quintero

necks.

terminal and the other in the refinery itself. Investment of US$ 2.8
million.

Bío Bío Refinery

Bío Bío Refinery

• Production of low-sulfur diesel. The objective is to increase
diesel production capacity and improve its quality through

• Change of San Vicente-Cosmito Oil Pipeline Section. This

a reduction in the sulfur content. Investment of US$ 44.7

will meet the standards of the Superintendency of Electricity

million.

and Fuels that covers this kind of installation. Investment of
• Adaptation of the refinery for processing heavy crudes. The

US$ 5.3 million.

target is to prepare the primary fractioning units for using
• Use of Oil Pipeline Two for White Products. Adaptation of

heavier crudes for refining without affecting current capacity.

this duct for the exclusive use of white products (kerosene,

Investment of US$ 17.0 million.

diesel and gasoline) between the refinery and the San Vicente
terminal. Investment of US$ 1.1 million.

• Improvement of the greasy-water treatment system. The
purpose is to improve the system currently in use in order

Other relevant projects under development in Enap Refinerías

to provide flexibility and increase availability and reliability.

S.A. are to increase the reliability of crude supplies, adaptation

Investment of US$ 4.5 million.

to the standard and replacement of the fire-prevention
system at the Quintero terminal, improvement of the boiler

Other important projects begun in 2004 were the adaptation

replacement water treatment system, use of RxCAT technology

of the San Vicente sea terminal for mooring ships, study of the

for the cathalytic cracking unit, and increase in the reliability

handling and disposal of exhausted sodas, and normalization

in the main electrical substation.

of the fire prevention network system.

Projects started during 2004

Projects jointly with other parties

Aconcagua Refinery

Mild Hydrocracking of Gas Oil at Bío Bío Refinery. This project
seeks to produce low-sulfur content diesel from gas oil while

• Low-sulfur diesel production. To increase diesel production

also reducing sulfur emissions into the atmosphere. For

capacity and improve its quality by reducing the sulfur content.

this purpose, the company is a partner in Sociedad Prodisa

Investment of US$ 95.2 million.

together with Técnicas Reunidas and DSD Construcciones. It
will start operating in 2005.

• Adaptation of the refinery for processing heavy crudes. Seeks
to adapt the primary fractioning unit to refine mixes of heavier

Supply of Hydrogen to the Bío Bío Refinery. Installation and

crudes while maintaining processing capacity. Investment of

operation of a hydrogen producing unit in order to meet the

US$ 7.4 million.

requirements of new plants. For this purpose, it formed
Compañía de Hidrógeno del Bío Bío which the Company
owns together with Sigdo Koppers and Technip.
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Projects developed by third parties

Increase in diesel and gasoline storage capacity. The objective
is to increase the storage capacity both for diesel and for

San Vicente Sea Terminal. A commercial agreement was

gasoline at the Bío Bío Refinery, increase the crude storage

reached with Empresas Copec for the use of the future LPG

capacity at Aconcagua to facilitate the reception of VLCC

terminal that the latter is building in the San Vicente bay of in

ships and to build an IFO tank in Magallanes.

Chile’s 8th Region.
Supply of Hydrogen for Aconcagua Refinery. The target is to
Cogeneration Electricity Supply. At the end of the year, the

implement the supply of hydrogen from new hydro-treatment

Company was in the process of calling for tenders for a

and desulfurization processes. This project will be carried

bridging contract for a third party to supply electricity to the

out by the AGA-Linde consortium and will begin operating in

Aconcagua Refinery.

2006.
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REFINING, LO GISTIC S AND COMMERCIALIZATION DIVISION

BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF EMALCO S.A.
Standing, from left to right:
Gabriel Aldoney Vargas,
Pedro Calvo Martínez,
Guillermo del Valle de la Cruz,
René Ormeño Palacios,
Alejandro Fernández Kokich,
David Jana Bitrán,
Sitting, from left to right:
Julio Friedmann Encina,
Enrique Dávila Alveal,
Manuel Sánchez Ceballos.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS EMPRESA ALMACENADORA DE COMBUSTIBLES S.A.

Chairman
ENRIQUE DÁVILA ALVEAL (2)
Economist

Directors
GABRIEL ALDONEY VARGAS
Mechanical Engineer

Vice-Chairman and Executive Director
JULIO FRIEDMANN ENCINA (2)
Civil Industrial Engineer

PEDRO CALVO MARTÍNEZ
Civil Engineer
GUILLERMO DEL VALLE DE LA CRUZ
Social Communicator
ALEJANDRO FERNÁNDEZ KOKICH
Accountant
DAVID JANA BITRÁN
Economist
RENÉ ORMEÑO PALACIOS
Businessman
MANUEL SÁNCHEZ CEBALLOS
Civil Industrial Engineer

Chief Executive Officer
MARIO ARZE CONTRERAS
Civil Chemical Engineer

NOTES

Koprich to be chairman and Enrique Dávila Alveal to be vice-chairman and

(1) Emalco S.A. legally existed until November 30, 2004. On December 1,

executive director. On June 23, 2004, the board accepted the resignation of

2004, it was absorbed by Enap Refinerías S.A. On March 17, 2004, the ordinary

Daniel Fernández Koprich as a member of the board as from July 14, 2004.

shareholders’ meeting elected the following directors for the statutory period
of three years: Gabriel Aldoney Vargas, Pedro Calvo Martínez, Enrique Dávila

(2) At its meeting held on July 30, 2004, the board appointed Enrique Dávila

Alveal, Guillermo del Valle de la Cruz, Daniel Fernández Koprich, Alejandro

Alveal as chairman and Julio Friedmann Encina as a director in replacement of

Fernández Kokich, David Jana Bitrán, René Ormeño Palacios and Manuel

Daniel Fernández Koprich. The same meeting also appointed Julio Friedmann

Sánchez Ceballos. On March 30, 2004, the board appointed Daniel Fernández

Encina to be vice-chairman and executive director.
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Performance summary

Results

The process of incorporation of the assets of Emalco S.A. into
the logistics system of ENAP’s RL&C Division continued and
was completed during 2004, evidenced by the growing use of
all its plants. This can be seen especially at the Maipú plant
which was the principal fuel supply point for the Metropolitan
Region.

Until November 30, 2004, Emalco S.A. produced income
after taxes of Ch$ 2,485 million, 17% below the level for the
same period of 2003. Operating income declined by 14.0%
due to a 1.7% fall in revenues and increases of 8.1% in costs
of sales and 20.4% in administrative and selling expenses.

This process permitted a notable improvement in ENAP’s
customers service due to the greater reliability in deliveries,
both in volume and punctuality. As a result, a high turnover
was maintained of the stored products, but reaching almost
the same level in terms of contracting storage capacity. In
addition, there were a significant savings in operations related
to liquefied petroleum gas logistics, using to a greater degree,
transport systems that use trucks with their respective loading
and unloading processes with excellent results.
On the other hand, the quality management system was
maintained completely in force, based on the ISO 9001-2000
standards, two certification maintenance audits being carried
out.
Emalco S.A. finished the year with no accidents in its
installations and with a determined emphasis on the
management of environmental matters under the highest
standards for this oil logistics business.
Efforts were made during the year for an effective use of
personnel through voluntary retirements and the transfer of
numerous workers and executives to other areas of the ENAP
group.
There was also a good performance in terms of costs, revenues
and earnings, fully meeting all aspects of the budget contained
in the Annual Management Plan.
Lastly, on November 30, 2004, the merger of Emalco with
Enap Refinerías S.A. was completed, final evidence of the
total integration of both companies.
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Its non-operating result decreased by 40.0% although the
effect on the overall result was of little significance.

Logistics activity
Contracted storage capacity for liquid fuel products (gasolines,
kerosene and diesel) reached an average of 147,600 cubic
meters, representing 57.7% of total available capacity and a
0.9% increase over 2003. This was due to new contracts won
by the Linares plant.
Distribution companies hired 16.5% of the above total, the rest
(83.5%) corresponding to volumes hired by Enap Refinerías
S.A.
The average liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) storage hired was
32,478 v, 54.1% corresponding to available capacity, a slight
reduction compared to the previous year.

LOGISTICS CAPACITY FOR EMALCO S.A. IN 2004
Liquefied
Fuels

Liquefied
Petroleum Gas

Total

Storage capacity (m³)

256,000

60,000

316,000

Total hired capacity (m³)

147,600

32,478

180,078

Capacity hired by ENAP (m³)

123,300

32,478

155,778

Infrastructure hired by ENAP

48.1%

54.1%

49.3%

Total hired infrastructure

57.7%

54.1%

57.0%

EMALC O S. A .

company ENAP. A large part was dedicated to programs related

Other services

to operations. Just over 60% of the workers were involved in
In addition to its storage services, Emalco S.A. developed

these actions.

various services related to fuel logistics, including the
The collective bargaining process was concluded in June 2004

following:

with the Emalco Workers Union and a contract was signed for
• Delivery of liquid fuels by pipeline or by truck.

30 months.

• Delivery of liquefied petroleum gas held in cylinders or by
bulk load trucks in the plants of San Fernando and Linares,

Investment projects

plus the delivery of some complementary services to liquefied
petroleum gas distributors like the rental of space for offices or

Emalco S.A. made investments of US $1.5 million in 2004

cylinder storage. In Maipú, the delivery of liquefied petroleum

among eight projects for reducing gaps, improving installation

gas in trucks has increased, permitting notable savings in the

safety, and adaptation to the environmental regulations.

supply of the San Fernando plant.
• Optimized handling of interfaces at the Maipú and San

The projects included an increase in liquefied petroleum gas

Fernando plants, allowing the volumes that need to be sent

storage capacity in San Fernando, begun in 2003, which will

back to refineries to be reduced to zero, generating important

allow an improvement in storage logistics for the center-south

savings for the RL&C Division.

zone. The project also redefined the placement of the storage

• Operation of the San Vicente-San Fernando multi-use

capacity, from the Linares plant to the Bío Bío Refinery.

pipeline owned by the Bío Bío Refinery, with high standards of
safety and reliability.

There were also other projects for improving customer delivery

• Inspection and maintenance of the Enap Refinerías S.A. oil

services, thus doubling the LPG delivery capacity from Maipú

pipelines (San Vicente–San Fernando) and the Chilean Trans-

and optimizing the levels of safety and control of operations

Andean Oil Pipeline (Chile/Argentina border, Butamallín–San

(improvement of measuring systems and automation of

Vicente section), including the rights of way strip and the

operations).

equipment and installations related to the ducts. In the case
of the Trans-Andean pipeline, the inspection and maintenance

Other projects were carried out for raising the environmental

contract expired on June 1, 2004.

performance of the storage plants, the replacement of

• Special tasks related to the above mentioned oil pipelines

transformers with PCBs (Askareles) and the significant

concerning the protection of lines passing over rivers, pipeline

improvement in the handling systems of residual waters

repairs, improvements in protections, etc.

(water-proofing of pumping bays, construction of run-off

• Participation in the coordination of the logistics programming

channels, improvement to API separators and product drainage

for the delivery of products and other related support services

collection systems).

(incorporation of additives, quality control, etc.).

Quality management and risk prevention
Human Resources management and organization
The quality management system was successfully maintained
Emalco S.A. was noted in 2004 for its participative

during the year, certified in 2003 under the ISO-9001-2000

management, best illustrated by having successfully submitted

standard, with follow-up audits being made satisfactorily. Most

to two recertification audits under the ISO 9001-2000 quality

of the workers took part in the system in its different phases

standard. These were preceded by a series of internal activities

and the whole organization gave it its strong commitment.

between different groups of people that implied an exhaustive
effort for the workers of all the Company’s areas.

Emalco also maintained a strong commitment to total risk
prevention through the sustained actions of joint committees

The hours of training given during the year were more than
3,000, excluding the Sintesis project developed by the parent
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on hygiene and safety.

There were no accidents in the Company’s installations, but

elimination of transformers with PCBs and the proper handling,

there was an aircraft accident outside the installations that

reduction and elimination of solid industrial residues.

inevitably affected the Company’s safety indicators.
Lastly, a training program was introduced involving a large

Environmental performance

number of workers, offering them concepts directed to
environmental management and performance evaluation in

Emalco S.A. developed numerous actions for improving the

this area, introducing the use of environmental performance

conditions of its operations and installations during 2004.

indicators as a fundamental part of the management system.

There were projects for the handling of waste waters, the
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COMPANY

CONSTITUTION DATE

BOARD OF THE COMPANY

SUBSCRIBED AND
PAID CAPITAL

OBJECTS

Fernando Feliciano
Romero Belismelis

Fernando Feliciano Romero Belismelis,
Luis Enrique Romero Belismelis, Julio Alexis Friedmann
Encina, Mario Guillermo Del Valle De La Cruz.

CHAIRMAN

VICE CHAIRMAN

DIRECTORS

DISTRIBUIDORA
PETROX S.A.

August 16, 2004

US$ 39,380,896

Import, industrialization, storage, customs depot, distribution, transport,
commercialization and other operations related to hydrocarbons including
natural gas.

GASODUCTO
DEL PACÍFICO
(CHILE) S.A.

August 7, 1995

US$ 137,841,319

Supply of natural gas transportation services, investments in all things related
to natural gas services in Chile or abroad, and the requesting of concessions and
permits required for these purposes.

Richard Gateman

Richard Gateman, José María Eyzaguirre B.,
Gabriel León B., Antonio Bacigalupo G., Eduardo
Karrer, Carlos Rocca R., Carmen Figueroa D.,
Adolfo Sabando P., Daniel Martínez B., Dante
Kogan.

GASODUCTO
DEL PACÍFICO
(ARGENTINA) S.A.

August 25, 1995

US$ 7,374,320

Build, own, exploit and operate technically and commercially a pipeline system in
Argentina for carrying natural gas from Neuquén province to Chilean frontier.

Hugo C. Martelli

Hugo C. Martelli, Richard Gateman, Pablo De
Rosso, Jaime Alamos, Eduardo Karrer, Antonio
Bacigalupo Gittins, Adolfo Sabando, Rodrigo
Bloomfield, Dante Kogan.

SOCIEDAD
NACIONAL DE
OLEDUCTOS S.A.

May 31, 1957

M$ 52,827,218

Acquire, build, maintain, operate and exploit oil pipelines for carrying gasoline,
kerosene, petroleum and other products suitable for transportation in this way.
Ship crude oil and any of the above-mentioned products.

Jorge Garnham Abboot

PETROPOWER
ENERGÍA LTDA.

December 22, 1992

US$ 70,460,824

Prepare a technical-economic, financial and legal feasibility study for
construction and exploitation of a delayed-coking plant including a hydrotreatment and electricity co-generation plant.

Enrique Dávila Alveal

PRODUCTORA DE
DIESEL S.A.

January 15, 2004

US$ 20,585,030

Construction and operation of a complex for the refining of oil derivatives.

TERMINALES
MARÍTIMAS
PATAGÓNICAS S.A.

January 6, 1994

(*) $ 14,360,000
Argentine pesos

Storage and shipping services for hydrocarbons and other necessary
complementary activities.

Alberto Gil

Celestino Antonio Allegretta

OLEODUCTO
TRASANDINO
(ARGENTINA) S.A.

December 22, 1992

US$ 45,400,000

Construction and exploitation of a Trans-Andean oil pipeline between Argentina
and Chile and its operation within Argentina.

Antonio Allegretta

Mario Arze Contreras

Antonio Allegreta, Mario Arze Contreras,
Norberto Bargo, Francisco Macías,
Gabriel Edward Kaspar.

PETROSUL S.A.

October 17, 2001

M$ 3,607,352

Construction and operation of 2 plants of Refinerías Enap S.A. on land in Concón
and in Hualpén in order to provide the refineries with exclusive services in
processing of their acid gas.

Carlos Cabeza Faúndez

Edzard zu Knyphausen

Carlos Cabeza Faúndez, Sergio Arévalo
Espinoza, Helmut Muehlemeier, Edzard zu
Knyphausen, Hernán Águila Fuentes.

OLEODUCTO
TRASANDINO
(CHILE) S.A.

December 11, 1992

M$ 23,093,444

Construction and exploitation of a Trans-Andean oil pipeline between Argentina
and Chile and its operation within Chile

Mario Arze Contreras

INVERSIONES
ELECTROGAS S.A.

March 11, 1999

M$ 10,666,916

Buy, sell, invest and maintain shares in Electrogas S.A.

COMPAÑÍA
LATINOAMERICANA
PETROLERA S.A.

December 31, 1992

M$ 6,866,999

Exploration and exploitation abroad of oil, gas and their derivatives, and the
trading, import & export of these products.

Jorge Bunster Betteley

ÉTERES Y
ALCOHOLES S.A.

March, 10, 2000

M$ 3,823,347

Construction and operation of a DIPE plant on land of Enap Refinerías S.A. in
Concón to provide it with propane-propylene treatment services.

Edzard zu Knyphausen

Sergio Arévalo Espinoza

NORGAS S.A.

August 12, 1996

M$ 2,229,636

Import, export and purchase of liquefied petroleum gas and its bulk sale to
distributors in Chile’s 1st & 2nd regions.

Mario Fernández Astudillo

María Alejandra Chamudes Godoy

GEOTÉRMICA
DEL NORTE S.A.

December 5, 2001

M$ 4,341,175

Investigation, exploration and exploitation of geo-thermal deposits in Chile’s 1st,
2nd & 3rd Regions, and the commercialization in any way of its products. Any
other activity related to the above.

Ricardo Campano Gándara

A & C PIPELINE
HOLDING

December 22, 1992

US$ 900,000

Investment and financing in general. Controls Oleoducto Transandino
(Argentina) S.A. and Oleoducto Transandino (Chile) S.A.

GAS DE CHILE S.A.

March 15, 1994

M$ 515,682

Import, export and operation of all kinds of fuel and its derivatives, especially
natural gas, and related engineering work and research. Develop contractual,
financial and commercial aspects for determining the feasibility of construction
and operation of an industrial complex on land of Refinería de Petróleo Concón
S.A. for providing processing services for transforming bottoms of crude oil
barrels into light products.

GASODUCTO
CAYMÁN LTD.

August 22, 1995

US$ 50,000

Investment and finance in general. Controls Gasoducto del Pacífico S.A. Argentina and Chile.

Richard Gateman

ELECTROGAS S.A.

October 14, 1996

M$ 10,703,686

Natural gas & other fuel transport services for which it may build, operate
and maintain gas, oil and multi-purpose pipelines and complementary
installations.

Jaime Fuenzalida Alessandri

INNERGY
HOLDINGS S.A.

January 23, 1998

M$ 55,878,719

* Includes share holdings by ENAP and its subsidiaries. **Investee of Sipetrol S.A.

Invest in companies that purchase, sell, commercialize and supply natural
gas or build, exploit and operate all kinds of natural gas transport networks,
and provide its subsidiaries or third parties with management services and
consultancies.

Jorge Bunster Betteley, Francisco Mualim Tietz,
Jorge Garnham Abbott, Arturo Natho Gamboa,
Juan Piñeiro Pérez, Ricardo Budinich Diez, Juan
Juanet Rodríguez, José Odone Odone, Enrique
Dávila Alveal.

Henry Bartoli, Martín Karpenski, Carlos Cabeza,
Enrique Dávila, Tony Scerbo, Bruce C. Studley,
Frank Taibi.

Wilfried Schmedes, José Luis Gutiérrez Rexach,
Renato Sepúlveda Almuna, Adolfo Sabando Pizarro.

José Luis Gutiérrez Rexach

Jaime Fuenzalida Alessandri

Mario Arze Contreas, Antonio Allegreta,
Paul Reimer, Gabriel Kaspar, Tony
Dimaio.

Claudio Iglesis Guillard

Jaime Fuenzalida Alessandri, Claudio
Iglesis Guillard, Gabriel Marcuz, Pedro
Gatica Kerr, Daniel Martínez Bonasco.

Jorge Bunster B., Arturo Natho Gamboa,
Salvador Harambour Giner, Vicente
Rodríguez Gaete, Manuel Sánchez Ceballos.

Edzard zu Knyphausen, Sergio Arévalo
Espinoza, Mario Cúneo Bosco, Marti Haario,
Helmut Muehlemeier.

Mario Fernández Astudillo, Juan Manuel Santa
Cruz Munizaga, Félix Lagreze Byrt and María
Alejandra Chamudes Godoy.

Ricardo Adrián Campano Gándara, Alex Acosta
Maluenda, Julio Mayanz Csato, José Manuel
Soffia Celis, Nelson Muñoz Guerrero.

Antonio Allegretta

Mario Arze Contreras

Víctor Briano Peralta

Eduardo Karrer

Carlos Rocca Righton

Class A: Alberto Gil, Marcelo Bombicimim,
Manuel López L., Sergio Galán B., Marcelo Moring,
Carlos G. Crivelli. Class B: Antonio Allegretta,
Raúl Rodríguez, Jorge Brizuela.

Antonio Allegreta, Mario Arze Contreras, Norberto
Bargo, Francisco Macías, Gabriel Edward Kaspar.

Víctor Briano Peralta, Mario Arze Contreras,
Antonio Bacigalupo Gittins, Eduardo Karrer.

Richard Gateman, José María Eyzaguirre B., Gabriel
León B., Antonio Bacigalupo G., Eduardo Karrer,
Carlos Rocca R., Carmen Figueroa D.,
Adolfo Sabando P., Daniel Martínez B., Dante Kogan.
Claudio Iglesis Guillard

Jaime Fuenzalida Alessandri, Claudio Iglesis
Guillard, Gabriel Marcuz, Pedro Gatica Kerr, Daniel
Martínez Bonasco.
Carlos Rocca Righton, Matías Pérez Cruz,
César Contreras Sacre, Richard Gateman,
Jaime Retamal Smith, Felipe Bahamondez Prieto,
Julio Friedmann Encina, Adolfo Sabando Pizarro,
Eduardo Cabello Correa.

SENIOR EXECUTIVES

ENAP EQUITY
VALUE

ENAP EXECUTIVES
IN RELATED COMPANIES

COMMERCIAL RELATIONS

ACTS OR CONTRACTS SIGNED

INVESTMENT AS
PROPORTION OF
ENAPS’ ASSETS

Chief Executive Officer,
Marco Antonio Álvarez Echaiz

56.52%

Mario Felipe
Arze Contreras

Buy and receive products from Enap Refinerías S.A.
for distribution through the network of Distribuidora
Petrox S.A.

Liquid fuels and other hydrocarbon derivatives
supply contract.

1.3698%

Carmen Figueroa,
Adolfo Sabando,
César Contreras.

ALTERNATE DIRECTORS

Rodrigo Ochagavia Ruiz-Tagle, Donald DeGrandis,
David Montemurro, Edgel Sereno, Ricardo Peña Vial,
Jacob Calderón, César Contreras, Alejandra Chamudes,
Claudia Núñez and Marcelo Núñez.

Chief Executive Officer,
John Scott

18.20%

José María Eyzaguirre Baeza, Gabrile León Burgos,
Rodrigo Ochagavia Ruíz-Tagle, Edgel Sereno,Ricardo
Peña Vial, Carlos Rocca, Carmen Figueroa, Alejandra
Chamudes, Daniel Martínez, Marcelo Núñez.

Chief Executive Officer,
John Scott

18.20%

Ramiro Méndez Urrutia, Alan Sherwin Lagos, Carlos
Lonza Lazo, Juan Carrasco Baudrand, Alfredo Diez
Lillo, Lorenzo Gazmuri Schleyer, Héctor Silva Arancibia,
Eduardo Navarro Beltrán, Paula Hidalgo Mandujano.

Chief Executive Officer,
Roberto Hetz Vorpahl

None

0.5073%

10.,10%

Enrique Dávila Alveal, Director;
Paula Hidalgo Mandujano,
Alternate Director

Pipeline product transportation and
sea freight and transport

Product transport
contracts.

Sale of electricity, water, coke
processing commission, property
rights, guarantees.

Partners agreement and processing service
and supply agreement, both dated Jan. 15,
1996, usufruct and easement agreement,
and arbitration agreement both dated Feb.
7, 1996, and Electric energy agreement dated
May 2, 2000

Jaime Carey, Víctor Fuentes, Kevin Hagan, Henry
Somerville, Juan G. Levine, Thomas Kowalczyk,
Robert Tracey.

Chief Executive Officer,
Ramón Zubizarreta Salvatierra

15%*

Carlos Cabeza Faúndez, Enrique
Dávila Alveal, Directors.

Patrick Haas, José Antonio Iglesias Villar,
José Pérez Quilodrán, Víctor Arancibia Burr.

Chief Executive Officer,
Hernán Pinninghoff Junemann

45.00%

Hernán Pinninghoff Junemann

• Syndicated bank loans led by BNP Paribas.
• VAT financing loan with Banco Santander Santiago
• Construcción e Ingenieria D.I.Chile Ltda.
• Initec Tecnología S.A. – Técnicas Reunidas S.A.. Temporary
association between companies.

Class A: Adrián F. Peres, Roberto Hopson, Rodolfo
E. Berisso, René Robertson A., Francisco J. Rielo y
Ameijide, Luis F. de Ridder. Class B: Oscar A. Oroná,
Daniel M. Rellán, Jorge D. Sanca.

Chief Executive Officer,
Alfredo Sabatini

13.79%**

Sergio Galán Bidegain, Director

Hydrocarbon storage and shipment
services.

Daniel Rellán, Paul Reimer, Hugo Fuentes Bizama,
Anthony Rafael Dimaio, Stephen W. Green.

Chief Executive Officer,
Eduardo Fernández

18.09%

Gastón Ramos González- Director,
Victor Briano Peralta - Alternate Director

None

Daniel Martínez Bonasco, Juan Pablo Salinas
Barrera, Fabio de Assis Lobo, Federico Lange,
Arturo Wechsler W.

Chief Executive Officer,
Federico Lange

47.39%*

Chief Executive Officer,
Jaime Pulido Espinosa;
Manager, Admin. & Finance,
Ana Charles Coddou;
Regional Manager,
Elías Bartulovich Musac

18.04%

Mario Arze Contreras, Director;
Hugo Fuentes, Alternate Director

Crude transport services, loading
services, oil pipeline rentals.

Chief Executive Officer,
Carlos Andreani Luco

15.00%

Daniel Martínez Bonasco, Director;
Andrés Vargas de la Piedra,
Alternate Director

None

Chief Executive Officer,
Ramón Concha Barrientos

40.00%*

Vicente Rodríguez Gaete & Manuel
Sánchez Ceballos, Directors;
Julio Mayanz Csato & Claudio Aldana
Muñoz, Alternate Directors

Fabio de Assis Lobo, Julio Friedmann Encina,
Andrés Vargas de la Piedra, Hernán Águila
Fuentes, Federico Lange.

Chief Executive Officer,
Federico Lange

41.80%

Sergio Arévalo Espinoza, Mario Cúneo
B., Julio Friedmann Encina, Andrés
Vargas de la Piedra.

Luis Felipe Silva Labbé, Osvaldo Rosa Ageitos,
Bruno Krumenacker, Exequiel González Jeria
and Claudia Núñez Muñoz.

Chief Executive Officer,
Luis Felipe Silva Labbé

42.00%

María Alejandra Chamudes Godoy,
Andrés Vargas de la Piedra,
Exequiel González Jeria y Claudia
Núñez Muñoz.

Chief Executive Officer,
Sergio Galán Bodegaín

49.90%

Julio Mayanz Csato, José Manuel
Soffia Celis y Nelson Muñoz Guerrero,
Directors;
Sergio Galán Bodegaín,
Chief Executive Officer

18.25%

Gastón Ramos, Director;
Victor Briano Peralta, Alternate Director

Hugo Fuentes, Daniel Rellán, Stephen W. Green,
Fernando Aguilar, Francisco Macías.

Francisco Courbis Grez, Gustavo Rioseco Wakerling,
Felipe Aldunate Hederra, Pedro Cruz Vine, Andrés
Vargas de la Piedra.

Ramiro Méndez Urrutia, Ricardo Budinich Diez,
Gonzalo Aspillaga Herrera, Julio Mayanz Csato,
Claudio Aldana Muñoz.

Daniel Rellán, Paul Reimer, Hugo Fuentes Bizama,
Anthony Rafael Dimaio, Stephen W. Green.

Alfonso Yáñez Macías, Renato Sepúlveda Almuna,
William Collins, Ricardo Peña Vial.

Chief Executive Officer,
Antonio Bacigalupo Gittins

Rodrigo Ochagavia Ruiz-Tagle, Donald DeGrandis,
David Montemurro, Edgel Sereno, Ricardo Peña Vial,
Jacob Calderón, César Contreras, Alejandra Chamudes,
Claudia Núñez y Marcelo Núñez.
Francisco Courbis Grez, Gustavo Rioseco Wakerling,
Felipe Aldunate Hederra, Pedro Cruz Vine, Andrés
Vargas de la Piedra.

Gerardo Cood Schopke, Carmen Figueroa Deisler,
Jacob Calderón de la Fuente, Rodrigo Alvarez
Aravena, Luis Parada Hoyl, María José Allende
Gutiérrez, Alfonso Yáñez Macías, Exequiel Gonzales
Jeria, Roberto Píriz Simonetti.

0.8773%

50.00%

Carlos Cabeza Faúndez, Sergio
Arévalo Espinoza, Daniel Martínez
Bonasco y Juan Pablo Salinas B.

Víctor Briano Peralta, Chairman;
Mario Arze Contreras, Director;
Alfonso Yáñez Macías,
Alternate Director;
Renato Sepúlveda Almuna,
Alternate Director.

18.20%

Chief Executive Officer,
Carlos Andreani Luco

0.0077%

Chief Executive Officer,
José Luis Hernández Vidal

25.00%

Daniel Martínez Bonasco, Director;
Andrés Vargas de la Piedra,
Alternate Director

Víctor Briano Peralta, Renato Sepúlveda
Almuna, Gastón Ramos González y Víctor
Arancibia Burr.

Acid gas processing service at the
Aconcagua and Bío Bío refineries of
Enap Refinerías S.A.

and

freight

0.4350%

0.3455%

Processing agreement with Enap Refinerías S.A.
for processing, operation and maintenance, and
loan of land.

0.3097%

None as its tariffs are set by the Argentine
Energy authority

0.2775%

0.2141%

Processing services, land rental, operating
and plant maintenance and administration
contracts with Enap Refinerías S.A.

Ship loading service contract for crude
exports, and oil pipeline maintenance and
inspection contract.

0.1850%

0.1696%

None

0.1658%

Commercial partners in hydrocarbon
exploration and production projects
abroad. It was participating in
projects in Colombia at December
31, 2004.

Huila Norte and Altamizal contracts

0.1491%

Raw materials processing service for
producing DIPE at the Acongua refinery
of Enap Refinerías S.A.

Processing services, land rental, operating
and plant maintenance and administration
contracts with ENAP Refinerías S.A.

0.0939%

Plant rental in Antofagasta,
purchase of gas in bulk and various
transportations services

Liquid gas sale contract and plant rental
agreement.

0.0632%

Contract for possible development of
certain tasks by Codelco subject to work
orders.

0.0423%

None

None

0.0047%

None

0.0012%

None

0.0002%

Purchase of natural gas including
transport service.

Transport of gas, operation and
maintenance of installations,
RAC rental and other services
and advice.

Gas transportation, operation and
maintenance and RAC rental contract with
Enap Refinerías S.A. in Aconcagua.

0.0001%

Natural gas purchase contract

0.0000%

5.2113%
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS
(A free translation from the original in Spanish)

Santiago, February 18, 2005
To the Chairman and Directors of
Empresa Nacional del Petróleo
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Empresa Nacional del Petróleo and its
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 and the related consolidated statements of income and
of cash flows for the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our
audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Chile. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Empresa Nacional del Petróleo and its subsidiaries as of December 31,
2004 and 2003 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in Chile.

Renzo Corona Spedaliere
RUT:6.373.028-9
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EMPRESA NACIONAL DEL PETROLEO AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
(Translation from the original in Spanish)

At december 31,
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and banks
Time deposits
Trade receivables, net
Sundry debtors, net
Notes and accounts receivable from related companies
Inventories, net
Recoverable taxes
Prepaid expenses
Deferred taxes
OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Land
Construction and infrastructure
Machinery and equipment
Other property, plant and equipment
Less: Accumulated depreciation
NET PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

2004

2003

ThCh$

ThCh$

43,843,047
2,876,741
241,113,655
20,931,690
3,412,171
358,746,150
20,690,250
2,911,771
11,984,316
11,892,910
718,402,701

28,855,867
23,912,132
178,309,202
22,271,648
8,464,385
233,998,347
13,253,604
4,579,682
13,739,083
27,335,643
554,719,593

9,222,767
2,453,653,949
50,513,309
98,313,824
(1,813,633,915)
798,069,934

9,182,170
2,371,025,890
49,335,867
105,846,768
(1,704,054,285)
831,336,410

86,207,414
4,003
263,914
15,947,558
5,214,373
537
30,121,778
137,759,577
1,654,232,212

90.567.786
29,693
452,851
13,577,599
4,972,037
6,012,768
25,767,989
141,380,723
1,527,436,726

OTHER ASSETS
Investments in related companies
Investments in other companies
Goodwill
Trade receivables, net
Notes and accounts receivable from related companies
Deferred taxes
Intangibles
Other
TOTAL OTHER ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS

The accompanying notes 1 to 34 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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At december 31,
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

2004

2003

ThCh$

ThCh$

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Long-term liabilities with banks and ﬁnancial institutions, short-term portion
Current portion of bonds payable
Current portion of long-term liabilities
Accounts payable
Notes payable
Sundry creditors
Notes and accounts payable to related companies

57,352,272
3,144,475
435,665
267,595,580
87,990,249
6,800,649
9,609,815

51,342,137
2,081,922
333,999
177,350,093
155,909,251
5,408,847
13,593,425

Accruals
Withholdings
Income tax
Unearned income
Other current liabilities
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES

30,688,317
34,763,495
20,641,752
2,320,126
330,361
521,672,756

29,023,729
20,492,632
2,289,398
161,535
457,986,968

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Liabilities with banks and ﬁnancial institutions
Bonds payable
Notes payable
Sundry creditors
Notes and accounts payable to related companies
Accruals
Deferred taxes
Other long-term liabilities
TOTAL LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
MINORITY INTEREST

176,138,400
301,536,413
2,455,224
9,325,567
36,213,092
165,539,479
2,472,620
16,099,424
709,780,219
167,381

197,339,224
232,871,800
4,110,207
9,892,871
43,910,685
143,687,303
6,627,662
638,439,752
140,252

419,784,184
(37,328,492)
40,156,164
28,178,768
65,114,516
(53,137,120)
422,611,856
1,654,232,212

419,784,184
(18,192,575)
29,278,145
28,169,195
90,054,924
(88,945,974)
430,869,754
1,527,436,726

EQUITY
Paid-in capital
Other reserves
Prior years retained earnings
Net income for the year
Proﬁt advances to Government
TOTAL EQUITY
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
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EMPRESA NACIONAL DEL PETROLEO AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME
(Translation from the original in Spanish)

For the years
ended December 31,
STATEMENT OF INCOME

2004
ThCh$

OPERATING RESULTS
Net sales
Cost of sales
GROSS PROFIT
Selling and administrative expenses
OPERATING INCOME
NON-OPERATING INCOME (EXPENSES)
Financial income
Equity in earnings of related companies
Other non-operating income
Equity in losses of related companies
Amortization of goodwill
Financial expense
Other non-operating expenses
Price-level restatement
Exchange difference
NON-OPERATING INCOME (EXPENSE)
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX, MINORITY INTEREST AND AMORTIZATION OF NEGATIVE GOODWILL
Income tax
INCOME BEFORE MINORITY INTEREST AND AMORTIZATION OF NEGATIVE GOODWILL
Minority interest
INCOME BEFORE AMORTIZATION OF NEGATIVE GOODWILL AND MINORITY INTEREST
NET INCOME

192,147,696
2,633,665,412
(2,441,517,716)
(52,865,026)
139,282,670

185,953,354
2,370,137,608
(2,184,184,254)
53,026,687
132,926,667

1,517,379
8,892,108
17,071,713
(5,085,571)
(165,591)
(40,755,740)
(3,973,241)
(17,728,970)
77,015,031
36,787,118
176,069,788
(110,927,666)
65,142,122
(27,606)

1,429,637
12,693,068
6,543,358
(2,921,362)
(296,012)
(35,198,537)
(24,714,653)
(5,863,817)
116,971,093
68,642,775
201,569,442
(111,467,989)
90,101,453
(46,529)

65,114,516
65,114,516

90,054,924
90,054,924

The accompanying notes 1 to 34 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2003
ThCh$

EMPRESA NACIONAL DEL PETROLEO AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(Translation from the original in Spanish)

For the years
ended December 31,
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2004
ThCh$

2003
ThCh$

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Collections from trade accounts receivable
Financial income
Dividends and other distributions received
Other income
Payments to suppliers and personnel
Interest paid
Income tax paid
Other expenses paid
Value-added tax and other taxes paid
TOTAL NET CASH FLOWS PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

3,756,219,035
1,382,163
9,173,551
62,785,220
(3,608,830,537)
(31,163,164)
(78,209,258)
(2,688,235)
(24,817,516)
83,851,259

3,648,157,685
842,533
10,192,141
23,901,945
(3,388,619,821)
(34,230,232)
(43,286,873)
(2,103,263)
(33,861,515)
180,992,600

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Borrowings
Bonds issued
Other ﬁnancing sources
Payment of dividends
Repayment of loans
Payment of expenses on bond issuance and discount
Other ﬁnancing activities
TOTAL NET CASH FLOWS PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES

62,473,930
90,176,170
188,875
(53,705,000)
(57,057,213)
(999,506)
(205,603)
40,871,653

182,444,659
2,217,778
(97,878,275)
(52,386,015)
(166,570)
34,231,577

42,500,844
18,856,829
131,136
4,550,696
(173,291,109)
(30,242,656)
(933,858)
(1,692,554)
(140,120,672)
(15,397,760)
(6,458,069)
(21,855,829)
77,576,397
55,720,568

5,830,247
(154,631,338)
(3,734,471)
(511,314)
(6,695,095)
(159,741,971)
55,482,206
(13,481,443)
42,000,763
35,575,634
77,576,397

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Sales of property, plant and equipment
Sales of businesses
Sales of other investments
Other investment income
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Acquisition of businesses
Other loans to related companies
Other investing activities
TOTAL NET CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Total net cash ﬂows for the year
EFFECT OF INFLATION ON CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
NET CHANGES IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
OPENING BALANCE OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
ENDING BALANCE OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

ANNUAL REPORT 2004

GRUPO DE EMPRESAS ENAP

107

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EMPRESA NACIONAL DEL PETROLEO AND SUBSIDIARIES
RECONCILIATION BETWEEN NET INCOME AND NET CASH
FLOWS PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES
(Translation from the original in Spanish)

For the years
ended December 31,
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

NET INCOME
INCOME FROM SALE OF ASSETS
Gain on sale of property plant and equipment
Gain on sale of property plant and equipment
CHARGES (CREDITS) TO INCOME NOT REPRESENTING CASH FLOWS:
Depreciation
Provisions and write-offs
Equity in earnings of related companies
Equity in losses of related companies
Amortization of goodwill
Price-level restatement of assets and liabilities
Net exchange difference
Other credits to income that do not represent cash ﬂows
Other charges to income that do not represent cash ﬂows
DECREASE (INCREASE) IN ASSETS AFFECTING CASH FLOWS:
Trade receivables
Inventories
Other assets
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN LIABILITIES AFFECTING CASH FLOWS:
Accounts payable related to operating income
Interest payable
Income tax payable (net)
Other accounts payable related to non-operating results
Value added tax and other similar payments
Income of minority interest
Total cash ﬂows provided by operating activities

2004
ThCh$

2003
ThCh$

65,114,516

90,054,924

(871,668)
(2,810,735)

(2,512,176)
-

102,465,828

88,876,447

39,387,026
(8,892,108)
5,085,571
165,591
17,728,970
(77,015,031)
(8,795,080)
1,836,603

31,841,309
(12,693,068)
2,921,362
296,012
5,863,817
(116,971,093)
(1,801,104)
23,477,412

(151,712,755)
(146,661,417)
17,286,921

24,873,191
9,965,682
7,759,285

169,882,783
7,812,054
31,963,179
(16,957,211)
38,810,616
27,606
83,851,259

13,126,578
17,220,811
58,581,163
(59,934,481)
46,529
180,992,600

The accompanying notes 1 to 34 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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EMPRESA NACIONAL DEL PETROLEO AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT DECEMBER 31, 2004 AND 2003
NOTE 1 - REGISTRATION IN THE SECURITIES REGISTER
Empresa Nacional del Petróleo (“ENAP” or the “Company”)
is wholly-owned by the state of Chile (the “Government”) and
is the parent company of the group of companies in Chile
and abroad which are included in these consolidated financial
statements.
On October 4, 2002, the Company was registered with the
Securities Register of the Superintendencia de Valores y
Seguros, (the “Superintendency of Securities and Insurance”)
under No.783. Accordingly, the Company is subject to
the regulation of the Superintendency of Securities and
Insurance.
The Company’s consolidated subsidiaries are located in Chile
and abroad.

Accordingly, PETROX S.A. incorporated all the assets and
liabilities of RPC S.A., as well as succeeding it in all rights
and obligations. For the purposes of this merger, RPC S.A.
contributed all its assets and liabilities at book value as of
December 31, 2003, effective at January 1, 2004.
On November 30, 2004, the General Shareholders’ Meeting
of Enap Refinerías S.A. approved of the merger between Enap
Refinerías S.A. and Empresa Almacenadora de Combustibles
S.A. (EMALCO S.A.) through the incorporation of the latter.
Thus, EMALCO was dissolved by Enap Refinerías S.A., which
becomes the legal continuator. Accordingly, Enap Refinerías
S.A. incorporated the total assets, liabilities and income of
EMALCO S.A., without limitations or exclusions of any kind
and, also succeeds EMALCO in all rights and obligations. For
these purposes, EMALCO S.A. contributes the total of its
assets and liabilities at book value.

ENAP was created by Law 9,618 of June 19, 1950 and
is owned by the Government. Pursuant to that law and
subsequent amendments, it is engaged mainly in the
exploration, exploitation or processing of hydrocarbon deposits.
It is authorized to conduct its operations in Chile and abroad.
ENAP is also the parent company of the following subsidiaries:
Enap Refinerías S.A., Sociedad Internacional Petrolera S.A. y
Petro Servicio Corp. S.A. In addition, it owns a branch in the
Republic of Argentina.

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Enap Refinerías S.A. refines domestic and imported crude
oil acquired from the Company and receives and stores
hydrocarbons in terminals and tanks.
The Company´s
subsidiaries, Petro Servicio Corp. S.A. and Sociedad
Internacional Petrolera S.A., (“Sipetrol S.A.”) engage in
hydrocarbon exploration, exploitation and operations abroad.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in Chile as pronounced by the Colegio de Contadores de
Chile A.G. (the “Chilean Institute of Accountants”) and the
standards issued by the Superintendency of Securities and
Insurance. In the event of discrepancy, the regulations of the
latter prevail.

The subsidiary Sociedad Internacional Petrolera S.A. owns
branches in Ecuador, Colombia, and Venezuela and its
subsidiary Sipetrol Internacional S.A. own a branch in Egypt.
The subsidiary Enap Refinerías S.A. is a closely-held
corporation voluntarily registered under N° 833 in the official
corporation register of the Superintendency of Securities and
Insurance, on June 25, 2004. The subsidiary originates from
the merger of the subsidiaries Petrox S.A. Refinería de Petróleo
(PETROX S.A.) and Refinería de Petróleo Concón S.A. (RPC
S.A.), which took place on January 1, 2004, through the
absorption of the latter which was dissolved, the former being
the legal continuator.

a) Accounting period
The consolidated balance sheets are as of December 31,
2004 and 2003.
b) Basis for preparation

c) Basis for presentation
For comparison purposes, the amounts in the consolidated
financial states and explanatory notes of the prior year have
been price-level restated in the percentage of variation of the
Consumer Price Index (CPI), which was 2.5% for 2004.
d) Basis for consolidation
These consolidated financial statements include balances of
all the subsidiaries where the Company owns more than 50%
of the paid-in capital.
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The subsidiaries that have been consolidated, and ENAP’s ownership in each, is as follows:

Percentage of ownership
2004
Tax ID number
87,913,400-5
87,756,500-9
87,770,100-k
Foreign
96,579,730-0
Foreign
Foreign
Foreign
Foreign
Foreign
Foreign
99,519,820-7

Name of the Company
Empresa Almacenadora de Combustible S.A.
Petrox S.A. Reﬁnería de Petróleo
Reﬁnería de Petróleo Concón S.A.
Petro Servicio Corp. S.A. (Argentina)
Sociedad Internacional Petrolera S.A. (Sipetrol S.A.)
Sipetrol Argentina S.A. (Subsidiary of Sipetrol S.A.)
Siperol Brasil Ltda. (Subsidiary de Sipetrol S.A.)
Sipetrol (UK) Limited (Subsidiary of Sipetrol S.A.)
Sipetrol USA Inc. (Subsidiary of Sipetrol S.A.)
Sipetrol Internacional S.A. (Uruguay) (Subsidiary)
Sociedad Internacional Petrolera ENAP EC
Energía Concon S.A.

Transactions, unrealized results and significant balances
between consolidated companies have been eliminated in
consolidation and minority investors have been recognized as
minority interest.

Direct
%
99.9600
99.9900
99.5000
0.5000
0.0000
0.0000
0.0000
0.0000
0.0000
0.1000
0.0000
17.5000

2003
Beneﬁcial
%
0.0000
0.0100
0.5000
99.5000
100.0000
100.0000
100.0000
100.0000
100.0000
99.9000
100.0000
82.5000

Total
%
99.9600
100.0000
100.0000
100.0000
100.0000
100.0000
100.0000
100.0000
100.0000
100.0000
100.0000
100.0000

Total
%
99.9600
100.0000
100.0000
100.0000
100.0000
100.0000
100.0000
100.0000
100.0000
0.0000
0.0000
17.5000

in the official Consumer Price Index (CPI), which amounted
to 2.5% for the year ended December 31, 2004 (1.0% in
2003).
f) Basis for translation

e) Price-level restatement
Non-monetary assets and liabilities, equity and income
statement accounts have been price-level restated in order
to reflect changes in the purchasing power of the currency.
These restatements have been calculated based on variations

2004
Ch$
557.40
463.19
1,073.37
5.41
760.13
187.65
0.24
169.81
17,317.05

US dollar
Canadian dollar
Pound sterling
Japanese yen
Euro
Argentine peso
Colombian peso
Peruvian new sol
UF (index-linked unit of account)
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accordance with the exchange rate determined by the Central
Bank of Chile and with the closing value of the indexed unit,
as follows:
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2003
Ch$
593.80
459.53
1,056.21
5.55
744.95
202.32
0.21
171.25
16,920.00

g) Time deposits
Time deposits reflect the principal invested plus accrued
interest and indexation.
h) Investments acquired under repurchase agreements
Investments acquired under repurchase agreements are valued
similarly to an investment in time deposits, and are shown as
Other current assets.
i) Allowance for doubtful accounts
Trade receivables are presented net of estimates for doubtful
accounts. These estimates were based on the aging of
accounts receivable overdue.
j) Inventories
Inventories of crude oil and finished products are valued
at their price-level restated acquisition or production cost.
The value of inventories does not exceed their net realizable
value. Sales prices of finished products and replacement
costs of crude oil have been considered for these purposes.
Inventories in warehouses are valued at their price-level
restated cost of acquisition, deducting allowances for
estimated obsolescence.
The obsolescence provision is established based on a
technical estimate of spare parts and other items that will
not be used in the Company’s future production activities.

Costs and investments for successful explorations are
transferred to oil fields and unsuccessful explorations are
charged to income.
Investments in oil fields are subject to permanent evaluations
of their future revenues. In those cases in which the estimated
future cash flows are lower than the investments made, their
value is adjusted to the estimated future cash flows.
l) Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method over the estimated useful
lives of the assets, except for oil fields, which depreciation
is calculated using the unit of production method, taking into
account the production for the year and estimated reserves
(proved-developed) of crude oil and gas, based on a technical
report prepared by the Company’s personnel. Depreciation of
marine oil and gas pipelines is calculated using the unit of
production method, taking into account probable reserves of
the area under exploitation, the production of the year and
reserves (proved-developed).
m) Leased assets
Assets under financial leases are recorded similarly to
acquisition of property, plant and equipment, recognizing
the entire debt and interest on an accrual basis. Valuation
and depreciation of these assets are calculated using general
standards applicable to property, plant and equipment. These
assets are not legally the property of the Company and,
therefore, cannot be freely disposed of until the purchase
options held by the Company are exercised.

k) Property, plant and equipment
n) Investments in related companies
Property, plant and equipment are shown at acquisition cost,
including price-level restatement.
Investments in oil fields for development and drilling are
presented as Construction and infrastructure.
Materials and parts that are planned to be added to property,
plant and equipment are presented as Other fixed assets
at their price-level restated cost, net of an allowance for
obsolescence.
Exploration investments consist of disbursements and
contributions used to cover the acquisition of assets and the
development of exploratory pits. These costs are maintained
as exploration investments until ENAP reaches a conclusion
regarding the presence of hydrocarbons that would allow for
recovery. Geological and geophysics costs are charged directly
to income.

Investments incorporated as from January 1, 2004 are valued
according to the equity value method. Those made before
that date are valued pursuant to the proportional equity value
method.
Investments in foreign companies have been valued according
to the standards set forth in Technical Bulletin No. 64 of
the Chilean Institute of Accountants. These standards and
procedures require investments abroad, in unstable countries
and that are not an extension of operations of the investor
company, to be accounted for in US dollars, converting the
financial statements of the foreign company to Chilean GAAP
and charging or crediting currency translation adjustments to
Other reserves included in equity.
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o) Investments in other companies
These investments are valued at the price-level restated cost
of acquisition.

Bonds issuance costs are capitalized, presented under
Other current assets and Other assets and amortized using
the straight-line method over the term of the respective
obligations. The respective charge to income is shown in
Financial expenses.

p) Goodwill and negative goodwill
u) Derivative contracts
Goodwill corresponds to the difference between the purchase
price and the equity value of investments at the date of
purchase. Positive balances are recognized as goodwill and
negative balances are recognized as negative goodwill. The
amortization period is determined based on the expected
period of return on the investment.
q) Deferred expenses
Fees for loans are deferred and amortized during the term of
the loans and are presented in other current and long-term
assets.
r) Income tax and deferred taxes
The Company provides for income tax on an accrual basis
according to the “Ley del Impuesto sobre la Renta” (the
“Income Tax Law”). These taxes are comprised of the First
Category tax and an additional tax pursuant to Regulation No.
2 of Decree Law No. 2,398.
Deferred taxes arising from differences between tax balance
sheet and financial balance sheet are recorded for all
temporary differences on the basis of the estimated tax rate at
the date of reversal, in conformity with Technical Bulletin 60
issued by the Chilean Institute of Accountants. The effects
of unrecorded deferred taxes at the implementation date are
recorded in income when the related temporary difference
reverse.

The Company has derivative contracts hedging forecasted
transactions and existing recognized assets and liabilities.
Hedge instruments of forecasted transactions, are recorded
at fair value and changes in such value are recorded as
unrealized gains and losses and included in Other assets and
Other liabilities. Upon contract expiration, unrealized gains
and losses are recognized as Other non-operating income or
expenses, as appropriate.
Hedge instruments of existing recognized assets or liabilities,
are recorded at fair value. Unrealized losses are recognized
as a charge to income and gains are deferred and included in
other liabilities (current or long-term) until realized.
v) Employee vacations
The cost of employee vacation is recognized on an accrual
basis.
w) Severance indemnities
The provision to cover employee severance indemnities contained in
current agreements and contracts is recorded under the shut-down
method.
x) Net sales

s) Notes payable

Net sales are recorded on an accrual basis. These sales
revenues are recognized when delivery has taken place and
title is transferred.

This item includes payment obligations confirmed to
suppliers of crude oil and other products, through financial
institutions.

y) Computer software

t) Bonds payable
Bonds payable are carried at par value which includes
principal and accrued interest up to the closing date of the
financial statements. The difference in the par value and the
proceeds received, the purchase discount, is deferred and
amortized using the straight-line method over the term of the
debt instruments and is presented as Other current assets and
Other long-term assets. The charge to income for amortization
is shown as Financial expenses in the Statement of income.
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The Company purchases software as computer package,
which are charged to income in the same purchase period.
The implementation cost, if significant, is capitalized and
amortized a 4-year period or less.
z) Statement of cash flows
The Company considers as cash and cash equivalents any cash
and short-term investments made as part of the Company’s
normal cash surplus management according to requirements
of Technical Bulletin No. 50 of the Chilean Institute of

Accountants. Such amounts include cash, time deposits,
marketable securities and repurchase and resale agreements
included in Other current assets.

flows is broader than that used in the consolidated statements
of income.

The concept Cash flows from operating activities includes
cash flows related to business activity, including interest paid,
financial income and cash flows that are not included in cash
flows from investing or financing activities. In addition, the
operating cash flow concept used in the statement of cash

NOTE 3 - ACCOUNTING CHANGES
There are no changes in the application of generally accepted
accounting principles in Chile in relation to the previous years
which could significantly affect the comparability of these
consolidated financial statements.

NOTE 4 - SHORT AND LONG-TERM ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
Short and long-term accounts receivables are as follows:

Item

Up to 90 days
2004

More than 90 days up to 1 year

2003

2004
ThCh$

2003

Subtotal

Total current (net)

2004

2004

ThCh$

ThCh$

ThCh$

2003

ThCh$

ThCh$
178,342,216

-

-

242,067,821

Allowance for doubtful accounts

-

-

-

-

954,166

-

-

-

Notes receivable

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Allowance for doubtful accounts
Sundry debtors

ThCh$

2003

242,067,821

Trade receivables

ThCh$

Long-term

2004

241,113,655 178,309,202

ThCh$
-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

15,373,324

16,246,087

5,650,173

6,640,233

21,023,497

20,931,690

22,271,648

15,947,558

-

-

-

-

91,807

-

-

Allowance for doubtful accounts
Total

-

13,577,599

-

-

15,947,558

13,577,599

Trade receivables are as follows:

2004
ThCh$
Local:
Distributors
Direct consumers
Foreign:
Foreign receivables
Total

2003
%

ThCh$

%

177,499,611
16,277,236

73.62
6.75

114,788,277
10,073,895

64.38
5.65

47,336,808
241,113,655

19.63
100.00

53,447,030
178,309,202

29.97
100.00
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NOTE 5 - BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED COMPANIES

Balances and principal transactions with related companies are as follows:
A) NOTES AND ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
Short-term

Long-term

2004

2003

2004

2003

Company
Petroquímica Dow S.A. (2)
Sociedad Nacional de Oleoductos S.A. (2)
Oleoducto Trasandino Chile S.A. (2)
Petroquim S. A. (2)
Electrogas S.A. (2)
Gas de Chile S.A. (6)

ThCh$

ThCh$
1,396,711
22,324
504,429
3,277,502
34,604
-

ThCh$

ThCh$

13,462
19,358
34,568
-

Norgas S.A. (2)
Innergy Holding S.A. (6)
Gasoducto del Pacíﬁco Argentina S.A. (1)
Cía Latinoamericana Petrolera S.A. (2)
Eteres y Alcoholes S.A. (2)
Geotérmica del Norte S.A. (2)
Productora de Diesel S.A. (4)
TOTAL

298,200
2,847,355
141,265
57,953
10
3,412,171

212,851
1,352,326
174,910
1,488,728
8,464,385

120,623

121,136

5,093,738
12
5,214,373

4,850,889
12
4,972,037

B) NOTES AND ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
Short-term
Company
Petroquímica Dow S.A. (1)
Oleoducto Trasandino Chile S.A. (1)
Sociedad Nacional de Oleoductos S.A. (1)
Cía. Latinoamericana Petrolera S.A. (2)
Cía. Latinoamericana Petrolera N°2 S.A. (2)
Petropower Energía Ltda. (1)
Petroquim S.A. (1)
Eteres y Alcoholes (3)
Innergy Holding S.A. (1)
Petrosul S.A. (3)
Total

Long-term

2004

2003

2004

2003

ThCh$

ThCh$
71,125
1,439,967
1,121,761
9,073,753
532,912
570,208
709,471
74,228
13,593,425

ThCh$

ThCh$

2,497,768
16,091,607
17,623,717
36,213,092

2,578,728
3,802,083
18,246,226
19,283,648
43,910,685

7,309,523
618,374
745,671
936,247
9,609,815

(1) Short-term receivables and payables correspond mainly to
trade operations that do not bear interest or readjustment.

in 2017 in the case of Eteres y Alcoholes S.A. and in 2019 in
the case of Petrosul S.A.

(2) Corresponds to “Repurchase agreements for foreign
currency” (US dollars) entered into between investees and
ENAP.

(4) Refers to a fund transfer that does not bear interest or
readjustment.

(3) Refers to debt on purchase of property, plant and equipment
through a finance leasing contract. The lease contract expires
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(5) Long-term receivables correspond to future capital
contributions in equity investee companies, with no maturity
dates.

C) TRANSACTIONS
2004

Company
Petroquim S.A.

Nature of
relationship
Investee

Type of
transaction

Sociedad Nacional de Oleoductos S.A.

Investee

Investee

-

-

6,428,627

-

-

-

32,295,730

1,335,232

-

-

965,474

133,482

Purchase of services

20,925,724

-

25,262,800

-

Purchase of products

-

-

1,817,131

-

Sale of products

-

-

16,920,021

2,463,963

14,708,973

-

11,763,701

-

43,023

1,162

43,154

25,535

Purchase of services
Oil pipeline transportation

Investee

Amount
ThCh$

Sale of products

Sale of services
Norgas S.A.

Amount
ThCh$

Effect on
income
(charge)/credit
ThCh$

Purchase of products
Sale of other services

Petroquímica Dow S.A.

2003

Effect on
income
(charge)/credit
ThCh$

11,082,926

-

16,833,057

-

Sale of products

5,518,136

204,171

3,474,017

165,867

8,394,459

-

17,584,514

-

525,548

-

-

-

1,435,610

-

1,486,719

-

319,355

-

2,283,996

-

1,631,424

-

1,865,799

-

Cía. Latinoamerica Petrolera S.A.

Investee

Oil pipeline transportation

Electrogas S.A.

Investee

Purchase of services

Petropower Energía Ltda.

Investee

Natural gas transportation service

Oleoducto Trasandino Chile S.A.

Investee

Maintenance service

Eteres y Alcoholes S.A.

Investee

Purchase of process services

Compañía Latinoamericana Petrolera N° 2

Investee

Purchase of process services
Purchase of services

395,206

-

-

-

7,298,976

-

9,899,361

-

NOTE 6 - INVENTORIES
Inventories are as follows:

Crude oil
Crude oil in transit
Finished products
Products in transit
Material in warehouse, net
Total

2004

2003

ThCh$

ThCh$

61,258,865
89,854,642
173,724,541
17,169,935
16,738,167
358,746,150

58,193,253
44,213,222
118,458,513
13,133,359
233,998,347
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NOTE 7 - DEFERRED TAXES AND INCOME TAX
a) Income tax
The liability (asset) for income tax is as follows:

Income tax provision (recoverable taxes)
Current December 31,
Long-term December 31,
2004
2003
2004
2003
ThCh$
ThCh$
ThCh$
ThCh$
Provision for income tax at December 31:
17% - Company tax (16.5% in 2003
Single tax
40% Decree Law N° 2398 on earnings of ENAP
40% Decree Law N° 2398 on earnings from investees (1)
40% Decree Law N° 2398 on earnings of subsidiaries (1)
Tax of subsidiaries abroad
Total charge for taxes of the year
Balance of income taxes payable-prior year
total
Less:
Estimated monthly payments of the year (2)
Credit for Austral Law and tax withholding, Decree Law N° 2398
Credit for training expenses
net balances payable (recoverable) at december 31

(1) Decree Law No. 2,398 establishes a tax rate of 40% for
dividends received by the Company from subsidiary corporations and direct investees. ENAP provides such tax based on
estimated earnings to be distributed. Shareholders’ Meetings
of the subsidiaries Enap Refinerías S.A. and Sipetrol S.A.
agreed not to distribute the 2003 earnings.
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25,453,827
250,917
24,857,262
2,858,356
19,682,007
73,102,369
73,102,369

30,916,129
345,024
15,899,010
1,788,274
10,678,360
12,460,553
72,087,350
28,327,400
100,414,750

27,596,110
27,596,110
46,246,997
73,843,107

47,403,172
47,403,172
47,403,172

(52,060,642)
(181,635)
(218,340)
20,641,752

(99,614,403)
(2,708,547)
(324,085)
(2,232,285)

73,843,107

47,403,172

(2) During 2004, ENAP prepaid voluntary income taxes
amounting to ThCh$ 12,000,000 (historic). In 2003, such
payments amounted to ThCh$ 80,000,000 (historic)
The long-term portion of income tax payable is forming part of
Long-term provisions.

b) Deferred taxes
Accumulated balances for deferred taxes are as follows:

2004
Items

Asset
Short Term
Long Term
ThCh$
ThCh$

Liability
Short Term
Long Term
ThCh$
ThCh$

2003
Asset
Liability
Short Term
Long Term Short Term Long Term
ThCh$
ThCh$
ThCh$
ThCh$

Temporary differences
Uncollectible account provision

128,672

116,066

-

-

202,575

5,612

-

-

Unearned income

1,283,046

-

-

-

1,242,107

-

-

-

Employee vacation provision

2,660,673

177,532

-

-

2,744,099

161,853

-

-

Amortization of intangibles

-

-

-

228,002

-

-

-

-

Leased assets

-

-

Manufacturing expenses

-

Severance indemnities
Other events
Unrealized proﬁts on sale of crude oil

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

751,836

-

-

-

-

-

-

181,150

-

709,632

-

-

-

-

-

35,816

-

2,887,513

32,800

1,480,008

515,491

-

-

-

4,277,733

-

-

318,408

4,565,645

-

-

349,085

4,277,733

-

-

789,662

4,565,645

-

-

-

10,308,356

-

-

-

11,118,563

-

564,367

349,085

Platform removal provision
Tax losses

43,752

329,168

Allowance for obsolescence
Derivatives contracts

713,130

1,629,652

987,444

-

-

318,408

-

-

-

Leasing agreements

-

-

-

-

-

7,117,130

-

370,112

Property, plant and equipment

-

5,020,554

-

-

-

-

-

200,120

Deferred expenses – bonds

-

-

-

-

1,233,038

2,578,250

-

3,291,456

Decrease in value – bonds

-

-

-

201,452

-

-

-

2,108,276

Deferred ﬁnancial expenses

-

-

-

-

1,410,121

-

-

2,016,370

Severance provision

3,462,437

Investment valuation provision

-

-

4,233,613

-

2,601,957

-

-

2,903,431

-

1,981,361

-

2,765,007

-

-

Balances complementary accounts

-

8,966,353

-

2,561,176

-

10,056,208

-

18,400

Valuation allowance

-

6,585,153

-

17,134

6,071,234

5,784,258

-

-

12,730,246

8,239,610

745,930

10,712,230

14,526,735

15,254,701

787,652

9,241,933

Net balance per balance sheet

(1) The balance of complementary accounts related to these items is amortized upon the reversal of the corresponding temporary
difference.
(2) In the case of leasing agreements the remaining term is 15 years.
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c) Income tax
The credit (charge) for income tax is as follows:
2004
Item

ThCh$

Current tax provision
Effect for assets or liabilities due to deferred taxes of the year.
Effect for amortization of complementary accounts of deferred tax assets and liabilities
Effect on assets or liabilities for deferred taxes due to changes in the valuation provision
Other charges or credits to the account
Total charge to income

(81,016,472)
(10,514,577)
1,086,285
(800,895)
(19,682,007)
(110,927,666)

2003
ThCh$
(107,029,969)
1,413,680
3,409,244
3,199,609
(12,460,553)
(111,467,989)

d) Effect of income tax and deferred tax on income
The effect of income tax and deferred tax on income, taking into account the First Category Tax rate established in the Income
Tax Law and the tax rate added to Regulation No. 2 of Decree Law No. 2,398, is as follows:

2004
ThCh$
Income before income and deferred taxes
Deferred tax, 17% (16.5% in 2003)
Income tax, 17% (16.5% in 2003)
Single tax - Art. 21
Foreign taxes
Income before income tax and deferred taxes pursuant to article No.2 of Decree Law No. 2,398
Deferred tax (40%)
Income tax (40%)
Income before minority interest and amortization of negative goodwill

176,069,788
(7,169,700)
(25,453,827)
(250,917)
(19,682,007)
123,513,337
(3,059,487)
(55,311,728)
65,142,122

2003
ThCh$
201,569,442
7,971,199
(30,916,129)
(345,023)
(12,460,553)
165,818,936
51,333
(75,768,816)
90,101,453

NOTE 8 – OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
The detail of this caption is as follows:

2004
ThCh$
Investments in agreements (1)
Costs of loans secured
Bond issuance costs
Decrease in value – bonds
Payments from investments – Argentina and Colombia
Others
Total

(1) Refers to resale agreements, which are detailed in Note 24.
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9,000,780
1,231,685
901,574
440,684
27,953
290,234
11,892,910

2003
ThCh$
24,603,267
930,919
653,828
420,832
340,296
386,501
27,335,643

NOTE 9 - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
The charge to income for depreciation of property, plant and equipment included in operating costs and administrative and
selling expenses is as follows:

Item
Operating costs
Administrative expenses
Total

2004

2003

ThCh$

ThCh$

100,642,510
1,823,318
102,465,828

86,663,471
2,212,976
88,876,447

Property, plant and equipment, along with the corresponding accumulated depreciation are as follows:

Gross
balance
ThCh$
Land
Construction and infrastructure
Machinery and equipment
Other property, plant and equipment
Total

9,222,767
2,453,653,949
50,513,309
98,313,824
2,611,703,849

2004
Accumulated
depreciation
ThCh$
(1,763,928,934)
(36,201,372)
(13,503,609)
(1,813,633,915)

Net
balance
ThCh$
9,222,767
689,725,015
14,311,937
84,810,215
798,069,934

Gross
balance
ThCh$
9,182,170
2,371,025,890
49,335,867
84,810,215
2,535,390,695

2003
Accumulated
depreciation
ThCh$
(1,657,742,621)
(35,536,627)
(10,775,037)
(1,704,054,285)

Net
balance
ThCh$
9,182,170
713,283,269
13,799,240
95,071,731
831,336,410

Construction and infrastructure are as follows:

2004
ThCh$
Oil ﬁelds (1)
Oil rigs
Exploration projects
Reﬁneries and fuel plants
Oil and gas pipelines
Maritime facilities and storage plants
Production facilities
Re-injection systems
Buildings, settlements and camps
Roads and aerodromes
Construction and drilling
Total
Less: Accumulated depreciation
Net value

1,033,577,855
402,816,457
5,437,598
622,612,346
173,924,220
46,166,162
9,990,335
26,869,916
31,116,022
1,979,077
99,163,961
2,453,653,949
(1,763,928,934)
689,725,015
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2003
ThCh$
1,000,975,674
415,319,186
8,138,915
540,633,845
162,357,590
48,187,259
9,390,667
25,536,195
30,753,725
1,979,077
127,753,757
2,371,025,890
(1,657,742,621)
713,283,269
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Other property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Furniture and ﬁxtures
Leased assets (1)
Material in warehouse (2)
Software
Other assets
Total
Less: Accumulated depreciation
Net value

2004

2003

ThCh$

ThCh$

1,804,989
52,886,609
37,394,586
6,224,537
3,103
98,313,824
(13,503,609)
84,810,215

2,336,040
53,032,364
44,835,812
4,367,332
1,275,220
105,846,768
(10,775,037)
95,071,731

(1) “Other property, plant and equipment” includes the

In 2004, the Company’s subsidiary Enap Refinerías S.A.

corporate offices purchased through a leasing agreement with

included ThCh$ 41,215,316 in Other property, plant and

a purchase option with Compañía de Seguros Vida Consorcio

equipment, relating to the DIPE and Sulphur plants under

Nacional de Seguros S.A., for a net amount of ThCh$

lease agreements. The liabilities incurred, net of non-accrued

8,922,626 (ThCh$ 9,177,339 in 2003). This agreement

interest, are included in current liabilities under Notes and

includes monthly payments and expires in August 2018.

accounts payable to related companies and in long - term
liabilities under Notes and accounts payable to related

Sipetrol S.A. entered into a rental contract on July 19, 1994

companies. The agreements are effective until 2017 for Eteres

with Compañía de Vida Santander S.A., currently Metlife Chile

y Alcoholes S.A. and until 2019 for Petrosul S.A.

Seguros de Vida S.A., for offices No. 401, No. 402 and No.
501, five warehouses and 27 parking places of the building

(2) The material in warehouse for property, plant and

located in Avenida Tajamar No. 183, Las Condes in Santiago,

equipment is shown net of an allowance for obsolescence of

Chile. The contract term is for 240 months ending July 11,

ThCh$ 8,043,989 (ThCh$ 8,503,371 in 2003).

2014.
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Norgas

Geotérmica del Norte S.A.

A&C Pipeline Holding

Gas de Chile S.A.

Gasoducto Cayman Ltd.

78.890.940-8

96.971.330-6

0-E

96.694.400-5

0-E

Total

Enercón

Eteres y Alcoholes S.A.

96.135.550-1

9.51.820-7

Compañía Latinoamericana Petrolera S.A.

96.668.110-1

Depósitos asfalticos S.A.

Inversiones Electrogas S.A.

96.889.570-2

96.807.740-6

Oleoducto Trasandino (Chile) S.A.

96.655.490-8

Petroquimica Dow S.A.

Petrosul S.A.

96.969.000-4

Compañía Latinoamericana Petrolera S.A.

Oleoducto Trasandino (Argentina) S.A.

0-E

9.293.000-5

Terminales Marítimas Patagónicas S.A.

0-E

96.656.810-0

Productora Diesel S.A.

99.548.320-3

Petroquim S.A.

Petropower Energía Ltda.

78.335.760-7

Innergy Holding S.A.

Sociedad Nacional de Oleoductos S.A.

81.095.400-0

78.021.560-7

Gasoducto Del Pacíﬁco (Argentina) S.A.

0-E

96.566.650-4

Gasoducto del Pacíﬁco (Chile) S.A.

96.726.225-8

Electrogas S.A.

Distribuidora Petrox S.A.

0-E

96.061.130-5

Company

Tax number

Chile

Chile

Chile

Chile

Cayman Islands

Chile

Chile

Chile

Chile

Chile

Chile

Chile

Chile

Chile

Argentina

Chile

Chile

Argentina

Chile

Argentina

Chile

Chile

Country
of origin

-

Pesos

Pesos

Pesos

Pesos

US$

Pesos

Pesos

Pesos

Pesos

Pesos

Pesos

Pesos

Pesos

Pesos

US$

US$

Pesos

US$

US$

US$

Pesos

US$

Currency of
investment

420,000

4,174

44,224

150

3,134,113

4,739

8,211,770

198,025

9,989,940

-

10,100,000

15,900,586

38,592,313

-

Number of
shares

0.00000

-

-

-

-

11,007,547

30

9,100

2,973,170

164,250

2,096,965,185

Investments in related companies are as follows:

NOTE 10 - INVESTMENTS IN RELATED COMPANIES

0.0000

15.00000

22.10000

18.20000

18.2000

0.0000

2003
%

35.00000

0.00000

0.00000

0.00000

0.00000

25.00000

0.00760

18.20000

50.00000

18.25000

49.00000

42.00000

41.74000

40.00000

15.00000

18.04000

47.39000

18.09000

-

25.00000

20.47000

40.00000

15.00000

25.00000

0.00760

0.00000

50.00000

18.25000

49.90000

42.00000

41.74000

40.00000

15.00000

18.04000

47.39000

18.09000

13.79000 13.790000

45.0000

15.0000

10.10000

18.20000

18.20000

56.52000

2004
%

Percentage
of ownership

-

-

-

-

-

(409,681)

16,843,302

21,153

41,291

424,451

1,402,355

2,487,808

3,720,195

6,167,567

18,282,045

15,551,198

6,456,405

19,582,019

33,285,698

11,384,961

38,105,623

71,254,528

46,108,135

79,736,243

30,843,729

2004
ThCh$

-

4,983

482,871

8,464,720

9,573,291

31,902,466

1,862,331

17,699,641

-

43,431

512,950

1,416,831

2,817,289

2,862,158

7,068,473

19,267,163

26,504,485

6,088,333

32,054,289

38,888,641

-

43,004,680

74,716,039

68,144,593

90,769,054

2003
ThCh$

Equity of companies

-

-

-

-

-

(6,050,679)

5,288,300

-

(1,421)

-

(14,476)

69,145

858,038

(488,433)

5,156,369

(9,412,363)

368,072

(8,442,380)

2,516,104

(89,135)

4,897,716

12,934,391

5,295,196

5,875,422

1,039,561

2004
ThCh$

-

46,775

10,463

919,385

(177,223)

7,068,447

(8,504,673)

6,115,066

-

(4,901)

23,737

(716,557)

1,088,217

702,597

(869,799)

6,003,335

8,419,567

2,240,495

6,613,537

4,455,281

-

5,081,702

13,155,207

3,737,573

5,742,566

2003
ThCh$

Income of year

11,384,961

30,843,729

2004
ThCh$

-

-

2003
ThCh$

Equity of companies
at fair value

(89,135)

1,039,561

2004
ThCh$

-

-

2003
ThCh$

Income of year
at fair value

709,395

-

1,602

440,855

(104,264)

588,572

(1,512,670)

402

-

(711)

-

(7,224)

281,041

358,145

(195,374)

773,455

(1,697,990)

174,428

(1,527,227)

346,971

(40,111)

734,658

2,449,531

963,726

1,069,327

-

(16,372)

2,616

188,198

(70,889)

1,060,267

(2,126,169)

464

-

(2,451)

4,332

(357,562)

457,052

293,264

(347,920)

900,500

1,518,890

1,061,771

1,196,389

614,383

-

762,256

2,907,301

680,238

1,045,148

2003
ThCh$

Accrued income
2004
ThCh$

86,207,414

-

-

-

-

-

1

1,280

3,850

20,646

77,462

699,775

1,044,879

1,552,810

2,467,026

2,742,307

2,805,436

3,059,690

3,542,387

4,590,098

5,123,232

5,715,844

7,196,707

8,391,681

14,511,996

2003
ThCh$

-

90,567,786

1,745

120,718

1,732,728

3,829,316

4,785,370

465,583

1,345

-

21,713

93,613

706,999

1,183,262

1,194,664

2,827,389

2,890,075

4,781,409

2,885,261

5,798,621

5,362,744

-

6,450,702

16,512,245

12,402,316

16,519,968

Equity value

22,660,307

2004
ThCh$

86,207,414

-

-

-

-

-

1

1,280

3,850

20,646

77,462

699,775

1,044,879

1,552,810

2,467,026

2,742,307

2,805,436

3,059,690

3,542,387

4,590,098

5,123,232

5,715,844

7,196,707

8,391,681

14,511,996

2003
ThCh$

-

90,567,786

1,745

120,718

1,732,728

3,829,316

4,785,370

465,583

1,345

-

21,713

93,613

706,999

1,183,262

1,194,664

2,827,389

2,890,075

4,781,409

2,885,261

5,798,621

5,362,744

-

6,450,702

16,512,245

12,402,316

16,519,968

Book value

22,660,307

2004
ThCh$
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(1) In may 2004, the total shares in the company Petroquím
S.A. was sold, resulting in a net income of ThCh$ 18,668,
which is shown in Other non-operating income.
(2) In July 2004, the total shares in the companies Depósitos
Asfálticos S.A. (DASA) and Petroquímica Dow S.A. was
sold, resulting in net income of ThCh$ 9,682 and ThCh$
1,037,417, respectively, which are presented in Other nonoperating income.
(3) On August 16, 2004, the subsidiary Enap Refinerías
S.A. acquired, through its subsidiary Inversiones y Proyectos
Humboltd S.A., in turn a subsidiary of Manu Perú S.A., 56.52%
of the Peruvian company Distribuidora Petrox S.A. (DIPESA,
a company incorporated in Peru, which corresponds to the
merger between Shell Perú and Romero Trading Combustibles
S.A.). The acquisition cost was ThUS$ 39,381.
The Superintendency of Securities and Insurance has
authorized ENAP and Enap Refinerías S.A., through ordinary
Official letter N° 09332 dated October 21, 2004, not to
consolidated the financial statements of Distribuidora Petrox
S.A. on a line-by-line basis. The Company’s reasons argued
before the S.V.S. are basically based on the fact that the
control of that company does not exist, as defined in Technical
Bulletyn N° 72 of the Chilean Institute of Accountants.
At December 31, Enap Refinerías S.A. presents the investment
in DIPESA in a single line in Investments in related companies.
In turn, such investment has been valued considering the
value paid plus the proportional recognition on income for the
period.
The valuation referred to above was adopted taking into
consideration that, at December 31, 2004, the management
of Enap Refinerías S.A. is in process of evaluation, analysis

and study of the determination of the assets acquired, at their
fair value, under the methodology and term established in
Technical Bulletin N° 72 of the Chilean Institute of Accountants
and Circular 1,697 of the S.V.S.
Following there is a summarized Balance Sheet of the company
Distribuidora Petrox S.A., at December 31, 2004:
2004
ThCh$
Current assets
Current liabilities
Working capital
Net ﬁxed assets
Long-term liabilities
Net equity

45,146
(45,846)
(700)
58,310
(2,276)
55,334

(4) In November 2004, 12% ownership in SONACOL S.A.
was sold, resulting in a net income of ThCh$ 2,024,034, which is presented under Other non-operating income.
(5) In October 2004, Enap Refinerías S.A. purchased the shares in Energía Concón S.A. (Enercon) from the shareholders
Foster Wheeler Power Systems, Inc., Encan Pipelines (Chile)
S.A. and Ferrostaal A.A. Agencia Chile. Accordingly, ENAP
owns 17.5% of the shares and 82.5% corresponds to Enap
Refinerías S.A., which are included in its consolidated financial statements.
As agreed in the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of Compañía Latinoamericana Petrolera S.A. dated December 30,
2004, Compañía Petrolera Número Dos S.A. was dissolved
through the purchase of 6,166,980 shares by CLAPSA from
ENAP, COPEC S.A. and SIPETROL S.A. The operation resulted in a net income of ThCh$ 2,360, shown in Other nonoperating income.

NOTE 11 - GOODWILL
The detail of goodwill is as follows:
2004
Amount amortized
in the year

Terminales Marítimas Patagónicas S.A.
Eteres y Alcoholes S.A. (1)
Total
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Amount amortized
in the year

Balance
goodwill

ThCh$

ThCh$

ThCh$

ThCh$

165,591
165,591

263,914
263,914

190,491
105,521
296,012

452,851
452,851

(1) During 2003, RPC S.A. fully amortized the goodwill balance related to ETALSA.
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2003
Balance
goodwill

NOTE 12 - OTHER ASSETS
Other assets are as follows:

Bank ﬁnancing expenses
Expenses in bond issuance and discount in placement
Time deposit (1)
Unamortized taxes (Colombia) (2)
Slow moving materials (3)
Rights on swap operations
Others
Totals

2004

2003

ThCh$

ThCh$

3,261,606
9,561,205
1,016,906
1,309,673
1,223,088
13,727,004
22,296
30,121,778

(1) Corresponds to deposit with Banco Security at an annual
interest rate of 1.2125%, intended for capital contributions in
an investee for petrochemical projects.
(2) Based on the rules enacted under the Vallejo Plan which
regulates the Special System of Import – Export. This plan
fosters the exemptions of tariff levies and the deferral of VAT
payments for imports. In addition, it authorizes a subrogation
of this benefit, whereby the rights and obligations derived from
this program are transferred to a third party.
Sipetrol S.A. makes use of this benefit, as it receives these

2,606,572
8,398,554
6,695,095
1,373,603
1,747,503
4,474,918
471,744
25,767,989

rights from GHK Company in the cession contract of 57.7%
of block, Dindal-Río Seco, obliging the Company to justify
the exports produced in the block, having until July 2007 to
export production. Under such plan, the branch of Sipetrol
S.A. in Colombia has in its long-term assets and liabilities
at December 2004 an amount of ThUS$ 2.350, equivalent
to ThCh$ 1,309,673 (ThUS$ 2,257 equivalent to ThCh$
1,373,603 in 2003)
(3) Slow moving materials are shown net of an allowance
for obsolescence of ThCh$ 5,830,554 in 2004 (ThCh$
4,777,258 in 2003).

NOTE 13 - OBLIGATIONS WITH BANKS AND FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS - SHORT-TERM
Short-term obligations with bank and financial institutions are as follows:

Type of currency or readjustment index

Bank or Financial Institution
Long-term - current portion:
J.P. Morgan Chase Bank (1)
J.P. Morgan Chase Bank (4)
J.P. Morgan Chase Bank (4)
Bank of America Trust (2)
Banco Santander New York
Banque National de Paris
Citibank N.A. (3)
J.P. Morgan Chase Bank AG
Total
Principal outstanding
Annual average interest rate (%)
Obligations in foreign currency
Obligations in local currency

US Dollars
2004
2003
ThCh$
ThCh$
608,030
405,354
495,365
1,223,888
39,789,267
14,830,368
57,352,272
55,860,781
1.87
%
100
-

4,132,868
510,915
388,200
1,081,005
1,338,112
23,648,164
19,848,379
50,947,643
49,852,149
1.83

Euro

2004
ThCh$

2003
ThCh$

- 351,204
- 351,204
- 343,315
3,19

2003
ThCh$

Other
foreign currency
2004
2003
ThCh$ ThCh$

- 23,524
- 23,524
- 23,357
0.94

- 19,766
- 19,766
19,469
2.84

Yen

2004
ThCh$
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2004
ThCh$
608,030
405,354
495,365
1,223,888
39,789,267
14,830,368
57,352,272
55,860,781

Total

2003
ThCh$

4,132,868
510,915
782,694
1,081,005
1,338,112
23,648,164
19,848,379
51,342,137
50,238,290
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NOTE 14 - OBLIGATIONS WITH BANKS AND FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS – LONG-TERM
Long-term obligations with bank and financial institutions are as follows:

Years to Maturity

Bank or ﬁnancial institution
Bank of America National Trust (2)

J.P. Morgan Chase Bank (4)
Citibank Syndicated (3)
Banco Santander New York Branch
Banque Nationale de Paris
J.P. Morgan Chase Bank (5)
Totals
Obligations in foreign currency
Obligations in local currency

Currency or
readjustment
index

More than
1 to 2
ThCh$

More than
2 to 3
ThCh$

More than
3 to 5
ThCh$

Total
long-term
ThCh$

US dollars
Euro
Yen
Other currencies
US dollars
US dollars
US dollars
US dollars
US dollars

16,722,000
12,541,500
29,263,500

33,444,000
12,541,500
45,985,500

89,184,000
11,705,400
100,889,400

139,350,000
36,788,400
176,138,400

(2) Bank of America National Trust:
The Company entered into a loan originally guaranteed by the
Government of Chile in 1984, granted by a bank syndicate
for which Bank of America National Trust acted as agent. On
August 16, 2004 this loan was fully paid.
(3) Citibank N.A.:
In 1998, the Company obtained a loan for US$ 90,000,000,
granted by a bank syndicate for which Citibank N.A. acted as
agent. The loan has annual maturities from 2000 to 2005.
On January 25, 2002, the Company entered into a loan agreement of US$ 170,000,000 with a group of five banks in which Citibank N.A. acted as administrative agent. The loan matures in 5 years, with principal payments starting in January
2004, with semi-annual amortization and interest payment.
On December 18, 2002, a prepayment of US$ 94,000,000
was made on this loan. On January 25, 2005 this loan was
fully paid.
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2003
Average
annual
interest
rate
%
2.03
1.85

Total
long-term
ThCh$
382,338
343,315
23,358
19,468
4,107,041
134,297,122
538,967
1,327,953
56,299,662
197,339,224

%
100
-

(1) J.P. Morgan Chase Bank:
The Company entered into two loans originally guaranteed by
the Government of Chile in 1987 and 1991, granted by a bank
syndicate for which J.P. Morgan acted as agent. During the
months of May and September 2004, such obligations were
fully prepaid.
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(4) J. P. Morgan Chase Bank:
In August 2003, the Company obtained a loan of US$
150,000,000 granted by a syndicate of banks in which Citibank N.A. acted as agent. The loan matures within five years,
with principal payments starting on September 4, 2006, and
with semi-annual amortization and interest. This syndicated
loan was led by Citibank in 2003 and suffered the following
changes in 2004:
- The administrative agent was changed from Citibank to J.P
Morgan Chase.
- The spread on Libor was reduced from 0.5% to 0.2%.
In September 2004, the Company obtained a new loan of
US$ 100.000.000, with J.P. Morgan Chase Bank acting as
agent. The loan has a single payment in September 2009 and
accrues interest at Libo + 0.2% in the first 4 years, and of
0.225% in the fifth year.
(5) J.P. Morgan Chase Bank (Agency):
On December 18, 2003, Sipetrol Argentina S.A. obtained
a syndicated loan of US$ 125,000,000, maturing within 5
years, with monthly payments of principal and interest. It was
guaranteed by the exports of oil and gas from the Southern
Basin, and with a contingent guarantee from ENAP. Such loan
was syndicated by JP Morgan Chase Bank and 10 foreign
banks participated. The interest rate is Libor plus 0.75% annual spread.

NOTE 15 - BONDS PAYABLE
Bonds payable are as follows:

Instrument

Series

Nominal amount
Placed Outstanding

Indexation
Unit

Par Value
December 31,

Interest
Rate

Final
Maturity

Interest
Payment

Principal
Repayment

2004

2003

Local or
Foreign
Placement

Current maturities of long-term bonds
N° 303

A-1

1,000,000

UF

4.25

10-01-2012

Semi-annual

upon mat.

182,079

182,352

N° 303

A-2

2,250,000

UF

4.25

10-01-2012

Semi-annual

upon mat.

409,678

410,291

Local

1,363,888

1,489,279

Foreign
Foreign

Rule 144 A bonds

SINGLE

290,000,000

US$

6.75

11-15-2012

Semi-annual

upon mat.

Rule 144 A bonds

SINGLE

150,000,000

US$

4.875

15-03-2014

Semi-annual

upon mat.

Total short term

1,188,830

-

3,144,475

2,081,922

Local

Long - term bonds
N° 303

A-1

1,000,000

UF

4.25

10-01-2012

Semi-annual

upon mat.

17,317,050

17,343,000

N° 303

A-2

2,250,000

UF

4.25

10-01-2012

Semi-annual

upon mat.

38,963,363

39,021,750

Local

161,646,000 176,507,050

Foreign

Rule 144 A bonds

SINGLE

290,000,000

US$

6.75

11-15-2012

Semi-annual

upon mat.

Rule 144 A bonds

SINGLE

150,000,000

US$

4.875

15-03-2014

Semi-annual

upon mat.

Total long term

a) ENAP I-2002 Series A Sub-series A-1 and A-2 bonds
On October 4, 2002, the Company registered the issuance
of UF indexed bonds with the Securities Register of the
Superintendency of Securities and Insurance under N° 303,
which were placed in the local market on October 22, 2002.
Such placement was carried out in two sub-series A-1 and A2, with the following characteristics:
The bond placement in the local market was in the amount of
UF 3,250,000. The maturity period is ten years, with semiannual interest payments, and interest rate of 4.25% annually;
principal is paid at maturity.

83,610,000

-

Local

Foreign

301,536,413 232,871,800

On March 16, 2004, the Company issued and placed Rule
144A bonds in the US market, at a 4.875% annual interest
rate, in the amount of US$ 150 million.
The maturity is ten years in both placements. The interest
payments are semi-annual and principal is paid at maturity.
c) Discount and bond issue costs
Discounts in the bond placement have been deferred in the
same periods of the respective issuance. The balance is
presented as Other assets, short and long - term, included
with bond issue costs.

b) International private placement
On November 5, 2002, the Company issued and placed Rule
144A bonds in the US market, at a 6.75% annual interest
rate, in the amount of US$ 290 million.
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NOTE 16 - ACCRUALS AND WRITE-OFFS
Accruals are as follows:
2004
ThCh$
Short-term
Vacations
Compensation and personnel beneﬁts
Severance indemnities
Fund for severance plan
Ship repairs
Others
Total
Long term
Severance indemnities
Fund for severance plan
Income tax
Removal of platforms and standardizing of wells and ﬁelds (1)
Investment valuation
Other
Total

(1) Accrual to cover the estimated costs in which the Company
must incur for the removal of rigs on the Magellan Strait, and
standardizing of wells on land.
Write-offs – During 2004, there were write-offs in Sipetrol
amounting to ThCh$ 9,569,263 (ThCh$ 3,860,038 in 2003),
which correspond to assets related to oil fields. In Enap

2003
ThCh$

9,043,164
6,861,848
4,730,346
8,176,987
61,400
1,814,572
30,688,317

8,674,710
6,510,191
908,543
10,651,288
92,250
2,186,747
29,023,729

65,967,692
73,843,107
19,963,763
5,093,738
671,179
165,539,479

66,209,829
4,564,838
47,403,172
19,506,252
4,850,889
1,152,323
143,687,303

Refinerías S.A. write-off amounted to ThCh$ 285,391 and
ThCh$ 201,694 in 2003 classified as Other non-operating
expenses, and ThCh$ 1,312,474 classified as Operating cost.
In Enap, write-offs of ThCh$ 4,754,220 (ThCh$ 914,458
in 2003) were recorded, which basically correspond to
prospecting write-offs.

NOTE 17 - SEVERANCE INDEMNITIES
The change in this accrual, which covers severance indemnities, is summarized as follows:

Opening balance
Increase of accrual
Payments of the year
Price-level restatement
Total

2004
ThCh$

2003
ThCh$

65,481,339
6,347,264
(1,551,153)
420,588
70,698,038

61,557,695
7,517,032
(3,921,469)
1,965,114
67,118,372

NOTE 18 - MINORITY INTEREST
The minority interest corresponds to ownership of minority shareholders in the Enap Refinerías S.A.:
2004

Enap Reﬁnerías S.A.
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Equity of
subsidiary
ThCh$
418.452.463
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Minority
ownership
%
ThCh$
0,04 167.381

2003
Effect on
income
(charge)/credit
ThCh$
27.606

Equity of
subsidiary
ThCh$
349.656.892

Effect on
Minority
income
ownership
(charge)/credit
%
ThCh$
ThCh$
0,04
140.252
46.529

NOTE 19 - EQUITY
a) Changes in equity
Between January 1 and December 31, 2004 and 2003:

2003
Opening balance
Distribution previous year’s income
Final dividend
Adjustment for conversion of investments abroad
Price-level restatement
Net income
Interim dividends
Balance at December 31, 2003
Balance at December 31, 2003 price- level restated at December 31, 2004
2004
Opening balance
Distribution previous year’s income
Final dividend
Adjustment for conversion of investments abroad
Price-level restatement
Net income
Interim dividends
Balance at December 31, 2004

Retained
earnings
ThCh$

Transfer of earnings
to government
ThCh$

Net
income
ThCh$

Paid-in capital
ThCh$

Other reserves
ThCh$

405,490,639
-

27,102,918
8,547,633
-

(50,315,253)
50,315,253
-

58,862,886
(58,862,886)

-

24,912,410
(8,542,000)
(42,910,387)

4,054,906
409,545,545
419,784,184

249,124
(17,748,853)
(18,192,575)

373,590
(86,949,000)
27,482,141
28,169,195

172,440
(86,776,560)
(88,945,974)

87,858,462
87,858,462
90,054,924

409,545,545
10,238,639
419,784,184

(17,748,853)
(19,135,917)
(443,722)
(37,328,492)

27,482,141
1,081,902
(1,081,000)
695,725
28,178,768

(86,776,560)
86,776,560
(513,120)
(52,624,000)
(53,137,120)

87,858,462
(87,858,462
65,114,516
65,114,516

-

(1) The Government of Chile, through the Ministry of Finance, stipulated in Decree Law No. 410 of May 6, 2004, the transfer of
2003 earnings of ThCh$ 1,081,000 (historical value) to the Government’s general revenue. In addition, the decree scheduled
advance payment of 2004 earnings of ThCh$ 52,624,000, according to the requirements of Article 29 of Decree Law No.
1263/75.

b) Other reserves
Other reserves are as follows:

2004
Accumulated adjustment for differences in conversion of foreign subsidiaries
Other reserves
Total

2003

ThCh$

ThCh$

(42,378,310)

(23,242,393)

5,049,818

5,049,818

(37,328,492)

(18,192,575)
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This item primarily consists of the reserve for translation adjustments of foreign subsidiaries as a result of changes in the foreign
investment and from the valuation of the respective liabilities determined as a hedge. Movement in each year is as follows:

Balances at
2004
Sipetrol S.A.
Other related companies
Total

Net changes of the year
Investment

Balances at‘

Liability

2004

2003

ThCh$

ThCh$

ThCh$

ThCh$

ThCh$

(24,759,414)

(17,297,294)

1,552,347

(40,504,361)

(24,759,414)

1,517,021

(3,390,970)

-

(1,873,949)

1,517,021

(23,242,939)

(20,688,264)

1,552,347

(42,378,310)

(23,242,393)

Other reserves

Balances at

Balances at

01/01/2004

Net changes of the year

2004

2003

ThCh$

ThCh$

ThCh$

ThCh$

Technical Appraisal of Fixed assets of associate SOCANOL S.A.

5,049,818

-

5,049,818

5,049,818

Total

5,049,818

-

5,049,818

5,049,818

NOTE 20 - OTHER NON-OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSES
Other non-operating income and other non-operating expenses are as follows:

2004
ThCh$
Other non-operating income:
Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment
Income for sundry services
Interest for housing loans
Recovery of insurance claims
Recovery of exchange difference, VAT recoverable Sipetrol Argentina S.A.
Proﬁt on sale of shares (1)
Adjustment of fund for severance plan
Other income
Total
Other non operating expenses:
Provision for investment valuation
Provision for material impairment in Argentina
Investment adjustment
Write-offs and write-downs of property, plant and equipment and materials
Severance plan fund
Other expenses
Total

(1) Profits on sales of assets in shown net of expenses incurred in the sales processes.
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2003
ThCh$

871,668
3,046,018
434,344
65,521
2,970,756
2,810,735
5,451,441
1,421,230
17,071,713

2,512,176
2,750,058
416,467
197,568
667,089
6,543,358

(361,163)
(325,337)
(953,130)
(461,669)
(1,871,942)
(3,973,241)

(5,557,888)
(976,159)
(1,116,152)
(16,272,156)
(792,298)
(24,714,653)

NOTE 21 - PRICE-LEVEL RESTATEMENT
Price-level restatement credited (charged) to income is as follows:

Indexation unit

2004
ThCh$

2003
ThCh$

Inventories

CPI

(10,820,709)

(1,472,759)

Fixed assets

CPI

14,465,261

4,406,902

Investments in related companies

CPI

1,329,952

1,331,761

Notes and account receivables

CPI

52,763

215,330

Other current assets

CPI

672,393

655,331

Investments in other companies

CPI

1,178,211

405,549

Notes and account receivables from related companies – long term

CPI

124,579

43,312

Other non-monetary assets

CPI

-

-

Costs and expenses accounts

CPI

34,536,294

1,080,094

41,538,744

6,665,520

Asset (charges) / credits:

Total (charges) credits
Liability (charges) / credits:
Equity

CPI

(9,977,522)

(4,971,312)

Short term liabilities with banks and ﬁnancial institutions

CPI

(493,851)

382,013

Notes payables short – term

CPI

(1,115,765)

(40,429)

Bonds short-term

UF

(10,715)

155,534

Notes and accounts payables to related companies – short - term

CPI

(195,850)

200,628

Other current liabilites

UF

6,467

(74,848)

Other current liabilities

CPI

(36,605)

(20,985)

Long-term liabilities with banks and ﬁnancial institution

CPI

(3,085,603)

(299,428)

Bonds long - term

UF

(8,443,118)

(2,631,595)

Other long – term liabilities

UF

(165,777)

(92,581)

Other long – term liabilites

CPI

9,333

(124,165)

Minority interest

CPI

90,397

115,187

Severance indemnities

CPI

(442,596)

(1,961,174)

Notes and accounts payables to related companies – long term

CPI

-

(334,551)

Notes payables long – term

CPI

(4,603)

(5,163)

Non monetary liabilities

CPI

-

-

Income accounts

CPI

(35,401,906)

(2,596,094)

Total (charges) credits

(59,267,714)

(12,529,337)

Loss from price-level restatement

(17,728,970)

(5,863,817)
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NOTE 22 - EXCHANGE DIFFERENCES

Currency

2004
ThCh$

2003
ThCh$

Assets (charges)/credits:
Cash

US$

(680,593)

(7,426,366)

Time deposits

US$

(3,085,436)

(6,794,543)

Marketable securities

US$

-

(1,357,157)

Receivables

US$

(4,589,350)

(7,127,212)

Notes and accounts receivable from related companies – short-term

US$

(383,158)

(182,180)

Other current assets

US$

1,888,670

1,062,376

Notes and accounts receivable from related companies – long-term

US$

(614,916)

(1,355)

Long-term receivables

US$

(12,986)

(644,021)

Other long-term assets

US$

(3,827,581)

758,781

Total (charges) credits

US$

(11,305,350)

(21,711,677)

Banks - short-term

US$

(8,800,266)

35,467,269

Accounts payable – short-term

US$

24,719,479

22,935,220

Notes payable – short-term

US$

22,891,595

7,572,429

Notes and accounts payable to related companies – short-term

US$

151,371

1,142,007

Bonds – short-term

US$

11,123

766,976

Other current liabilities

US$

820,059

(541,648)

Banks – long-term

US$

15,612,253

26,143,956

Notes payable – long-term

US$

155,178

(819,064)

Bonds – long-term

US$

24,655,570

38,792,916

Notes and accounts payable to related companies –long-term

US$

3,318,838

3,930,629

Other long-term liabilities

US$

4,785,181

3,292,080

Total credits (charges)

US$

Liabilities (charges)/credits:

Net gain (loss) due to exchange difference
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88,320,381

138,682,770

77,015,031

116,971,093

NOTE 23 - DEBT ISSUE COSTS

Short – term

Disbursement on bond issue – local (1)
Increase in discount rate on bond placement – local
Disbursement on bond issue – foreign (1)
Increase in discount rate on bond placement – foreign
Total

Long – term

2004
ThCh$

2003
ThCh$

2004
ThCh$

2003
ThCh$

118,759
288,289
782,815
152,395
1,342,258

118,759
289,335
535,069
131,497
1,074,660

801,623
1,950,095
5,724,194
1,085,293
9,561,205

920,381
2,242,353
4,200,276
1,035,544
8,398,554

(1)These amounts include ThCh$ 4,102,459 (ThCh$ 3,869,294 in 2003) corresponding to stamp tax.

NOTE 24 - STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
a) Cash and cash equivalents are as follows:

2004
ThCh$
43,843,047
2,876,741
9,000,780
55,720,568

Cash
Time deposits
Other current assets (1)
Total

2003
ThCh$
28,855,867
23,912,132
24,808,398
77,576,397

(1) Corresponds to investments acquired under repurchase agreements with the following banks:
Date

Currency

Beginning

End

29/12/2005
30/12/2004

05/01/2005
06/01/2005

Origin

Financial Institution
Banco Chile
ABN Amro Bank
Total

NOTE 25 - DERIVATIVE CONTRACTS
Since October 2002, the Company maintains a 10-year
maturity Cross Currency Swap UF/USD with a notional amount
of US$ 66.5 million dollars. This contract hedges 91% of the
UF denominated bonds issued in Chile.
Due to the valuation of this instrument at market value, at
December 31, 2003 the Financial expenses account includes
a charge of ThCh$ 990,118 and at December 31, 2004 its
valuation has no effect on income as the market value is
positive.

$
$

Book value
Value
ThCh$

Rate
%

Amount
ThCh$

5,000,000
4,000,000
9,000,000

0.19
0.11

5,000,633
4,000,147
9,000,780

During May 2004, the Company completed the risk hedging
for the local-market Bond in UF, signing a UF / USD Swap
contract with maturity in 2012 in an amount equivalent to
US$ 7.7 million.
At December 31, 2004, the valuation of this instruments at
market value has no effect on income, as it market value is
positive.
In order to cover interest rate risks of certain bank loans, the
Company entered into interest rate swap agreements in June
and September 2003, and December 2004.
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CCPE

CCPE

CCTE

CCTE

CCTE

CCTE

CCTE

CCTE

CCTE

CCTE

CCTE

CCTE

Cross
Currency

Cross
Currency

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

Value of
Type of
Type of
derivative contract

GRUPO DE EMPRESAS ENAP

40,103,343

8,767,474

25,081,303

33,554,000

33,554,000

33,554,000

23,478,545

25,826,400

14,348,000

14,348,000

4,950,903

48,877,500

contract
ThCh$

4th quarter 2007

4th quarter 2007

3rd quarter 2007

3rd quarter 2008

3rd quarter 2008

3rd quarter 2008

3rd quarter 2005

1st quarter 2007

1st quarter 2007

1st quarter 2007

4th quarter 2012

4th quarter 2012

Maturity

Derivative contracts are as follows:

WTI

WTI

Interest rate

Interest rate

Interest rate

Interest rate

Interest rate

Interest rate

Interest rate

Interest rate

Exchange and
interest rate

Exchange and
interest rate

Speciﬁc
item

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

C

C

Position
purchase/sale

Description

Production

Production

Bank obligations

Bank obligations

Bank obligations

Bank obligations

Bank obligations

Bank obligations

Bank obligations

Bank obligations

Bonds

Bonds

Name

Transaction hedged

32,270,846

8,182,213

24,207,085

27,870,000

27,870,000

27,870,000

9,121,091

14,333,143

7,962,857

7,962,857

5,075,346

51,205,066

Amount
ThCh$

-

-

24,207,085

27,870,000

27,870,000

27,870,000

9,121,091

14,333,143

7,962,857

7,962,857

5,075,346

51,205,066

Value of hedged
transaction
ThCh$

Other long-term liabilities

Other long-term liabilities

Other current liabilities/
other long-term liabilities

Other current liabilities/
other long-term liabilities

Other current liabilities/
other long-term liabilities

Other current liabilities/
other long-term liabilities

Other current liabilities/
other long-term liabilities

Other current liabilities/
other long-term liabilities

Other current liabilities/
other long-term liabilities

Other current liabilities/
other long-term liabilities

Other long-term liabilities/
other long-term liabilities

Other current liabilities/
other long-term liabilities

Name

Amount
ThCh$

511,097

299,676

4,198

107,062

110,634

108,848

52,267

243,288

135,785

136,620

590,711

-

-

-

(126,088)

(125,642)

(125,865)

23,956

22,331

12,669

13,018

(5,732)

(18,540)

511,097

(299,676)

(4,198)

(19,026)

(15,008)

(17,017)

76,223

265,619

148,454

149,638

596,503

11,429,423

Effect on income
Realized
Unrealized
ThCh$
ThCh$

Accounts affected

11,410,883

Assets/liabilities
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NOTE 26 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
a) Legal actions
Currently, there are certain claims against the Company
amounting to a total of ThCh$ 950,000. No provision has
been established for these actions as management expects a
favorable outcome.
In addition, the Company is a plaintiff in a trial seeking
compliance with a contract related to the sale of assets of Petro
Servicio Corp S.A. to Missano Inc. At December 31, 2004,
the balance receivable for this item is ThCh$ 557,400 (US$
1,000,000). No provision has been made for this action, as
management expects a favorable outcome. On August 6, 2002
the Company was notified of a final appealable judgement
in favor of the Company. Such judgment was appealed by
Missano Inc. before the Court of Appeals of Santiago.
Legal actions are in place with regards to the establishment and
exercise of certain easements for the Concon - Maipú pipeline,

the operation of which corresponds to the Sociedad Nacional
de Oleoductos. The Company, either acting as complainant
or defendant would not be affected, as in accordance with
the agreements entered into with Sociedad Nacional de
Oleoductos, the latter is responsible for making any payments
resulting from such actions. Legal actions are also pending
for the same issue in the region of Magallanes. No provisions
have been established for this item as management thinks
negative decisions are unlikely.
The subsidiary Enap Refinerías S.A. is the defendant in a
number of legal actions which, in the management’s opinion,
by no means represent a contingency of significant losses.
The subsidiary Sipetrol S.A. has no legal or other actions
that might significantly affect these consolidated financial
statements.
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Cover works committed during the
exploration period of Block East Ras
Qattara (ThUS$ 2,353.5)

Citibank N.A. - Egypt

-

Description
Type of guarantee
Guarantee for compliance with
obligations under service contract
for exploration and exploitation of
Block Mehr in Iran, for ThUS$ 8,500

Creditor
OMV (Iran) Onshore
exploration GmgH

b) Direct guarantees – SIPETROL S.A.

-

Type
-

-

Value
-

Book

Balances pending

-

2004
-

payment at September

-

2004
-

-

Assets
-

-

later
-

2005 and

Release of guarantees

-

Assets
-

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Enap Reﬁnerías S.A.

Innergy Holding S.A.

Innergy Holding S.A.

Eteres y Alcoholes S.A.

Petrosul S.A.

KfW Bank

Gasoducto de Pacíﬁco S.A.

Gasoducto del Pacíﬁco S.A.

KfW Bank

KfW Bank

Cía. de Hidrógeno del
Bío-Bío S.A.

Enap Reﬁnerías

Enap Reﬁnerías

Enap Reﬁnerías S.A.

Petropower Energía Ltda.

Productora de Diesel S.A.

Enap Reﬁnerías S.A.

Petropower Energía Ltda

Productora de

Sipetrol Argentina S.A.

Methanex

BNP Paribas

Name

Creditor

c) Indirect guarantees

Debtor

Subsidiary

Subsidiary

Related

Related

Related

Related

Related

Subsidiary

Subsidiary

Subsidiary

Subsidiary

RelationShip

Guarantee for obligations of Enap Reﬁnerías S.A. (formerly Petrox S.A.)
established in Processing Contract (PSA). The obligation is effective once
the acceptation of the plant takes place (estimated at December 2004)
and expires in 2015.

Guarantee for obligations of Enap Reﬁnerías S.A. established in
Processing Contract (PSA). The obligation is effective once the
acceptation of the plant takes place (estimated at early 2005 and
expires in 2020)

Productora de Diesel S.A. and BNP Paribas and other banks
entered into a contract named Commercial Bank Loan Agreement,
subject to the terms and conditions of the Commercial Loan
Agreement. Each creditor agreed to grant the Debtor one or more
loans in United States dollars in a total amount of principal up to
US$ 35,277,615 plus adjustments, agreed interest, penal interest,
commissions, fees, costs, expenses, taxes, rights, charges and
surcharges and other accessory obligations. To ensure the full,
effective and timely payment of the Guaranteed Obligations, ENAP
established a pledge of bearer securities on the shares of its
ownership issued by Productora Diesel S.A.

Pledge on shares of Petrosul S.A. owned by ENAP to guarantee
the project loan for ThUS$ 21,763, valid to 2012.

Pledge on shares of Etalsa S.A. owned by ENAP to guarantee
payment of loan to ﬁnance the project amounting to Commercial
ThUS$ 30,500 valid to 2012.

Guarantee (25%) for compliance with obligations of Innergy
established in Contract for Transportation of Gas The obligation
is valid from 1999 to 2019. The above mentioned 25% would be
equivalent to ThUS$ 8,000 in 2004, readjusting such amount to
ThUS$ 15,000 in 2019.

Guarantee (25%) for compliance with obligations of Innergy
established in Contract for Purchase of Gas entered into with
YPF-Bridas-Pluspetrol. The total obligation starts in 2004 and
is valid to 2019. The above mentioned 25% would be
equivalent to ThUS$ 6,000 in 2004, readjusting such amount to
ThUS$ 12,750 in 2019.

Guarantee for obligations of Enap Reﬁnerías S.A.
(formerly Petrox S.A.) established in Contract for Processing
Services to 2012. The obligation guaranteed corresponds
to payment of up to 90% of the annual fee (approximately
ThUS$ 6,000 starting 2003).

Guarantee for obligations of Enap Reﬁnerías S.A.
(formerly Petrox S.A.) established in serveral contracts
entered into for the Petropower project (i) Contract for Capital
Contribution to the company (15% ownership) (ii) Contract
for use of land for the project, and (iii) Indemnity Contract for
dishonest and negligent actions or omissions by Enap
Reﬁnerías S.A. The obligation of capital contribution has been
complied with. The remaining obligations can not be
cash-valued in advance. Guarantees are valid to 2018.

Guarantee for obligations of Enap Reﬁnerías S.A
(formerly Petrox S.A.) established in Processing Contract
entered into with Petropower valid to 2018. The obligation
guaranteed corresponds to the payment of processing services
for an annual value of approximately ThUS$ 18,000

Guarantee for compliance with obligations of Sipetrol
established in the Contract for Sale of Gas between
Sipetrol/YPF and Methanex (equivalent to 30 % of the contract).
The remaining obligation amounts to 4,012,785,249 SCM
(9,300 Kcal/m3), at a base price of 0.75 US$/MM Btu
(indexed to methane price) and valid to 08/08/2016.

Description

Joint

Joint

Commercial
pledge on shares

Commercial
pledge on shares

pledge on shares

Joint

Joint

Joint

Joint

Joint

Joint

Type of guarantee

-

-

2,219,987 shares

-

2,087 shares

-

-

-

-

-

-

Type

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Book
value

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Balances pending
payment at September
2004
2003

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Release of guarantees
2005 and
2004
Assests
Later
Assests
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Eteres y Alcoholes

Productora de
Diesel S.A.

KfW Bank

KfW Bank

BNP Paribas Bank

Related

Related

Related

RelationShip

Description

Pledge on shares of Productora de Diesel S.A.
owned by Enap Reﬁnerías S.A. to guarantee
the project for ThUS$ 110,451, valid to 2016

Pledge on shares of Etalsa S.A owned by Enap
S.A. Reﬁnerías S.A. to guarantee the project loan for
ThUS$ 30,500, valid to 2012

Pledge on shares of Petrosul S.A. owned by Enap
Reﬁnerías S.A. to guarantee the project loan for
ThUS$ 20,921, valid to 2012.

(1) The release of the guarantees is related to compliance with contracts that gave rise to those guarantees.

Name

Petrosul S.A.

Creditor

Debtor

Commercial
pledge on shares

Commercial
pledge on shares

Commercial
pledge on shares

Type of guarantee

7,769,953 shares

2.087 shares

3,160 shares

Type

3,984,736

776,405

2,040,224

Book
value

55,991,331

15,122,395

11,661,113

-

18,127,160

13,272,621

Balances pending
payment at September
2004
2003

-

-

-

-

-

-

(*)

(*)

(*)

7,769,953shares

2,087 shares

3,160 shares

Release of guarantees
2005 and
2004 Assests Later
Assests
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d) Commercial commitments:
The companies have entered into the following long-term
contractual obligations related to their normal development
and operations:
(1) PETROPOWER
The Company entered into an agreement, through its
subsidiary Petrox S.A., providing for the payment of an annual
processing fee of approximately US$17.4 million for the right
to operate its delayed coking and hydrotreatment plant and an
annual fee of approximately US$ 9.9 million for the supply of
certain energy products. This agreement is subject to annual

After this period, Enap Refinerías S.A. will be obligated to
purchase the plant at its book value. ENAP will guarantee
the obligations of Enap Refinerías S.A. under the Processing
Services Agreement.
This plant has been built by the consortium formed by Technip
of USA (also the licensor of the technology) and Sigdo Koppers
Ingeniería y Construcción. The plant, the construction of which
started in 2003, will operate from January 2005.
The financing of the project is through capital contributions of
the partners (30% of total investment) and a loan from Banco
Societé Generalé of France (70%). The Company and Enap
Refinerías S.A. will hold 5% ownership of the company, and

increases until the expiration of the agreement in 2018.

Sigdo Koppers the remaining 90%.

Under the terms of the agreement, in the event of a reduction
in the plant’s annual revenue (as defined in a processing
contract and other agreements), and after the operator has
made a contribution equivalent to 10% of such shortfall,
the Company and its subsidiary Enap Refinerías S.A. must
contribute 50% of the balance of such shortfall and Foster
Wheeler must contribute the balance. The total aggregate
amount of such contributions is capped at US$ 1.4 million
per year.

The capital contribution of the Company/Enap Refinerías S.A.
will be one million dollars, to be completed on the date of
acceptance of the plant. At the expiration of the agreement,
the purchase by Enap Refinerías S.A. will take place at book
value.

In addition, at the end of the agreement’s term, Enap Refinerías
S.A. is obliged to purchase the plant or find a buyer, for a price
not lower than ThCh$ 43 million, on the expiration date of the
respective contract (2018) or any other date jointly agreed by
the parties.

(3) INNERGY HOLDING S.A.
The Company has committed to contribute approximately
US$ 30.9 million as an equity investment in Innergy
Holding S.A. Since the inception of the project in 1998 and
through December 31, 2004, the Company has contributed
approximately US$ 28.55 million, approximately US$ 20.41
million of which have been used to cover the investee’s
operating deficit.

The Company and Enap Refinerías S.A. completed negotiations
with the Sigdo Koppers Group (“SKG”) for the financing,
construction and operation of a new Hydrogen Plant in the
Refinery of Bío Bío in the city of Talcahuano. This project
represents a total investment of approximately US$ 32 million.
The company involved in this project is a stock corporation
named “Compañía de Hidrógeno del Bío-Bío S.A. (“CHBB”).

Future capital contributions by the Company will depend on the
future conditions of the project, including estimated demand,
the installation of a new Hydrogen Plant at Enap Refinerías
S.A., which will demand natural gas and the installation of
a mixed-cycle thermoelectric plant and/or changes in the
current contractual conditions. Innergy Holding S.A. favors
the installation of a mixed-cycle plant, which is expected to
consume a higher quantity of gas which would contribute to
improve the results of the company.

All the hydrogen produced by CHBB will be used by Refinería
Bío Bío in its facilities. There will be a Processing Services
Agreement between CHBB and Enap Refinerías S.A. for a 15year period which may be extended for up to an additional year,
in accordance with the conditions specified in the agreement.

(4) ETALSA
The Company, though its subsidiary Enap Refinerías S.A., has
entered into an agreement with ETALSA for the payment of an
annual operating fee for the di-isopropyl ether plant ranging
between approximately US$ 4.4 million and US$ 5.7 million.

(2) HYDROGEN PLANT
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This agreement expires in 2017. At the expiration of the
agreement, the Company is obligated to purchase the plant for
approximately US$ 2.6 million. At the time the plant started
operations in September 2002, the subsidiary Enap Refinerías
S.A. recorded the cost associated with the construction of the
plant as a capital lease.
(5) PETROSUL
ENAP and its subsidiary, Enap Refinerías S.A., together
with certain unrelated parties invested US$ 27 million in
the construction of two sulfur plants. These plants started
operations in the fourth quarter of 2003. Both are obligated
to pay an annual operating fee for the plants between US$
3.9 million and US$ 4.6 million. This agreement expires in
2019 and, at that time, these subsidiaries will be obligated
to purchase the plants for a nominal amount. At the time the
plants started operations, ENAP’s subsidiary recorded the
cost associated with the construction of the plants as a capital
lease.
(6) HYDROGEN PLANT IN REFINERIA ACONCAGUA
The subsidiary Enap Refinerías S.A. has entered into an
agreement with AGA Chile S.A., a subsidiary of the German
producer of air gases Linde AG, for the supply of high-purity
hydrogen, from June 2006 and over a 15-year term. The
hydrogen will be used in the future plant of diesel hydrotreatment in the Aconcagua refinery. For the supply, AGA
is building a plant in land of the refinery delivered under
commodatum for the contractual term of the supply. At
expiration of the agreement, there is no purchase obligation
over the hydrogen production installations, or the renewal of
the supply agreement, either. The annual payment estimated
for the start of supply is US$ 21,8 million, which will be
increased according to the price evolution of the supplies
used, mainly with the natural gas among them.
(7) PRODISA
The subsidiary Enap Refinerías S.A. and the Company have
signed the agreements with the Spanish group, Técnicas
Reunidas, for the financing, construction and operation of
an Hydrocracking plant of Mild Gas Oil (MHC Hydrocracking)
in the refinery located in Talcahuano. The project represents
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a total investment of around US$ 110 million. The project’s
company is a stock corporation called “Productora de Diesel
S.A. – Prodisa”.
The referred plant shall be operated and maintained by Enap
Refinerías S.A., Refinerías Bio Bio. There is a Processing
Service Agreement entered into between Prodisa an Enap
Refinerías for a 15-year period of operation. After that, Enap
Refinerías S.A. will be obliged to purchase the plant at book
value. The Company will guarantee the obligation of Enap
Refinerías S.A., under the Agreement referred to above.
This plant has been built by the consortium formed by
Técnicas Reunidas of Spain and DSD, a Chilean company with
the Parent company in Germany.
The plant, the construction of which is in the acceptance
testing stage, begins to operate from January 2005.
The project’s funding corresponds to capital contributions by
the partners (20% of the total investment) and to a syndicated
loan by the BNP Paribas bank (80%). Enap Refinerías S.A.
holds a 49% equity ownership, with Técnicas Reunidas holding
the remaining 51%.
At December 31, 2004, Sipetrol S.A., through its subsidiaries,
holds the following commercial agreements:
(8) NEUQUÉN BASIN, LA INVERNADA AREA - ARGENTINA
On June 9, 2003, a block bid by the Bureau of Hydrocarbons
of the Province of Neuquén was awarded to Wintershall
Energía S.A. (WIAR). October 29, 2003. The exploration
agreement was signed between WIAR and the referred Bureau
on November 11, 2003. Sipetrol, after evaluation of the
exploratory potential of this block, undersigned a Joint Study
and Bidding Agreement with WIAR, to obtain a participation
option for a 50% ownership on ground floor conditions. On
December 21, 2004, through Decree 2949 of the Neuquén
Province, the cession of 50% participation of Wintershall
Energía S.A. in the Agreement and Exploration Permit was
approved in favor of Sipetrol Argentina S.A.
The main operations contracts are described in Note 33.

e) Restrictions:

Argentina – Notification of payment of interest owed

e.1.) The Company

Sipetrol Argentina S.A has been notified that the Customs
of Río Gallegos and the Regional Customs Department of
Comodoro Rivadavia have started a formal administrative
procedure tending to require, on a retroactively basis, the
payment of VAT on the construction of platforms AM-6 and
Poseidón, based on Decree 679/99.

At December 31, 2004, the Company and its subsidiaries are
subject to the following restrictions, which have been set forth
as covenants:
The Company must maintain its interest coverage ratio
(EBITDA over interest) for each period at least equal to 2.0
to 1.0.
The Company must maintain its debt ratio (maximum debt on
EBITDA) not exceeding 5.0 to 1.0.
The Company must maintain its minimum consolidated equity
in UF to be equivalent to 85% of its value at December 31,
2002.
At December 31, 2004, the Company complied with the
covenants referred to above.
e.2) Sipetrol Argentina S.A.
Sipetrol Argentina S.A., an indirect subsidiary, is required by
applicable Argentine legislation to allocate 5% of earnings of
the year to establish a legal reserve (included in net equity)
until such reserve reaches 20% of the adjusted paid-in
capital.
At December 31, 2004, Sipetrol Internacional, Egypt branch,
has a shared bank guarantee of ThUS$ 4,239 (ThCh$
2,362,820), corresponding to the minimal investment
guaranteed for the concessions of exploration in blocks North
Bhariya, El Diyur and Eas Ras Qattara.

f) Other contingencies:

Sipetrol Argentina S.A. objected the customs’ claims in the
understanding that such agency has no competence to make
the claim, and similarly, such claim does no correspond to the
platforms located in territorial sea.
In this regard, on July 15, 2004 Sipetrol Argentina S.A.
obtained a measure to ensure that the Customs restraints from
making, for the time being, such claims until the contested
administrative act is final.
On December 29, 2004, Sipetrol Argentina S.A. was
notified by the Argentinean Internal Revenue Service (DGI)
of the beginning of a determination process by official letter
concerning the Value Added Tax for the fiscal periods June
1999 to December 1999. The total amount claimed is US$
1.4 million. These claims could extend to the rest of the nonprescribed periods.
In the opinion of the management of Sipetrol Argentina S.A.,
the company has many chances of obtaining a favorable
resolution in case of lodging an appeal before the Fiscal Court
of the Nation and, also, as it involves the value added tax,
the potential tax the Company would have to credit without
considering any interest and penalties (in the event of an
unfavorable result of the contingency), can be used as a tax
credit balance in Sipetrol Argentina S.A.
At December 31, 2004, there are no other significant
contingencies to report.

Colombia
NOTE 27 - GUARANTEES BY THIRD PARTIES
At December 31, 2004, a complaint for damages related to
environmental damage, started by Acción Popular, was brought
by Mr. Luis Fernando Ternera before the Second Civil Court of
the Garzón Circuit; the amount claimed is ThUS$ 2,000. The
Company proceeded to provision such amount, according to
its equity ownership in the Acevedo Block (30%).

There are other minor guarantees received in the ordinary course of
business.
Sociedad Internacional Petrolera S.A. has received a number of
guarantees from the various suppliers and contractors in the total
amount of ThCh$ 1,000,000.
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NOTE 28 - LOCAL AND FOREIGN CURRENCY
Assets and liabilities in foreign currency and those assets and liabilities that are readjusted in US dollars are as follows:

Item
Current assets:
Cash and banks
Time deposits
Marketable securities
Trade receivables

Miscellaneous receivables

Notes and accounts receivable from related companies

Inventories
Recoverable taxes

Prepaid expenses

Deferred taxes

Other current assets

Property, plant and equipment Net property, plant and equipment
Other assets:
Investments in related companies
Investments in other companies
Goodwill
Long-term receivables

Notes and accounts receivable from related companies
Deferred taxes

Intangibles
Other

Total assets
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2004
ThCh$

2003
ThCh$

US dollars
Non-indexed Ch$
UF
US dollars
Indexed Ch$
Non-indexed Ch$
Indexed Ch$
UF
Non-indexed Ch$
US dollars
Indexed Ch$
US dollars

33,011,864
10,831,183
2,876,741
3,603,795
191,154,573
46,355,287
4,064,484
144,214
8,912,353
7,810,639
2,162,155
615,403
634,613
358,746,150
6,612,577
7,252,952
6,824,721
1,702,598
1,209,173
1,662,452
10,321,864
11,618,430
94,133
180,347
577,558,682
220,511,252

16,187,522
12,668,345
23,912,132
3,124,264
121,184,660
54,000,278
645,967
141,283
11,213,036
10,271,362
1,527,235
6,937,150
2,176,410
231,821,937
5,991,339
7,113,374
148,891
1,555,908
2,957,357
66,417
2,714,790
10,673,296
350,997
25,055,144
1,073,836
8,555
1,198,108
576,328,427
255,007,983

Indexed Ch$
US dollars
Indexed Ch$
US dollars
UF
US dollars
Indexed Ch$
Non-indexed Ch$
Indexed Ch$
US dollars
Indexed Ch$
Non-indexed Ch$
US dollars
Indexed Ch$
Non-indexed Ch$
US dollars
Indexed Ch$
Non-indexed Ch$
US dollars
Indexed Ch$
UF

26,713,789
59,493,625
4,003
263,914
117,054
10,592,671
5,237,833
5,214,373
537
1,223,088
19,337,485
9,561,205
249,829,893
737,116,707
667,141,398
144,214

47,165,174
43,402,612
29,693
452,851
63,086
170,421
9,122,854
4,221,238
4,965,938
6,099
4,788,850
1,095,444
128,474
1,747,503
15,321,183
8,699,303
159,115,203
660,151,057
706,825,844
1,344,622

Currency
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Non-indexed Ch$
US dollars
Non-indexed Ch$
US dollars
US dollars
Indexed Ch$
Non-indexed Ch$
US dollars
Indexed Ch$
UF
Non-indexed Ch$
US dollars
Non-indexed Ch$
US dollars
Indexed Ch$
Indexed Ch$
US dollars
US dollars
Indexed Ch$

Short-term liabilities:

To 90 days
2004
Item

Currency

Amount
ThCh$

Short-term bank borrowing

US dollars

Rate
%

90 days to 1 year
2003
Amount
Rate
ThCh$
%

2004
Amount
ThCh$

2003
Rate
%

Amount
ThCh$

Rate
%

51,072,472

1.87

33,267,495

1.83

6,279,800

1.87

17,680,148

1.83

Euro

-

-

179,546

3.19

-

-

171,657

3.19

Yen

-

-

11,846

0.94

-

-

11,679

0.94

Other currencies

-

-

10,032

2.84

-

-

9,734

2.84
7.07

Current portion of long-term liabilities

UF

86,179

6.67

87,381

7.07

349,486

6.67

246,618

Bonds payable – short-term

UF

591,757

4.25

-

-

-

-

-

-

US dollars

339,666

6.75

-

-

2,213,052

6.75

2,081,922

6.75

Accounts payable

Non-indexed Ch$

27,981,353

-

19,159,831

-

-

-

-

-

US dollars

237,964,558

-

158,190,262

-

1,649,669

-

-

-

Notes payable

US dollars

52,670,884

-

109,945,426

-

35,319,365

-

45,963,825

-

Sundry creditors

UF

123,032

-

160,573

6.67

-

-

-

-

Indexed Ch$

Notes and accounts payable to related companies
Accruals

492,616

-

1,593,614

-

-

-

-

Non-indexed Ch$

3,212,410

-

55,637

-

-

-

-

-

US dollars

2,972,591

-

3,599,023

-

-

-

-

-

Non-indexed Ch$

6,804,258

-

10,974,028

-

-

-

-

-

US dollars

1,827,399

-

2,465,813

8.50

978,158

-

153,584

8.50

23,109,909

-

21,765,851

-

-

-

-

-

2,668,228

-

1,610,138

-

-

-

-

-

Non-indexed Ch$
US dollars
Indexed Ch$

Withholdings
Income tax

4,910,180

-

5,647,740

-

-

-

-

32,050,901

-

17,083,695

-

-

-

-

-

US dollars

2,712,594

-

3,408,937

-

-

-

-

-

Non-indexed Ch$

7,886,710

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

12,755,042

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

47,703

-

81,723

-

2,198,421

-

2,238,403

-

43,274

-

-

-

160,555

-

-

-

-

-

-

980

-

329,893

-

-

-

Non-indexed Ch$

Indexed Ch$
US dollars
Unearned income

Non-indexed Ch$
US dollars

Other current liabilities

Non-indexed Ch$
US dollars

468

Total current liabilities

US dollars

365,065,625

314,686,495

49,008,340

65,922,753

Euro

-

179,546

-

171,657

Yen

-

11,846

-

11,679

Other currencies

-

10,032

-

9,734

800,968

247,954

349,486

246,618

101,045,541

69,199,597

-

47,703

5,402,796

7,241,354

-

-

UF
Non-indexed Ch$
Indexed Ch$
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Long-term liabilities:

Item

Currency

Bank borrowings

US dollar

Bonds payable

UF

1 to 3 years
Average
Amount
interest rate
ThCh$
%

3 to 5 years
Average
Amount
interest rate
ThCh$
%

5 to 10 years
Average
Amount
interest rate
ThCh$
%

More than 10 years
Average
Amount interest rate
ThCh$
%

86,954,400

1.87

89,184,000

1.87

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

56,280,413

4.25

-

-

-

-

245,256,000

6.75

-

-

241,311 Lirbor + 1.5

603,277

Libor + 1.5

US dollars

-

-

Notes payable

US dollars

534,791

Libor + 1.5

Sundry creditors

UF

1,360,984

6.67

1,217,561

6.67

4,045,949

6.67

2,495,434

205,639

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Non-indexed Ch$

1,248,884

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

US dollars

4,474,832

7.35

3,996,898

7.35

9,509,708

7.35

16,982,770

7.35

US dollars

5,093,739

-

-

-

671,178

-

18,084,836

-

Indexed Ch$

4,475,833

-

2,757,459

-

21,026,409

-

39,586,918

-

73,843,107

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Indexed Ch$
Notes and accounts payable to related companies
Accruals

Non-indexed Ch$

1,075,845 Libor + 1.5
6.67

Deferred tax

Indexed Ch$

2,472,620

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Other

US dollars

2,526,836

-

79,262

-

198,156

-

13,295,170

-

Total long-term liabilities

US dollars

99,584,598

-

93,501,471

256,238,319

49,438,621

UF

1,360,984

1,217,561

60,326,362

2,495,434

Indexed Ch$

7,154,092

2,757,459

21,026,409

39,586,918

75,091,991

-

-

-

Non-indexed Ch$

2003:

Item

Currency

Bank borrowing

US dollar
Euro
Yen
19,469
US dollars
UF
US dollars
$ indexed
UF
Non-indexed Ch$
Indexed Ch$
US dollars
US dollars
Non-indexed Ch$
US dollars
Non-indexed Ch$
US dollars
Euro
Yen
Other currencies
UF
Non-indexed Ch$
Indexed Ch$

Other currencies
Bonds payable
Notes payable
Sundry creditors
Accruals

Notes and accounts payable to related companies
Other long-term liabilities
Total long-term liabilities
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1 to 3 years
Average
Amount
interest rate
ThCh$
%
104,525,993
1.77
343,315
3.19
23,358
0.94
2.84
394,504 LIBOR +1.5
1,480,177
1,197,607
7.19
57,023,897
3,618,129
3,716,278
7.35
6,380,811
1,674,302
2,422
110,311,076
343,315
23,358
19,469
1,197,607
5,098,306
63,407,130
-

3 to 5 years
Average
Amount
interest rate
ThCh$
%
92,427,090
1.80
263,003 LIBO+1.5
1,059,431
7.19
3,417,578
3,592,056
7.35
86,549
96,368,698
1,059,431
3,417,578
-

5 to 10 years
Average
Amount
interest rate
ThCh$
%
176,507,050
6.75
56,364,750
4.25
657,508 LIBO+1.5
2,834,955
7.19
19,689,991
947,323
10,923,217
7.35
216,373
189,251,471
59,199,705
19,689,991
-

More than 10 years
Average
Amount interest rate
ThCh$
%
1,315,015 LIBO+1.5
4,800,878
7.19
39,484,133
19,506,252
19,298,323
7.35
4,648,016
44,767,606
4,800,878
39,484,133
-

NOTE 29 - SANCTIONS

NOTE 30 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, no other
sanctions have been imposed on the Company, its directors or
managers by the Chilean Superintendency of Securities and
Insurance.

On January 25, 2005 the Company prepaid the syndicated
loan with Citibank N.A., originally amounting to US$ 170
million, signed on January 22, 2002. The prepaid amount was
ThCh$ 31,779,676 (US$ 54,985,943.46).

By other administrative authorities:

On January 12, 2005, the prepaid was notified to Citibank
N.A. as administrative agent of the loan originally amounting to
US$ 90 million signed on August 31, 1998. The prepayment
of US$ 16,556,154.55 will be made on February 28, 2005.

The Chilean Superintendency of Electricity and Fuel has initiated
four administrative proceedings against Enap Refinerías S.A.,
imposing penalties of 1,450 UTA (tax administrative unit).
Enap Refinerías S.A. filed a claim of illegality before the 1st
Court of Appeals of Valparaíso.
Except as explained above, the Company and its directors of
managers have received no sanctions from other administrative
authorities.

There have been no other subsequent events during the period
from December 31, 2004 up to the date on which these
financial statements were issued (February 18, 2005), which
could significantly affect their interpretation.

NOTE 31 - ENVIRONMENT
During 2004, the Company and its subsidiaries have made disbursements related to environment as follows:
ENAP
ThCh$
86,954
209,504
296,458

Agro-environmental consultancy and bioremediation
Development archaeological surveys of EIA, DIA
Total
SIPETROL

ThCh$
317,280
84,608
303,179
705,067

Environmental investments related to projects
Operating expenses-environment unit
Environmental expenses-operating units
Total
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ENAP REFINERÍAS S.A.
ThCh$
a) Investments related to projects:
Transfer of San Vicente Maritime Terminal system

6,452

Reduction of benzene in gasoline

149,895

Desulfurization of gasoline- Catalytic Cracking

15,220,708

Removal of phenols

172,447

LPG cylinder vent closed-system improvement

65,183

Modiﬁcation of Torch L-1360 System

43,630

Study for improvement of oily water treatment system

18,081

Subtotal

15,676,396

b) Operating expenses-environment unit:
Environmental unit

192,933

Environment monitoring area

1,929,072

Agricultural and other waste

233,294

Subtotal

2,355,299

c) Environmental expense-operating units:
Sulfur plant

1,316,031

Sodium sulf hydrate plant.

681,376

Acid plant

867,748

Acidic water neutralizer (SWS)

399,604

Efﬂuent treatments

423,671

Subtotal

3,688,430

Total

21,720,125

NOTE 32 - TIME DEPOSITS
Time deposits are as follows:

Currency of
origin

Annual interest rate
2004
2003

2004

2003

%

%

ThCh$

Banco de Chile NY

US$

1.90

0.95

2,647,650

2,860,632

Banco Santander Central Hispano

US$

0.00

0.24

-

20,320,446

Bank of America National Trust

US$

0.38

0.86

34,138

731,054

Banco Boston (Argentina)

US$

1.30

0.00

194,953

-

2,876,741

23,912,132

Totals
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ThCh$

NOTE 33 - OIL OPERATIONS CONTRACTS
ENAP and Sipetrol S.A. have contracts for exploration and operation in Chile, Argentina, Colombia, Venezuela, Ecuador, Brazil,
Iran and Egypt, as follows:
a) Exploitation
Exploitation projects are as follows:

Project

Country

Magallanes Area
Cañadón Perdido Central Camp
Pampa del Castillo
Cam 2A Sur
Caguán Río Ceibas
Dindal
Río Seco
North Bahariya

Argentina
Argentina
Argentina
Argentina
Colombia
Colombia
Colombia
Egypt

(a) On January 4, 1991, Sipetrol S.A. and Yacimientos
Petrolíferos Fiscales S.A. entered into a Temporary Joint
Venture (Unión Transitoria de Empresas (UTE)) in order to
perform development work and exploitation of hydrocarbons
in the area Magallanes Block, an area located in the Estrecho
de Magallanes, Argentina. According to the investment plan
Sipetrol S.A. was appointed as the joint venture’s operator and
is responsible for the operations and activities in this area,
as well as making all necessary investments in the project,
and had the right to 100% of the joint venture’s income until
the recovery of its investments within six years. Since the
conclusion of this period, Sipetrol S.A. receives 50% of the
net income of operations of the original project (platforms
AM2, AM3 y AM5), beginning on March 1, 2002, to platform
AM1, and beginning April 2002, to platform AM6.

Ownership
percentage Sipetrol
2004
2003
%
%

Operator
Sipetrol Argentina S.A. (a)
Repsol – YPF
Sipetrol Argentina S.A. (b)
Sipetrol Argentina S.A.
Petrobras Internacional S.A. Braspetro
Sipetrol S.A. Sucursal Colombia
Sipetrol S.A. Sucursal Colombia
Sipetrol International S.A.

50.00
50.00
100.00
50,00
27.27
90.60
90.60
50.00

50.00
50.00
100.00
50.00
27.27
90.60
90.60
-

As a result of this transaction, the rights held by sellers in
the Dindal Joint Venture Agreement, Río Seco Joint Venture
Agreement and Guaduas-La Dorada Oil Pipeline have been
transferred, as well as all the rights and ownerships of assets
and properties related to the partnerships agreements referred
to above, including the operation of blocks, wells, production,
equipment, real estate and movable property, etc.
After this operation Sipetrol S.A. (operator) owns 90.6% of
the rights for exploitation of Campo Guaduas (Dindal and Río
Seco blocks).

(b) On September 25, 2001, Pecom Energía S.A. assigned
to Sipetrol Argentina S.A., 100% of concession rights for
exploitation of the hydrocarbon area called Pampa del Castillo
- La Guitarra, located in Chubut, Argentina. The value of the
rights assigned were US$ 97,000,000.

The Campo Guaduas (Dindal and Río Seco blocks) acquisition
was successfully concluded with the signing of a post closing
agreement, whereby the parties, after agreeing and making
the respective price adjustments, instructed Bank One N.A.
(Escrow Agent) to distribute ThUS$ 4,000 which had been
held in an escrow account. Sipetrol S.A. received ThUS$
912 as a refund. As per the same agreement, and after the
respective adjustments, all claims related to the acquisition
were fully settled.

(c) On December 13, 2002, Sipetrol S.A. entered into an
Agreement of Rights Cession with Seven Seas Petroleum
Colombia Inc., Petrolinson S.A. and GHK Colombia, whereby
Sipetrol purchased an additional 57.7% ownership in Blocks
Dindal and Río Seco of the Guaduas field. The operation
closed on February 21, 2003.

(d) As per administrative decision N° 14 dated January 29,
1999, the prospecting permit over the CAM 2A SUR was
awarded in favor of YPF and Sipetrol Argentina S.A. On October
7, 2002, Sipetrol S.A. signed with YPF S.A. a Joint Venture
Agreement, in order to define the scope and extension of the
respective rights and obligations of the parties concerning the
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prospecting operations and eventual exploitation concession of
hydrocarbons in the Prospecting Area CAM 2A SUR (Cuenca
Austral Marina 2A Sur), located in the Provinces of Tierra del
Fuego, Antarctica and South Atlantic and Santa Cruz islands,
Argentina. Sipetrol, as operator of this agreement, is liable for
executing every operations and activities in this area, as well

as make the necessary investment for the project. The equity
ownership of Sipetrol Argentina is 50%.
(e) On June 1, 2004, in Egypt, the “development plan” was
approved, which led to start production on September 1,
making way for the exploitation stage.

b) Exploration
Exploration projects are as follows:

Project

Country

Cam 2A
Cam 3
Bseal - 3
Bpot - 3
Bseal - 4
Huila Norte
Altamiza
Acevedo
Doima
Tafura
North Bahariya
El Diyur
Mehr block
Block 35

Argentina
Argentina
Brazil
Brazil
Brazil
Colombia
Colombia
Colombia
Colombia
Colombia
Egypt
Egypt
Iran
Yemen

(a) During 2001, these exploration projects were discontinued
and a provision was recorded for the total investment.
In connection with Bseal-3 block, certain activities tending to
its recovery are being developed.
On December 28, 2001 Sipetrol S.A. delivered a document
named “Report of Return of Bseal-3 Area” to the ANP (Rio
de Janeiro), which give details of a schedule jointly prepared
with Petrobras and relating to the remaining activities of
dismantling of facilities and recovery of areas on land, to be
carried out by Petrobras.
In turn, the ANP should approve such document within a
reasonable term, releasing Sipetrol S.A. as Operator of Block
Bseal-3, and beginning the end and closure of operation in
Aracaju. On July 28, 2004, as per official letter ANP N°
589/2004/SEP, the confirmation of the total restitution of
Block Bseal-4 was received and the Concession Agreement
relating to Block Bseal-3 was declared as terminated.
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Operator
Sipetrol Argentina S.A.
Sipetrol Argentina S.A.
Sipetrol Brasil S.A. (a)
Tecpetrol Do Brasil Ltda. (a)
Devon Energy Do Brasil Ltda. (a)
Sipetrol S.A. (b)
Sipetrol S.A. (c)
Talizman (d)
Hocol S.A. (e)
Braspetro (f)
Sipetrol International S.A. (g)
IPR Transoil Corporation (h)
OMV (Iran) Onshore Exploration GmgH
Oil Search

Ownership
percentage Sipetrol
2004
2003
%
%
50.00
50.00
54.00
54.00
30.00
50.00
50.00
50.50
41.00
33.00
33.00

50.00
50.00
54.00
54.00
30.00
50.00
50.00
41.00
33.00
-

(b) On October 21, 2004, the Company submits the formal
waiver of the Block before Ecopetrol, which was accepted on
November 17, 2004. The activities for the official waiver are
now being carried out.
(c) On October 4, 2004, the Company submits the formal
waiver of the Block, which was accepted on August 31, 2004.
The delivery of the Block is now being formalized before
Ecopetrol.
(d) On June 29, 2004, the Company submits the formal
waiver of the Block before Ecopetrol, which was accepted on
July 1, 2004. The activities for the official waiver are now
being carried out.
(e) On July 8, 2003, the Parties signed the Joint Operation
Agreement (JOA) whereby the shareholding percentages are
determined after the cession, ratifying the prior shareholdings.
(50% ownership)

(f) On December 31, 2002, the Joint Venture Agreement
for the Tafura Block in Colombia was entered into between
Sipetrol S.A y Braspetro on the one hand, and ECOPETROL,
on the other hand. Mach 1, 2003 was fixed as effective date
for the Agreement.
On January 28, 2004, the Company submits the formal
waiver of the Block before Ecopetrol, which was accepted on
February 4, 2004. The record of termination of the Agreement
referred to above is currently being legalized.
(g) On February 19, 2003, the Ministry of Petroleum of Egypt
authorized the transfer of the 41% ownership in the El Diyur
area, Western Desert, Egypt, carried out by IPR Transoil
Corporation in favor of Sipetrol S.A.
The first exploratory period expired on November 5, 2003
and the consortium decided to begin the second period
upon modification of ownerships in the consortium. After the
consortium’s decision to start the second exploratory period of
two years was informed to EGPC, IPR informed Sipetrol S.A.
its plans to reduce its ownership from 59% to 20%. Such
reduction would take place through an agreement whereby
IPR transfers part of its rights to Apache El Diyur Corporation
Ldc.

On September 21, 2003, the Ministry of Energy and Mining of
Yemen has officially communicated the participation of Sipetrol
International S.A. in the Consortium that is prospecting Block
35.
On January 24, 2005, the Consortium reported that the
testing to the prospecting well AHCAF-1 was negative
and, consequently, it has been abandoned. And Sipetrol
International S.A. will not continue in the second prospecting
stage.
(i) In connection with the public bid process for 2002,
opened by the Egyptian General Petroleum Company (EGPC)
to presents offers for various blocks in the Western Desert,
the subsidiary Sipetrol International S.A., jointly with the
Australian company Oil Search Ltd., was awarded the East
Ras Qattara block on April 16, 2003.
The final agreement (concession agreement), was entered
into on March 30, 2004 before the Egyptian Ministry of
Petroleum, holding Sipetrol International S.A., Egypt branch,
an equity ownership of 50.5% (operator) and Oil Search Ltd.,
49.5%.

The parties are now working on the preparation and drafting
of the document (Novation Agreement) that would define the
new ownership of the parties, which should not change the
percentage currently held by Sipetrol S.A. (41%).

The CAM-1 area (Southern Marine Basin 1 – Cuenca Austral
Marina 1) was awarded on September 4, 2003 to the
companies Sipetrol Argentina S.A. and Repsol-YPF S.A., by
the Department of Energy of the Ministry of Federal Planning,
Public Invesment and Services, who accepted the offer made
by the companies during the International Public Invitation to
tender.

(h) The Yemeni Parliament has ratified the Purchase and
Sales Agreement (PSA) and the assignment of Block 35 to
Oil Search Ltd. and SABA. The respective law was signed on
March 29, 2003, by that Government, whereby the effective
date of the Agreement for the block prospecting has been
defined.

The CAM-1 area is located in the Atlantic Ocean in the Southern
region of Argentina and contiguous to other concessions where
Sipetrol Argentina S.A. in currently prospecting and producing
hydrocarbons (Magallanes Area, CAM 2A Sur and CAM 3).
This zone is located in the eastern mouth of the Magellan
Strait.

After completing the negotiation process for the cession
agreement between the subsidiary Sipetrol International S.A.
and the Australian company Oil Search Ltd. the latter has
transferred to Sipetrol International S.A. a 30% shareholding
in Block 35, Hood Area, in the Hadramaut Goveratore,
Republic of Yemen.

Sipetrol Argentina S.A. and Repsol-YPF have a Temporary
Joint Venture (UTE) (with a 50% ownership each company),
for the prospecting of hydrocarbons in this area and start its
commercial exploitation should the prospecting be successful,
and Sipetrol Argentina S.A. being the operator.
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c) Oil pipeline

Project

Country

Operator

Alto Magdalena Oil Pipeline
Colombia Oil Pipeline

Colombia
Colombia

Hocol S.A.
Triton S.A.

NOTE 34 - INVESTMENTS IN LATIN AMERICA
The Company has direct investments, in Argentina and Perú,
and indirect investments in Argentina, Colombia, Ecuador,
and Peru. The status of these investments is as follows:
a) Investments in Argentina
The current consolidated financial statements include
Petro Servicio Corp S.A. (Argentina), with assets of ThCh$
1,087,907, and Sipetrol Argentina S.A., an indirect subsidiary
with assets and operating income of ThCh$ 196,423,976 and
ThCh$ 116,546,430, respectively. In addition, as detailed
in Note 10, they include investments in Argentina for ThCh$
16,524,166.
The main investment in Argentina refers to Sipetrol Argentina
S.A., an indirect subsidiary. The effect of translating the
financial statement of the subsidiary referred to above to the
exchange rate outlined in Note 2, resulted in a net charge to
income of ThCh$ 109,574 for the year ended December 31,
2004.
As set forth by Decree 2703/2002, effective January 2003,
the oil companies must repatriate at least 30% of foreign
exchange from exports of crude oil, being entitled to the free
availability of the remaining percentage.
During the period January – March 2003 an agreement with the
oil crude producers (Price Stability Agreement) was in place
at the request of the Argentine government. The agreement
consisted of leaving in the local market a volume equivalent
to that delivered in the last quarter of 2002. Such volumes
were invoiced at a WTI price of 28.50 USD/bbl, regardless
of the crude’s international price. The difference with regard
to the actual value of the WTI was recorded in an account of
price adjustment with the buying refinery that shall accrue
an annual rate Libor +2 points or 8%, whichever turns to be
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Ownership
percentage Sipetrol
2004
2003
%
%
1.20
1.00

1.20
-

higher. Should the international quotation of WTI be lower
than 28.50 USD/bbl, the producer would continue billing at
28.50 USD/bbl; such mechanism would permit compensate
the credit balance generated by the inverse situation
(WTI>28.50) until such credit has extinguished. For the sales
between 02/26/2003 and 03/31/2003, in accordance with a
complementary agreement, the difference with regard to the
real value of the WTI price was recorded in a price adjustment
account only up to US$ 36 USD/bbl. The excess over this
value was recorded as a loss.
The total volume delivered under this mechanism was
267,079 m³, resulting in a credit of US$ 6,051,389, without
considering interest.
The agreement between producers and refiners, effective
from May 1, 2004, changed their methodology. Now, if the
WTI value is higher than US$36 per barrel, the adjustment
ratio is 0.8 (previously 0.9), otherwise such ratio will be 0.86.
Sales at a regulated price of US$ 28.5 per barrel do not exist
anymore and, consequently, the generation of credit between
refiners and producers is also interrupted, but not the credit
existing until that date. During May and June 2004, the
volume sold was 133,107 m³.
In relation to the oil shock Argentina has undergone during
the months of April, May and June 2004, certain measures
intended to save energy have been published. In the month of
May certain increases to the withholding of Gas export (from
0% to 20%) were applied, the aliquots applied to such the
withholdings of crude petrol (25% to 45%).
Similarly, restrictions to gas exports for certain companies
have been applied, Sipetrol Argentina among them. Such
restrictions have been provided by the Energy Department
based on the needs of the gas distributors and steam power
plants. Effective May 14, 2004, and continuously, Sipetrol
has been unable to export a variable volume of around
85,600,000 m³.

b) Investments in Colombia
The consolidated financial statements of Sipetrol S.A. include
assets and operating income of the Colombian branch
amounting to ThCh$ 26,441,553 and ThCh$ 21,851,442,
respectively.
The Market Representative Rate (TRM) at December 31, 2004
amounted to COL$ 2,389.75 per US$ 1.00, as compared to
a TRM of COL$ 2,778.21 per US$ 1.00 at December 31,
2003, which represents a revaluation of 13.98% during the
year. This situation had a negative effect over the budgetary
execution of the current year, as the budget was prepared with
an average rate of Col$ 2,900 and the average rate for the
year was Col$ 2,628 per US$1,00. The charge to income on
exchange difference amounted to ThCh$ 30,332 for the year
ended, December 31, 2004.
c) Investments in Ecuador
The consolidated financial statements include assets
and operating income of ThCh$ 38,507,582 and ThCh$
20,172,991, respectively, for the Ecuador branch.
The inflation rate accumulated during the year ended December
31, 2004 was 1.95%.
The agenda of the government’s oil opening was re-launched
in 2004, which includes the tender of 12 fields, administration
of the three refineries and construction of a new one.
The Ministry of Energy is preparing its own project of
amendments to the Hydrocarbons Act in order to restructure
Petroecuador and the Dirección Nacional de Hidrocarburos
(DNH), transforming the former in a company of mixed
economy, in a scheme similar to that of Petrobras.
The success of the six improvements of field Paraiso,
Biguno, Huachito (PBH), performed this year up to date, the

volumes of flows observed in the new wells and the refining
of the productive conditions, contributed to surpass the daily
production goal of December by 13%, and in cumulative
terms, reach a compliance degree of 105%.
In the field Mauro, Dávalos, Cordero (MCD), the production
goal of December was surpassed by 47%, and in cumulative
terms, by 31%.
d) Investments in Peru
The consolidated financial statements of the subsidiary
Enap Refinerías S.A. include assets of ThCh$ 25,251,602
for its subsidiary Manu Perú Holding S.A., which include the
investment of ThCh$ 22,660,307 in the associate in Perú.
In 2004, the inflation reached 3.5%. Similarly, at December
31, 2004, the exchange rate reflects an average quotation of
S/ 3.281 per US$1, which represents a nominal appreciation
of an annual accumulated 5.5% for the Peruvian new sol. In
December 2004, the balance of trade shows a surplus as
compared to the same month of prior year, mainly due both
to the price increase and the volumes of gold and copper that
allowed attenuate the high levels of imports, basically of the
purchases of fuels and lubricants.
During 2004, there was an increase of about 5.3% in the Gross
Domestic Product (GDP) of the economy, which represents
three years of growth in a row, and maintaining the upward
trend started in the second quarter of 2001.
The income tax rate for juridical persons is 30% in Peru.
e) Investments in other Latin American countries
Investments in the other Latin American countries are not
significant.
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MANAGEMENT’S ANALYSIS OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. BALANCE SHEET
The principal items of assets and liabilities at December 31, 2004 and 2003 are as follows:

Current Assets
Net Property, Plant & Equipment
Other Assets
Total Assets

31/12/2004
Ch$ million
718.403
798.070
137.760
1.654.232

31/12/2003
Ch$ million
554.720
831.336
141.381
1.527.437

Current Liabilities
Long-Term Liabilities
Total Liabilities
Minority Interest
Equity
Total Liabilities & Equity

31/12/2004
Ch$ million
521.673
709.780
1.231.453
167
422.612
1.654.232

31/12/2003
Ch$ million
457.987
638.440
1.096.427
140
430.870
1.527.437

of Ch$109,580 million (up 6.4%). There was also a 7.1%

Assets

reduction in Other fixed assets of Ch$7,533 million.
Total assets increased from Ch$1,527,437 million at
December 2003 to Ch$1,654,232 million in 2004, an

Liabilities

increase of 8.3%, mainly explained by higher current assets
of Ch$163,683 million, up by 29.5%, while property, plant

Total liabilities rose by 12.3%, from Ch$1,096,427 million in

and equipment declined by 4.0% (Ch$33,266 million).

2003 to Ch$1,231,453 million in 2004. This is explained by

Other assets remained practically unchanged between the

the 11.2% rise of Ch$71,340 million in long-term liabilities

two years.

and the 13.9% rise in current liabilities of Ch$63,686
million. The greatest changes in current liabilities were in

The sharp increase in current assets is mainly explained by

Accounts payable and Notes payable. The former increased

increases in Inventories by Ch$124,748 million (53.3%)

by Ch$90,245 million (50.9%) while the latter declined by

and in Trade receivables by Ch$62,804 million (35.2%).

Ch$67,919 million (43.6%). The change in the composition

These increases are mainly due to the higher prices for crude

of these two accounts is due to a financial debt (Notes

and products during the year, but also due to the increased

payable) reduction strategy by using suppliers’ credits to a

volumes of inventories of products and crude, which could not

larger degree, and matching better the current assets related

be offset by reductions in Time deposits of Ch$21,035 million

to the business with their respective current liabilities.

and Other current assets of Ch$15,443 million.
The principal increase in long-term liabilities was in Bonds
The reduction in property, plant and equipment occurred

payable which rose by Ch$68,665 million (29.5%) following

mainly because of the increase in Buildings and infrastructure

the bond issue made in March 2004 in the American market

of Ch$82,628 million, representing 3.5%, and in Depreciation

for US$150 million. This issue was mainly used to refinance
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shorter-term debt. Liabilities with banks and financial

The equity declined by 1.9% between December 2003 and

institutions therefore reduced by 10.7%, from Ch$197,339

2004, from Ch$430,870 million to Ch$422,612 million.

million at December 2003 to Ch$176,138 million in 2004.

This is mainly explained by the reduction in Other reserves

Other long-term liabilities that increased were Provisions

(Ch$19,136 million) and the 27.7% reduction in net income,

and Other liabilities which rose by Ch$21,852 million and

from Ch$90,055 million in 2003 to Ch$65,115 million in

Ch$9,472 million respectively.

2004.

LIQUIDITY, DEBT AND ACTIVITY INDICATORS
The principal financial indicators of the consolidated balance sheet concerning liquidity and debt are as follows:

31/12/2004
Liquidity
Current ratio
Acid test (1)
Debt
Short-Term/Total Debt (%)
Long-Term/Total Debt (%)
Debt ratio
Financial expense cover
Activity
Total Assets (Ch$ million)
Inventory turnover
Inventory permanence

31/12/2003

1.38
0.68

1.21
0.69

42.4%
57.6%
2.91
5,08

41.8%
58.2%
2.54
6.70

1,654,232
8.24
43.70

1,527,437
9.10
39.54

(1) Related to current assets less inventories and prepaid

The debt ratio was 2.9 at December 2004, higher than the

expenses, divided by current liabilities.

level of 2.6 the year before. This is explained by the 12.3%
increase in liabilities compared with the 1.9% reduction in

The current ratio improved from 1.2 times in 2003 to 1.4 times

equity between the two years. The increased liabilities mainly

at December 2004. This mainly reflects the greater increase

reflect the scenario of higher crude prices in 2004 while the

in current assets, especially Inventories and Trade receivables,

reduced equity follows the lower net income for the year.

than in current liabilities which increased significantly less.
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2.CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME
31/12/2004
Ch$ million
139,283
40,756
36,787
319,291
123,513
65,115

Operating income
Financial expenses
Non-operating income
EBITDA
Income after 17% income tax
Income after all taxes
Proﬁtability
Average return on equity
Average return on equity after 17% income tax
Return on average assets
Return on operating assets*

%
15.26
28.94
4.09
10,72

31/12/2003
Ch$ million
132.927
32,199
68,643
325,644
165,819
90,055
%
19,72
36.31
5.78
10,44

* Operating assets = Total assets - Other fixed assets - Other current assets - Deferred taxes - Time deposits.

Operating income

Net Income for the Year

Operating income at December 31, 2004 showed a 4.8%

The net income for the year, after deducting income tax (at

increase of Ch$6,356 million, from Ch$132,927 million

17.0% at December 2004 and 16.5% at December 2003),

in 2003 to Ch$139,283 million in 2004. This is mainly

amounted to Ch$123,513 million for 2004, 25.5% below the

explained by the 3.3% increase in the operating margin, as

level of Ch$165,819 million reported for 2003. After deducting

sales increased by Ch$263,528 million while the cost of

the 40% additional tax (per D.L. 2,398), the net income

sales rose a little less, by Ch$257,333 million. Selling and

was Ch$65,115 million for 2004 compared to Ch$90,055

administrative expenses declined 0.3% by Ch$162 million.

million for 2003, a fall of 27.7%. The reduced result is mainly
explained by lower non-operating income, mainly influenced

Non-Operating Income

by a reduced gain from exchange differences.

The non-operating result was what suffered the greatest change,

3. DIFFERENCE BETWEEN MARKET AND BOOK VALUES

moving from an income of Ch$68,643 million at December

OF ASSETS

2003 to one of Ch$36,787 million in 2004, a fall of 46.4%.
This change is mainly explained by the combined effects of

There were no significant differences between the market and

a higher charge for price-level restatements and a reduced

book values of the Company’s principal consolidated assets at

gain from exchange differences.

Price-level restatements

December 31, 2004. However, it is important to point out that,

moved from a loss of Ch$5,864 million in 2003 to one of

in accordance with the regulations of the Superintendency

Ch$17,729 million in 2004, while the exchange difference

of Securities and Insurance, investments in subsidiary and

gain was Ch$39,956 million (34.2%) lower. Financial

associate companies are valued at their proportional equity

expenses showed a 15.8% increase (Ch$5,557 million), from

value.

Ch$35,199 million in 2003 to Ch$40,756 million in 2004,
partly reflecting higher interest rates and also the higher stock

4. MARKET SITUATION

of fixed-rate financial debt following the March 2004 bond
issue. These negative changes were only partially offset by

The reference crude oil price, WTI (West Texas Intermediate),

lower Other non-operating expenses of Ch$20,741 million and

showed a predominantly upward trend during the 2004, with

higher Other non-operating income of Ch$10,528 million.

monthly prices moving from US$34.2 per barrel in January
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to a peak of US$53.2 per barrel in October. Strong economic

the season. In the case of gasolines, there was an increase in

growth in the global economy, particularly the expansion

their price not only due to the higher consumption generated

in the United States and China, was the principal factor

in the northern hemisphere in the spring/summer season

explaining the high price level, where the sharp increase in

but also in the change in specifications that increased the

demand pressured installed crude oil production, refining and

restrictions on sulfur and MTBE in USA. The rise in diesel

transportation capacity to a maximum. However, beginning in

prices due to the seasonal accumulation of stocks to face the

November, the rise in interest rates in China, the recovery in

autumn/winter period was bolstered in October by reductions

oil production in the Mexican Gulf and a more benign start to

in Russian diesel exports, simultaneously increasing prices

the northern hemisphere winter allowed prices to reverse their

in Europe and USA. Average prices of gasolines and diesel

trend in the last two months of the year, to reach US$43.2

on the Mexican Gulf coast were US$49.4 and US$ 45.6 per

per barrel in December. The WTI price therefore produced

barrel respectively, compared to averages of US$36.8 and

an average of US$41.4 per barrel for the year, 33.0% higher

US$34.1 respectively in 2003.

than in 2003 (US$31.1 per barrel).
The demand for refined products in the Chilean market is
International prices for products followed a similar trend to

estimated at 13.6 million m_, a 5.7% increase over 2003,

that for crude, with greater or lesser intensity according to

mainly caused by the country’s economic growth.

5. CASH FLOWS
The principal components of net cash flow for each year are as follows:

Net cash ﬂow from operating activities
Net cash ﬂow from ﬁnancing activities
Net cash ﬂow from investment activities
Net cash ﬂow for the year

31/12/2004
Ch$ million
83,851
40,872
(140,121)
(15,398)

31/12/2003
Ch$ million
180,993
34,232
(159,742)
55,482

The reduced cash flow from operating activities of Ch$83,851

showed a total negative change in assets affecting cash flow

million is mainly explained by the greater increases in assets

of Ch$281,087 million. On the other hand, the increase in

affecting cash flow than the respective increases in liabili-

liabilities affecting cash flow was Ch$231,511 million, princi-

ties. Trade receivables increased by Ch$151,713 million in

pally due to the increase in Accounts payable related to ope-

2004 and Inventories by Ch$146,661 million which, toge-

rating income by Ch$169,883 million.

ther with the reduction of Ch$17,287 million in Other assets,
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6. MARKET RISK ANALYSIS
ENAP is involved in the exploration and production of

While the company has made investments in the exploration

hydrocarbons and in the following stages of the production

and

chain: refining, transportation, storage and commercialization

risk than Chile’s, which could individually affect some

of oil-based products. Of these, a substantial part relates to the

foreign subsidiary, actions are being taken to increase the

refining and commercialization of its products in Chile, being

diversification of investments abroad in order to reduce

a leading player in the domestic supply with an approximate

ENAP’s global risk.

production of oil in countries with a higher country

86% share. In recent years, it has also begun to export these
products, mainly to Latin American countries.

Exposure to exchange rate fluctuations, which has an important
effect on Chilean peso income and US dollar denominated

ENAP regularly uses the international markets for crude oil

liabilities, has been significantly reduced by a pricing policy

and products in order to ensure its supplies and meet its

based on parity with imports indexed to the dollar. This

commercial commitments properly. As a result, Enap’s crude

situation is analyzed periodically to maintain a competitive

oil supplies are mainly obtained from countries in South

position within the price and import freedom characteristics

America and Africa, the main suppliers being Argentina and

of the Chilean market

Brazil. While Enap has the facilities for supplying itself by sea,
part is brought from Argentina through the Estenssoro-Pedrals

With respect to interest rate risk, the company has a mix of

pipeline connecting the Neuquén basin in Argentina with the

financial debt at fixed rates (mainly long-term bonds) and

Bio Bio refinery. However, deliveries by this means have been

at floating rates (principally bilateral and syndicated loans)

gradually reducing over time and partly replaced by crudes

which at December 31, 2004 was approximately 79/21%

brought mainly from the west coast of Africa.

fixed/floating.

The relevant risk for the business is essentially the refining

ENAP also holds a position in derivative instruments. It has

margin, the company having to face price fluctuations on the

cross-currency swaps relating to a significant part of the bond

international markets for crude and products. The refineries

issue on the domestic market in October 2002 to change its

have therefore continued to adjust their structures to the

UF denomination to US dollars, and swap operations for fixing

competitiveness of this industry and have directed their

interest rates covering a significant part of the syndicated

investments to increasing both their productive flexibility and

loans denominated in US dollars. ENAP also holds positions

the quality of their products to mitigate in part the exposure

in derivative instruments for covering commodity prices,

of their revenues to the customs duty reductions resulting

specifically to cover the crude oil price.

from the free trade agreement between Chile and the United
States.
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MATERIAL INFORMATION

Second discovery of oil reserves in the North Bahariya block

corresponds to 123 basis points (1.23%) over the 10-year US

in Egypt

Treasury bond. Most of the proceeds were used to refinance
existing debt while US$ 33 million were used to finance part

On March 9, 2004, Empresa Nacional del Petróleo announced

of ENAP’s investment plan. It was estimated that the final

a second discovery of oil reserves in the North Bahariya block

closing of the transaction, i.e. when the proceeds are available

in Egypt by its international subsidiary, Sipetrol S.A.

to the Company, would be on Tuesday, March 16.

The technical evaluations that Sipetrol S.A. has made of the

For these purposes, ENAP signed on March 11, 2004 a

Ferdaus 1 exploratory well have produced positive results. The

purchase agreement in the English language with Deutsche

well was satisfactorily drilled, registered and proven at two

Bank Securities Inc. and Citigroup Global Markets Inc.. Its

levels of the Abu Roash Formation of the Superior Cretaceous,

terms include the conditions for closing the bond issue and

which proved oil of 43 to 45 API grades. These tests provided

placement process which include the signing of a supplemental

940 and 2,300 barrels of oil per day respectively, at depths

indenture to the indenture dated as of November 1, 2002 and

close to 2,800 meters. These tests also produced around 3

the issue of the respective debt certificates.

million cubic feet of gas daily at the level above the Abu Roash
Formation.

Sale of ENAP’s direct and indirect holdings in Petroquím
S.A.

This oil discovery is added to the discovery of the Gamma
1 well in the same exploration block, as advised as Material

ENAP announced on May 10, 2004 that it and its subsidiary

Information on October 7, 2003.

ENAP Refinerias S.A. had sold to Santo Domingo de
Inversiones S.A. and to Petroquimica San Julio S.A. all of

ENAP is still evaluating the total volume of the reserves

their direct and indirect shareholdings in Petroquim S.A.. The

discovered and defining the quality of the reservoirs. Technical

total ENAP Group shareholding was 15% (ENAP 7.5% and

studies will be concluded in the coming months for providing a

ENAP Refinerias 7.5%) and the sale price was a total of US$

more precise estimation. The economic and financial effects

8,645,000.

of this finding are not yet accurately quantifiable.
These sales fall within a strategy of selling assets that are not
The North Bahariya block is located in Egypt’s Western Desert

part of ENAP’s core business.

basin and is being explored by a consortium formed by Sipetrol
S.A., which is the operator and has a 50% participation, the

Petroquim S.A. is a company that produces and sells

American company IPR Transoil Corporation, with 30%, and

polypropylene, with sales of over 100,000 tons annually.

the Croatian company INA, with 20%.

The commercial relationship between ENAP, through ENAP
Reinerias S.A., and Petroquim S.A., is not only retained but

Bond issue and placement abroad.

is strengthened through improvements in the supply contract
between the companies.

The company announced on March 12, 2004 the issue and
placement of bonds for an amount of US$ 150 million at

The proceeds of the sale of shares in Petroquim S.A., both

a term of 10 years with semi-annual payments of principal

of ENAP and ENAP Refinerias S.A., were used to finance the

and interest. The interest coupon is 4.875% p.a. and

investment plan approved for 2004.

the placement yield was approximately 4.92% p.a. which
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With this transaction, ENAP and ENAP Refinerias ceased to

Merger of Companies in which

be shareholders in Petroquim S.A

ENAP is the principal shareholder.

Signing of financing, construction and

The board meeting of Empresa Nacional de Petroleo held

operating agreements for a refining complex.

on June 24, 2004 agreed to approve the merger of ENAP
Refinerias S.A. and Empresa Almacenadora de Combustibles

On June 11 and 14, Empresa Nacional de Petroleo (ENAP)

S.A., companies in which ENAP is the principal shareholder.

and its subsidiary ENAP Refinerias S.A. signed, together

The merger was carried out by the incorporation of Empresa

with Tecnicas Reunidas S.A., Spain and DSD Construcciones

Almacenadora de Combustibles S.A. into ENAP Refinerias

y Montajes S.A. (a member of the German Ferrostaal

S.A., the latter absorbing and being responsible for all the

group), various agreements for the financing, construction

assets and liabilities of the former and being, for all legal

and operation of a refining complex consisting of a smooth

purposes, the legal successor of Empresa Almacenadora de

hydrocracking unit, or MHC unit, for an Acid Waters Plant, an

Combustibles S.A.

Amines Regeneration Plant, a Water Demineralization Plant
and mechanical, electrical and instrumental interconnections

The same meeting also agreed to be present at the shareholders

between each unit and the existing installations of the Bio Bio

meeting(s) that are necessary for this purpose.

refinery of Enap Refinerias S.A. in Talcahuano.
New oil reserves discovery in the
The purpose of this project, implying a total investment of

North Bahariya block in Egypt

US$ 110.9 million, is to facilitate the production of highquality and low sulfur-content diesel oil that ENAP supplies to

On July 19, 2004, Empresa Nacional del Petróleo announced

the domestic market. The plant will operate commercially as

a new discovery of oil reserves in the North Bahariya block in

from February 2005.

Egypt made by Sipetrol S.A., its international subsidiary.

The project company is Productora de Diesel S.A., a corporation

The discovery was made in the Rawda-1 well which was

constituted under Chilean law. ENAP and Enap Refinerias S.A.

successfully drilled, registered and proven. An interval in the

will hold up to 49% of the capital of the new company, the

Aby Roash superior cretaceous formation proved commercial

remaining portion being held by Tecnicas Reunidas S.A. and

oil production (estimated at 360 barrels per day) of API 38

DSD Construcciones y Montajes S.A.. The capital contribution

grades at a depth of 9,900 feet (3,000 meters) following the

of ENAP and Enap Refinerias S.A. will amount to no more

making of a hydraulic fracturing in the reservoir.

than US$ 11 million.
This oil discovery is in addition to the discovery of the Ganna
A processing services contract has been signed between

1 and Ferdaus 1 wells in the same exploration block, informed

Productora de Diesel S.A. and Enap Refinerias S.A. for a 15-

as Material Information on October 7, 2003 and March 9,

year operating period. The obligations of Enap Refinerias S.A.

2004 respectively.

under this contract are guaranteed by ENAP.
ENAP is still evaluating the total volume of the reserves
The project is being financed by partners’ capital contributions

discovered and defining their quality. Technical studies will be

(20% of the total investment) and two syndicated bank loans

concluded in the coming months for making a more accurate

led by BNP Paribas (the remaining 80%). The first loan, for

estimate. The economic and financial effects of this find are

US$ 35.3 million, has a term of 11 years while the second

still not quantifiable with any precision.

one (which has insurance cover from Compañia Española de
Seguros de Credito (CESCE) amounts to US$ 53.5 million and

The North Bahariya block is located in Egypt’s Western Desert

has a term of 12 years.

basin and is being explored by the consortium formed by
Sipetrol S.A., which is the operator with a 50% participation,
the American company IPR Transoil Corporation (30%) and
the Croatian company INA (20%).
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Sale of ENAP’s shareholding in Petroquímica Dow S.A.

capital of Compañia de Petroleo Shell del Peru S.A. (Shell
Peru),

On July 29, 2004, ENAP sold to Dow Chemical International
Ltd. its 20.47% shareholding in Petroquimica Dow S.A.

ii) The association with the Peruvian Romero group to jointly

(Petrodow) for a total of US$ 4,094,000.

develop the fuel distribution business and other related
products within Peru, through the transfer of the fuels business

This sale falls within the strategy of selling assets that do not

from Romero Trading S.A. to Romero Trading Combustibles

form part of ENAP’s core business.

S.A. (both member companies of the Romero group) and the
later merger of this with Shell Peru.

Petrodow is a company that produces and sells low-density
polyethylene, with annual sales of around 45,000 tons.

iii) The simultaneous signing of a long-term contract for the

The present commercial relationship between ENAP and

supply of fuels and other hydrocarbon byproducts which will

Petrodow, consisting of an ethylene supply contract between

enable ENAP Refinerias S.A. to export its refined products to

ENAP Refinerias S.A. and Petrodow, is retained and its term

Peru.

extended until the year 2024.
The assets of Shell Peru consist of:
The proceeds of the sale of the Petrodow shares were used to
finance the investment plan approved for 2004.

(i) a chain of 165 service stations, most of them in Lima and
Peru’s coastal region, with annual fuel sales of 323,000 m3

With this transaction, ENAP ceased to be a shareholder in

in 2003,

Petrodow.

(ii) wholesale distribution for supplying the mining, fishing and
manufacturing industries,

Clarification with respect to material information reported

(iii) marine fuels for supplying Peru’s fishing fleet,

regarding the sale of ENAP’s holding in Petroquímica Dow S.A.

(iv) the distribution of Shell lubricants through the acquired
service stations. The total market share is 12.1%, with annual

At March 31, 2004, the 2,858,374 shares in PetroDow,

sales of 713,000 m3.

representing 20.47% of that company’s capital, had a book
value of Ch$ 1,594.2 million. The sale price for these shares

For its part, Romero Trading S.A., the Romero group company

for US$ 4,094,000 was, at the exchange rate prevailing

with which ENAP and Enap Refinerías (through Humboldt)

on the date of sale, the equivalent of Ch$ 2,631.7 million,

have become associated, is an operator with wide experience

representing 167.8% of the book value.

in the wholesale fuels business, with a 7.9% domestic market
share in liquid fuels.

On the other hand, the book value of the investment represented
0.1% of total assets at March 31, 2004 and 1.6% of income

The cost of the shares in Shell Peru amounted to US$ 41

after 17% income tax for the year 2003. This transaction

million. The value of the exchange of shares of the merged

therefore had no material impact on the results.

companies determined that the initial holdings of ENAP and
ENAP Refinerias (through Humboldt) and Romero Trading S.A.

Acquisition of Peruvian Subsidiary.

in the new company will amount to approximately 56.5% and
43.5% respectively. According to the shareholders agreement

The company announced on August 16, 2004:

signed for this purpose, the indicated combined holding of
ENAP and Enap Refinerías should reduce to 49% within a

i) The acquisition by Inversiones y Proyectos Humboldt S.A.

maximum of six years. The investment cost was contemplated

(Humboldt), an instrumental subsidiary of ENAP Refinerias

in the amount of the investments of ENAP and Enap Refinerías

S.A. (formed for the purpose of this project), with the

for 2004, equivalent to US$ 334 million. ENAP and Enap

guarantee of Empresa Nacional del Petróleo (ENAP), the

Refinerías did not increase their borrowings to finance this

parent company of ENAP Refinerias S.A., of the whole share

acquisition.
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As ENAP and Enap Refinerías participate in this business

This sale is in addition to the sale of its holding in Petroquím

through the latter’s instrumental subsidiaries, at the same

S.A. in May 2004 and the sales of holdings in Petroquímica

time as the above contracts were signed, ENAP granted its

Dow S.A. and Depósitos Asfálticos S.A. in July 2004, all

guarantee to the share sale contract with Shell Peru signed

falling within ENAP’s policy of selling those assets that are

by Humboldt, and ENAP Refinerías S.A. granted its guarantee

not part of its core business.

to the fuel supply contract referred to above and signed by
Manu Peru Holding S.A., another of the subsidiaries of ENAP

Before the sale, ENAP held 22,100,000 shares in SONACOL

Refinerias constituted in Peru for the above business.

representing a 22.1% holding in that company, with a book
value at September 30, 2004 of Ch$15,760 million, while

Financing transaction for US$ 250 million by

the 12,000,000 shares sold to Abastible S.A., representing

Empresa Nacional del Petróleo (ENAP).

a 12% holding, produced Ch$8,557.4 million which, at the
dollar exchange rate on September 30, 2004, represented

On August 31, a financing transaction for 250 million US dollars

US$14,053,885. In other words, the value of US$18.0

was signed by Empresa Nacional del Petróleo (ENAP).

million represents 1.28 times the book value of the shares at
September 30, 2004.

ENAP signed an amended and restated term loan agreement
with a number of international banks under New York law,

The book value of the 12% shareholding in SONACOL

which amends and restates a loan agreement dated August

represented 0.9% of total assets at September 30, 2004

29, 2003, referring to:

and 5.3% of income after 17% income tax during the year

(i) the modification of the loan conditions of August 29, 2003

2003. The transaction therefore has no material impact on

for an amount of US$ 150 million (Tranche 1), by a reduction

the results.

in the applicable interest rate (repricing), and
(ii) the granting of an additional loan of up to US$ 100 million

SONACOL is a company whose principal business is fuel

(Tranche 2) whose principal is payable in one amount in a

business logistics. It has two principal business units, one

term of five years.

related to pipeline transportation and the other to the shipping
of fuels.

The applicable interest rate for this transaction is: for Tranche
1, Libor + 0.20% p.a. (being previously Libor + 0.50%) and

The proceeds of this sale were used to finance ENAP’s

for Tranche 2, Libor + 0.20% p.a. for the first four years and

investment plan.

Libor + 0.225% p.a. for the fifth year.
Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meetings of Enap Refinerías S.A.
The repricing of Tranche 1 translates into a reduction in

and Empresa Almacenadora de Combustibles S.A.

ENAP’s financing costs. The proceeds of Tranche 2 will be
used exclusively for the refinancing of short-term loans. The

On November 30, 2004, extraordinary shareholders’ meetings

transaction therefore has no impact on ENAP’s debt levels.

were held by the companies Enap Refinerías S.A. and Empresa
Almacenadora de Combustibles S.A., both subsidiaries of

Partial sale of ENAP’s holding in

Empresa Nacional del Petróleo, which agreed to the merger of

Sociedad Nacional de Oleoductos S.A.

the companies by the incorporation of Empresa Almacenadora
de Combustibles S.A. into Enap Refinerías S.A. which company

On November 17, 2004, ENAP sold to Abastible S.A., a

absorbed and became responsible for all the assets and

subsidiary of Copec S.A., a 12% shareholding in Sonacol for

liabilities of the former and for all legal purposes became its

the peso equivalent of US$18,000,000. ENAP’s shareholding

legal successor. The merger became effective on December

was 22.10% so, following the sale of 12%, it will remain with a

1, 2004.

10.1% shareholding and retain one member of that company’s
board of directors.
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Once the merger was completed, the share capital of Enap

The Mehr block covers an area of 2,500 km_ in Khuzestan

Refinerías S.A. became held by Empresa Nacional del Petróleo

province and is being explored under a buy-back contract by

(99.96%) and Corporación de Fomento (CORFO) (0.04%).

an international consortium comprising the Austrian company
OMV, with 34% and acting as operator, the Spanish company

Through this merger, Empresa Nacional del Petróleo continues

Repsol-YPF, with 33%, and Sipetrol S.A. with 33%.

with its process of gradually integrating all its activities in the
refining and commercialization area in its subsidiary Enap

Empresa Nacional del Petróleo has also reported to the

Refinerías S.A.. This process began on January 1, 2004 with the

regulatory authority other events occurring during 2004, as

merger of Petrox S.A. and RPC S.A... Empresa Almacenadora

follows:

de Combustibles S.A., the company that disappears in this
merger, has storage facilities and its objects include the

1.- Letter dated May 25, 2004 reported:

provision of fuel storage services; these services were taken
over by Enap Refinerías S.A. in December 2004.

- That Corporación de Fomento de la Producción (CORFO), an
institution which according to the organic law (No.9,618) of

Change of accounting currency for

Empresa Nacional del Petróleo (ENAP) names 3 directors of

Empresa Nacional del Petróleo and its subsidiaries.

ENAP, informed ENAP on May 24 that, at its council meeting
No.362 held on May 20, it had accepted the resignation

It was announced on January 4, 2005 that Empresa Nacional

as a director of ENAP presented by Eduardo Jara Miranda

del Petróleo and its subsidiaries would change their accounting

and that it had not yet decided on his replacement. This

currency to the US dollar effective January 1, 2005. This

resignation was made effective from May 10, 2004, the date

change was authorized by all the competent authorities.

of its presentation, thus Eduardo Jara Miranda is no longer a
director of ENAP and the position remains vacant.

This form of accounting will enable ENAP to record its
commercial and financial operations more suitably as its

2.- Letter dated June 17, 2004 reported:

revenues, most of its expenses and all its debt are indexed or
denominated in US dollars.

- That on June 14, the Chief Executive Officer of Empresa
Nacional del Petróleo, Daniel Fernández Koprich, presented

ENAP’s accounts will now better reflect the company’s effective

his resignation effective from July 14, 2004. The appointment

cash flows.

of the new Chief Executive Officer would happen at the next
board meeting to be held on June 23.

Discovery of oil reserves in the Mehr block in
Iran by ENAP’s international subsidiary, Sipetrol S.A.

3.- Letter dated June 24, 2004 reported:

On January 14, 2005, ENAP’s international subsidiary, Sipetrol

- That Corporación de Fomento de la Producción (CORFO), an

S.A., made an oil discovery at the Mehr block in Iran.

institution which according to the organic law (No.9,618) of
Empresa Nacional del Petróleo (ENAP) names 3 directors of

The discovery was made at the Band-e-Karkheh-2 well which

ENAP, informed ENAP on June 22 that, at its council meeting

was successfully drilled, recorded and proven. The well is

No.363 held on that date, had appointed Aldo Signorelli

located in what is geologically known as “Zagros Folded Zone”,

Guerra as a director of ENAP in replacement of Eduardo Jara

being drilled down to 4,148 meters and finding oil of 22

Miranda. Mr Aldo Signorelli Guerra therefore joined the board

degrees API in one of the reservoirs. During testing, the well

of ENAP from that date.

flowed naturally at a rate of 1,040 barrels per day.
The operator is still evaluating the reservoir and should
complete the technical studies soon in order to make more
precise estimates.
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4.- Letter dated June 25, 2004 reported:

2.-Contracts for the construction of a Diesel Hydrotreatment
Plant (HDT) and remodeling of the Hydrocracking Plants:

- That on June 24, the board of Empresa Nacional del Petróleo
accepted the resignation of Daniel Fernández Koprich as Chief

On October 7, 2004, the company signed various contracts

Executive Officer to be effective from July 14, 2004, and

for the construction of a Diesel Hydrotreatment plant (HDT) to

appointed Enrique Dávila Alveal as his replacement from that

be installed at the Aconcagua refinery and for the remodeling

same date.

of the two hydrocracking plants at the Aconcagua and Bío Bío
refineries. All this is to enable the company to meet future

5.- Letter dated January 14, 2005 reported:

demand for diesel with a low sulfur content because, as from
July 1, 2006, the specifications for the product will be more

- That on January 12, 2005, Empresa Nacional del Petróleo

demanding throughout the country.

issued a press release concerning its project to construct an
ethylene and propylene plant and a polyethylene plant, and

These contracts were signed with INITEC Tecnología S.A. and

the expansion of the present polypropylene plant of Petroquím

INITEC Chile Limitada, both under Técnicas Reunidas S.A.

S.A..
The total fixed price of the contracts is thirty-five million, nine
The chief executive officer of ENAP, Enrique Dávila Alveal, said

hundred and twenty-six thousand, two hundred and eighty-

that the new industrial complex would require an investment

five euros and four hundred and seventy-one thousand, seven

of close to US$ 800 million and that it would be located on

hundred and eighty-seven Unidades de Fomento, covering

land of the Bío Bío refinery and of Petroquím in Hualpén,

the concepts of engineering (foreign portion), equipment and

“becoming part of Chile’s Eighth Region petrochemical center,

materials (foreign portion) and construction (local portion).

the most important in the country”.
Enap Refinerías S.A., a subsidiary of Empresa Nacional

3.- Letter dated June 2, 2004 reported

del Petróleo, also reported the following matters to the
Superintendency of Securities and Insurance during the year:

- That on June 1, 2004, the following executives were
appointed and assumed their jobs in this company:

1.- Contract for the construction of a
Diesel Hydrodesulfurization plant (HDS):

Julio Friedmann Encina – Commercial Manager
Daniel Ibarra Moraga – Manager, Investments, New Business

On October 1, 2004, the company signed a contract for the

and Performance

construction of a Diesel Hydrodesulfurization plant (HDS) to

Ramón Cifuentes Jiménez – Finance Manager

be located at the Bío Bío refinery, in order for the company to
meet future demands for diesel oil with a low sulfur content

4.- Letter dated June 25, 2004 reported:

because, as from July 1, 2006, the specifications for the
product will be more demanding throughout the country.

- That the chairman of the company, Daniel Fernández Koprich,
presented his resignation on June 23 effective from July 14,

The contract was signed with Ingeniería y Construcción Sigdo
Koppers S.A, Tipiel S.A. and Technip Italy S.p.A..
The fixed-price or turnkey contract price is fifteen million, eight
hundred and forty-seven thousand euros and two hundred and
thirty thousand Unidades de Fomento covering the concepts
of engineering (foreign portion), equipment and materials
(foreign portion) and construction (local portion).
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
(A free translation from the original in Spanish)

Santiago, February 18, 2005

To the Chairman and Directors of
Empresa Nacional del Petróleo

1 We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Empresa Nacional del Petróleo as of December
31, 2004 and 2003 and the related statements of income and of cash flows for the years then ended.
These financial statements (including the notes thereto) are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.
2 We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Chile. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.
3 These financial statements have been prepared to reflect the individual financial position of Empresa
Nacional del Petróleo, in accordance with the criteria described in Note 2, instead of a line-by-line consolidation of the Company and its subsidiary companies detailed in Note 10. Accordingly, for the proper
interpretation, these individual financial statements should be read together with the consolidated financial statements of Empresa Nacional del Petróleo and subsidiaries, as required by generally accepted
accounting principles in Chile.
4 In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Empresa Nacional del Petróleo as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 and the results
of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles
described in Note 2.

Renzo Corona Spedaliere
RUT:6.373.028-9
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EMPRESA NACIONAL DEL PETROLEO
BALANCE SHEET
(Translation from the original in Spanish)

At december 31,
ASSETS

2004

2003

ThCh$

ThCh$

8,940,035

2,201,242

34,138

21,051,500

16,813,730

15,957,916

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and banks
Time deposits
Trade receivables, net
Sundry debtors, net

8,920,174

8,635,394

Notes and accounts receivable from related companies

365,058,373

294,370,189

Inventories, net

163,639,676

111,895,987

6,811,992

22,151,230

Recoverable taxes
Prepaid expenses
Deferred taxes
Other current assets
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS

378,728

778,604

10,063,601

10,794,520

11,789,974

26,790,216

592,450,421

514,626,798

1,177,196

1,177,196

1,237,624,899

1,221,952,130

21,589,351

20,492,790

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Land
Construction and infrastructure
Machinery and equipment
Other property, plant and equipment
Less: Accumulated depreciation
NET PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

26,898,133

22,839,136

(1,106,952,459)

(1,093,727,168)

180,337,120

172,734,084

577,598,014

559,988,429

OTHER ASSETS
Investments in related companies
Investments in other companies

-

12,687

3,986,897

4,066,100

Notes and accounts receivable from related companies

71,173,540

39,099,626

Other

26,163,236

16,852,691

Trade receivables, net

TOTAL OTHER ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS

678,921,687

(620,019,533)

1,451,709,228

1,307,380,415

The accompanying notes 1 to 32 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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At december 31,
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

2004

2003

ThCh$

ThCh$

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Long-term liabilities with banks and ﬁnancial institutions, short-term portion
Current portion of bonds payable
Current portion of long-term liabilities
Accounts payable

42,521,904

31,493,758

3,144,475

2,081,922

363,943

248,366

244,212,532

145,368,602

87,990,249

155,909,251

Sundry creditors

3,639,467

1,588,345

Notes and accounts payable to related companies

8,414,830

9,782,375

16,610,371

18,580,234

1,114,620

849,649

Notes payable

Accruals
Withholdings
Income tax
Unearned income
Other current liabilities

17,020,895

-

2,238,403

2,198,421

329,893

160,556

425,601,582

368,261,479

Liabilities with banks and ﬁnancial institutions

139,350,000

141,039,562

Bonds payable

301,536,413

232,871,800

Notes payable

2,455,224

4,110,207

Sundry creditors

8,411,007

8,905,111

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Notes and accounts payable to related companies
Accruals
Deferred taxes

1,248,884

3,190,406

130,288,224

110,298,556

6,990,131

3,356,200

13,215,907

4,477,340

603,495,790

508,249,182

Paid-in capital

419,784,184

419,784,184

Other reserves

(37,328,492)

(18,192,575)

28,178,768

28,169,195

Other long-term liabilities
TOTAL LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
EQUITY

Prior years retained earnings
Net income
Proﬁt advances to Government
TOTAL EQUITY
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

65,114,516

90,054,924

(53,137,120)

(88,945,974)

422,611,856

430,869,754

1,451,709,228

1,307,380,415
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EMPRESA NACIONAL DEL PETROLEO
STATEMENT OF INCOME
(Translation from the original in Spanish)

For the years
ended December 31,
STATEMENT OF INCOME

2004

2003

ThCh$

ThCh$

OPERATING RESULTS
Net sales
Cost of sales
GROSS PROFIT
Selling and administrative expenses
OPERATING INCOME

2,262,958,681

1,940,877,591

(2,189,943,768)

(1,891,256,972)

73,014,913

49,620,619

(20,114,339)

(22,893,252)

52,900,574

26,727,367

NON-OPERATING INCOME (EXPENSES)
Financial income

12,241,030

10,223,144

Equity in earnings of related companies

75,867,643

133,575,520

Other non-operating income

13,681,032

3,701,519

Equity in losses of related companies

(10,363,916)

(2,703,772)

Financial expense

(33,380,255)

(30,411,449)

Other non-operating expenses

(1,785,887)

(22,944,189)

Price-level restatement

(4,547,149)

922,846

Exchange difference

30,809,660

53,446,906

NON-OPERATING INCOME

82,522,158

145,810,525

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX, MINORITY INTEREST AND AMORTIZATION OF NEGATIVE GOODWILL

135,422,732

172,537,892

Income tax

(70,308,216)

(82,482,968)

65,114,516

90,054,924

NET INCOME

The accompanying notes 1 to 32 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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EMPRESA NACIONAL DEL PETROLEO
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(Translation from the original in Spanish)

For the years
ended December 31,
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2004

2003

ThCh$

ThCh$

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Collections from trade accounts receivable
Financial income
Dividends and other distributions received
Other income
Payments to suppliers and personnel

2,512,196,331

2,364,341,722

12,112,536

9,956,821

8,027,605

80,615,933

23,096,546

614,131

(2,549,067,655)

(2,282,914,873)

Interest paid

(31,098,887)

(31,714,966)

Income tax paid

(18,133,541)

(30,777,027)

(574,986)

(605,041)

Other expenses paid
Value-added tax and other taxes paid

(16,902,196)

(9,395,425)

TOTAL NET CASH FLOWS (USED IN) PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

(60,344,247)

100,121,275

Borrowings

62,473,930

106,385,826

Bonds issued

90,176,170

-

(6,924,004)

-

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Documented loans to related companies
Other ﬁnancing sources
Payment of dividends

108,525

347,849

Repayment of loans

(53,705,000)

(97,878,275)

Payment of expenses on bond issuance and discount

(38,899,749)

(23,696,140)

(999,506)

(166,569)

52,230,366

(15,007,309)

299,020

5,781,185

Other ﬁnancing activities
TOTAL NET CASH FLOWS PROVIDED BY (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Sales of property, plant and equipment
Sales of businesses
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Acquisition of businesses
Other loans to related companies
Other investing activities

16,096,308

-

(26,591,596)

(30,662,282)

(3,737,664)

(3,734,471)

(933,858)

(511,314)

(1,514,360)

(1,366,345)

TOTAL NET CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

(16,382,150)

(30,493,227)

TOTAL NET CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR

(24,496,031)

54,620,739

(5,385,025)

(10,231,901)

EFFECT OF INFLATION ON CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
NET CHANGES IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(29,881,056)

44,388,838

OPENING BALANCE OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

47,856,009

3,467,171

ENDING BALANCE OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

17,974,953

47,856,009
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EMPRESA NACIONAL DEL PETROLEO
RECONCILIATION BETWEEN NET INCOME AND NET CASH
FLOWS PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES
(Translation from the original in Spanish)

For the years
ended December 31,
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2004

NET INCOME

2003

ThCh$

ThCh$

65,114,516

90,054,924

(562,691)

(2,463,113)

(2,791,507)

-

14,514,297

13,524,047

5,232,530

1,578,590

(75,867,643)

(133,575,520)

10,363,916

2,703,772

INCOME FROM SALE OF ASSETS
Gain on sale of property plant and equipment
Gain on sale of other investments
CHARGES (CREDITS) TO INCOME NOT REPRESENTING CASH FLOWS
Depreciation
Provisions and write-offs
Equity in earnings of related companies
Equity in losses of related companies
Price-level restatement

4,547,149

(922,846)

Net exchange difference

(30,809,660)

(53,446,906)

(8,550,580)

(1,167,469)

541,337

23,267,753

(149,433,273)

70,525,564

Inventories

(54,413,579)

(14,307,801)

Other assets

13,279,681

77,346,134

95,486,312

(19,861,407)

Other credits to income that do not represent cash ﬂows
Other charges to income that do not represent cash ﬂows
DECREASE (INCREASE) IN ASSETS AFFECTING CASH FLOWS
Trade receivables

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN LIABILITIES AFFECTING CASH FLOWS
Accounts payable related to operating income
Interest payable
Income tax payable (net)
Other accounts payable related to non-operating results
Value added tax and other similar payments
TOTAL CASH FLOWS PROVIDED BY (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES

2,653,633

14,385,462

28,611,825

47,401,317

2,985,802

(14,921,226)

18,753,688

-

(60,344,247)

100,121,275

The accompanying notes 1 to 32 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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EMPRESA NACIONAL DEL PETROLEO
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT DECEMBER 31, 2004 AND 2003
NOTE 1 - REGISTRATION IN THE SECURITIES REGISTER

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

On October 4, 2002, the Company was registered with the
Securities Register of the Superintendencia de Valores y
Seguros, (the “Superintendency of Securities and Insurance”)
under No.783. Accordingly, the Company is subject to
the regulation of the Superintendency of Securities and
Insurance.

a) Accounting period

ENAP was created by Law 9,618 of June 19, 1950 and is
owned by the Government. Pursuant to that law and subsequent
amendments, it is engaged mainly in the exploration,
exploitation or processing of hydrocarbon deposits. It is
authorized to conduct its operations in Chile and abroad.
ENAP is also the parent company of the following subsidiaries:
Enap Refinerías S.A., Sociedad Internacional Petrolera S.A. y
Petro Servicio Corp. S.A. In addition, it owns a branch in the
Republic of Argentina.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in Chile issued
by the Chilean Institute of Accountants, which do not differ
from the standards of the Superintendency of Securities and
Insurance, except for investments in subsidiaries which are
shown as a single amount in the balance sheet using the
equity method and thus are not consolidated on a line-by-line
basis. This treatment does not affect net income for the year
or the shareholders’ equity.

The subsidiary Enap Refinerías S.A. is a closely-held
corporation voluntarily registered under N° 833 in the official
corporation register of the Superintendency of Securities and
Insurance, on June 25, 2004. This subsidiary was originated
from the merger of the subsidiaries Petrox S.A. Refinería de
Petróleo (PETROX S.A.) and Refinería de Petróleo Concón S.A.
(RPC S.A.), which took place on January 1, 2004, through the
absorption of the latter which was dissolved, the former being
the legal continuator. Accordingly, PETROX S.A. incorporated
all the assets and liabilities of RPC S.A., as well as succeeding
it in every rights and obligations.

The purpose of these financial statements is to enable an
analysis of the Company to be conducted on an individual
basis; they should therefore be read in conjunction with the
consolidated financial statements, as required by accounting
principles generally accepted in Chile.

For the purposes of this merger, RPC S.A. contributed all its
assets and liabilities at book value as of December 31, 2003,
effective at January 1, 2004. In addition, the name of Petrox
S.A. Refinería de Petróleo was changed to Enap Refinerías
S.A.
On December 1, 2004, the merger of the subsidiary Empresa
Almacenadora de Combustibles S.A. took place, through its
incorporation into the subsidiary Enap Refinerías S.A. The
latter has absorbed and incorporated all assets and liabilities of
Emalco S.A., and succeeds it in all its rights and obligations.

The financial statements are as of December 31, 2004 and
2003.
b) Basis for preparation

c) Basis for presentation
For comparison purposes, the amounts in the consolidated
financial states and explanatory notes of the prior year have
been price-level restated in the percentage of variation of the
Consumer Price Index (CPI), which was 2.5% for 2004.
d) Price-level restatement
Non-monetary assets and liabilities, equity and income
statement accounts have been price-level restated in order
to reflect changes in the purchasing power of the currency.
These restatements have been calculated based on variations
in the official Consumer Price Index (CPI), which amounted
to 2.5% for the year ended December 31, 2004 (1.0% in
2003).
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e) Basis for translation

j) Property, plant and equipment

Balances in foreign currency and in unidades de fomento (UF)
have been translated to Chilean pesos at each year end, in
accordance with the exchange rate determined by the Central
Bank of Chile and with the closing value of the indexed unit,
as follows:

Property, plant and equipment are shown at acquisition cost,
including price-level restatement.

2004
US dollar
Canadian dollar
Pound sterling

2003

Ch$

Ch$

557.40

593.80

463.19

459.53

1,073.37

1,056.21

Japanese yen

5.41

5.55

Euro

760.13

744.95

Argentine peso

187.65

202.32

Colombian peso
Peruvian new sol
UF (index-linked unit of account)

0.24

0.21

169.81

171.25

17,317.05

16,920.00

f) Time deposits
Time deposits reflect the principal invested plus accrued
interest and indexation.

Investments in oil fields for development and drilling are
presented as Construction and infrastructure.
Exploration investments consist of disbursements and
contributions used to cover the acquisition of assets and the
development of exploratory pits. These costs are maintained
as exploration investments until ENAP reaches a conclusion
regarding the presence of hydrocarbons that would allow for
recovery. Geological and geophysics costs are charged directly
to income.
Costs and investments for successful explorations are
transferred to oil fields and unsuccessful explorations are
charged to income.
Materials and parts that are planned to be added to property,
plant and equipment are presented as Other fixed assets
at their price-level restated cost, net of an allowance for
obsolescence.
k) Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Trade receivables are presented net of estimates for doubtful
accounts. These estimates were based on the aging of
accounts receivable overdue.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method over the estimated useful
lives of the assets, except for oil fields, which depreciation
is calculated using the unit of production method, taking into
account the production for the year and estimated reserves
(proved-developed) of crude oil and gas, based on a technical
report prepared by the Company’s personnel. Depreciation of
marine oil and gas pipelines is calculated using the unit of
production method, taking into account probable reserves of
the area under exploitation, the production of the year and
reserves (proved-developed).

i) Inventories

l) Leased assets

Inventories of crude oil and finished products are valued at
their price-level restated acquisition or production cost. The
value of inventories does not exceed their net realizable value.
Sales prices of finished products and replacement costs of
crude oil have been considered for these purposes.

Assets under financial leases are recorded similarly to
acquisition of property, plant and equipment, recognizing
the entire debt and interest on an accrual basis. Valuation
and depreciation of these assets are calculated using general
standards applicable to property, plant and equipment. These
assets are not legally the property of the Company and,
therefore, cannot be freely disposed of until the purchase
options held by the Company are exercised.

g) Investments acquired under repurchase agreements
Investments acquired under repurchase agreements are valued
similarly to an investment in time deposits, and are shown as
Other current assets.
h) Allowance for doubtful accounts
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m) Investments in related companies

q) Notes payable

Investments incorporated as from January 1, 2004 are valued
according to the equity value method. Those made before
that date are valued pursuant to the proportional equity value
method.

This item includes payment obligations confirmed to
suppliers of crude oil and other products, through financial
institutions.
r) Bonds payable

The unrealized income from transactions with subsidiaries
and associates has been eliminated.
Investments in foreign companies have been valued according
to the standards set forth in Technical Bulletin No. 64 of
the Chilean Institute of Accountants. These standards and
procedures require investments abroad, in unstable countries
and that are not an extension of operations of the investor
company, to be accounted for in US dollars, converting the
financial statements of the foreign company to Chilean GAAP
and charging or crediting currency translation adjustments to
Other reserves included in equity.
n) Investments in other companies
These investments are valued at the price-level restated cost
of acquisition.
o) Deferred expenses
Fees for loans are deferred and amortized during the term of
the loans and are presented in other current and long-term
assets.
p) Income tax and deferred taxes
The Company provides for income tax on an accrual basis
according to the “Ley del Impuesto sobre la Renta” (the
“Income Tax Law”). These taxes are comprised of the First
Category tax and an additional tax pursuant to Regulation No.
2 of Decree Law No. 2,398.
Deferred taxes arising from differences between tax balance
sheet and financial balance sheet are recorded for all
temporary differences on the basis of the estimated tax rate
at the date of reversal, in conformity with Technical Bulletin
60 issued by the Chilean Institute of Accountants. The effect
of unrecorded deferred taxes at the implementation date are
recorded in income when the related temporary difference
reverse.

Bonds payable are carried at par value which includes
principal and accrued interest up to the closing date of the
financial statements. The difference in the par value and the
proceeds received, the purchase discount, is deferred and
amortized using the straight-line method over the term of the
debt instruments and is presented as Other current assets and
Other long-term assets. The charge to income for amortization
is shown as Financial expenses in the Statement of income.
s) Derivative contracts
The Company has derivative contracts hedging forecasted
transactions and existing recognized assets and liabilities.
Hedge instruments of forecasted transactions, are recorded
at fair value and changes in such value are recorded as
unrealized gains and losses and included in Other assets and
Other liabilities. Upon contract expiration, unrealized gains
and losses are recognized as Other non-operating income or
expenses, as appropriate.
Hedge instruments of existing recognized assets or liabilities,
are recorded at fair value. Unrealized losses are recognized
as a charge to income and gains are deferred and included in
other liabilities (current or long-term) until realized.
t) Employee vacations
The cost of employee vacation is recognized on an accrual
basis.
u) Severance indemnities
The provision to cover employee severance indemnities
contained in current agreements and contracts is recorded
under the shut-down method.
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v) Net sales

y) Statement of cash flows

Net sales are recorded on an accrual basis. These sales
revenues are recognized when delivery has taken place and
title is transferred.

The Company considers as cash and cash equivalents any cash
and short-term investments made as part of the Company’s
normal cash surplus management according to requirements
of Technical Bulletin No. 50 of the Chilean Institute of
Accountants. Such amounts include cash, time deposits and
repurchase and resale agreements included in Other current
assets.

w) Computer software
The Company purchases software as computer package,
which are charged to income in the same purchase period.
The implementation cost, if significant, is capitalized and
amortized a 4-year period or less.
x) Bonds issuance costs
Bonds issuance costs are capitalized, presented under
Other current assets and Other assets and amortized using
the straight-line method over the term of the respective
obligations. The respective charge to income is shown in
Financial expenses.

The concept Cash flows from operating activities includes
cash flows related to business activity, including interest paid,
financial income and cash flows that are not included in cash
flows from investing or financing activities. In addition, the
operating cash flow concept used in the statement of cash
flows is broader than that used in the consolidated statements
of income.

NOTE 3 - ACCOUNTING CHANGES
There are no changes in the application of generally accepted
accounting principles in Chile in relation to the previous years
which could significantly affect the comparability of these
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTE 4 - SHORT AND LONG-TERM ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
Short and long-term accounts receivables are as follows:

Item

Up to 90 days
2004

Trade receivables

2004

ThCh$

ThCh$

ThCh$

16,981,037

15,957,916

Allowance for doubtful accounts
Sundry debtors

More than 90 days up to 1 year

2003

2003

Total current (net)

2004

ThCh$
-

Subtotal

-

2004

Long-term

2003

2004
ThCh$

ThCh$

ThCh$

ThCh$

16,981,037

16,813,730

15,957,916

2003
ThCh$
-

-

-

-

-

-

167,307

-

-

-

-

5,182,812

3,871,105

3,737,362

4,764,289

8,920,174

8,920,174

8,635,394

3,986,897

4,066,100

3,986,897

4,066,100

Total

Trade receivables are as follows:

2004
ThCh$
Local:
Distributors
Direct consumers
Foreign:
Foreign receivables (1)
Total

2003
%

ThCh$

%

6,824,589
737,769

40.59
4.39

6,021,294
933,973

37.73
5.85

9,251,372
16,813,730

55.02
100.00

9,002,649
15,957,916

56.42
100.00

(1) Foreign receivables refer to accounts receivable, coming from product exports.
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NOTE 5 - BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED COMPANIES
Enap Refinerías S.A. acquires from Enap the crude oil, both local and imported, necessary to operate. Further, the Company
receives and stores hydrocarbons in terminals and tanks.
The Company´s subsidiaries, Sociedad Internacional Petrolera S.A., (“Sipetrol S.A.”) and Petro Servicio Corp. S.A. engage in
hydrocarbon exploration, exploitation and operations abroad.
Balances and principal transactions with related companies are as follows:
A) NOTES AND ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
Short-term
2004
Tax number

Company

87.756.500-9

ENAP Reﬁnerias S.A. (1)

ThCh$

Long-term
2003

2004

ThCh$

ThCh$

2003
ThCh$

361,245,920

254,968,029

-

2,796,706

96.579.730-0

Sociedad Internacional Petrolera (2)

339,818

35,962,296

65,959,167

31,330,883

0-E

Petro Servicio Corp S.A. (4)

385,026

1,561,088

-

-

96.655.490-8

Oleoducto Trasandino Chile S.A. (4)

16,028

481,727

-

-

81.095.400-0

Sociedad Nacional de Oleoductos S.A. (4)

11,730

4,534

-

-

0-E

Gasoducto del Paciﬁco (Argentina) S.A. (7)

2,847,355

1,352,326

12

12

96.694.400-5

Gas de Chile S.A. (3)

-

-

120,623

121,136

78.889.940-8

Norgas S.A. (4)

177,918

5,585

-

-

96.806.130-5

Electrogas S.A. (4)

34,568

34,604

-

-

96.856.650-4

Innergy Holding S.A. (3)

99.548.320-3

Productora de Diesel S.A. (6)

Total

-

-

5,093,738

4,850,889

10

-

-

-

365,058,373

294,370,189

71,173,540

39,099,626

B) NOTES AND ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
Short-term

Long-term

2004

2003

2004

2003

ThCh$

ThCh$

ThCh$

ThCh$

Tax number

Company

87.756.500-9

ENAP Reﬁnerias S.A. (1)

1,052,453

1,249,332

96.579.730-0

Sociedad Internacional Petrolera (2)

7,288,934

6,580,899

0-E

Petro Servicio Corp S.A. (4)

73,443

19,394

-

-

81.095.400-0

Sociedad Nacional de Oleoductos S.A. (4)

-

492,783

-

-

96.655.490-8

Oleoducto Trasandino Chile S.A. (4)

-

1,439,967

96.668.110-1

Cía. Latinoamericana Petrolera S.A. (5)

-

-

1,248,884

1,289,364

96.656.810-0

Cía. Latinoamericana Petrolera N°2 S.A. (5)

Total
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-

-

-

-

1,901,042

8,414,830

9,782,375

1,248,884

3,190,406

(1) The balance at December 31, 2004, refers to a shortterm loan intended to finance commercial debt resulting from
direct sales of crude oil and products and working capital of
its subsidiary. The terms and conditions of this credit line are
in current money, indexed to the United States dollar, using
the “observed” exchange rate published by the Central Bank
of Chile. The cost of the credit line is 3.9% annually (Libo rate
plus an average annual 1.2%, 2003).

Effective August 2004, a fixed rate of 5.1% is established for
Sipetrol S.A. for every loans.

(2) The long-term account receivable refers to three financial
loans. The first loan has been agreed at the 180-day Libo rate
+ 1.24% per annum for 20% of the principal and 180-day
Libo rate + 1.14% per annum for the 80% of the principal,
with semiannually amortization and maturity in 2007. The
second loan was agreed at an interest rate of 7.97% per
annum, and 10-year maturity and semiannually interest. On
October 24, 2003 a new annual interest rate was agreed,
at 3% throughout 2003, with the commitment of reviewing
the updating on a regular basis. The rate is effective to date.
The third loan was agreed at Libo + 0.85 per annum, without
established maturity.

(5) Corresponds to “Repurchase agreements for foreign
currency” (US dollars) entered into between investees and
ENAP.

(3) Long-term receivables refer to future capital contributions
in related companies, which have no maturity.
(4) Short-term receivables and payables correspond mainly to
trade operations that do not bear interest or readjustment.

(6) Refers to a fund transfer that does not bear interest or
readjustment.
(7) During 2003, Gasoducto del Pacífico (Argentina) S.A.
performed a capital decrease, which resulted in the shortterm account receivable. The account still appear in fiscal
year 2004. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, long-term
receivables refer to future capital increases.

C) TRANSACTIONS
2004

Amount
ThCh$

Amount
ThCh$

Effect on
income
(charge)/credit
ThCh$

2,211,337
191,422
1,727,100,625
303,425,487
21,757,560
29,655,310
8,246,075
15,078,093
7,515,222
826,422
19,766,780

17,341,004
18,781,130
(29,655,310)
8,246,075
(797,101)
-

2,275,509
198,139
1,484,623,743
196,479,125
15,414,801
49,248,287
6,279,273
8,524,688
8,325,992
1,187,502
39,775,520

10,036,242
13,618,415
(49,248,287)
6,279,273
957
318,416
-

Company

Tax number

Nature of
relationship

ENAP Reﬁnerías S.A.

87.756.500-9

Subsidiary

Warehousing services
Assets leasing and others
Crude oil sales
Products sales
Products purchases
Exchange rate differences
Current account interests
Other sales or services
Natural gas sales
Other purchases
Shipping services sales

Sociedad Internacional
Petrolera S.A.

96.579.730-0

Subsidiary

Services and expenses invoiced
Financing operations
Crude oil purchases
Natural gas purchases

3,216,316
6,924,004
71,358,786
11,347,808

1,297,557
2,578,445
-

11,517,178
31,467,791
30,673,316
7,159,989

7,401,904
2,494,760
-

0-E

Subsidiary

Services and expenses invoiced

3,321,803

-

1,012,528

-

96.655.490-8

Associate

Oil pipeline transportation services

8,394,459

-

17,584,514

-

81.095-400-0

Associate

96.806.130-5

Associate

Oil pipeline transportation services
Services purchase
Natural gas transportation services

11,082,926
70,198
1,435,610

-

16,833,057
77,717
1,486,719

-

Petroservicio Corp S.A.
(Argentina)
Oleoducto Trasandino
(Chile) S.A.
Sociedad Nacional de
Oleoductos S.A.
Electrogas S.A.

Type of
transaction

2003

Effect on
income
(charge)/credit
ThCh$
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NOTE 6 - INVENTORIES
Inventories are as follows:
2004

2003

ThCh$

ThCh$

Crude oil

42,837,234

51,351,349

Crude oil in transit

82,766,398

44,213,222

Finished products

21,374,354

16,331,416

Products in transit
Total

16,661,690

-

163,639,676

111,895,987

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company has recorded no provisions for inventory obsolescence or losses.

NOTE 7 - DEFERRED TAXES AND INCOME TAX
a) Income tax
The liability (asset) for income tax is as follows:

Income tax provision (recoverable taxes)
Current December 31,
Long-term December 31,
2004
2003
2004
2003
ThCh$
ThCh$
ThCh$
ThCh$
Provision for income tax at December 31:
17% - Company tax (16.5% in 2003)
40% Decree Law N° 2398 on earnings of ENAP
40% Decree Law N° 2398 on earnings from investees (1)
40% Decree Law N° 2398 on earnings of subsidiaries (1)
Tax of subsidiaries abroad
Total charge for taxes of the year
Balance of income taxes payable-prior year
Total
Less:
Estimated monthly payments of the year (2)
Credit for Austral Law and tax withholding, Decree Law N° 2398
Credit for training expenses
Net balances payable (recoverable) at December 31
Balance of income taxes payable-prior year
total
Less:
Estimated monthly payments of the year (2)
Credit for Austral Law and tax withholding, Decree Law N° 2398
Credit for training expenses
Net balances payable (recoverable) at december 31
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10,564,336
24,857,262
2,858,356
67,301
38,347,255
38,347,255

6,558,342
15,899,010
1,788,274
10,678,360
186,819
35,110,805
28,327,400
63,438,205

27,596,110
27,596,110
46,246,997
73,843,107

47,403,172
47,403,172
47,403,172

(21,073,220)
(181,635)
(71,505)
17,020,895
73,102,369

(82,000,000)
(2,708,547)
(173,983)
(21,444,325)
28,327,400
100,414,750

73,843,107
46,246,997
73,843,107

47,403,172
47,403,172

(52,060,642)
(181,635)
(218,340)
20,641,752

(99,614,403)
(2,708,547)
(324,085)
(2,232,285)

73,843,107

47,403,172

(1) Decree Law No. 2,398 establishes a tax rate of 40% for
dividends received by the Company from subsidiary corporations and direct investees. ENAP provides such tax based on
estimated earnings to be distributed. Shareholders’ Meetings
of the subsidiaries Enap Refinerías S.A. and Sipetrol S.A.
agreed not to distribute the 2003 earnings.

(2) During 2004, ENAP prepaid voluntary income taxes
amounting to ThCh$ 12,000,000 (historic). In 2003, such
payments amounted to ThCh$ 80,000,000 (historic).
In 2003, the short-term portion is shown in Recoverable taxes
under Current assets.
The long-term portion of income tax payable is forming part of
Long-term provisions.

b) Deferred taxes
Accumulated balances for deferred taxes are as follows:

2004
Items
Temporary differences
Uncollectible account provision
Unearned income
Employee vacation provision
Other events
Unrealized proﬁts on sale of crude oil
Obsolescence of material provision
Platform removal provision (1)
Derivatives contracts
Leasing agreements
Deferred expenses – bonds
Decrease in value – bonds
Deferred ﬁnancial expenses
Severance provision
Investment valuation provision
Balances complementary accounts
Valuation allowance
Net balance per balance sheet

Asset
Short Term
Long Term
ThCh$
ThCh$
95,365
1,275,890
2,078,828
263,568
2,887,513
3,462,437
10,063,601

Liability
Short Term
Long Term
ThCh$
ThCh$

3,232,107
10,308,356
2,903,431
8,874,211
5,597,709
1,971,974

-

201,452
4,233,613
1,981,361
2,561,176
15,497
8,962,105

2003
Asset
Liability
Short Term
Long Term Short Term Long Term
ThCh$
ThCh$
ThCh$
ThCh$
96,891
1,242,107
2,156,438
438,188
789,662
6,071,234
10,794,520

3,724,370
11,118,564
2,601,957
2,765,007
9,961,763
5,459,285
4,788,850

-

564,367
181,110
3,291,457
2,108,276
2,016,370
16,530
8,145,050

(1) The balance of complementary accounts related to these items is amortized upon the reversal of the corresponding
temporary difference.
(2) In the case of leasing agreements the remaining term is 15 years.

c) Income tax
The credit (charge) for income tax is as follows:
2004
Item
Current tax provision
Effect for assets or liabilities due to deferred taxes of the year.
Effect for amortization of complementary accounts of deferred tax assets and liabilities
Effect on assets or liabilities for deferred taxes due to changes in the valuation provision
Other charges or credits to the account
Total charge to income

2003

ThCh$

ThCh$

(65,876,064)
(5,312,946)
1,086,519
(138,424)
(67,301)
(70,308,216)

(82,327,158)
783,400
2,012,615
(2,765,006)
(186,819)
(82,482,968)
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d)Effect of income tax and deferred tax on income
The effect of income tax and deferred tax on income, taking into account the First Category Tax rate established in the Income
Tax Law and the tax rate added to Regulation No. 2 of Decree Law No. 2,398, is as follows:
2004
ThCh$
Income before income and deferred taxes
Deferred tax, 17% (16.5% in 2003)
Income tax, 17% (16.5% in 2003)
Foreign taxes
Income before income tax and deferred taxes pursuant to article No.2 of Decree Law No. 2,398
Deferred tax (40%)
Income tax (40%)
Income before minority interest and amortization of negative goodwill

135,422,732
(10,564,336)
(1,305,364)
(67,301)
123,485,731
(3,059,487)
(55,311,728)
65,114,516

2003
ThCh$
172,537,892
(6,558,342)
(20,324)
(186,819)
165,772,407
51,333
(75,768,816)
90,054,924

NOTE 8 – OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
The detail of this caption is as follows:

2004
ThCh$
Investments in agreements (1)
Costs of loans secured
Bond issuance costs
Decrease in value – bonds
Others
Total

9,000,780
1,231,685
901,574
440,684
215,251
11,789,974

2003
ThCh$
24,603,267
930,919
653,828
420,832
181,370
26,790,216

(1) Refers to resale agreements, which are detailed in Note 22.

NOTE 9 - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
The charge to income for depreciation of property, plant and equipment included in operating costs and administrative and
selling expenses is as follows:

2004
Item
Operating costs
Administrative expenses
Total
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2003

ThCh$

ThCh$

13,876,585
637,712
14,514,297

12,829,478
694,569
13,524,047

Property, plant and equipment, along with the corresponding accumulated depreciation are as follows:

Gross
balance
ThCh$
Land
Construction and infrastructure
Machinery and equipment
Other property, plant and equipment
Total

1,177,196
1,237,624,899
21,589,351
26,898,133
1,287,289,579

2004
Accumulated
depreciation
ThCh$
(1,092,765,057)
(12,923,583)
(1,263,819)
(1,106,952,459)

Net
balance
ThCh$

Gross
balance
ThCh$

1,177,196
144,859,842
8,665,768
25,634,314
180,337,120

1,177,196
1,221,952,130
20,492,790
22,839,136
1,266,461,252

2003
Accumulated
depreciation
ThCh$
(1,080,133,883)
(12,584,179)
(1,009,106)
(1,093,727,168)

Net
balance
ThCh$
1,177,196
141,818,247
7,908,611
21,830,030
172,734,084

Construction and infrastructure are as follows:

Oil ﬁelds
Oil rigs
Reﬁneries and fuel plants
Oil and gas pipelines
Maritime facilities and storage plants
Production facilities
Re-injection systems
Buildings, settlements and camps
Roads and aerodromes
Construction and drilling
Total
Less: Accumulated depreciation
Net value

2004

2003

ThCh$

ThCh$

799,738,478
159,062,811
45,131,729
152,848,258
15,018,206
9,990,335
26,869,916
16,149,136
112,515
12,703,515
1,237,624,899
(1,092,765,057)
144,859,842

799,738,478
159,062,811
41,107,347
141,338,114
14,479,297
9,390,667
25,536,195
16,075,386
112,515
15,111,320
1,221,952,130
(1,080,133,883)
141,818,247

Other property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Corporate building (leasing) (1)
Material in warehouse for ﬁxed assets (2)
Software
Total
Less: Accumulated depreciation
Net value

(1) “Other property, plant and equipment” includes the
corporate offices purchased through a leasing agreement with
a purchase option with Compañía de Seguros Vida Consorcio
Nacional de Seguros S.A., for a net amount of ThCh$
8,922,626 (ThCh$ 9,177,339 in 2003). This agreement
includes monthly payments and expires in August 2018.

2004

2003

ThCh$

ThCh$

10,186,445
14,872,446
1,839,242
26,898,133
(1,263,819)
25,634,314

10,186,445
12,652,691
22,839,136
(1,009,106)
21,830,030

(2) The material in warehouse for property, plant and
equipment is shown net of an allowance for obsolescence of
ThCh$ 5,670,363 (ThCh$ 6,533,983 in 2003).
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ENAP Reﬁnerías S.A. (1) (2) (3)

Soc. Internacional Petrolera S.A.

Gasoducto del Pacíﬁco (Chule) S.A.

Gasoducto del Pacíﬁco (Argentina) S.A.

Soc. Nacional de Oleoductos S.A. (9)

Oleoducto Trasandino (Argentina) S.A.

Petropower Energía Ltda.

Oleoducto Trasandino (Chile) S.A.

Inversiones Electrogas S.A.

Cía. Latinoamericana Petrolera S.A.

Productora Diesel S.A.

Norgas S.A.

Petrosul S.A.

Eteres y Alcoholes S.A.

Geotérmica del Norte S.A.

Petro Servicio Corp S.A.

A&C Pipeline Holding

Gas de Chile S.A.

Gasoducto Cayman Ltd.

Electrogas S.A.

Enenrcon S.A. (8)

Innergy Holding S.A.

Cía. Latinoamericana Petrolera N°2 S.A. (10)

Depósitos Asfálticos S.A. (6)

Petroquim S.A. (5)

Petroquímica Dow S.A. (6)

Manú Perú S.A. (4)

87.756.500-9

96.579.730-0

96.762.250-8

0-E

81.095.400-0

0-E

78.335.760-7

96.655.490-8

96.889.570-2

96.668.110-1

99.548.320-3

78.889.940-8

96.969.000-4

96.913.550-7

96.971.330-6

0-E

0-E

96.694.400-5

0-E

96.806.130-5

99.519.820-7

96.856.650-4

96.656.810-0

96.807.740-6

78.021.560-7

92.933.000-5

0-E

Total

Company

Tax number

Perú

Chile

Chile

Chile

Chile

Chile

Chile

Chile

Cayman Islands

Chile

Cayman Islands

Argentina

Chile

Chile

Chile

Chile

Chile

Chile

Chile

Chile

Chile

Argentina

Chile

Argentina

Chile

Chile

Chile

Country
of origin

US$

Pesos

US$

Pesos

Pesos

Pesos

Pesos

Pesos

US$

Pesos

US$

US$

Pesos

Pesos

Pesos

Pesos

Pesos

Pesos

Pesos

Pesos

US$

US$

Pesos

US$

US$

Pesos

Pesos

Currency of
investment

Investments in related companies are as follows:

20.87000

15.79000

42.00000

10.00000

20.00000

15.00000

18.04000

7.50000

18.09000

10.10000

18.20000

18.20000

99.50000

99.96000

-

-

-

-

-

11,007,547

875

30

9,100

2,973,170

164,250

199,800

0.10000

0.00000

0.00000

0.00000

0.00000

25.00000

17.50000

0.00760

18.20000

50.00000

18.25000

99.90000

0.00000

20.47000

7.50000

2.50000

20.00000

25.00000

17.50000

0.00760

0.00000

50.00000

18.25000

99.90000

49.90000

20.87000

15.79000

42.00000

0.00000

20.00000

15.00000

18.04000

7.50000

18.09000

22.10000

18.20000

18.20000

65,341

-

-

-

-

(409,681)

4,864

16,843,302

21,153

41,291

424,451

675,012

1,402,355

3,720,195

6,456,405

2,487,808

11,384,961

6,167,567

18,282,045

15,551,198

38,105,623

19,582,019

71,254,528

46,108,135

79,736,243

99.50000 116,220,383

-

8,464,720

31,902,466

482,871

9,573,291

1,862,331

4,983

17,699,641

-

43,431

512,950

859,219

1,416,831

2,862,158

6,088,333

2,817,289

-

7,068,473

19,267,163

26,504,485

43,004,680

32,054,289

74,716,039

68,144,593

90,769,054

138,061,221

349,725,429

2003
ThCh$

Equity of companies
2004
ThCh$

99.95950 418,452,463

2003
%

Percentage
of ownership
2004
%

2,096,965,185 49.90000

2,087

1,579

420,000

2,219,987

22,112

150

3,134,113

-

8,211,770

10,100,000

15,900,586

38,592,313

64,315,782

137,587,857

Number of
shares

NOTE 10 - INVESTMENTS IN RELATED COMPANIES

69,017,883

65,341

-

-

-

-

(6,050,679)

122

5,288,300

-

(1,421)

-

(111,480)

(14,476)

858,038

368,072

669,145

(89,135)

(488,433)

5,156,369

(9,412,363)

4,897,716

(8,442,380)

12,934,391

5,295,196

5,875,422

(5,973,775)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

919,385

7,068,447

10,463

(177,223)

(8,504,673)

(46,776)

6,115,066

-

(4,901)

23,737

521,761

(716,557)

702,597

2,240,495

1,088,217

65,341

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

21,153

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2003
ThCh$

Income of year
at fair value
2004
ThCh$

2003
ThCh$

Accrued income
2004
ThCh$

2,449,531

963,726

1,069,327

367,329

(21)

402

-

(711)

-

(111,368)

(7,224)

179,072

58,118

281,041

(8,914)

(97,687)

773,455

65,341

-

-

-

-

65

480,855

294,286

160

(52,132)

- (1,512,670)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(89,135)

-

-

- (1,697,990)

-

- (1,527,227)

-

-

-

- (5,347,972)

-

188,198

530,134

261

(35,445)

(2,126,169)

(8,186)

464

-

(2,451)

4,332

521,239

(357,562)

146,632

353,775

457,052

-

(173,960)

900,500

1,518,890

381,128

1,196,389

2,907,301

680,238

1,045,148

-

1,732,728

2,392,685

12,072

1,914,658

465,583

872

1,345

-

21,716

93,613

858,360

706,999

597,332

961,348

1,183,262

-

1,413,694

2,890,075

4,781,409

3,225,351

5,798,621

16,512,242

12,402,316

16,519,968

582,663,826 561,373,802

66

-

-

-

-

1

851

1,280

3,850

20,646

77,462

674,337

699,775

776,405

1,019,466

1,044,879

1,138,496

1,233,513

2,742,307

2,805,436

2,857,922

3,542,387

7,196,707

8,391,681

14,511,996

3,986,932 115,639,281 137,370,915

- 68,990,276 118,507,928 418,285,082 349,516,638

2003
ThCh$

Equity of companies
at fair value
2004
ThCh$

- 11,384,961

(869,799)

6,003,335

8,419,567

5,081,702

6,613,537

13,155,207

3,737,573

5,742,566

4,006,967

118,615,056

2003
ThCh$

Income of year
2004
ThCh$

5,065,812

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2003
ThCh$

1,385,373

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,385,373

Equity value

5,065,812

2004
ThCh$

577,598,014

66

-

-

-

1

851

1,280

3,850

20,646

77,462

674,337

699,775

776,405

1,019,466

1,044,879

1,138,496

1,233,513

2,742,307

2,805,436

2,857,922

3,542,387

7,196,707

8,391,681

14,511,996

115,639,281

2003
ThCh$

559,988,429

-

1,732,728

2,392,685

12,072

1,914,658

465,583

872

1,345

-

21,716

93,613

858,360

706,999

597,332

961,348

1,183,262

-

1,413,694

2,890,075

4,781,409

3,225,351

5,798,621

16,512,242

12,402,316

16,519,968

137,370,915

348,131,265

Book value

413,219,270

2004
ThCh$
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(1) Enap Refinerías S.A. is the legal continuator of the merger of the
subsidiaries Petrox S.A. Refinería de Petróleo, Refinería de Petróleo
Concón S.A. and Empresa Almacenadora de Combustibles S.A.
The Board of Directors of Empresa Nacional del Petróleo held on June
24, 2004 agreed to approve the merger of the companies in which ENAP
is the main shareholder, Enap Refinerías S.A. and Empresa Nacional de
Combustibles S.A., The merger was performed on December 1, 2004,
through the incorporation of Empresa Almacenadora de Combustibles
S.A. into Enap Refinerías S.A., the latter being company that absorbed
and took charge of all assets and liabilities of the former and, for every
legal purposes, the legal continuator of Empresa Almacenadora de
Combustibles S.A.

At December 31, Enap Refinerías S.A. presents the investment in
DIPESA in a single line in Investments in related companies. In turn,
such investment has been valued considering the value paid plus the
proportional recognition on income for the period.
The valuation referred to above was adopted taking into consideration
that, at December 31, 2004, the management of Enap Refinerías S.A.
is in process of evaluation, analysis and study of the determination of
the assets acquired, at their fair value, under the methodology and
term established in Technical Bulletin N° 72 of the Chilean Institute of
Accountants and Circular 1,697 of the S.V.S.
Following there is a summarized Balance Sheet of the company
Distribuidora Petrox S.A., at December 31, 2004:

(2) The unrealized income refers to sales of ENAP crude oil and products
to the subsidiary Enap Refinerías S.A.
(3) The unrealized income refers to sales of ENAP crude oil to the
subsidiary Sipetrol S.A., which amounts to ThCh$ 610,832 in 2003,
and is shown under Inventories.
(4) On May 20, 2004 ENAP and Enap Refienrías S.A. acquired 0.1%
and 99.9% of this company, respectively.
Manu Perú Holding S.A. has 99.9% equity ownership in Inversiones y
Proyectos Humboltd S.A. and the remaining 0.1% of the latter belongs
to Enap Refinerías S.A. Both companies were formed in Peru and are
consolidated in the financial statements of Enap Refinerías S.A.

2004
MUS$
45,146

Current assets
Current liabilities
Working capital
Net ﬁxed assets
Long-term liabilities
Net equity

(45,846)
(700)
58,310
(2,276)
55,334

(5) In May 2004, the total shares of Petroquim S.A. were sold, which
resulted in a net income of ThCh$ 9,334 and is shown under Nonoperating income.
(6) In July 2004, the total shares of Depósitos Asfálticos S.A. (DASA)
and Petroquímica Dow S.A. were sold. The transaction resulted in a
net income of ThCh$ 968 and ThCh$ 1,037,417, respectively, and it is
shown under Non-operating income.
(7) On August 16, 2004, the subsidiary Enap Refinerías S.A. acquired,
through its subsidiary Inversiones y Proyectos Humboltd S.A. (a
subsidiary of Manu Perú S.A.), 56.52% of the Peruvian company
Distribuidora Petrox S.A. (DIPESA, a company incorporated in Peru,
which corresponds to the merger between Shell Perú and Romero
Trading Combustibles S.A.). The acquisition cost was ThUS$ 39,381.
The Superintendency of Securities and Insurance has authorized ENAP
and Enap Refinerías S.A., through ordinary Official letter N° 09332 dated
October 21, 2004, to avoid the consolidation of the financial statements
of Distribuidora Petrox S.A. on a line-by-line basis. The Company’s
reasons argued before the S.V.S. are basically based on the fact that the
control of that company does not exist, as defined in Technical Bulletin
N° 72 of the Chilean Institute of Accountants.
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NOTE 11 - OTHER ASSETS
Other assets are as follows:
2004
ThCh$
3,261,606
9,561,205
113,370
13,215,907
11,148
26,163,236

Bank ﬁnancing expenses
Expenses in bond issuance and discount in placement
Time deposit (1)
Rights on Swap operations
Others
Totals

2003
ThCh$
2,606,572
8,398,554
1,366,346
4,474,918
6,301
16,852,691

(1) Corresponds to deposit with Banco Security at an annual interest rate of 1.2125%, intended for capital contributions in an
investee for petrochemical projects.
NOTE 12 - OBLIGATIONS WITH BANKS AND FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS - SHORT-TERM
Short-term obligations with bank and financial institutions are as follows:

Type of currency or readjustment index

Bank or Financial Institution
Long-term - current portion:
J.P. Morgan Chase Bank (1)
J.P. Morgan Chase Bank (4)
J.P. Morgan Chase Bank (4)
Bank of America National Trust (2)
Banco Santander New York
Banque Nationale de Paris
Citibank (3)
Others
Total
Principal outstanding
Annual average interest rate (%)
Obligations in foreign currency
Obligations in local currency

US Dollars
2004
2003
ThCh$
ThCh$
- 4,132,868
608,030
510,915
405,354
388,200
495,365 1,081,005
1,223,888 1,338,112
39,789,267 23,648,164
42,521,904 31,099,264
41,089,681 30,071,186
1.83
1.75
%
100
-

(1) J.P. Morgan Chase Bank:
The Company entered into two loans originally guaranteed by
the Government of Chile in 1987 and 1991, granted by a bank
syndicate for which J.P. Morgan acted as agent. During the
months of May and September 2004, such obligations were
fully prepaid.
(2) Bank of America National Trust:
The Company entered into a loan originally guaranteed by the
Government of Chile in 1984, granted by a bank syndicate
for which Bank of America National Trust acted as agent. On
August 16, 2004 this loan was fully paid.
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Euro

2004
ThCh$

2003
ThCh$

- 351,204
- 351,204
- 343,315
3.19

2003
ThCh$

Other
foreign currency
2004
2003
ThCh$ ThCh$

- 23,524
- 23,524
- 23,357
0.94

- 19,766
- 19,766
- 19,469
2.84

Yen

2004
ThCh$

2004
ThCh$

Total

2003
ThCh$

- 4,132,868
608,030
510,915
405,354
782,694
495,365 1,081,005
1,223,888 1,338,112
39,789,267 23,648,164
42,521,904 31,493,758
41,089,681 30,457,327

(3) Citibank N.A.:
In 1998, the Company obtained a loan for US$ 90,000,000,
granted by a bank syndicate for which Citibank N.A. acted as
agent. The loan has annual maturities from 2000 to 2005.
On January 25, 2002, the Company entered into a loan
agreement of US$ 170,000,000 with a group of five banks
in which Citibank N.A. acted as administrative agent. The
loan matures in 5 years, with principal payments starting in
January 2004, with semi-annual amortization and interest
payment. On December 18, 2002, a prepayment of US$
94,000,000 was made on this loan. On January 25, 2005
this loan was fully paid.

(4) J.P. Morgan Chase Bank:
In August 2003, the Company obtained a loan of US$
150,000,000 granted by a syndicate of banks in which
Citibank N.A. acted as agent. The loan matures within five
years, with principal payments starting on September 4,
2006, and with semi-annual amortization and interest. This
syndicated loan was led by Citibank in 2003 and suffered the
following changes in 2004:

- The administrative agent was changed from Citibank to J.P
Morgan Chase.
- The spread on Libor was reduced from 0.5% to 0.2%.
In September 2004, the Company obtained a new loan of
US$ 100.000.000, with J.P. Morgan Chase Bank acting as
agent. The loan has a single payment in September 2009 and
accrues interest at Libor + 0.2% in the first 4 years, and of
0.225% in the fifth year.

NOTE 13 - OBLIGATIONS WITH BANKS AND FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS – LONG-TERM
Long-term obligations with bank and financial institutions are as follows:

Years to Maturity

Bank or ﬁnancial institution
Bank of America National Trust (2)

J.P. Morgan Chase Bank (1)
Citibank Syndicated (3)
Banco Santander New York Branch
Banque Nationale de Paris
Totals

2004

2003
Average
annual
interest
rate
%

Currency or
readjustment
index

More than
1 to 2
ThCh$

More than
2 to 3
ThCh$

More than
3 to 5
ThCh$

Total
long-term
ThCh$

US dollars
Euro
Yen
Other currencies
US dollars
US dollars
US dollars
US dollars

16,722,000
16,722,000

33,444,000
33,444,000

89,184,000
89,184,000

139,350,000
139,350,000

Total
long-term
ThCh$

2.03
-

382,338
343,315
23,358
19,468
4,107,041
134,297,122
538,967
1,327,953
141,039,562

%
100
-

Obligations in foreign currency
Obligations in local currency

NOTE 14 - BONDS PAYABLE
Bonds payable are as follows:

Instrument

Series

Nominal amount
Placed Outstanding

Indexation
Unit

Par Value
December 31,

Interest
Rate

Final
Maturity

Interest
Payment

Principal
Repayment

2004

2003

Local or
Foreign
Placement

Current maturities of long-term bonds
N° 303

A-1

1,000,000

UF

4.25

10-01-2012

Semi-annual

upon mat.

182,079

182,352

N° 303

A-2

2,250,000

UF

4.25

10-01-2012

Semi-annual

upon mat.

409,678

410,291

Local

1,363,888

1,489,279

Foreign
Foreign

Rule 144 A bonds

SINGLE

290,000,000

US$

6.75

11-15-2012

Semi-annual

upon mat.

Rule 144 A bonds

SINGLE

150,000,000

US$

4.875

15/03/2014

Semi-annual

upon mat.

Total short term

1,188,830

-

3,144,475

2,081,922

Local

Long - term bonds
N° 303

A-1

1,000,000

UF

4.25

10-01-2012

Semi-annual

upon mat.

17,317,050

17,343,000

N° 303

A-2

2,250,000

UF

4.25

10-01-2012

Semi-annual

upon mat.

38,963,363

39,021,750

Local

161,646,000 176,507,050

Foreign

Rule 144 A bonds

SINGLE

290,000,000

US$

6.75

11-15-2012

Semi-annual

upon mat.

Rule 144 A bonds

SINGLE

150,000,000

US$

4.875

15/03/2014

Semi-annual

upon mat.

Total long term

83,610,000

-

Local

Foreign

301,536,413 232,871,800
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a) ENAP I-2002 Series A Sub-series A-1 and A-2 bonds

b) International private placement

On October 4, 2002, the Company registered the issuance
of UF indexed bonds with the Securities Register of the
Superintendency of Securities and Insurance under N° 303,
which were placed in the local market on October 22, 2002.
Such placement was carried out in two sub-series A-1 and A2, with the following characteristics:

On November 5, 2002, the Company issued and placed Rule
144A bonds in the US market, at a 6.75% annual interest
rate, in the amount of US$ 290 million.

The bond placement in the local market was in the amount of
UF 3,250,000. The maturity period is ten years, with semiannual interest payments, and interest rate of 4.25% annually;
principal is paid at maturity.

On March 16, 2004, the Company issued and placed Rule
144A bonds in the US market, at a 4.875% annual interest
rate, in the amount of US$ 150 million.
The maturity is ten years in both placements. The interest
payments are semi-annual and principal is paid at maturity.
c) Discount and bond issue costs
Discounts in the bond placement have been deferred in the
same periods of the respective issuance. The balance is
presented as Other assets, short and long - term, included
with bond issue costs.

NOTE 15 - ACCRUALS AND WRITE-OFFS
Accruals are as follows:
2004
ThCh$
Short-term
Fund for severance plan
Vacations
Compensation and personnel beneﬁts
Ship repairs
Severance indemnities
Others
Total
Long term
Income tax
Severance indemnities
Removal of platforms and standardizing of wells and ﬁelds (1)
Investment valuation
Fund for severance plan
Other
Total

2003
ThCh$

6,074,451
3,647,067
2,664,483
61,400
750,000
1,412,970
14,610,371

10,651,288
3,783,224
2,346,625
92,250
1,706,847
18,580,234

73,843,107
32,595,364
18,084,836
5,093,738
671,179
130,288,224

47,403,172
32,821,082
19,506,252
4,850,889
4,564,838
1,152,323
110,298,556

(1) Accrual to cover the estimated costs in which the Company must incur for the removal of rigs on the Magellan Strait, and
standardizing of wells on land.
Write-offs – During the year ended December 31, 2004, write-offs amounting to ThCh$ 4,754,220 (ThCh$ 914,458 in 2003)
have been perform, which mainly refer to prospecting.
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NOTE 16 - SEVERANCE INDEMNITIES
The change in this accrual, which covers severance indemnities, is summarized as follows:

Opening balance
Increase of accrual
Payments of the year
Price-level restatement
Total

2004
ThCh$

2003
ThCh$

32,020,568
2,288,721
(941,917)
(22,008)
33,345,364

31,392,006
2,119,312
(1,873,588)
1,183,352
32,821,082

NOTE 17 - EQUITY
a) Changes in equity
Between January 1 and December 31, 2004 and 2003:

2003
Opening balance
Distribution previous year’s income
Final dividend
Adjustment for conversion of investments abroad
Price-level restatement
Net income
Interim dividends
Balance at December 31, 2003
Balance at December 31, 2003 price-level restated at December 31, 2004
2004
Opening balance
Distribution previous year’s income
Final dividend
Adjustment for conversion of investments abroad
Price-level restatement
Net income
Interim dividends
Balance at December 31, 2004

Paid-in capital
ThCh$

Other reserves
ThCh$

Retained
earnings
ThCh$

Transfer of earnings
to government
ThCh$

Net
income
ThCh$

405,490,639
-

24,912,410
(42,910,387)

27,102,918
8,547,633
(8,542,000)
-

(50,315,253)
50,315,253
-

58,862,886
(58,862,886)
-

4,054,906
409,545,545
419,784,184

249,124
(17,748,853)
(18,192,575)

373,590
27,482,141
28,169,195

172,440
(86,949,000)
(86,776,560)
(88,945,974)

87,858,462
87,858,462
90,054,924

409,545,545
10,238,639
419,784,184

(17,748,853)
(19,135,917)
(443,722)
(37,328,492)

27,482,141
1,081,902
(1,081,000)
695,725
28,178,765

(86,776,560)
86,776,560
(513,120)
(52,624,000)
(53,137,120)

87,858,462
(87,858,462)
65,114,516
65,114,516

(1) The Government of Chile, through the Ministry of Finance, stipulated in Decree Law No. 410 of May 6, 2004, the transfer of
2003 earnings of ThCh$ 1,081,000 (historical value) to the Government’s general revenue. In addition, the decree scheduled
advance payment of 2004 earnings of ThCh$ 52,624,000, according to the requirements of Article 29 of Decree Law No.
1263/75.
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As per Decree N° 330 dated April 30, 2003 and Decree N° 881 dated October 15, 2003, profit advances of ThCh$ 58,488,000
for 2003, as well as extraordinary profit advance of ThCh$ 28,461,000 for 2003, were fixed- (historic).

b) Other reserves
Other reserves are as follows:

2004
ThCh$
(42,378,310)
5,049,818
(37,328,492)

Accumulated adjustment for differences in conversion of foreign subsidiaries
Other reserves
Total

2003
ThCh$
(23,242,393)
5,049,818
(18,192,575)

This item primarily consists of the reserve for translation adjustments of foreign subsidiaries as a result of changes in the foreign
investment and from the valuation of the respective liabilities determined as a hedge. Movement in each year is as follows:

Balances at

Sipetrol S.A.
Other related companies
Total

Net changes of the year

Balances at‘

2004

Investment

Liability

2004

2003

ThCh$

ThCh$

ThCh$

ThCh$

ThCh$

(24,759,414)

(17,297,294)

1,552,347

(40,504,361)

(24,759,414)

1,517,021

(3,390,970)

-

(1,873,949)

1,517,021

(23,242,393)

(20,688,264)

1,552,347

(42,378,310)

(23,242,393)

Other reserves

Balances at

Balances at

01/01/2004

Net changes of the year

2004

2003

ThCh$

ThCh$

ThCh$

ThCh$

Fixed assets of associate SOCANOL S.A.

5,049,818

-

5,049,818

5,049,818

Total

5,049,818

-

5,049,818

5,049,818
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NOTE 18 - OTHER NON-OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSES
Other non-operating income and other non-operating expenses are as follows:

2004
ThCh$
Other non-operating income:
Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment
Gain on sale of services and others
Interest for housing loans
Recovery of insurance claims
Proﬁt on sale of shares (1)
Adjustment of fund for severance plan
Other income
Total
Other non operating expenses:
Provision for investment valuation
Investment adjustment
Write-downs of property, plant and equipment
Other staff expenses
Severance plan fund
Other expenses
Total

2003
ThCh$

562,691
696,103
152,588
37,617
2,791,507
8,569,709
870,817
13,681,032

2,463,113
747,861
115,000
106,175
269,370
3,701,519

(361,163)
(879,738)
(23,126)
(521,860)
(1,785,887)

(5,557,888)
(922,985)
(914,458)
(15,234,259)
(314,599)
(22,944,189)

(1) Profits on sales of assets in shown net of expenses incurred in the sales processes.
NOTE 19 - PRICE-LEVEL RESTATEMENT
Price-level restatement credited (charged) to income is as follows:

Indexation unit
Asset (charges) / credits:
Inventories
Property, plant and equipment
Investment in related companies
Notes and accounts receivable from related companies – short term
Trade receivables and miscellaneous
Other current assets
Notes and accounts receivable from related companies – long term
Other long-term assets
Other non-monetary assets
Costs and expenses accounts
Total (charges) credits
Liability (charges) / credits:
Equity
Short-term ﬁnancial institution borrowing
Notes payable – short - term
Bonds current - portion
Other current liabilities
Other current liabilities
Long-term liabilities with banks and ﬁnancial institutions
Short-term creditors
Bonds – long-term
Indemnities
Other long-term liabilities
Other long-term liabilities
Long-term creditors
Notes payable – long term
Income statement accounts
Total (charges) credits
Loss from price-level restatement

CPI
CPI
CPI
CPI
CPI
CPI
CPI
CPI
CPI
CPI
CPI
CPI
UF
UF
CPI
CPI
UF
UF
CPI
CPI
CPI

2004
ThCh$

2003
ThCh$

(446,261)
4,464,127
13,472,490
11,741
43,289
466,418
713,674
864,598
31,428,610
51,018,686

36,137
1,768,378
6,608,363
11,444
33,741
849,673
494,386
290,477
567,351
10,659,950

(9,977,522)
(493,851)
(1,118,015)
(10,715)
6,467
(2,947)
(3,085,603)
(44,668)
(8,315,983)

(4,971,312)
382,013
(25,033)
155,534
(56,478)
(5,208)
(299,428)
(2,631,595)

(165,777)
9,333)
(7,326)
(4,603)
(32,354,625)
(55,565,835)
(4,547,149)

(1,183,352)
(92,581)
(124,165)
(5,163)
(880,336)
(9,737,104)
922,846
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NOTE 20 - EXCHANGE DIFFERENCES

Assets (charges)/credits:
Cash
Time deposits
Marketable securities
Receivables
Notes and accounts receivable from related companies – short-term
Other current assets
Notes and accounts receivable from related companies – long-term
Other long-term assets
Total (charges) credits
Liabilities (charges)/credits:
Banks - short-term
Accounts payable – short-term
Notes payable – short-term
Notes and accounts payable to related companies – short-term
Bonds – short-term
Other current liabilities
Banks – long-term
Notes payable – long-term
Bonds – long-term
Other long-term liabilities
Total credits (charges)
Net gain (loss) due to exchange difference

Currency

2004
ThCh$

2003
ThCh$

US$
US$
US$
US$
US$
US$
US$
US$
US$

(958,561)
(3,085,436)
(999,270)
(45,983,860)
2,151,001
(1,961,274)
(3,853,638)
(54,691,038)

(4,592,194)
(6,794,543)
(1,412,589)
(1,501,874)
(66,261,456)
665,888
(17,394,459)
120,416
(97,170,811)

US$
US$
US$
US$
US$
US$
US$
US$
US$
US$
US$

(8,800,266)
25,086,737
22,891,595
665,170
11,123
510,105
15,612,253
155,178
24,655,570
4,713,233
85,500,698
30,809,660

35,467,269
38,044,898
7,572,429
1,509,200
766,976
(26,126)
26,143,956
(819,064)
38,792,916)
3,165,263
150,617,717
53,446,906

NOTE 21 - DEBT ISSUE COSTS

Short – term

Disbursement on bond issue – local (1)
Increase in discount rate on bond placement – local
Disbursement on bond issue – foreign (1)
Increase in discount rate on bond placement – foreign
Total

Long – term

2004
ThCh$

2003
ThCh$

2004
ThCh$

2003
ThCh$

118,759
288,289
782,815
152,395
1,342,258

118,759
289,335
535,069
131,497
1,074,660

801,623
1,950,095
5,724,194
1,085,293
9,561,205

920,381
2,242,353
4,200,276
1,035,544
8,398,554

(1) These amounts include ThCh$ 4,102,459 (ThCh$ 3,869,294 in 2003) corresponding to stamp tax.
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NOTE 22 - STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
a) Cash and cash equivalents are as follows:

2004
ThCh$
Cash
Time deposits
Other current assets (1)
Total

2003
ThCh$

8,940,035
34,138
9,000,780
17,974,953

2,201,242
21,051,500
24,603,267
47,856,009

(1) Corresponds to investments acquired under repurchase agreements with the following banks:
Date

Currency

Beginning

End

29/12/2004
30/12/2004

05/01/2005
06/01/2005

Origin

Financial Institution
Banco Chile
ABN Amro Bank
Total

NOTE 23 - DERIVATIVE CONTRACTS
Since October 2002, the Company maintains a 10-year
maturity Cross Currency Swap UF/USD with a notional amount
of US$ 66.5 million dollars. This contract hedges 91% of the
UF denominated bonds issued in Chile.
Due to the valuation of this instrument at market value, at
December 31, 2003 the account Financial expenses includes
a charge of ThCh$ 990,118 and at December 31, 2004 its
valuation has no effect on income as the market value is
positive.

$
$

Book value
Value
ThCh$

Rate
%

Amount
ThCh$

5,000,000
4,000,000
9,000,000

0.19
0.11

5,000,633
4,000,147
9,000,780

During May 2004, the Company completed the risk hedging
for the local-market Bond in UF, signing a UF / USD Swap
with maturity in 2012 in an amount equivalent to US$ 7.7
million.
At December 31, 2004, the valuation of this instruments at
market value has no effect on income, as it has the market
value is positive
In order to cover interest rate risks of certain bank loans, the
Company entered into interest rate swap agreements in June
and September 2003, and December 2004.
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CCPE

CCTE

CCTE

CCTE

CCTE

CCTE

CCTE

CCTE

CCTE

CCTE

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

CCPE

Currency

Cross

Currency

Cross

Value of
Type of
Type of
derivative contract

8,767,474

25,081,303

33,554,000

33,554,000

33,554,000

23,478,545

25,826,400

14,348,000

14,348,000

4,950,903

48,877,500

contract
ThCh$

4th quarter 2007

1st quarter 2007

3rd quarter 2008

3rd quarter 2008

3rd quarter 2008

3rd quarter 2005

1st quarter 2007

1st quarter 2007

1st quarter 2007

IV quarter 2012

IV quarter 2012

Maturity

Derivative contracts are as follows:

WTI

Interest rate

Interest rate

Interest rate

Interest rate

Interest rate

Interest rate

Interest rate

Interest rate

Interest rate

Exchange and

interest rate

Exchange and

Speciﬁc
item

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

P

P

Position
purchase/sale

Description

Production

Bank obligations

Bank obligations

Bank obligations

Bank obligations

Bank obligations

Bank obligations

Bank obligations

Bank obligations

Bonds

Bonds

Name

Transaction hedged

8,182,213

24,207,085

27,870,000

27,870,000

27,870,000

9,121,091

14,333,143

7,962,857

7,962,857

5,075,346

51,205,066

Amount
ThCh$

-

24,207,085

27,870,000

27,870,000

27,870,000

9,121,091

14,333,143

7,962,857

7,962,857

5,075,346

51,205,066

Value of hedged
transaction
ThCh$

Other long-term liabilities

Other current liabilities

Other current liabilities

Other current liabilities

Other current liabilities

Other current liabilities

Other current liabilities

Other current liabilities

Other current liabilities

Other current liabilities

Other current liabilities

Name

Amount
ThCh$

299,676

4,198

107,062

110,634

108,848

52,267

243,288

135,785

136,620

590,711

-

-

126,088

125,642

125,865

23,956

22,331

12,669

13,018

(5,732)

(18,540)

(299,676)

(4,198)

(19,026)

(15,008)

(17,017)

76,223

265,619

148,454

149,638

596,503

11,429,423

Effect on income
Realized
Unrealized
ThCh$
ThCh$

Accounts affected

11,410,883

Assets/liabilities
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NOTE 24 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
a) Legal actions
Currently, there are certain claims against the Company
amounting to a total of ThCh$ 950,000. No provision has
been established for these actions as management expects a
favorable outcome.
In addition, the Company is a plaintiff in a trial seeking
compliance with a contract related to the sale of assets of Petro
Servicio Corp S.A. to Missano Inc. At December 31, 2004,
the balance receivable for this item is ThCh$ 557,400 (US$
1,000,000). No provision has been made for this action, as
management expects a favorable outcome. On August 6, 2002
the Company was notified of a final appealable judgement
in favor of the Company. Such judgement was appealed by

Missano Inc. before the Court of Appeals of Santiago.
Legal actions are in place with regards to the establishment and
exercise of certain easements for the Concon - Maipú pipeline,
the operation of which corresponds to the Sociedad Nacional
de Oleoductos. The Company, either acting as complainant
or defendant would not be affected, as in accordance with
the agreements entered into with Sociedad Nacional de
Oleoductos, the latter is responsible for making any payments
resulting from such actions. Legal actions are also pending
for the same issue in the region of Magallanes. No provisions
have been established for this item as management thinks
negative decisions are unlikely.
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J.P. Morgan Chase Bank

Creditor

Name

Sipetrol Argentina S.A.

Debtor

b) Direct guarantees – SIPETROL S.A.

Subsidiary

RelationShip

Description

GRUPO DE EMPRESAS ENAP

with banks and the obligation itself.

channeled by Sipetrol Argentina to cover its obligations

that may be produced between the value of the exports

contingent guarantee for covering an eventual difference

annum. To support the transaction, Enap granted a

a group of international banks, at Libo + 0.75% per

5-year syndicated loan of MUS$ 125 along with

Sipetrol Argentina S.A. has signed a

Type of guarantee

Type

Book
value

Balances pending
payment at September
2004
2003

Release of guarantees
2005 and
2004
Assests
Later
Assests
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Petrosul S.A.

Productora de Diesel S.A.

KfW Bank

BNP Paribas

Related

Related

Related

Subsidiary

Subsidiary

Related

Related

Related

Related

Subsidiary

Subsidiary

Description

Pledge on shares of Productora de Diesel S.A. owned by Enap Reﬁnerías S.A.
to guarantee the project for ThUS$ 110,451, valid to 2016

Pledge on shares of Etalsa S.A owned by Enap S.A. ThUS$ 30,500,
valid to 2012

Pledge on shares of Petrosul S.A. owned by Enap Reﬁnerías S.A. to
guarantee the project loan for ThUS$ 20,921, valid to 2012.

Guarantee for obligations of Enap Reﬁnerías S.A. (formerly Petrox S.A.) established
in Processing Contract (PSA). The obligation is effective once the acceptation
of the plant takes place (estimated at December 2004) and expires in 2015.

Guarantee for obligations of Enap Reﬁnerías S.A. established in Processing
Contract (PSA). The obligation is effective once the acceptation of the plant
takes place (estimated at early 2005 and expires in 2020)

Commercial
pledge on shares

Commercial
pledge on shares

Commercial
pledge on shares

Joint

Joint

Commercial
pledge on shares

Commercial
pledge on shares

Commercial
pledge on shares

Joint

Joint

Joint

Joint

Joint

Joint

Type of guarantee

Productora de Diesel S.A. and BNP Paribas and other banks entered into a
contract named Commercial Bank Loan Agreement, subject to the terms
and conditions of the Commercial Loan Agreement. Each creditor agreed to
grant the Debtor one or more loans in United States dollars in a total amount
of principal up to US$ 35,277,615 plus adjustments, agreed interest, penal
interest, commissions, fees, costs, expenses, taxes, rights, charges and
surcharges and other accessory obligations. To ensure the full, effective and
timely payment of the Guaranteed Obligations, ENAP established a pledge of
bearer securities on the shares of its ownership issued by Productora Diesel S.A.

Pledge on shares of Petrosul S.A. owned by ENAP to guarantee the
project loan for ThUS$ 21,763, valid to 2012.

Pledge on shares of Etalsa S.A. owned by ENAP to guarantee payment
of loan to ﬁnance the project amounting to ThUS$ 30,500 valid to 2012.

Guarantee for (25%) compliance with obligations of Innergy established
in Contract for Transportation of Gas The obligation is valid from 1999 to
2019. The above mentioned 25% would be equivalent to ThUS$ 8,000 in
2004, readjusting such amount to ThUS$ 15,000 in 2019.

Guarantee for (25%) compliance with obligations of Innergy established
in Contract for Purchase of Gas entered into with YPF-Bridas-Pluspetrol.
The total obligation starts in 2004 and is valid to 2019. The above
mentioned 25% would be equivalent to ThUS$ 6,000 in 2004, readjusting
such amount to ThUS$ 12,750 in 2019.

Guarantee for obligations of Enap Reﬁnerías S.A. (formerly Petrox S.A.)
established in Contract for Processing Services to 2012. The obligation
guaranteed corresponds to payment of up to 90% of the annual fee
(approximately ThUS$ 6,000 starting 2003). of Etalsa

Guarantee for obligations of Enap Reﬁnerías S.A. (formerly Petrox S.A.)
established in several contracts entered into for the Petropower project
(i) Contract for Capital Contribution to the company (15% ownership)
(ii) Contract for use of land for the project, and (iii) Indemnity Contract
for dishonest and negligent actions or omissions by Enap Reﬁnerías S.A.
The obligation of capital contribution has been complied with.
The remaining obligations can not be cash-valued in advance.
Guarantees are valid to 2018.

Guarantee for obligations of Enap Reﬁnerías S.A (formerly Petrox S.A.)
established in Processing Contract entered into with Petropower valid
to 2018. The obligation guaranteed corresponds to the payment of
processing services for an annual value of approximately ThUS$ 18,000

Guarantee for compliance with obligations of Sipetrol established in
the Contract for Sale of Gas between Sipetrol/YPF and Methanex
(equivalent to 30 % of the contract). The remaining obligation
amounts to 4,012,785,249 SCM (9,300 Kcal/m3), at a base price of
0.75 US$/MM Btu (indexed to methane price) and valid to 08/08/2016.

7,769,953

2.087 shares

3,160 shares

-

2,219,987 shares

1,580 shares

2,087 shares

-

-

-

-

-

Type

-

-

582,763

-

-

-

Book
value

(1) The release of the guarantees is related to compliance with contracts that gave rise to those guarantees.

Productora de Diesel S.A.

Eteres y Alcoholes

KfW Bank

BNP Paribas Bank

Petrosul S.A.

Enap Reﬁnerías S.A.

KfW Bank

Cía. de Hidrógeno

Productora de Diesel S.A. Enap Reﬁnerías S.A.

Eteres y Alcoholes S.A.

Gasoducto del Pacíﬁco S.A. Innergy Holding S.A.

KfW Bank

Enap Reﬁnerías S.A.

KfW Bank

Innergy Holding S.A.

Related

Enap Reﬁnerías S.A.

Petropower Energía Ltda.

Gasoducto del Pacíﬁco S.A.

Subsidiary

Enap Reﬁnerías S.A.

Subsidiary

Petropower Energía Ltda

RelationShip

Name

Sipetrol Argentina S.A.

Methanex

Debtor

Creditor

c) Indirect guarantees

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Balances pending
payment at September
2004
2003

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)

-

-

-

-

-

-

Release of guarantees
2005 and
2004
Assests
Later
Assests
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d) Commercial commitments:
The companies have entered into the following long-term
contractual obligations related to their normal development
and operations:
(1) PETROPOWER
The Company entered into an agreement, through its
subsidiary Petrox S.A., providing for the payment of an annual
processing fee of approximately US$17.4 million for the right
to operate its delayed coking and hydrotreatment plant and an
annual fee of approximately US$ 9.9 million for the supply of
certain energy products. This agreement is subject to annual
increases until the expiration of the agreement in 2018.
Under the terms of the agreement, in the event of a reduction
in the plant’s annual revenue (as defined in a processing
contract and other agreements), and after the operator has
made a contribution equivalent to 10% of such shortfall,
the Company and its subsidiary Enap Refinerías S.A. must
contribute 50% of the balance of such shortfall and Foster
Wheeler must contribute the balance. The total aggregate
amount of such contributions is capped at US$ 1.4 million
per year.
In addition, at the end of the agreement’s term, Enap Refinerías
S.A. is obliged to purchase the plant or find a buyer, for a price
not lower than ThCh$ 43 million, on the expiration date of the
respective contract (2018) or any other date jointly agreed by
the parties.
(2) HYDROGEN PLANT
The Company and Enap Refinerías S.A. completed negotiations
with the Sigdo Koppers Group (“SKG”) for the financing,
construction and operation of a new Hydrogen Plant in the
Refinery of Bío Bío in the city of Talcahuano. This project
represents a total investment of approximately US$ 32 million.
The company involved in this project is a stock corporation
named “Compañía de Hidrógeno del Bío-Bío S.A. (“CHBB”).
All the hydrogen produced by CHBB will be used by Refinería
Bío Bío in its facilities. There will be a Processing Services
Agreement between CHBB and Enap Refinerías S.A. for a 15year period which may be extended for up to an additional year,
in accordance with the conditions specified in the agreement.
After this period, Enap Refinerías S.A. will be obligated to
purchase the plant at its book value. ENAP will guarantee
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the obligations of Enap Refinerías S.A. under the Processing
Services Agreement.
This plant has been built by the consortium formed by Technip
of USA (also the licensor of the technology) and Sigdo Koppers
Ingeniería y Constucción. The plant, the construction of which
started in 2003, will operate from January 2005.
The financing of the project is through capital contributions of
the partners (30% of total investment) and a loan from Banco
Societé Generalé of France (70%). The Company and Enap
Refinerías S.A. will hold 5% ownership of the company, and
Sigdo Koppers the remaining 90%.
The capital contribution of the Company/Enap Refinerías S.A.
will be one million dollars, to be completed on the date of
acceptance of the plant. At the expiration of the agreement,
the purchase by Enap Refinerías S.A. will take place at book
value.
(3) INNERGY HOLDING S.A.
The Company has committed to contributing approximately
US$ 30.9 million as an equity investment in Innergy
Holding S.A. Since the inception of the project in 1998 and
through December 31, 2004, the Company has contributed
approximately US$ 28.55 million, approximately US$ 20.41
million of which have been used to cover the investee’s
operating deficit.
Future capital contributions by the Company will depend on the
future conditions of the project, including estimated demand,
the installation of a new Hydrogen Plant at Enap Refinerías
S.A., which will demand natural gas and the installation of
a mixed-cycle thermoelectric plant and/or changes in the
current contractual conditions. Innergy Holding S.A. favors
the installation of a mixed-cycle plant, which is expected to
consume a higher quantity of gas which would contribute to
improve the results of the company.
(4) ETALSA
The Company, though its subsidiary Enap Refinerías S.A., has
entered into an agreement with ETALSA for the payment of an
annual operating fee for the di-isopropyl ether plant ranging
between approximately US$ 4.4 million and US$ 5.7 million.
This agreement expires in 2017. At the expiration of the
agreement, the Company is obligated to purchase the plant for
approximately US$ 2.6 million. At the time the plant started

operations in September 2002, the subsidiary Enap Refinerías
S.A. recorded the cost associated with the construction of the
plant as a capital lease.

At December 31, 2004, Sipetrol S.A., through its subsidiaries,
holds the certain commercial agreements as described in Note
31:

(5) PETROSUL

e) Restrictions:

ENAP and its subsidiary, Enap Refinerías S.A., together
with certain unrelated parties invested US$ 27 million in
the construction of two sulfur plants. These plants started
operations in the fourth quarter of 2003. Both are obligated
to pay an annual operating fee for the plants between US$
3.9 million and US$ 4.6 million. This agreement expires in
2019 and, at that time, these subsidiaries will be obligated
to purchase the plants for a nominal amount. At the time the
plants started operations, ENAP’s subsidiary recorded the
cost associated with the construction of the plants as a capital
lease.

At December 31, 2004, the Company and its subsidiaries are
subject to the following restrictions, which have been set forth
as covenants:

(6) PRODISA
The subsidiary Enap Refinerías S.A. and the Company have
signed the agreements with the Spanish group, Técnicas
Reunidas, for the financing, construction and operation of
an Hydrocracking plant of Mild Gas Oil (MHC Hydrocracking)
in the refinery located in Talcahuano. The project represents
a total investment of around US$ 110 million. The project’s
company is a stock corporation called “Productora de Diesel
S.A. – Prodisa”.
The referred plant shall be operated and maintained by Enap
Refinerías S.A., Refinerías Bio Bio. There is a Processing
Service Agreement entered into between Prodisa an Enap
Refinerías for a 15-year period of operation. After that, Enap
Refinerías S.A. will be obliged to purchase the plant at book
value. The Company will guarantee the obligation of Enap
Refinerías S.A., under the Agreement referred to above.

The Company must maintain its interest coverage ratio
(EBITDA over interest) for each period at least equal to 2.0
to 1.0.
The Company must maintain its debt ratio (maximum debt on
EBITDA) not exceeding 5.0 to 1.0.
The Company must maintain its minimum consolidated equity
in UF to be equivalent to 85% of its value at December 31,
2002.
At December 31, 2004, the Company complied with the
covenants referred to above.

NOTE 25 - GUARANTEES BY THIRD PARTIES
There are other minor guarantees received in the ordinary
course of business.

This plant has been built by the consortium formed by
Técnicas Reunidas of Spain and DSD, a Chilean company with
the Parent company in Germany.
The plant, the construction of which is in the acceptance
testing stage, begins to operate from January 2005.
The project’s funding corresponds to capital contributions by
the partners (20% of the total investment) and to a syndicated
loan by the BNP Paribas bank (80%). Enap Refinerías S.A.
holds a 49% equity ownership, with Técnicas Reunidas holding
the remaining 51%.
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NOTE 26 - LOCAL AND FOREIGN CURRENCY
Assets and liabilities in foreign currency and those assets and liabilities that are readjusted in US dollars are as follows:

Item

Currency

Current assets:
Cash and banks
Time deposits
Trade receivables

Miscellaneous receivables

Notes and accounts receivable from related companies

Inventories
Recoverable taxes
Prepaid expenses
Deferred taxes
Other current assets

Property , plant and equipment, net:
Property plant and equipment, net
Other assets:
Investments in related companies
Investments in other companies
Long-term receivables
Notes and accounts receivable from elated companies

Other
Total assets
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2004
ThCh$

2003
ThCh$

US dollars
Non-indexed Ch$
US dollars
US dollars
Indexed Ch$
Non-indexed Ch$
US dollars

415,880
8,524,155
34,138
9,251,372
3,603,795
3,958,563
2,310,822

949,642
1,251,600
21,051,500
9,555,898
3,124,264
3,277,754
1,960,754

Indexed Ch$
Non-indexed Ch$
UF
US dollars
Indexed Ch$
Non-indexed Ch$
UF
US dollars
Non-indexed Ch$
US dollars
Non-indexed Ch$
Indexed Ch$
UF
Indexed Ch$
Non-indexed Ch$
US dollars

3,994,950
2,470,177
144,225
364,423,760
634,613
163,639,676
6,811,992
376,768
1,960
10,063,601
11,618,430
19,149
152,395

592,824
5,981,854
99,962
287,620,549
5,887,681
526,450
335,509
111,895,987
22,151,230
775,650
2,954
10,794,520
868,702
25,055,147
866,367

Indexed Ch$

180,337,120

172,734,084

US dollars
Indexed Ch$
Indexed Ch$
Indexed Ch$
Non-indexed Ch$
US dollars
UF
Indexed Ch$
Indexed Ch$
US dollars
US dollars
Non-indexed Ch$
Indexed Ch$
UF

30,059,701
547,538,313
652,621
3,334,276
65,959,167
5,214,373
9,561,205
16,602,031
653,225,710
25,120,272
773,219,021
144,225

41,290,913
518,697,516
12,687
612,627
3,453,473
31,453,153
2,680,535
4,965,938
8,699,304
8,153,387
515,573,800
36,645,315
751,176,592
3,984,708

Short-term liabilities:

To 90 days
2004
Item

Currency

Amount
ThCh$

Short-term bank borrowing

US dollars

36,242,104

Amount
ThCh$

2003
Rate
%

Amount
ThCh$

1.83

Rate
%

13,419,117

1.75

6,279,800

17,680,147

1.75

-

179,547

3.19

-

171,657

3.19

Yen

-

11,846

0.94

-

11,678

0.94

Other currencies

-

10,032

2.84

-

9,734

2.84

6.67

295,428

6.67

188,758

6.67

1,363,888

6.75

1,489,279

6.75

UF

Bonds payable – short-term

US dollars
UF
Non-indexed Ch$

1.83

2004

Euro

Current portion of long-term liabilities

Accounts payable

Rate
%

90 days to 1 year
2003
Amount
Rate
ThCh$
%

68,515

6.67

59,608

1,188,830

6.75

-

591,757

4.25

592,643

4.25

-

-

20,221,378

6,295,109

-

-

US dollars

223,991,154

139,073,493

-

-

Notes payable

US dollars

52,670,884

109,945,426

35,319,365

45,963,825

Sundry creditors

Non-indexed Ch$

3,201,616

9,973

-

-

123,032

160,573

-

-

UF
Indexed Ch$
Notes and accounts payable to related companies
Accruals

314,819

1,417,799

-

Non-indexed Ch$

1,985,895

2,802,939

-

-

US dollars

6,428,935

6,979,436

-

-

Non-indexed Ch$

9,700,191

13,747,241

-

-

Indexed Ch$

4,910,180

4,832,993

-

-

Withholdings

Non-indexed Ch$

1,114,620

849,649

-

-

Income tax

Non-indexed Ch$

17,020,895

-

-

-

Unearned income

US dollars

-

-

2,238,403

Other current liabilities

US dollars

-

-

329,893

Total current liabilities

US dollars

320,521,907

269,417,472

45,531,349

67,492,228

Euro

-

179,547

-

171,657

Yen

-

11,846

-

11,678

Other currencies

-

10,032

-

9,734

783,304

812,824

295,428

188,758

53,244,595

23,704,911

-

-

5,224,999

6,250,792

-

-

UF
Non-indexed Ch$
Indexed Ch$

2,198,421
-
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Long-term liabilities:

Item

Currency

Bank borrowings

US dollars
Yen
Euro
US dollars
UF
US dollars
UF
US dollars
Indexed Ch$
Non-indexed Ch$
US dollars
Indexed Ch$
US dollars
US dollars
Yen
Euro
Other currencies
UF
Indexed Ch$
Non-indexed Ch$

Other currencies
Bonds payable
Notes payable
Sundry creditors
Notes and accounts payable to related companies
Accruals

Deferred tax
Other
Total long-term liabilities

1 to 3 years
Average
Amount
interest rate
ThCh$
%
50,166,000
-

1.83

3 to 5 years
Average
Amount
interest rate
ThCh$
%
89,184,000
-

1.83

534,791
1,489,051
1,994,153
73,843,107
5,093,739
6,990,131
13,215,907
69,010,437
1,489,051
8,984,284
73,843,107

Libo + 1.5
6.67

241,311
1,043,070
-

Libo + 1.5
6.67

89,425,311
1,043,070
-

-

5 to 10 years
Average
Amount
interest rate
ThCh$
%
245,256,000
56,280,413
603,277
3,466,788
1,248,884
11,502,018
671,178
247,779,339
59,747,201
11,502,018
-

6.75
4.25
Libo + 1.5
6.67
-

More than 10 years
Average
Amount interest rate
ThCh$
%
1,075,845
2,412,098
19,099,193
18,084,836
19,160,681
2,412,098
19,099,193
-

Libo + 1.5
6.67
-

2003:

Item

Currency

Bank borrowing

US dollars
Euro
Yen
Other currencies
US dollars
UF
US dollars
Indexed Ch$
UF
Indexed Ch$
US dollars
Indexed Ch$
Non-indexed Ch$
US dollars
Non-indexed Ch$
US dollars
Non-indexed Ch$
US dollars
Euro
Yen
Other currencies
UF
Non-indexed Ch$
Indexed Ch$

Bonds payable
Notes payable
Sundry creditors
Accruals

Deferred taxes
Accounts payable to related companies
Other long-term liabilities
Total long-term liabilities
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1 to 3 years
Average
Amount
interest rate
ThCh$
%
61,007,876
343,315
23,358
19,468
394,504
1,480,177
1,048,090
288,194
57,023,899
3,356,200
3,190,406
4,474,918
2,422
69,233,498
343,315
23,358
19,468
1,048,090
1,768,371
60,216,727

1.75
3.19
0.94
2.84

6.67

-

3 to 5 years
Average
Amount
interest rate
ThCh$
%
79,645,545
263,003

1.75

884,679
242,670
79,908,548
884,679
242,670

6.67

5 to 10 years
Average
Amount
interest rate
ThCh$
%
176,507,050
56,364,750
657,508
2,254,926
947,323
11,090,158

6.75
4.25
-

178,111,881
58,619,676
11,090,158

-

6.67
-

More than 10 years
Average
Amount interest rate
ThCh$
%
1,315,015
4,717,416
19,506,252
21,200,060
20,821,267
4,717,416
21,200,060

Libo+ 1.5
6.67

NOTE 27 - SANCTIONS
In the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, no
sanctions have been imposed on the Company, its directors
or managers by the Chilean Superintendency of Securities and
Insurance or other administrative authorities.

On January 12, 2005, the prepaid was notified to Citibank
N.A. as administrative agent of the loan originally amounting to
US$ 90 million signed on August 31, 1998. The prepayment
of US$ 16,556,154.55 will be made on February 28, 2005.

NOTE 28 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There have been no other subsequent events during the period
from December 31, 2004 up to the date on which these
financial statements were prepared (February 18, 2005),
which could significantly affect their interpretation.

On January 25, 2005 the Company prepaid the syndicated
loan with Citibank N.A., originally amounting to US$ 170
million, signed on January 22, 2002. The prepaid amount was
ThCh$ 31,779,676 (US$ 54,985,943.46).

NOTE 29 - ENVIRONMENT
During 2004, the Company and its subsidiaries have made disbursements related to environment as follows:

2004
ThCh$
86,954
209,504
296,458

Agro-environmental consultancy and bioremediation
Development archaeological surveys of EIA, DIA
Total

NOTE 30 - TIME DEPOSITS
Time deposits are as follows:
Currency of
origin

Annual interest rate
2004
2003

2004

2003

%

%

Banco Santander Central Hispano NY

US$

0.00

0.24

-

Bank of America National Trust

US$

0.86

0.86

34,138

731,054

34,138

21,051,500

Totals

ThCh$
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NOTE 31 - OIL OPERATIONS CONTRACTS
ENAP and Sipetrol S.A. have contracts for exploration and
operation in Chile and abroad, as follows:
On January 4, 1991, Sipetrol S.A. and Yacimientos Petrolíferos
Fiscales S.A. entered into a Temporary Joint Venture
(Unión Transitoria de Empresas (UTE)) in order to perform
development work and exploitation of hydrocarbons in the
area Magallanes Block, an area located in the Magellan Strait,
Argentina. According to the investment plan Sipetrol S.A. was
appointed as the joint venture’s operator and is responsible for
the operations and activities in this area, as well as making
all necessary investments in the project, and had the right
to 100% of the joint venture’s income until the recovery of
its investments within six years. Since the conclusion of
this period, Sipetrol S.A. receives 50% of the net income
of operations of the original project (platforms AM2, AM³ y
AM5), beginning on March 1, 2002, to platform AM1, and
beginning April 2002, to platform AM6.
NOTE 32 - INVESTMENTS IN LATIN AMERICA
The Company has direct investments, in Argentina, and
indirect investments in Argentina, Colombia, Ecuador, and
Peru. The status of these investments is as follows:
a) Investments in Argentina
The main investment in Argentina refers to Sipetrol Argentina
S.A., an indirect subsidiary. The effect of translating the
financial statement of the subsidiary referred to above to the
exchange rate outlined in Note 2, resulted in a net charge to
income of ThCh$ 109,574 for the year ended December 31,
2004.
As set forth by Decree 2703/2002, effective January 2003,
the oil companies must repatriate at least 30% of foreign
exchange from exports of crude oil, being entitled to the free
availability of the remaining percentage.
During the period January – March 2003 an agreement with the
oil crude producers (Price Stability Agreement) was in place
at the request of the Argentine government. The agreement
consisted of leaving in the local market a volume equivalent
to that delivered in the last quarter of 2002. Such volumes
were invoiced at a WTI price of 28.50 USD/bbl, regardless
of the crude’s international price. The difference with regard
to the actual value of the WTI was recorded in an account of
price adjustment with the buying refinery that shall accrue
an annual rate Libor +2 points or 8%, whichever turns to be
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higher. Should the international quotation of WTI be lower
than 28.50 USD/bbl, the producer would continue billing at
28.50 USD/bbl; such mechanism would permit compensate
the credit balance generated by the inverse situation
(WTI>28.50) until such credit has extinguished. For the sales
between 02/26/2003 and 03/31/2003, in accordance with a
complementary agreement, the difference with regard to the
real value of the WTI price was recorded in a price adjustment
account only up to US$ 36 USD/bbl. The excess over this
value was recorded as a loss.
The total volume delivered under this mechanism was
267,079 m³, resulting in a credit of US$ 6,051,389, without
considering interest.
The agreement between producers and refiners, effective
from May 1, 2004, changed their methodology. Now, if the
WTI value is higher than US$ 36 per barrel, the adjustment
ratio is 0.8 (previously 0.9), otherwise such ratio will be 0.86.
The sales at a regulated price of US$ 28.5 per barrel do not
exist anymore and, consequently, the generation of credit
between refiners and producers is also interrupted, but not
the credit existing until that date. During May and June 2004,
the volume sold was 133,107 m³.
In relation to the oil shock Argentina has undergone during
the months of April, May and June 2004, certain measures
intended to save energy have been published. In the month of
May certain increases to the withholding of Gas export (from
0% to 20%) were applied, the aliquots applied to such the
withholdings of crude petrol (25% to 45%).
Similarly, restrictions to gas exports for certain companies
have been applied, Sipetrol Argentina among them. Such
restrictions have been provided by the Energy Department
based on the needs of the gas distributors and steam power
plants. Effective May 14, 2004, and continuously, Sipetrol
has been unable to export a variable volume of around
85,600,000 m³.
b) Investments in Colombia
The Market Representative Rate (TRM) at December 31, 2004
amounted to COL$ 2,389.75 per US$ 1.00, as compared to
a TRM of COL$ 2,778.21 per US$ 1.00 at December 31,
2003, which represents a revaluation of 13.98% during the
year. This situation had a negative effect over the budgetary
execution of the current year, as the budget was prepared with
an average rate of Col$ 2,900 and the average rate for the
year was Col$ 2,628 per US$1,00. The charge to income on
exchange difference amounted to ThCh$ 30,332 for the year
ended, December 31, 2004.

c) Investments in Ecuador

d) Investments in Peru

The inflation rate accumulated during the year ended December
31, 2004 was 1.95%.

In 2004, the inflation reached 3.5%. Similarly, at December
31, 2004, the exchange rate reflects an average quotation of
S/ 3.281 per US$1, which represents a nominal appreciation
of an annual accumulated 5.5% for the Peruvian new sol. In
December 2004, the balance of trade shows a surplus as
compared to the same month of prior year, mainly due both
to the price increase and the volumes of gold and copper that
allowed attenuate the high levels of imports, basically of the
purchases of fuels and lubricants.

The agenda of the government’s oil opening was re-launched in
2004, which includes the tender of 12 fields, administration
of the three refineries and construction of a new one.
The Ministry of Energy is preparing its own project of
amendments to the Hydrocarbons Act in order to restructure
Petroecuador and the Dirección Nacional de Hidrocarburos
(DNH), transforming the former in a company of mixed
economy, in a scheme similar to that of Petrobras.
The success of the six improvements of field Paraiso,
Biguno, Huachito (PBH), performed this year up to date, the
volumes of flows observed in the new wells and the refining
of the productive conditions, contributed to surpass the daily
production goal of December by 13%, and in cumulative
terms, reach a compliance degree of 105%.
In the field Mauro, Dávalos, Cordero (MCD), the production
goal of December was surpassed by 47%, and in cumulative
terms, by 31%.

During 2004, there was an increase of about 5.3% in the Gross
Domestic Product (GDP) of the economy, which represents
three years of growth in a row, and maintaining the upward
trend started in the second quarter of 2001.
The income tax rate for juridical persons is 30% in Peru.
e) Investments in other Latin American countries
Investments in the other Latin American countries are not
significant.
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MANAGEMENT’S ANALYSIS OF THE UNCONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. BALANCE SHEET
The principal items of assets and liabilities at December 31, 2004 and 2003 are:

Current Assets
Net Property, Plant & Equipment
Other Assets
Total Assets

31/12/2004
Ch$ million
592,450
180,337
678,922
1,451,709

31/12/2003
Ch$ million
514,627
172,734
620,019
1,307,380

Current Liabilities
Long-Term Liabilities
Total Liabilities
Equity
Total Liabilities & Equity

31/12/2004
Ch$ million
425,602
603,496
1,029,097
422,612
1,451,709

31/12/2003
Ch$ million
368,261
508,249
876,510
430,870
1,307,380

Assets
Total assets increased 11.0% compared to December 2003,

million over 2003. Notes and accounts receivable from related

mainly due to a 15.1% increase in current assets as well as

companies and Investments in related companies increased

increases of 9.5% in Other assets and 4.4% in Property, plant

by Ch$32,074 million and Ch$17,610 million respectively,

and equipment.

while Other assets increased by Ch$9,231 million.

The items showing the largest increases among current assets

Liabilities

were Notes and accounts receivable from related companies
which increased by Ch$70,688 million (24%) and Inventories

Liabilities showed an increase of 17.4% between December

which increased by Ch$51,744 million (46.2%). In both

2004 and 2003. This change is explained by increases in

cases, the rises principally reflected the higher prices of

both current liabilities, by 15.6% (Ch$57,340 million), and

crude and products during the year. These were only partially

in long-term liabilities by 18.7% (Ch$95,247 million). Among

offset by reduced Time deposits of Ch$21,017 million, lower

current liabilities, the main increase was in Accounts payable

Recoverable taxes of Ch$15,339 million and lower Other

which rose by Ch$98,844 million (68%) which was partially

current assets of Ch$15,000 million.

offset by a reduction in Notes payable of Ch$67,919 million
(43.6%). The absolute increase in these two accounts is

Property, plant and equipment at December 2004 showed a

explained by the scenario of higher crude prices and greater

4.4% increase of Ch$7,603 million over 2003.

inventories of this input. The change in composition reflects a
strategy of reducing financial debt (Notes payable) by making

With respect to Other assets, these increased by Ch$58,903
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greater use of supplier credit.

With respect to long-term liabilities, the change between

bond issue made by ENAP in the first quarter of 2004 in the

December 2003 and 2004 was 18.7% (Ch$95,247 million).

American market which was mainly used to refinance shorter-

The increase is mainly due to the rise of Ch$68,665 million

term liabilities and a part (approximately US$30 million) to

in Bonds payable following the US$150 million 10-year term

finance the 2004 investment plan.

LIQUIDITY, DEBT AND ACTIVITY INDICATORS
The principal financial indicators of the balance sheet regarding liquidity, debt and activity are as follows:

31/12/2004
Liquidity
Current ratio
Acid test (1)
Debt
Short-Term/Total Debt (%)
Long-Term/Total Debt (%)
Debt ratio
Financial expense coverage
Activity
Total assets (Ch$ million)

31/12/2003

1.39
1.01

1,40
1.09

41.4%
58.6%
2.44
4.99

42.0%
58.0%
2.03
6.72

1,451,709

1,307,380

(1) Related to current assets less inventories and prepaid expenses, divided by current liabilities.

Liquidity
The company’s ability to meet its short-term liabilities at the
end of 2004 was 1.39 times, a ratio practically the same as
in 2003 when it was 1.40 times.
Debt
The company’s debt ratio in 2004 was 2.4 times, compared
to 2.0 times in 2003. This is due to a 17.4% increase in total
liabilities while the equity declined by 1.9%. The increase in
liabilities is mainly related to the higher crude prices during

the year which the reduction in equity reflects the lower result
for the year.
Regarding the debt maturity pattern, 41.4% is at short term
and 58.6% at long term, very similar proportions to those
at the end of 2003 (42.0% and 58.0% respectively). The
minimal change in the debt maturity structure despite the
bond issue for refinancing short-term liabilities is mainly due
to the increase in crude prices during 2004 which pushed
short-term liabilities (especially accounts payable) higher.
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2. STATEMENT OF INCOME

31/12/2004
Ch$ million
52,901
33,380
82,522
183,317
65,115

31/12/2003
Ch$ million
26,727
30,411
145,811
216,473
90,055

31/12/2004
%

31/12/2003
%

15.26
4.72
7.96

19.72
6.63
4.21

Operating income
Financial expenses
Non-operating income
EBITDA
Income after taxes

Proﬁtability
Return on average equity
Return on average assets
Return on operating assets*

* Operating assets = Total assets - Other fixed assets - Other current assets - Deferred taxes - Time deposits.

Operating Income
Sales at December 31, 2004 increased by 16.6% over the year
before, and the cost of sales rose by 15.8%. The combined
effect of this is reflected in an improvement in the operating
margin of 47.1%.

covered by the improved operating income, thus producing
a 21.5% reduced income before income tax of Ch$135,423
million in 2004, compared to Ch$172,538 million in 2003.
Similarly, despite the lower income taxes paid, net income for

Selling and administrative expenses fell by 12.1%which,
together with the operating margin, resulted in the operating
income almost doubling, from Ch$26,727 million in 2003 to
Ch$52,901 million in 2004, an increase of 97.9%.

the year was 27.7% lower at December 2004, at Ch$65,115
million, a reduction of Ch$24,940 million compared to
2003.
3. DIFFERENCE BETWEEN MARKET AND BOOK VALUES OF

Non-Operating Income

ASSETS

The non-operating income showed a 43.4% reduction of

There were no significant differences between the market and

Ch$63,288 million compared to 2003, mainly explained by a
lower equity in the results of related companies of Ch$57,708
million and a smaller gain from exchange differences of
Ch$22,637 million, plus a greater loss on investments in
related companies of Ch$7,660 million. This negative change
was partially offset by reduced Other non-operating expenses
of Ch$21,158 million and an increase in Other non-operating
income of Ch$9,980 million.
The sharp reduction in non-operating income could not be fully
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book values of the Company’s principal assets at December 31,
2004. However, it is important to point out that, in accordance
with the regulations of the Superintendency of Securities and
Insurance, investments in subsidiary and associate companies
are valued at their proportional equity value.
4. MARKET SITUATION
The reference crude oil price, WTI (West Texas Intermediate),
showed a predominantly upward trend during the 2004, with

monthly prices moving from US$34.2 per barrel in January

the season. In the case of gasolines, there was an increase in

to a peak of US$53.2 per barrel in October. Strong economic

their price not only due to the higher consumption generated

growth in the global economy, particularly the expansion

in the northern hemisphere in the spring/summer season

in the United States and China, was the principal factor

but also in the change in specifications that increased the

explaining the high price level, where the sharp increase in

restrictions on sulfur and MTBE in USA. The rise in diesel

demand pressured installed crude oil production, refining and

prices due to the seasonal accumulation of stocks to face the

transportation capacity to a maximum. However, beginning in

autumn/winter period was bolstered in October by reductions

November, the rise in interest rates in China, the recovery in

in Russian diesel exports, simultaneously increasing prices

oil production in the Mexican Gulf and a more benign start to

in Europe and USA. Average prices of gasolines and diesel

the northern hemisphere winter allowed prices to reverse their

on the Mexican Gulf coast were US$49.4 and US$ 45.6 per

trend in the last two months of the year, to reach US$43.2

barrel respectively, compared to averages of US$36.8 and

per barrel in December. The WTI price therefore produced

US$34.1 respectively in 2003.

an average of US$41.4 per barrel for the year, 33.0% higher
than in 2003 (US$31.1 per barrel).

The demand for refined products in the Chilean market is
estimated at 13.6 million m_, a 5.7% increase over 2003,

International prices for products followed a similar trend to

mainly caused by the country’s economic growth.

that for crude, with greater or lesser intensity according to

5. CASH FLOWS
The principal components of net cash flow for each year are as follows:

Net cash ﬂow from operating activities
Net cash ﬂow from ﬁnancing activities
Net cash ﬂow from investment activities
Net cash ﬂow for the year

The negative cash flow from operating activities of Ch$60,344
million is mainly explained by changes in assets affecting cash
flows, as Trade receivables increased by Ch$149,433 million
to generate a negative flow from that source, the same as the
increase in Inventories of Ch$54,414 million.

31/12/2004
Ch$ million
(60,344)
52,230
(16,382)
(24,496)

31/12/2003
Ch$ million
100,121
(15,007)
(30,493)
54,621

Another negative effect on operating cash flows were the
credits to income not representing cash flows arising from
the reduced equity in the results of related companies of
Ch$75,868 million.
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6. MARKET RISK ANALYSIS
ENAP is involved in the exploration and production of

While the company has made investments in the exploration

hydrocarbons and in the following stages of the production

and

chain: refining, transportation, storage and commercialization

risk than Chile’s, which could individually affect some

of oil-based products. Of these, a substantial part relates to the

foreign subsidiary, actions are being taken to increase the

refining and commercialization of its products in Chile, being

diversification of investments abroad in order to reduce

a leading player in the domestic supply with an approximate

ENAP’s global risk.

production of oil in countries with a higher country

86% share. In recent years, it has also begun to export these
Exposure to exchange rate fluctuations, which has an important

products, mainly to Latin American countries.

effect on Chilean peso income and US dollar denominated
ENAP regularly uses the international markets for crude oil

liabilities, has been significantly reduced by a pricing policy

and products in order to ensure its supplies and to meet its

based on parity with imports indexed to the dollar. This

commercial commitments properly. As a result, Enap’s crude

situation is analyzed periodically to maintain a competitive

oil supplies are mainly obtained from countries in South

position within the price and import freedom characteristics

America and Africa, the main suppliers being Argentina and

of the Chilean market

Brazil. While Enap has the facilities for supplying itself by sea,
part is brought from Argentina through the Estenssoro-Pedrals

With respect to interest rate risk, the company has a mix of

pipeline connecting the Neuquén basin in Argentina with the

financial debt at fixed rates (mainly long-term bonds) and

Bio Bio refinery. However, deliveries by this means have been

at floating rates (principally bilateral and syndicated loans)

gradually reducing over time and partly replaced by crudes

which at December 31, 2004 was approximately 79/21%

brought mainly from the west coast of Africa.

fixed/floating. The fixed rate element increased compared to
the end of 2003.

The relevant risk for the business is essentially the refining
margin, the company having to face price fluctuations on

ENAP also holds a position in derivative instruments. It has

the international markets for crude and products.

The

cross-currency swaps relating to a significant part of the bond

refineries have therefore continued to adjust their structures

issue on the domestic market in October 2002 to change its

to the competitiveness of this industry and have directed their

UF denomination to US dollars, and swap operations for fixing

investments to increasing both their productive flexibility and

interest rates covering a significant part of the syndicated

the quality of their products to mitigate in part the exposure

loans denominated in US dollars. ENAP also holds positions

of their revenues to the customs duty reductions resulting

in derivative instruments for covering commodity prices,

from the free trade agreement between Chile and the United

specifically to cover the crude oil price.

States.
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MATERIAL INFORMATION

Second discovery of oil reserves in

For these purposes, ENAP signed on March 11, 2004 a

the North Bahariya block in Egypt

purchase agreement in the English language with Deutsche
Bank Securities Inc. and Citigroup Global Markets Inc.. Its

On March 9, 2004, Empresa Nacional del Petróleo announced

terms include the conditions for closing the bond issue and

a second discovery of oil reserves in the North Bahariya block

placement process which include the signing of a supplemental

in Egypt by its international subsidiary, Sipetrol S.A.

indenture to the indenture dated as of November 1, 2002 and
the issue of the respective debt certificates.

The technical evaluations that Sipetrol S.A. has made of the
Ferdaus 1 exploratory well have produced positive results. The

Sale of ENAP’s direct and

well was satisfactorily drilled, registered and proven at two

indirect holdings in Petroquím S.A.

levels of the Abu Roash Formation of the Superior Cretaceous,
which proved oil of 43 to 45 API grades. These tests provided

ENAP announced on May 10, 2004 that it and its subsidiary

940 and 2,300 barrels of oil per day respectively, at depths

ENAP Refinerias S.A. had sold to Santo Domingo de

close to 2,800 meters. These tests also produced around 3

Inversiones S.A. and to Petroquimica San Julio S.A. all of

million cubic feet of gas daily at the level above the Abu Roash

their direct and indirect shareholdings in Petroquim S.A.. The

Formation.

total ENAP Group shareholding was 15% (ENAP 7.5% and
ENAP Refinerias 7.5%) and the sale price was a total of US$

This oil discovery is added to the discovery of the Gamma

8,645,000.

1 well in the same exploration block, as advised as Material
Information on October 7, 2003.

These sales fall within a strategy of selling assets that are not
part of ENAP’s core business.

ENAP is still evaluating the total volume of the reserves
discovered and defining the quality of the reservoirs. Technical

Petroquim S.A. is a company that produces and sells

studies will be concluded in the coming months for providing a

polypropylene, with sales of over 100,000 tons annually.

more precise estimation. The economic and financial effects

The commercial relationship between ENAP, through ENAP

of this finding are not yet accurately quantifiable.

Reinerias S.A., and Petroquim S.A., is not only retained but
is strengthened through improvements in the supply contract

The North Bahariya block is located in Egypt’s Western Desert

between the companies.

basin and is being explored by a consortium formed by Sipetrol
S.A., which is the operator and has a 50% participation, the

The proceeds of the sale of shares in Petroquim S.A., both

American company IPR Transoil Corporation, with 30%, and

of ENAP and ENAP Refinerias S.A., were used to finance the

the Croatian company INA, with 20%.

investment plan approved for 2004.

Bond issue and placement abroad.

With this transaction, ENAP and ENAP Refinerias ceased to
be shareholders in Petroquim S.A

The company announced on March 12, 2004 the issue and
placement of bonds for an amount of US$ 150 million at

Signing of financing, construction

a term of 10 years with semi-annual payments of principal

and operating agreements for a refining complex.

and interest. The interest coupon is 4.875% p.a. and
the placement yield was approximately 4.92% p.a. which

On June 11 and 14, Empresa Nacional de Petroleo (ENAP)

corresponds to 123 basis points (1.23%) over the 10-year US

and its subsidiary ENAP Refinerias S.A. signed, together

Treasury bond. Most of the proceeds were used to refinance

with Tecnicas Reunidas S.A., Spain and DSD Construcciones

existing debt while US$ 33 million were used to finance part

y Montajes S.A. (a member of the German Ferrostaal

of ENAP’s investment plan. It was estimated that the final

group), various agreements for the financing, construction

closing of the transaction, i.e. when the proceeds are available

and operation of a refining complex consisting of a smooth

to the Company, would be on Tuesday, March 16.

hydrocracking unit, or MHC unit, for an Acid Waters Plant, an

210

ANNUAL REPORT 2004

GRUPO DE EMPRESAS ENAP

Amines Regeneration Plant, a Water Demineralization Plant

The same meeting also agreed to be present at the shareholders

and mechanical, electrical and instrumental interconnections

meeting(s) that are necessary for this purpose.

between each unit and the existing installations of the Bio Bio
refinery of Enap Refinerias S.A. in Talcahuano.

New oil reserves discovery
in the North Bahariya block in Egypt

The purpose of this project, implying a total investment of
US$ 110.9 million, is to facilitate the production of high-

On July 19, 2004, Empresa Nacional del Petróleo announced

quality and low sulfur-content diesel oil that ENAP supplies to

a new discovery of oil reserves in the North Bahariya block in

the domestic market. The plant will operate commercially as

Egypt made by Sipetrol S.A., its international subsidiary.

from February 2005.
The discovery was made in the Rawda-1 well which was
The project company is Productora de Diesel S.A., a corporation

successfully drilled, registered and proven. An interval in the

constituted under Chilean law. ENAP and Enap Refinerias S.A.

Aby Roash superior cretaceous formation proved commercial

will hold up to 49% of the capital of the new company, the

oil production (estimated at 360 barrels per day) of API 38

remaining portion being held by Tecnicas Reunidas S.A. and

grades at a depth of 9,900 feet (3,000 meters) following the

DSD Construcciones y Montajes S.A.. The capital contribution

making of a hydraulic fracturing in the reservoir.

of ENAP and Enap Refinerias S.A. will amount to no more
than US$ 11 million.

This oil discovery is in addition to the discovery of the Ganna
1 and Ferdaus 1 wells in the same exploration block, informed

A processing services contract has been signed between

as Material Information on October 7, 2003 and March 9,

Productora de Diesel S.A. and Enap Refinerias S.A. for a 15-

2004 respectively.

year operating period. The obligations of Enap Refinerias S.A.
under this contract are guaranteed by ENAP.

ENAP is still evaluating the total volume of the reserves
discovered and defining their quality. Technical studies will be

The project is being financed by partners’ capital contributions

concluded in the coming months for making a more accurate

(20% of the total investment) and two syndicated bank loans

estimate. The economic and financial effects of this find are

led by BNP Paribas (the remaining 80%). The first loan, for

still not quantifiable with any precision.

US$ 35.3 million, has a term of 11 years while the second
one (which has insurance cover from Compañia Española de

The North Bahariya block is located in Egypt’s Western Desert

Seguros de Credito (CESCE) amounts to US$ 53.5 million and

basin and is being explored by the consortium formed by

has a term of 12 years.

Sipetrol S.A., which is the operator with a 50% participation,
the American company IPR Transoil Corporation (30%) and

Merger of Companies in which ENAP

the Croatian company INA (20%).

is the principal shareholder.
ENAP is still evaluation the total reserves discovered and
The board meeting of Empresa Nacional de Petroleo held

separating the quality of the reservoirs. Technical studies will

on June 24, 2004 agreed to approve the merger of ENAP

be concluded in the next few months for estimating these

Refinerias S.A. and Empresa Almacenadora de Combustibles

more precisely. The economic and financial effects of this

S.A., companies in which ENAP is the principal shareholder.

find are still not quantifiable with any accuracy.

The merger was carried out by the incorporation of Empresa
Almacenadora de Combustibles S.A. into ENAP Refinerias

Sale of ENAP’s shareholding in Petroquímica Dow S.A.

S.A., the latter absorbing and being responsible for all the
assets and liabilities of the former and being, for all legal

On July 29, 2004, ENAP sold to Dow Chemical International

purposes, the legal successor of Empresa Almacenadora de

Ltd. its 20.47% shareholding in Petroquimica Dow S.A.

Combustibles S.A.

(Petrodow) for a total of US$ 4,094,000.
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This sale falls within the strategy of selling assets that do not

ii) The association with the Peruvian Romero group to jointly

form part of ENAP’s core business.

develop the fuel distribution business and other related
products within Peru, through the transfer of the fuels business

Petrodow is a company that produces and sells low-density

from Romero Trading S.A. to Romero Trading Combustibles

polyethylene, with annual sales of around 45,000 tons.

S.A. (both member companies of the Romero group) and the

The present commercial relationship between ENAP and

later merger of this with Shell Peru.

Petrodow, consisting of an ethylene supply contract between
ENAP Refinerias S.A. and Petrodow, is retained and its term

iii) The simultaneous signing of a long-term contract for the

extended until the year 2024.

supply of fuels and other hydrocarbon byproducts which will
enable ENAP Refinerias S.A. to export its refined products to

The proceeds of the sale of the Petrodow shares were used to

Peru.

finance the investment plan approved for 2004.
The assets of Shell Peru consist of:
With this transaction, ENAP ceased to be a shareholder in
Petrodow.

(i) a chain of 165 service stations, most of them in Lima and
Peru’s coastal region, with annual fuel sales of 323,000 m3

Clarification with respect to material information reported

in 2003,

regarding the sale of ENAP’s holding in Petroquímica Dow S.A.

(ii) wholesale distribution for supplying the mining, fishing and
manufacturing industries,

At March 31, 2004, the 2,858,374 shares in PetroDow,

(iii) marine fuels for supplying Peru’s fishing fleet,

representing 20.47% of that company’s capital, had a book

(iv) the distribution of Shell lubricants through the acquired

value of Ch$ 1,594.2 million. The sale price for these shares

service stations. The total market share is 12.1%, with annual

for US$ 4,094,000 was, at the exchange rate prevailing

sales of 713,000 m3.

on the date of sale, the equivalent of Ch$ 2,631.7 million,
representing 167.8% of the book value.

For its part, Romero Trading S.A., the Romero group company
with which ENAP and Enap Refinerías (through Humboldt)

On the other hand, the book value of the investment represented

have become associated, is an operator with wide experience

0.1% of total assets at March 31, 2004 and 1.6% of income

in the wholesale fuels business, with a 7.9% domestic market

after 17% income tax for the year 2003. This transaction

share in liquid fuels.

therefore had no material impact on the results.
The cost of the shares in Shell Peru amounted to US$ 41
Acquisition of Peruvian Subsidiary.

million. The value of the exchange of shares of the merged
companies determined that the initial holdings of ENAP and

The company announced on August 16, 2004:

ENAP Refinerias (through Humboldt) and Romero Trading S.A.
in the new company will amount to approximately 56.5% and

i) The acquisition by Inversiones y Proyectos Humboldt S.A.

43.5% respectively. According to the shareholders agreement

(Humboldt), an instrumental subsidiary of ENAP Refinerias

signed for this purpose, the indicated combined holding of

S.A. (formed for the purpose of this project), with the

ENAP and Enap Refinerías should reduce to 49% within a

guarantee of Empresa Nacional del Petróleo (ENAP), the

maximum of six years. The investment cost was contemplated

parent company of ENAP Refinerias S.A., of the whole share

in the amount of the investments of ENAP and Enap Refinerías

capital of Compañia de Petroleo Shell del Peru S.A. (Shell

for 2004, equivalent to US$ 334 million. ENAP and Enap

Peru),

Refinerías did not increase their borrowings to finance this
acquisition.
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As ENAP and Enap Refinerías participate in this business

This sale is in addition to the sale of its holding in Petroquím

through the latter’s instrumental subsidiaries, at the same

S.A. in May 2004 and the sales of holdings in Petroquímica

time as the above contracts were signed, ENAP granted its

Dow S.A. and Depósitos Asfálticos S.A. in July 2004, all

guarantee to the share sale contract with Shell Peru signed

falling within ENAP’s policy of selling those assets that are

by Humboldt, and ENAP Refinerías S.A. granted its guarantee

not part of its core business.

to the fuel supply contract referred to above and signed by
Manu Peru Holding S.A., another of the subsidiaries of ENAP

Before the sale, ENAP held 22,100,000 shares in SONACOL

Refinerias constituted in Peru for the above business.

representing a 22.1% holding in that company, with a book
value at September 30, 2004 of Ch$15,760 million, while

Financing transaction for US$ 250 million

the 12,000,000 shares sold to Abastible S.A., representing

by Empresa Nacional del Petróleo (ENAP).

a 12% holding, produced Ch$8,557.4 million which, at the
dollar exchange rate on September 30, 2004, represented

On August 31, a financing transaction for 250 million US dollars

US$14,053,885. In other words, the value of US$18.0

was signed by Empresa Nacional del Petróleo (ENAP).

million represents 1.28 times the book value of the shares at
September 30, 2004.

ENAP signed an amended and restated term loan agreement
with a number of international banks under New York law,

The book value of the 12% shareholding in SONACOL

which amends and restates a loan agreement dated August

represented 0.9% of total assets at September 30, 2004

29, 2003, referring to:

and 5.3% of income after 17% income tax during the year

(i) the modification of the loan conditions of August 29, 2003

2003. The transaction therefore has no material impact on

for an amount of US$ 150 million (Tranche 1), by a reduction

the results.

in the applicable interest rate (repricing), and
(ii) the granting of an additional loan of up to US$ 100 million

SONACOL is a company whose principal activity is fuel

(Tranche 2) whose principal is payable in one amount in a

business logistics. It has two principal business units, one

term of five years.

related to pipeline transportation and the other to the shipping
of fuels.

The applicable interest rate for this transaction is: for Tranche
1, Libor + 0.20% p.a. (being previously Libor + 0.50%) and

The proceeds of this sale were used to finance ENAP’s

for Tranche 2, Libor + 0.20% p.a. for the first four years and

investment plan.

Libor + 0.225% p.a. for the fifth year.
Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meetings of Enap Refinerías S.A.
The repricing of Tranche 1 translates into a reduction in

and Empresa Almacenadora de Combustibles S.A.

ENAP’s financing costs. The proceeds of Tranche 2 will be
used exclusively for the refinancing of short-term loans. The

On November 30, 2004, extraordinary shareholders’ meetings

transaction therefore has no impact on ENAP’s debt levels.

were held by the companies Enap Refinerías S.A. and Empresa
Almacenadora de Combustibles S.A., both subsidiaries

Partial sale of ENAP’s holding in

of Empresa Nacional del Petróleo, which agreed to the

Sociedad Nacional de Oleoductos S.A.

merger of the companies by the incorporation of Empresa
Almacenadora de Combustibles S.A. into Enap Refinerías S.A.

On November 17, 2004, ENAP sold to Abastible S.A., a

which company absorbed and became responsible for all the

subsidiary of Copec S.A., a 12% shareholding in Sonacol for

assets and liabilities of the former and for all legal purposes

the peso equivalent of US$18,000,000. ENAP’s shareholding

became its legal successor. The merger became effective on

was 22.10% so, following the sale of 12%, it will remain with a

December 1, 2004.

10.1% shareholding and retain one member of that company’s
board of directors.

ANNUAL REPORT 2004

GRUPO DE EMPRESAS ENAP

213

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Once the merger was completed, the share capital of Enap

The operator is still evaluating the reservoir and should

Refinerías S.A. became held by Empresa Nacional del Petróleo

complete the technical studies soon in order to make more

(99.96%) and Corporación de Fomento (CORFO) (0.04%).

precise estimates.

Through this merger, Empresa Nacional del Petróleo continues

The Mehr block covers an area of 2,500 km_ in Khuzestan

with its process of gradually integrating all its activities in the

province and is being explored under a buy-back contract by

refining and commercialization area in its subsidiary Enap

an international consortium comprising the Austrian company

Refinerías S.A.. This process began on January 1, 2004

OMV, with 34% and acting as operator, the Spanish company

with the merger of Petrox S.A. and RPC S.A... Empresa

Repsol-YPF, with 33%, and Sipetrol S.A. with 33%.

Almacenadora de Combustibles S.A., the company that
disappears in this merger, has storage facilities and its objects

Empresa Nacional del Petróleo has also reported to the

include the provision of fuel storage services; these services

regulatory authority other events occurring during 2004, as

were taken over by Enap Refinerías S.A. in December 2004.

follows:

Change of accounting currency for

1.- Letter dated May 25, 2004 reported:

Empresa Nacional del Petróleo and its subsidiaries.
- That Corporación de Fomento de la Producción (CORFO), an
It was announced on January 4, 2005 that Empresa Nacional

institution which according to the organic law (No.9,618) of

del Petróleo and its subsidiaries would change their accounting

Empresa Nacional del Petróleo (ENAP) names 3 directors of

currency to the US dollar effective January 1, 2005. This

ENAP, informed ENAP on May 24 that, at its council meeting

change was authorized by all the competent authorities.

No.362 held on May 20, it had accepted the resignation
as a director of ENAP presented by Eduardo Jara Miranda

This form of accounting will enable ENAP to record its

and that it had not yet decided on his replacement. This

commercial and financial operations more suitably as its

resignation was made effective from May 10, 2004, the date

revenues, most of its expenses and all its debt are indexed or

of its presentation, thus Eduardo Jara Miranda is no longer a

denominated in US dollars.

director of ENAP and the position remains vacant.

ENAP’s accounts will now better reflect the company’s

2.- Letter dated June 17, 2004 reported:

effective cash flows.
- That on June 14, the Chief Executive Officer of Empresa
Discovery of oil reserves in the Mehr block in

Nacional del Petróleo, Daniel Fernández Koprich, presented

Iran by ENAP’s international subsidiary, Sipetrol S.A.

his resignation effective from July 14, 2004. The appointment
of the new Chief Executive Officer would happen at the next

On January 14, 2005, ENAP’s international subsidiary, Sipetrol

board meeting to be held on June 23.

S.A., made an oil discovery at the Mehr block in Iran.
3.- Letter dated June 24, 2004 reported:
The discovery was made at the Band-e-Karkheh-2 well which
was successfully drilled, recorded and proven. The well is

- That Corporación de Fomento de la Producción (CORFO), an

located in what is geologically known as “Zagros Folded Zone”,

institution which according to the organic law (No.9,618) of

being drilled down to 4,148 meters and finding oil of 22 API

Empresa Nacional del Petróleo (ENAP) names 3 directors of

grade in one of the reservoirs. During testing, the well flowed

ENAP, informed ENAP on June 22 that, at its council meeting

naturally at a rate of 1,040 barrels per day.

No.363 held on that date, had appointed Aldo Signorelli
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Guerra as a director of ENAP in replacement of Eduardo Jara
Miranda. Mr Aldo Signorelli Guerra therefore joined the board
of ENAP from that date.
4.- Letter dated June 25, 2004 reported:
- That on June 24, the board of Empresa Nacional del Petróleo
accepted the resignation of Daniel Fernández Koprich as Chief
Executive Officer to be effective from July 14, 2004, and
appointed Enrique Dávila Alveal as his replacement from that
same date.
5.- Letter dated January 14, 2005 reported:
- That on January 12, 2005, Empresa Nacional del Petróleo
issued a press release concerning its project to construct an
ethylene and propylene plant and a polyethylene plant, and
the expansion of the present polypropylene plant of Petroquím
S.A..
The chief executive officer of ENAP, Enrique Dávila Alveal, said
that the new industrial complex would require an investment
of close to US$ 800 million and that it would be located on
land of the Bío Bío refinery and of Petroquím in Hualpén,
“becoming part of Chile’s Eighth Region petrochemical center,
the most important in the country”.
Enap Refinerías S.A., a subsidiary of Empresa Nacional
del Petróleo, also reported the following matters to the
Superintendency of Securities and Insurance during the year:
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SUMMARIZED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF SUBSIDIARIES

ENAP REFINERÍAS S.A.

At December 31,
BALANCE SHEET

2004

2003

Ch$ million

Ch$ million

Total Current Assets
Total Property, Plant & Equipment
Total Other Assets
Total Assets

466,904
395,989
46,109
909,002

307,304
402,256
26,328
735,888

Total Current Liabilities
Total Long-Term Liabilities
Total Liabilities

424,800
65,749
490,549

313,596
72,635
386,231

1

-

Total Shareholders’ Equity

418,452

349,657

Total Liabilities & Shareholders’ Equity

909,002

735,888

STATEMENT OF INCOME

2004
Ch$ million

2003
Ch$ million

69,177
14,927
84,104

93,006
49,224
142,230

(15,086)
-

(23,615)
-

69,018

118,615

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2004
Ch$ million

2003
Ch$ million

Net cash ﬂow from operating activities
Net cash ﬂow from ﬁnancing activities
Net cash ﬂow from investment activities
Total net cash ﬂow for the year

77,234
(206)
(66,011)
11,017

161,391
(72,096)
(87,374)
1,921

(236)
10,781
17,329
28,110

(2,357)
(436)
17,765
17,329

Minority Interest

Operating Income
Non-Operating Income
Income before income tax
Income tax
Extraordinary items
Minority interest
Net income for the year

Effect of inﬂation on cash & cash equivalents
Net change in cash & cash equivalents
Opening balance of cash & cash equivalents
Closing balance of cash & cash equivalents
NOTES

Securities Register No.
Accounting Criteria
Accounting Changes
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SOCIEDAD INTERNACIONAL PETROLERA S.A. (SIPETROL)

Al 31 de diciembre de
BALANCE SHEET

2004

2003

Ch$ million

Ch$ million

Total Current Assets
Total Property, Plant & Equipment
Total Other Assets
Total Assets

42,599
221,719
13,310
277,628

51,678
256,310
19,113
327,101

Total Current Liabilities
Total Long-Term Liabilities
Total Liabilities

50,396
111,012
161,408

94,001
95,039
189,040

601

615

Total Shareholders’ Equity

115,619

137,446

Total Liabilities & Shareholders’ Equity

277,628

327,101

STATEMENT OF INCOME

2004
Ch$ million

2003
Ch$ million

16,539
3,021
19,560

12,473
(3,096)
9,377

(25,534)
(108)

(5,370)
(102)

(6,082)

3,905

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2004
Ch$ million

2003
Ch$ million

Net cash ﬂow from operating activities
Net cash ﬂow from ﬁnancing activities
Net cash ﬂow from investment activities
Total net cash ﬂow for the year

70,803
(11,152)
(62,641)
(2,990)

67,442
(19,114)
(50,115)
(1,787)

(234)
(3,224)
12,088
8,864

(326)
(2,113)
14,201
12,088

Minority Interest

Operating income
Non-operating result
Income before income tax
Income tax
Extraordinary items
Minority interest
Net income (loss) for the year

Effect of inﬂation on cash & cash equivalents
Net change in cash & cash equivalents
Opening balance of cash & cash equivalents
Closing balance of cash & cash equivalents
NOTES

Securities Register No.
Accounting criteria
Accounting changes

Note 2
Note 3

ANNUAL REPORT 2004

GRUPO DE EMPRESAS ENAP

217

SUMMARIZED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF SUBSIDIARIES

PETRO SERVICIO CORP. S.A.

At December 31,
BALANCE SHEET

Total Current Assets
Total Property, Plant & Equipment
Total Other Assets
Total Assets
Total Current Liabilities
Total Long-Term Liabilities
Total Liabilities
Minority Interest
Total Shareholders’ Equity
Total Liabilities & Shareholders’ Equity
STATEMENT OF INCOME

Operating income
Non-operating result
Result before income tax
Income tax
Extraordinary items
Net income (loss) for the year

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2004

2003

Ch$ million

Ch$ million

1,052
25
11
1,088

2,069
49
443
2,561

413
413

1,702
1.702

-

-

675

859

1,088

2,561

2004
Ch$ million

2003
Ch$ million

71
(182)
(111)

472
50
522

-

-

(111)

522

2004
Ch$ million

2003
Ch$ million

Net cash ﬂows from operating activities
Net cash ﬂows from ﬁnancing activities
Net cash ﬂows from investment activities
Total net cash ﬂow for the year

444
444

135
55
190

Effect of inﬂation on cash & cash equivalents
Net change in cash & cash equivalents
Opening balance of cash & cash equivalents
Closing balance of cash & cash equivalents

32
476
296
772

(31)
159
137
296

NOTES

Securities Register No.
Accounting Criteria
Accounting Changes

218

ANNUAL REPORT 2004

Note 2
Note 3

GRUPO DE EMPRESAS ENAP

DECLARATION OF RESPONSIBILITY

The undersigned, members of the board and chief executive officer of Empresa Nacional del Petróleo, declare that the information
contained in the Annual Report and Financial Statements for 2004 are true and complete, in accordance with the regulations of
the Superintendency of Securities and Insurance.

ALFONSO DULANTO RENCORET

OSCAR LANDERRETCHE GACITÚA

Minister of Mining
Chairman of the Board
Tax No. 4.464.861-K

Vice Chairman of the Board
Tax No. 5.622.345-2

VICENTE SÁNCHEZ CUESTA

ALDO SIGNORELLI GUERRA

Director
Tax No. 5.954.012-2

Director
Tax No. 5.068.583-7

FERNANDO RAMÍREZ PENDIBENE

JORGE MATUTE MATUTE

Director
Tax No. 7.876.527-5

Director
Tax No. 5.334.581-6

RAMÓN JARA ARAYA

RADOVAN RAZMILIC TOMICIC

Director
Tax No. 5.899.198-8

Director
Tax No. 6.283.668-7

ENRIQUE DÁVILA ALVEAL
Chief Executive Officer
Tax No. 5.032.869-4

Santiago, March 2005.
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